
           
FINAL AGENDA

 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
TUESDAY
APRIL 19, 2016

  COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE

4:00 P.M. AND 6:00 P.M.
 

4:00 P.M. MEETING
 

Individual Items on the 4:00 p.m. meeting agenda may be postponed to the 6:00 p.m.
meeting.

             
1. CALL TO ORDER

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council
and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 

2. ROLL CALL

NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS

COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MISSION STATEMENT

MISSION STATEMENT

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life of its citizens.
 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
 

A.   Consideration and Approval of Minutes:  City Council Work Session of November 10,
2015; Budget Retreat of December 9, 2015; Regular Meeting of April 5, 2016; Special
Meeting (Executive Session) of April 5, 2016; and Special Meeting (Executive Session) of
April 12, 2016.

 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 



5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Public Participation enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the
item is discussed. If you wish to address the Council at tonight's meeting, please complete a
comment card and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be
called when it is your turn to speak. You may address the Council up to three times
throughout the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation. Please limit
your remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the
discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may
appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak. 

 

6. PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS
 

7. APPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council
and to the general public that the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which
will not be open to the public, for the purpose of discussing or considering employment,
assignment, appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or
resignation of a public officer, appointee, or employee of any public body...., pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(1).

 

8. LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS
 

A.   Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Danny Thomas, “Express
Liquors", 5620 N. Highway 89., Series 09 (liquor store - all spirituous liquor), Person
Transfer.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing,

staff recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.
 

B.   Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application: Cecily Clift Maniaci, “Hoot
Mart", 101 E. Birch Ave., Series 10 (beer and wine store), New License.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing,

staff recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.
 

C.   Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application: Vipul Patel, “Fort Valley
Chevron", 1312 N. Fort Valley Rd, Series 10 (beer and wine store), New License.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing,

staff recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.
 

D.   Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Robert Delgado, "Hensley



D.   Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Robert Delgado, "Hensley
Beverage Company", 1850 E. Butler Rd., Series 04 (wholesaler), New License.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing,

staff recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.
 

9. CONSENT ITEMS

All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine and will
be enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. Unless
otherwise indicated, expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items.

 

A.   Consideration and Approval of Contract: Airport Master Plan Update and Aeronautical
Geographical Information System (AGIS) Survey Contract.  

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the contract with Coffman and Associates to update the Airport Master Plan

and provide a Aeronautical GIS Survey. The contract is in the amount of $520,684.
This will allow the City to go through a public process to plan for the future of the
Flagstaff Airport.

 

B.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Audit Services Contract with Clifton Larson
Allen.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve contract with Clifton Larson Allen for Professional Audit Services to perform

annual audits of the City's financial records for the years ended June 30, 2016 through
June 30, 2019 at the annual fees as follows:

- June 30, 2016:  $77,910
- June 30, 2017:  $80,410
- June 30, 2018:  $81,560
- June 30, 2019:  $82,300

 

C.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Citywide Professional On-call Consulting
Services: Architecture, Landscape Architecture, Engineering, Geotechnical and Survey.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Approve the fifteen (15) On-Call Professional Services contracts for the following

firms and disciplines:
Architecture: Johnson Walzer Associates and Loven Contracting
Landscape Architecture: The WLB Group and Kimley-Horn
Engineering: Civil Design Engineers, Peak Engineering, Plateau Engineering,
Shephard Wesnitzer Inc., Turner Engineering, The WLB Group and Woodson
Engineering
Geotechnical: Speedie and Associates, and Western Technologies
Survey: Shephard Wesnitzer Inc. and Woodson Engineering
 

2) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.



2) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.
 

10. ROUTINE ITEMS
 

A.   Consideration of Audited Financial Reports: Year ending June 30, 2015.
 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the FY 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and approve the FY

2015 Single Audit Report (as reissued).
 

B.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Approve the renewal of our Workers'
Compensation contract with Copperpoint Mutual Insurance (Workers Compensation
Insurance Contract).

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the renewal of our Workers' Compensation contract with Copperpoint Mutual

Insurance at an estimated annual cost of $730,000.
 

C.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Approve the renewal of our Casualty
insurance with Travelers Insurance and our Property coverage with AIG insurance.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the renewal of our Casualty insurance with Travelers Insurance and our

Property coverage with AIG insurance at a total estimated annual cost of $850,000.
 

D.   Consideration and Approval of Contract: Sunnyside Phase V-C Improvement Project. 
(Approval of a road-construction contract in Sunnyside).

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Approve the construction contract with RTR Paving and Resurfacing, Inc. in the

amount of $615,077.70 with a contract period of 135 calendar days;
2) Approve a contract allowance of $60,000 to cover the potential costs associated
with unanticipated or additional items of work;
3) Authorize Change Order Authority for the City Manager in the amount of $61,508
(10% of the contract amount);
4) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

 

E.   Update on Joint Land Use Study (JLUS) Re: Naval Observatory Flagstaff Station and
Camp Navajo and a request to appoint two Council members to serve on the Policy
Committee.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Receive and discuss information regarding the Joint Land Use Study (JLUS) and

appoint two Councilmembers to serve on the JLUS Policy Committee.
 

F.   Community Development Block Grant Program:



F.   Community Development Block Grant Program:

1) Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-15: A resolution approving the
City of Flagstaff's 2016 -2020 Consolidated Plan and authorizing its submission to the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).

2) Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-16: A resolution approving the
City of Flagstaff's 2016 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice and authorizing its
submission to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).

3) Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-17: A resolution approving the
City of Flagstaff's 2016/2017 Annual Action Plan and authorizing its submission to the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Resolution No. 2016-15 by title only

2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-15 (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-15 
4) Read Resolution No. 2016-16 by title only
5) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-16 (if approved above)
6) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-16 
7) Read Resolution No. 2016-17 by title only
8) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-17 (if approved above)
9) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-17

 

RECESS 

6:00 P.M. MEETING

RECONVENE
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council
and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 
 

11. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS

COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

 

12. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
 



 

13. CARRY OVER ITEMS FROM THE 4:00 P.M. AGENDA
 

14. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
 

A. Ordinances re Open Space Designations

The following items are all proposed to address annexations and rezoning for City-owned
land for public recreation and open space purposes and will be considered during one Public
Hearing, followed by individual actions.

 

1. Observatory Mesa
 

a.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-20: An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, extending and increasing the
corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to the
provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona Revised Statutes, by annexing certain land
totaling approximately 640.51 acres located in Section 12, Township 21 North, Range 6
East, which land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, and
establishing city zoning for said land as Public Open Space (POS) for 640.51 acres.
(Observatory Mesa Annexation)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-20 by title only for the final time

2) City Clerk reads Ordinance no. 2016-20 by title for the final time (if approved above)
3) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-20

 

b.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-21:  An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to
rezone approximately 1610.69 acres of real property located on Observatory Mesa, from
Rural Residential ("RR") to Public Open Space ("POS"), and approximately 2.0 acres from
Rural Residential ("RR") to Public Facility ("PF") and to apply the Resource Protection
Overlay ("RPO") to approximately 640.51 acres.  (Observatory Mesa Zoning Map
Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-21 by title only for the final time

2)  City Clerk reads Ordinance no. 2016-21 by title for the final time (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-21

 

2. Picture Canyon
 

a.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-18: An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff Arizona, extending and increasing the
corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to the
provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona Revised Statutes, by annexing certain land
totaling approximately 77.8 acres located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East,
which land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, and



establishing no city zoning for said land.  (Picture Canyon Annexation)
 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-18 by title only for the final time

2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-18 by title for the final time (if approved above)
3) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-18

 

b.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-19:  An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to
rezone approximately 477.8 acres of real property known as Picture Canyon, from No
Zoning (County) and Rural Residential (RR) to Public Open Space (POS), and to apply the
Landmarks Overlay (LO), the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) and the Rural Floodplain
Designation to approximately 77.8 acres.  (Picture Canyon Zoning Map Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title only for the final time

2)  City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title for the final time (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-19

 

3. Buffalo Park West
 

a.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-16:  An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to
rezone approximately 26.03 acres of real property located at the northeast corner of Fir
Avenue and North San Francisco Street, from Single Family Residential (R1) and Public
Facility (PF) to Public Open Space (POS), and to apply the Rural Floodplain
Designation.   (Buffalo Park West Zoning Map Amendment) 

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only for the final time

2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-16

 

4. Guadalupe Park
 

a.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-15:  An
ordinance of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone
approximately 1.07 acres of real property located at 805 West Clay Avenue, from Highway
Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF).  (Guadalupe Park Zoning Map Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only for the final time

2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-15

 

5. Highland Avenue Parcels
 



a.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-17:  An
ordinance of the City of Flagstaff amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone
approximately 5.31 acres of real property located off Highland Avenue from Highway
Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF).  (Highland Avenue Zoning Map Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only for the final time

2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-17

 

B.   Public Hearing, Consideration, and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-24:  An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, extending and increasing the
corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to the
provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona Revised Statues, by annexing certain land totaling
approximately 0.81 acres located in Section 7, Township 21 North, Range 8 East, which
land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, and establishing
City zoning for said land as Rural Residential (RR) for 0.81 acres, providing for
severability, authority for clerical corrections, and establishing an effective date.
(Marquardt Annexation - Mountain Meadow Drive)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-24 by title only for the final time

2)  City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-24 by title only (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-24

 

C.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-23:  An
ordinance of the Flagstaff City Council amending Title 7, Health and Sanitation, and Title
12, Floodplain, of the Flagstaff City Code, by amending Chapters 7-02-001-0039, Sewer
Use Charges, Capacity Charges; 7-03-001-0010, Water Rates; and 7-03-001-0011, Water
Main Capacity Charges; 7-03-001-0014 Water Conservation and Chapter 12-02-002-0003,
Schedule of Stormwater Management Utility Service Charges and Fees, thereof.
(Ordinance increasing certain utility rates, charges and fees)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-23 by title only for the final time 

2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-23 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-23

 

D.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-13 and
Ordinance No. 2016-22: Public hearing to consider proposed amendments to Flagstaff
Zoning Code, Chapter 10-50 (Supplemental to Zones), Division 10-50.100 (Sign
Standards), and other related amendments in Chapter 10-20 (Administration, Procedures
and Enforcement), Chapter 10-80 (Definitions) and Chapter 10-90 (Maps); consideration of
Resolution No. 2016-13 declaring the proposed amendments as a public record; and
adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-22, adopting amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code
Chapter 10-50 (Supplemental to Zones), Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards), and other
related amendments in Chapter 10-20 (Administration, Procedures and Enforcement),
Chapter 10-80 (Definitions) and Chapter 10-90 (Maps), by reference.  (Zoning Code
Amendments - Sign Standards)

 



 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Continue the Public Hearing to May 3, 2016.
 

15. REGULAR AGENDA
 

A. Discussion and Possible Action re: Current Issues Before the Arizona Legislature
 

B.   Consideration and Possible Action:  Change to Summer Break Dates.
 

16. DISCUSSION ITEMS
 

17. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

After discussion and upon agreement by a majority of all members of the Council, an item
will be moved to a regularly-scheduled Council meeting.

 

A.   Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Councilmember Putzova to place
on a future agenda a discussion on strategies and implementation of the Regional Plan's
climate change goals and policies.

 

B.   Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Mayor Nabours to place on a future
agenda a discussion on deleting the requirement that developers pay to the
I-40/Lonetree traffic interchange.

 

C.   Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Mayor Nabours to place on a future
agenda a discussion on using Pine Canyon fees for Lonetree improvements

 

18. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS AND REPORTS FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF, FUTURE
AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

 

19. ADJOURNMENT
 

CERTIFICATE OF POSTING OF NOTICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was duly posted at Flagstaff City Hall on ___________ , at
_________ a.m./p.m. in accordance with the statement filed by the City Council with the City Clerk.

Dated this _____ day of _________________, 2016.
 

 

____________________________________
Elizabeth A. Burke, MMC, City Clerk                                 



  4. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 04/15/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE
Consideration and Approval of Minutes:  City Council Work Session of November 10, 2015; Budget
Retreat of December 9, 2015; Regular Meeting of April 5, 2016; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of
April 5, 2016; and Special Meeting (Executive Session) of April 12, 2016.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Amend/approve the minutes of the Work Session of November 10, 2015; Budget Retreat of
December 9, 2015; Regular Meeting of April 5, 2016; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of April
5, 2016; and Special Meeting (Executive Session) of April 12, 2016.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
Minutes of City Council meetings are a requirement of Arizona Revised Statutes and, additionally,
provide a method of informing the public of discussions and actions being taken by the City Council.

INFORMATION:
COUNCIL GOAL

Improve effectiveness of notification, communication, and engagement with residents,
neighborhoods and businesses and about City services, programs, policies, projects and
development

8.

Attachments:  11.10.2015.CCWS.Minutes
12.09.2015.CCBR.Minutes
04.05.2016.CCRM.Minutes
04.05.2016.CCSMES.Minutes
04.12.2016.CCSMES.Minutes



WORK SESSION
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 10, 2015

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE

6:00 P.M.

 
MINUTES

 

               

1. Call to Order

Mayor Nabours called the Work Session of November 10, 2015, to order at 6:06 p.m. He
apologized for getting started, but noted that Councilmember Brewster had just fallen on the ice
and broke her hip. 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance

The audience and City Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance.
 

3. Roll Call
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other

technological means.
  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA
 

ABSENT:

COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

4. Public Participation 

Public Participation enables the public to address the council about items that are not on the
prepared agenda. Public Participation appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning and at the
end of the work session. You may speak at one or the other, but not both. Anyone wishing to
comment at the meeting is asked to fill out a speaker card and submit it to the recording clerk.
When the item comes up on the agenda, your name will be called. You may address the Council
up to three times throughout the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation.
Please limit your remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone to have an opportunity to
speak. At the discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to
speak may appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.

 
  Tarama Heisling, Flagstaff, expressed concern with the overnight parking ordiance, stating that

  



  Tarama Heisling, Flagstaff, expressed concern with the overnight parking ordiance, stating that
she lives downtown and if often unable to find parking, requiring her to park far away.

 

5. Preliminary Review of Draft Agenda for the November 17, 2015, City Council Meeting.*
 
* Public comment on draft agenda items not individually listed may be taken under “Review of Draft
Agenda Items” later in the meeting, at the discretion of the Mayor. Citizens wishing to speak on
agenda items not specifically called out by the City Council for discussion under the second
Review section may submit a speaker card for their items of interest to the recording clerk. 

 

A. Discussion of Intergovernmental Agreement With Summit Fire District (Item 10-C on the
November 17, 2015, Agenda)

 
  Fire Chief Mark Gaillard provided a PowerPoint which addressed the following:

SERVICE AND FIREFIGHTER SAFETY
STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT
     Regionalism
     Professional Development
     Improved Operational Efficiencies
SMALLER GOVERNMENT
     Reduce Duplicative Efforts
     Increase Capacity
     Defer Costs
     Allocate Future Resources to Direct Service Delivery
FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES
     Return to Status Quo
     Continue Objectives of the IGA Under New Terms
     Advance a New IGA for Increased Levels of Collaboration
ELEMENTS OF THE IGA
PROVIDE FIRE CHIEF/CHIEF OFFICER SERVICES
FLAGSTAFF DIRECT ADDITIONAL COSTS OF IGA

Mayor Nabours said that his concern would be that they are not subsidizing the Summit Fire
Department with the City's taxpayer money. He said that if it is a good deal for the City this is a
good reason, but he wants to be sure that the money received from Summit Fire Department will
cover the costs of the employee that would be loaned to them.

MAINTAIN LOCAL CONTROL
LINE AND STAFF
     EMS Support
     Equipment and Apparatus Support
     Training and Recruitment
     Safety and Health
ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
     Fuel and Maintenance for a Chief's Vehicle
     Two-Year Term
     Indemnity
SUMMARY
     Opportunity to Innovate
     Improve Fire and Life Safety Services
     Improve Firefighter Safety

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session November 10, 2015                          2 



Chief Gaillard said that they have spoken with members Flagstaff Fire Department's elected
board and then sat in two series of teleconferences with the Flagstaff Fire Department. They
discussed, heard concerns, and were able to remedy valid concerns. He said that they were able
to clarify some information that had not been accurate.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked what the biggest misunderstanding was. Chief Gaillard said there was
a concern that a vacancy created by the IGA at the firefighter level could periodically require
someone to be held over to work an extra shift, especially since they had other vacancies. He
said that they have three new firefighters in the Academy which will be done in January, getting
them back to full staff quicker.

Councilmember Oravits thanked Chief Gaillard for the presentation, and said that one of the
opportunities created is that for advancing and training. Chief Gaillard said that the recruitment
and retention efforts of the Flagstaff Police Department are also at the Fire Department. He said
that this is a rare opportunity for them to provide a number of their folks to prepare for leadership
positions in the future.

Discussion was held on the process of temporarily moving employees into other positions and
then going back to their old position in two years, and the possibility of them being better trained
and moving on to another community. Chief Gaillard said that they are all going into it as an
opportunity for special professional development. He said that those participating will not be
promoted, so there would be no demotion at the end of the period. He added that those
participating will not necessarily serve for the two-year period, but rather they anticipate having
several different staff members benefit from the opportunity.

 

  At this time Mayor Nabours asked Council if there were any questions related to next week's
agenda.

Councilmember Evans said that she was confused about the Dew Downtown. She thought it was
premature to be talking about a street closure when they had not yet had the discussion on
whether they were going to continue with the event. She asked if they could pull that item from
the agenda until they had an opportunity to hold a Work Session to discuss it further.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that the staff summary also mentions an outside organizer, and she
asked who that would be. Glorice Pavey said that there is a partnership between the City and the
Downtown Business Alliiance who has hired an outside event contractor.

Vice Mayor Barotz also referenced the liquor license and requested that the memo previously
sent to Council on what can be considered could be resent for reference.

Vice Mayor Barotz voiced concern with the length of the agenda and suggested that they
prioritize the items. Mr. Copley said that their intent is to put some time limitations on the bigger
items.

 

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session November 10, 2015                          3 



           

B. Discussion of 2016 State and Federal Legislative Agenda. (Item 10-E on the
November 17, 2015, agenda)

 
  Assistant to the City Manager Stephanie Smith began the presentation, noting that

Richard Travis was streaming the meeting, but was not on the line, and Bob Holmes was
on the line if they should have any questions. She said that last week she received input
on the 2016 State, Federal and Tribal Legislative Priorities, and next week Council would
be voting on them for adoption. She wanted to take time to ensure that what is in the draft
agenda accurately incorporates the input received last week.

Councilmember Putzova said that she would like to see some type of statement along the
lines of, "protect and recover some of the local control that was lost." Ms. Smith said that
she could expand that statement before next week to include recapture.

Councilmember Oravits said that there were several additions made last week, and he
would like to go through each one to see if there is support. Myaor Nabours said that just
because an item has been added, it does not mean it will pass. They were not taking
action tonight as far as the agenda item. Ms. Smith noted that the goal of bringing this
forward tonight was to have that discussion.

Mayor Nabours noted that Mr. Eastman has taken ill so they would not be discussing the
Zoning Code amendments this evening. He suggested that they set the matter aside for
now and hear the rest of the items, and then take it back up at the end of the meeting.

 

6. Community Code Compliance FY 2015 Program Review.   

 
  Code Compliance Manager Tom Boughner came forward to give a PowerPoint

presentation on their FY2015 Program, which included:

TYPES OF CASES
ZONING CASE TYPES
PARKING STANDARDS
DISTRESSED PROPERTIES
RESIDENTIAL SINGLE-FAMILY
COMMERCIAL PROPERTY
MULTIFAMILY
VOLUNTEER PROGRAMS
GRAFFITI BUSTERS
SHOPPING CAR REMOVALS

Mayor Nabours said that the Code Compliance Department does not get attention if they
do not see problems. He commended him and his department for their great work.

 

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session November 10, 2015                          4 



           

7. Policy Discussion on Proposed Amendments to Zoning Code Chapter 10-30 (General
to All).

  

 
  Mayor Nabours said that although Mr. Eastman has gone home, he did have a card from

someone wanting to address the Council, and he invited him forward.

Patrick Hurley, Flagstaff, voiced concern over Section 10-30.60.060 regarding Building
Placement. He said that after the last meeting he talked with Mark Sawyers, who explained
that this was part of the 2002 Code and it did get left out of the 2011 changes; however, it
has been under the parking code section. He said that there are a lot of factors to be
considered; the location should be determined by typography.

Mayor Nabours asked Mr. Hurley what he suggested. Mr. Hurley said that this should be a
guideline and not a requirement. The location takes into account the owner's needs and
those other items. Looking at the Sportsman Warehouse building, they wanted it to be
pedestrian friendly, but it shades Route 66 and is up against the sidewalks.

Mayor Nabours said that his understanding was they do not want to drive down the street
and have a sea of parking lots either, but he can see both sides of the issue.

Mr. Hurley said that if in the end this becomes code, he would hope that they have a good
appeal process in place. He does not necessarily like strip malls with parking in front, but it
should not be everything forward either.

Tory Syracuse, Friends of Flagstaff's Future, addressed the Council regarding this same
issue.

Discussion then continued on parking lot standards and it was mentioned that there is a
suggested addition that in considering a CUP or rezoning request that there be a
compatibility requirement for whatever the new proposal is with the surrounding areas. He
believed the requirement to get a CUP now, and to get a rezoning from Council, includes a
whole list of criteria they look at, and one of the items is compatibility of the surrounding
uses.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that her understanding was that when an applicant makes a
request for zone change the Council has to have findings; those are more general. They
they get to the CUP, that is where they get to the issue of compatibility. Mr. Folke noted
that there are different findings for those two applications.

Further discussion was held on front entrances, or entrances connecting to the
sidewalk.Mr. Folke said that he did not believe they require an entrance on the sidewalk
side. The primary entrance can be on the side; what they are trying to achieve is a
connectivity.

Councilmember Putzova said that with those requirements they may end up with buildings
that have unattractive fronts. She said that if they did require the entrance to be at the front,
so it becomes a front-facing building, that could have additional entrances for those that
may be driving, it seems like it would mitigate some of the issue. The fact that they allow
the two ways creates the opportunity for a building to be unpleasant to walk by. Mr. Folke
said that they would look at this further. He said that there are some shortcomings to some
of the sites that have been completed. They do work hard with applicants, but there are
things they do not always think about--security, costs, franchises, etc.

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session November 10, 2015                          5 



Mayor Nabours questioned Section 10-30.50.060 regarding right-of-way. He said that his
concern is that if a property will not give some right-of-way the City could extract property
from a development because of some future widening of a road that does not have
anything to do with their development. Ms. D'Andrea said that there has to be some
rationale nexus. They would look at that wording and try to clarify it.

Councilmember Oravits referenced Section 10-30.60.070 - Parking Lots, Driveways and
Service Areas. He said that an example of this was the entrance to the Aquaplex. He gets
a lot of complaints about the width of that, and asked if they would be addressing that at all.
Mr. Folke said that he believed those standards are going to be addressed in the
engineering standards. He said that there was a committee in Community Development
reviewing those standards right now. Mr. Landsieldel said that he would bring that issue up
to the City Engineer to make sure it is considered.

A break was held from 8:03 p.m. to 8:15 p.m.
 

8. Policy discussion on proposed amendments to Chapter 10-40 of the Flagstaff Zoning
Code.

  

 

9. Policy discussion on proposed amendments to Zoning Code Chapter 10-50 
(Supplemental to Zones), except for Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards).

  

 

10. Review of Draft Agenda Items for the November 17, 2015, City Council Meeting.*
 
* Public comment on draft agenda items will be taken at this time, at the discretion of the
Mayor.

 
  Discussion then continued on the Legislative Agenda item, beginning with further talk of

local control. Mayor Nabours and Councilmember Oravits voiced concern with always
opposing legislative that restricts local control. Mayor Nabours said that one issue he
believes should be regulated statewide is cell phone texting. They said that they did not
want to be painted into a box with that language.

Ms. Smith said that she would add Councilmember Putzova's language and she would
include a few options for them to consider next week.

Mayor Nabours said that he noticed that there has been some talk and federal senators
asking the Forest Service to open areas outside of the 4FRI so they could get other
contractors working on the thinning, even if the contractor with 4FRI is not moving as fast
as they would like. He said that he wondered if the City should get on board with that.
Councilmember Overton agreed.

Vice Mayor Barotz provided suggested language for the second bullet regarding Tribal
Relations, to be "facilitate annual meetings with tribal nations and collaborate on agenda
development."

Vice Mayor Barotz said that in preparation for the next meeting, she would like to get a list
of the state's last session bills that they were actively watching, their sponsors and the
outcomes, and in those instances where the bills failed, the expectations that the bill will be
brought forward again.

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session November 10, 2015                          6 



NEXT STEPS

Councilmember Putzova said that looking at the priorities, they think of the City as an
organization versus the community. There are so many bills and so many opportunities for
them to get involved that could make a huge difference.
 

 

11. Public Participation

None
 

12. Informational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager; future agenda item
requests.

 
  Vice Mayor Barotz asked for a FAIR to hold a Work Session to follow up on the Student

Housing Task Force proposals.

She added that she attended a good presentation by former ADWR Director Rita Maguire
regarding water rights. Although Flagstaff is not part of the conversation in the Valley and
much of what she said did not relate, it was hard to argue that they make water decisions
in isolation.

Councilmember Evans asked for a FAIR for a discussion for conservation easements on
properties that have been set aside as open space.

Councilmember Overton commended staff for the great work done by staff and leadership
at Bushmaster Park. It was well received by the residents.

Mayor Nabours reminded everyone that last weekend was the challenge between the City
and County to raise food for the Family Food Center. The City lost raising 48 hams to the
County's 112 turkeys. They also received 3,000 pounds of additional nonperishable goods
and $1,200.

 

13. Adjournment

The Work Session of the Flagstaff City Council held November 10, 2015, adjourned at
9:05 p.m.

 

 
  

_______________________________
MAYOR

ATTEST:
 

 

 

_________________________________
CITY CLERK

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session November 10, 2015                          7 



CITY COUNCIL BUDGET RETREAT
WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 9, 2015

FLAGSTAFF AQUAPLEX
1702 NORTH FOURTH STREET

FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA
9:00 A.M.

 

MINUTES
 

               

1. Call to Order

Mayor Nabours called to order the Budget Retreat of the Flagstaff City Council held December 9,
2015, and welcomed back Councilmember Brewster.

 

2. Roll Call
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE                       

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Michelle D'Andrea.
 

3. Budget Retreat   

 
  City Manager Josh Copley the reviewed the agenda for the day. He said that he would be

bringing back a budget in the spring, but in order to get it right, and meet their expectations, he
needs to clearly understand where they want to go. Councilmembers then shared what they
wanted to get out of the retreat, which included: checking in on where they are with their goals
from last year, see if they need to be ratified, revised, added, removed; creating a clear
direction for the City Manager to be able to bring back a budget document; making sure they are
staying focused on the goals set; have a budget that reflects the City that represents all of the
citizens; hope they can be honest; hope it will be productive; feel that at the end of the day they
have a consensus on their goals.

 
 

  



           

A. Progress Report on Council Goals
 
  The City Council reviewed the Report on City Council Goals 2015 document, attached hereto

and made a part hereof as Exhibit A.

Invest in our employees and implement retention and attraction strategies.

Police Chief Kevin Treadway spoke to the success of the housing assistance provided to police
officers. He said that there were three employees that are currently involved in the housing
program and it has been well received. They have done two training sessions explaining the
program and providing literature. In addition, there are several others that are saving to reach
the required match and some newer employees waiting to hit their one-year mark.

Ms. Darr said that the match is up to $7,000. She said that one officer had been with the
department for 9 years and the other 11 years.

Chief Treadway said that the Police Department recognizes that they are the only department in
the City that reached market-based pay. They have seen retention from July to date improve by
7% in dispatch and 13% in patrol and they currently have no vacancies in patrol.

He said that motivation is high and people are happy to be at the Police Department. They have
a 20-year officer retiring and a new female officer going to the Academy in January, but they do
not have a long list of people leaving.

Mr. Copley said that once they get to market then they have to continue to maintain the market.
They will be discussing that later.

Ensure Flagstaff has a long-term water supply for current and future needs.

Mr. Hill reviewed the existing water conservation education program, noting that they have been
looking to the Water Commission on different strategies of how to move forward with the
program. He said that they would be prepared at the January 7 meeting to go into detail on all of
the education components and where they have been.

After several questions posed by Council, Mr. Hill replied that many of the questions raised were
also raised at the November 17 meeting and they are working on the answers to those questions
at this time. He said that many of them will be answered at the January 7 meeting.

Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems
in an efficient and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics.

Councilmember Putzova asked if staff could think of policies or projects that actually decreased
the level of service and public service, such as decreased library hours or reducing disabled
parking.

Mr. Copley said that in response to the recession staff has been working to make progress in
those areas where they previously cut. Ms. Goodrich said that the only service reduction they
have had was related to the State taking over administration of sales tax, which will be a service
reduction.

Mr. Copley said that they have made significant progress in working to come back from the
recession.As they sit today they have areas in the organization that are still struggling to keep up

  

Flagstaff Council Budget Retreat December 9, 2015                          2 



with the demand. An example is the Community Development Department. They have
inspectors, plan reviewers, but they are still using outside services. With the boom in the
development and moving into the future, they can see where they are going to struggle to
provide that level of service they have committed to.

Mr. Copley said that they have made progress in getting back some of the training of employees,
but they still are not back to that. He said that three years ago they cut back on snow removal
and also street sweeping, both of which have been restored. He said that it is always tempered
with reality. They are putting down a lot more cinders than they are able to pick up. There will
always be some in the community that feel they did not get the level of service they should.

Councilmember Putzova said that it would be helpful to get a list of those services that are lower
in the level of service today than pre-recession.

Councilmember Brewster asked about the status of locating appropriate lights that worked with
the dark skies. Mr. Copley said that Council approved a contract with SLEDS, an
FMPO-sponsored project. He said that they had a chartering session last week to get started.
Mr. Wessel said that part of their team includes an electrical engineering firm that is nationally
known for their work with dark skies. They had a chartering meeting with the Chief Astronomer
from the Naval Observatory and Jeff Hall from Lowell Observatory. They are going to be taking
baseline measurements and will probably move forward soon. He said that it has been very
positive.

Explore and adopt policies to lower the costs associated with housing to the end user.

Discussion was held on the goal of lowering costs of housing to the end user. Housing Director
Sarah Darr said that they have multiple things going on. Housing Solutions just broke ground on
a three-unit development targeted as rentals for lower income; they are helping the Townsite
Land Trust, who already owns four houses, and the City is providing technical assistance.

Councilmember Putzova said that last April when they were finalizing the budget, they asked
staff to convene an employer roundtable to focus on housing, and asked for a status of that
project. Mr. Copley said that staff is working collaboratively right now with NAU, NAHC, ECoNA
and others, including major employers, to hold an inaugural meeting in January to explore the
needs from those entities.

Councilmember Evans said that when calculating savings, it will be different between the market
and what they actually paid. Mayor Nabours said that this goal is to adopt policies to help in
those efforts. He said that last night was a good example of a policy that could help the cost of
the end user because it is lowering the cost overall. Councilmember Evans said that is a good
observation in theory, but houses go for what the market can bear. It would be interesting to go
back and see what has been built in Sunnyside and see if the end cost was reduced or not.

Relieve traffic congestion throughout Flagstaff.

Discussion was held on the Traffic Congestion Relief and the need to quantify improvements. It
was suggested that they revisit this goal and perhaps give it a new title. Mr. Copley asked that
the Council keep the goal more general and then give them objectives they would like to see
under that goal.

Address key issues and processes related to the implementation of the Regional Plan.

Brief discussion was then held on this goal. It was suggested that perhaps it be removed from

  

Flagstaff Council Budget Retreat December 9, 2015                          3 



the list; others felt it needed to stay, but focus on the outcomes they are seeking. It was noted
that the goal was originally worded directly tied to the election and adoption of the Regional Plan,
and perhaps it needed to be reworded.

A break was held from 12:23 a.m. to 10:34 a.m.

Mr. Copley said that it is obvious that there is a level of detail that Council would like to know. As
a mid-year report out, many of these things are in the process. Next year they will be presenting
a bound report with an Executive Summary, etc.

Improve effectiveness of notification, communication, and engagement with residents,
neighborhoods and businesses and about City services.

With regard to the Notification/Communication goal, Mr. Copley said that they have made
significant progress in the Innoprise conversion, currently working on Phase 2. He said that this
affect the ability to interact with the public.

Foster relationships and maintain economic development commitment to partners.

Councilmember Evans asked, in reference to the Foster Relationships goal, that they put in the
parking lot a discussion of Tequila Sunrise and Dew Downtown.

Decrease the number of working poor.

Discussion then turned to the Decrease the Number of Working Poor goal. Underneath the goal
it was noted that two things that the City does to help in this area is their relationship with FACTS
(the before and after school program) and United Way. Councilmember Evans noted that
construction jobs were listed, but right now it seems that the larger construction companies are
bringing in out of town employees.

Mr. Copley noted that he was getting a clear message that Council would like more data to
support the information being provided. Economic Vitality Director Heidi Hansen said that her
division is doing a lot of different things to help this area with retaining and attracting higher wage
jobs. She said that this may not fall under this goal for some of the Councilmembers, but it
provides opportunities to have employment. She said that their work at the Auto Park has
brought in higher paying jobs, such as mechanics, sales jobs with salary plus commission, all of
which provide benefits. She said that her understanding was that this was to be a broader
discussion, but she has all of the data and would be happy to provide it to Council.

After further discussion on the issue, Councilmember Putzova said that this goal barely got any
support and the bullets reflect the lack of support to do anything at a City level. She said that
Flagstaff does not have a problem with finding work, but finding work with wages that allow
someone to live. She said that they market industries that are notorious for low wages with
hotels, restaurants, retail, etc. She wants them to think about it critically. They have a history of
not quite being able to focus their energy on either growing their own or bringing other
high-paying jobs, because it is easier to get retail.

Ms. Hansen said that with their relationship with ECoNA they have their eyes focused on
everything. It takes longer to get a business that brings in 250 jobs; it is a lot of work. Unless they
change where Flagstaff is located, 80 miles from the Grand Canyon, they are a tourism location.
She said that they are totally with her on the other things; they are not ignoring them.

Councilmember Putzova said that it was not a criticism of Economic Vitality, but rather a

  

Flagstaff Council Budget Retreat December 9, 2015                          4 



Council-level priority, and not even this Council; it is a cumulative effort of past councils.

Mayor Nabours said that he sees daily how much the City and related entities do to attract
businesses. It is very difficult, very competitive. He said that is why they have an incubator and
accelerator building. They are trying to get businesses to start in Flagstaff and stay here. He said
that there are issues with the appropriate work force for a lot of the businesses that look here.

It was requested that this item be placed on the parking lot. Mr. Copley added that Council
recently approved a change in procurement to allow for extra credit to those businesses that
employ the disabled. He said that they have learned that their tribal partners will be having their
own Economic Outlook Conference and the City will be participating that as well.

Ensure that we are as prepared as possible for extreme weather events.

Discussion then turned to the Extreme Weather Events goal. Vice Mayor Barotz asked if they
would be seeing the backup generator coming back through the budget process. Mr. Copley said
that they want to get through the Water Rate Study first and will then determine at what point it
would be appropriate to come back. Councilmember Putzova said that the longer they wait on
that purchase the more they are putting the City at risk.

Councilmember Overton asked how often they review routes for services such as snow removal
and trash removal. Public Works Director Erik Solberg said that for solid waste they just
purchased a routing software program and just completed their commercial route. He said that
they were waiting to see how the solid waste routing went before looking at snow operations. He
said that they will see something in this year's budget along with sweeping.

Mr. Copley recapped the discussions:

1) Further information to come on reductions in services and what has been restored
2) Update on Housing Forum
3) Water Conservation programming, strategy and performance metrics
4) New construction jobs (out of town hiring)
5) Outcomes on job-training programs and partnership with Career Center, specifically what is
being done at libraries
6) New businesses coming to town - jobs, hiring, wage data
7) City's economic development efforts and plans in non-low wage sectors

Vice Mayor Barotz asked that they also get a spreadsheet on the contracts for social services
they approve every year.

Discussion was held on rewording of some of the goals, and the outcome are those listed on
Exhibit B, attached hereto and made a part hereof.

 

  A lunch break was held from 12:08 p.m. to 12:34 p.m.
 

B. Budget / Economic Conditions
 
  Management Services Director Rick Tadder reviewed the Budget and Economic Conditions.

Brief discussion was held on the pensions and results of the changes made in report of
construction last year. Mr. Tadder said that retail is the bigger of that amount and they have not
had the opportunity to look at the projections. Councilmember Overton encouraged them to do
so.

  

Flagstaff Council Budget Retreat December 9, 2015                          5 



 

C. Budget Conditions - Fixed Costs
 
  Human Resources Director Shannon Anderson reviewed fixed costs as they relate to

compensation and benefits for employees, as outlined in Exhibit A.

Finance Director Brandi Suda reviewed fixed costs as they related to pension, utilities, fuel/oil;
workers compensation and property liability.

 

D. Budget Priority Setting
 
  At this time the Council and staff participated in a budget priority setting exercise, with the

outcomes listed on Exhibit C, attached hereto and made a part hereof. During this time
discussion was held on the rules not being clear and being interpreted differently.

 

E. Retreat Wrap-Up
 

4. Discussion of Annual Federal Lobbying Trip
 
  Brief discussion was held on who was interested in attending the Washington DC lobbying trip. It

was agreed that attendees would be Mayor Nabours and Councilmember Evans, along with a
staff member.

 

5. Adjournment
 
  Mr. Copley said that it was a long day and he appreciated everyone attending. He said that this

was his first crack at a budget retreat and it was a good learning experience. He said that staff
received some clear understand of where the Council would like to go and they have a set of
goals to take them through the next year.

The Budget Retreat of December 9, 2015, adjourned at 3:46 p.m.
 

 

 
_______________________________
MAYOR

ATTEST:

 

 

_________________________________
CITY CLERK

 

  

Flagstaff Council Budget Retreat December 9, 2015                          6 



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
TUESDAY, APRIL 5, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

4:00 P.M. AND 6:00 P.M.
 

MINUTES
 

 

               

1. CALL TO ORDER
 
Mayor Nabours called the Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council of April 5, 2016, to order at
4:00 p.m.
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to the
general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into executive session,
which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with the City’s attorneys for legal
advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 

2. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.
  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and Interim City Attorney Sterling Solomon.
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MISSION STATEMENT

The audience and City Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance and Mayor Nabours read the
Mission Statement of the City of Flagstaff.

MISSION STATEMENT

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life of its citizens.
 

  



           

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
 

A. Consideration and Approval of Minutes:  City Council Work Session of January 26, 2016;
Special Meeting of February 17, 2016; Combined Special Meeting/Work Session of February
23, 2016; Joint Work Session of March 7, 2016; Regular Meeting of March 22, 2016; Special
Meeting (Executive Session) of March 22, 2016; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of
March 29, 2016; and Work Session of March 29, 2016.

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to

approve the minutes of the City Council Work Session of January 26, 2016; Special Meeting
of February 17, 2016; Combined Special Meeting/Work Session of February 23, 2016; Joint
Work Session of March 7, 2016; Regular Meeting of March 22, 2016; Special Meeting
(Executive Session) of March 22, 2016; Special Meeting (Executive Session) of March 29,
2016; and Work Session of March 29, 2016. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Public Participation enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the
item is discussed. If you wish to address the Council at tonight's meeting, please complete a
comment card and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be
called when it is your turn to speak. You may address the Council up to three times
throughout the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation. Please limit
your remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the
discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may
appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak. 

None
 

6. PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS

None 
 

7. APPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which will
not be open to the public, for the purpose of discussing or considering employment,
assignment, appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation
of a public officer, appointee, or employee of any public body...., pursuant to A.R.S.
§38-431.03(A)(1).

None
 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          2 



           

8. LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS
 
  Mayor Nabours opened the public hearing on all four liquor license applications, noting that

the Community Development, Sales Tax and Police Departments had reviewed all of the
applications and saw no apparent reasons to deny them. There being no public input,
Mayor Nabours closed the public hearing.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to
forward a recommendation to the State for approval of all four liquor license applications. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

A. Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application: Tek Kafley, "India
Palace", 103 W. Birch Ave., Series 12 (restaurant), New License.

  

 

B. Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application: Lynn Shulman, “Majestic
Marketplace", 601 E. Piccadilly Dr., #95,  Series 07 (beer and wine bar) and Series 09 (liquor
store - all spirituous liquor) with sampling privileges, Person and Location Transfer.

  

 

C. Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application: Danny Thomas, “Aspen Inn
Suites", 1008 E. Route 66,  Series 07 (beer and wine bar), Person Transfer.

  

 

D. Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  David Smith Jr., "Root Public
House", 101 S. San Francisco St., Series 12 (restaurant), New License.

  

 

9. CONSENT ITEMS

All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine and will
be enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. Unless
otherwise indicated, expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items.

 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to

approve Consent Items 9-A through 9-E. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

A. Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Independent Contract Agreement (ICA) with
Salt River Project for the Upper Lake Mary Watershed Monitoring Project.

Approve ICA with Salt River Project (SRP) and approve three (3) proposals to
maintain the LM-WC TAC's flowtography equipment within the Upper Lake Mary
Watershed and to instrument two (2) additional sites, authorizing Utilities to spend a
total of $67,860.00 in FY16.

  

 

B. Consideration and Approval of Agreement: Arizona State Forestry Western Bark Beetle
Initiative (WBBI) 15-601 Grant 

Approve the WBBI 15-601 Grant Agreement between the City of Flagstaff and the AZ
State Forestry Division for grant funds in the amount of $98,100.00 with a city match of
$98,100.00 for a total project cost of $196,200.

  

 

C. Consideration and Approval of Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA): With Coconino   

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          3 



C. Consideration and Approval of Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA): With Coconino
County for the City to provide Prescribed Fire services to the County-owned Ft Tuthill and
Rogers Lake Natural Area

Approve the IGA with Coconino County for the City to provide Prescribed Fire
services to the County-owned Ft Tuthill County Park (FTCP) and the Rogers Lake
Natural Area (RLNA).

  

 

D. Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Programmatic Agreement - Housing Programs
- State Historic Preservation Office

1) Approve:  Programmatic Agreement Between the City of Flagstaff and the Arizona
State Historic Preservation Office Regarding the Community Development Block Grant
(CDBG) and Community Development Block Grant – Recovery (CDBG-R) Programs;
and 2) Authorize the City Manager to execute the Agreement.

  

 

E. Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Consideration of approval of Design/Build
agreement: Core Services Maintenance Facility

Approve Design/Build agreement with Core construction for the programing and design
phased services in the amount of $2,209,660.00 with a contract allowance of $220,966
and a contract time of 515 calendar days and authorize the City Manager to execute
the necessary documents.

  

 

F. Consideration and Acceptance of Grant Funding:  Arizona State Parks FY 2016
Recreational Trails Program Grant for Picture Canyon.

Authorize acceptance of grant funding from Arizona State Parks Recreational Trails in
the amount of $74,446, with a City match in the amount of $35,168.

  

 

10. ROUTINE ITEMS
 

A. Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-10:  An ordinance
authorizing the acquisition and dedication of certain real property as a public right-of-way for
the construction of permanent ADA ramps associated with the crosswalks on Fourth Street
at Third Avenue and at Dortha Ave.  (Acquisition of property for ADA ramps on Fourth
Street Project)

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to

read Ordinance No. 2016-10 by title only for the final time. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE
ACQUISITION OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY AS A PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR
CONSTRUCTION OF PEDESTRIAN RAMPS ON FOURTH STREET AT THIRD AVENUE
AND AT DORTHA AVENUE AND DESIGNATING THE REAL PROPERTY AS PUBLIC
RIGHT-OF-WAY

 

  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to
adopt Ordinance No. 2016-10. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          4 



           

B. Consideration of Appointments:  City Attorney   

 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to postpone

this item to the 6:00 p.m. portion of the meeting. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

RECESS 

Mayor Nabours recessed the Regular Meeting of April 5, 2016, at 4:11 p.m.

6:00 P.M. MEETING
 

RECONVENE

Mayor Nabours reconvened the Regular Meeting of April 5, 2016, at 6:02 p.m.
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council
and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 
 

11. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NO

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and Interim City Attorney Sterling Solomon.
 

12. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
 
  The following individuals addressed the Council regarding the issues identified:

Terry O'Neal, Flagstaff, said he did not care about Columbus Day; he did not know much
about him, but it will do nothing to help reduce homelessness, drug abuse, alcoholism,
domestic violence, etc.; he was not for or against the Hub development, but it met all of
the criteria listed for that area in the Regional Plan; and government has no business
being involved in changing the minimum wage. Anyone that thinks it is going to help those
on the bottom are sadly mistaken.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          5 



Charlie Silver, Flagstaff, said he supports the preservation of open space as once it is
gone it is nearly impossible to get back.

A written comment card was received from John McCulloch asking if any member of the
prevailing "no" vote on the Hub rezone request would be bringing the item back for
reconsideration.

Mayor Nabours noted that later on in the agenda the Council will be considering an
ordinance regarding utility rates. That topic will only address water, sewer and stormwater
rates; they would not be getting into the issue of reclaimed water, so if anyone was
present to comment on that, this was the time to comment, during Public Participation.

 

13. CARRY OVER ITEMS FROM THE 4:00 P.M. AGENDA
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to appoint

Sterling Solomon as the Interim City Attorney. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Mayor Nabours asked if there was consensus to direct staff to draft an employment

agreement with Mr. Solomon for consideration at a later date in Executive Session, for the
position of City Attorney.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she was not prepared to make that commitment at this time.
Councilmembers Overton, Oravits and Brewster said they were in favor of going ahead
with such negotiations.

 

14. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
 

A. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-04:  An
Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to
rezone approximately 26.17 acres of real property located on McMillan Mesa, from
Suburban Commercial (SC) to Medium Density Residential (MR) for 7.67 acres, from
Research and Development (RD) to Medium Density Residential (MR) for 13.66 acres, and
from Residential Single-Family (R1) to Public Open Space (POS) for 4.84 acres, and 
amending to the McMillan Mesa Village Specific Plan to reallocate 192 units from
Development Area B to Development Areas C, D1 and D3. (McMillan Mesa Village
Zoning Map and Specific Plan Amendments)

  

 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to read

Ordinance No. 2016-14 by title only for the final time. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING
THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 26.17 ACRES OF
REAL PROPERTY LOCATED ON MCMILLAN MESA, FROM SUBURBAN
COMMERCIAL ("SC") TO MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL ("MR") FOR 7.67 ACRES,
FROM RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ("RD") TO MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL
("MR") FOR 13.66 ACRES, AND FROM RESIDENTIAL SINGLE-FAMILY ("R1") TO
PUBLIC OPEN SPACE ("POS") FOR 4.84 ACRES, AND AMENDING THE MCMILLAN

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          6 



PUBLIC OPEN SPACE ("POS") FOR 4.84 ACRES, AND AMENDING THE MCMILLAN
MESA VILLAGE SPECIFIC PLAN TO REALLOCATE 192 DWELLING UNITS FROM
DEVELOPMENT AREA B TO DEVELOPMENT AREAS C, D1 AND D3; PROVIDING FOR
SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to adopt
Ordinance No. 2016-14. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

1. Observatory Mesa
 

a. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-20: An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, extending and increasing the
corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to the
provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona Revised Statutes, by annexing certain land totaling
approximately 640.51 acres located in Section 12, Township 21 North, Range 6 East,
which land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, and
establishing city zoning for said land as Public Open Space (POS) for 640.51 acres.
(Observatory Mesa Annexation)

  

 
  Mayor Nabours opened the Public Hearing for all of the following open space properties,

noting that one public hearing would be held, but action would be taken individually.

Written comment cards were received from the following individuals:

•Suzanne Motsinger, supporting the Buffalo Park West rezone
•Dawn Dyer, supporting rezone of all of the properties as open space
•Kathryn S. Barrett, supporting the Buffalo Park West, Picture Canyon and Observatory
Mesa rezones as open space

Ms. Antol briefly reviewed the Observatory Mesa and Picture Canyon properties, and then
Jennifer Mickelson reviewed the remaining properties.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Councilmember Eva Putzova to
read Ordinance No. 2016-20 by title only for the first time. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA,

EXTENDING AND INCREASING THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF
FLAGSTAFF, COCONINO COUNTY, STATE OF ARIZONA, PURSUANT TO THE
PROVISIONS OF TITLE 9, CHAPTER 4, ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES, BY
ANNEXING CERTAIN LAND TOTALING APPROXIMATELY 640.51 ACRES LOCATED
IN SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, WHICH LAND IS
CONTIGUOUS TO THE EXISTING CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF
FLAGSTAFF, AND ESTABLISHING CITY ZONING FOR SAID LAND AS PUBLIC OPEN
SPACE (POS) FOR 640.51 ACRES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AUTHORITY
FOR CLERICAL CORRECTIONS, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

 

b. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-12:  A   

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          7 



b. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-12:  A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type designation
on Maps 21 and 22 from Area in White area type and State Land to Parks/Open Space
area type for approximately 2253.20 acres located on Observatory Mesa. (Observatory
Mesa Minor Regional Plan Amendment)

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Councilmember Eva Putzova to

read Resolution No. 2016-12 by title only. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF

REGIONAL PLAN 2030 TO CHANGE THE AREA TYPE DESIGNATION OF
APPROXIMATELY 2253.20 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY ON MAPS 21 AND 22
LOCATED ON OBSERVATORY MESA FROM AREA IN WHITE AREA TYPE AND
STATE LAND TO PARKS/OPEN SPACE AREA TYPE; PROVIDING FOR
SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

 

  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz to adopt
Resolution No. 2016-12. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

c. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-21:  An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to
rezone approximately 1610.69 acres of real property located on Observatory Mesa, from
Rural Residential ("RR") to Public Open Space ("POS"), and approximately 2.0 acres from
Rural Residential ("RR") to Public Facility ("PF") and to apply the Resource Protection
Overlay ("RPO") to approximately 640.51 acres. (Observatory Mesa Zoning Map
Amendment)

  

 
  Moved by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz, seconded by Councilmember Eva Putzova to read

Ordinance No. 2016-21 by title only for the first time. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING

THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 1610.69 ACRES OF
REAL PROPERTY LOCATED ON OBSERVATORY MESA, FROM RURAL
RESIDENTIAL (“RR”) TO PUBLIC OPEN SPACE (“POS”), AND APPROXIMATELY 2.0
ACRES FROM RURAL RESIDENTIAL (“RR”) TO PUBLIC FACILITY (“PF”), AND TO
APPLY THE RESOURCE PROTECTION OVERLAY (“RPO”) TO APPROXIMATELY
640.51 ACRES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN
EFFECTIVE DATE

 

2. Picture Canyon
 

a. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-18: An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff Arizona, extending and increasing the
corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to the
provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona Revised Statutes, by annexing certain land totaling
approximately 77.8 acres located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East, which
land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, and establishing no

  

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          8 



city zoning for said land. (Picture Canyon Annexation) 
 
  Moved by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to read

Ordinance No. 2016-18 by title only for the firsrt time. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA,

EXTENDING AND INCREASING THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF
FLAGSTAFF, COCONINO COUNTY, STATE OF ARIZONA, PURSUANT TO THE
PROVISIONS OF TITLE 9, CHAPTER 4, ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES, BY
ANNEXING CERTAIN LAND TOTALING APPROXIMATELY 77.8 ACRES LOCATED IN
SECTION 4, TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST, WHICH LAND IS CONTIGUOUS
TO THE EXISTING CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AND
ESTABLISHING NO CITY ZONING FOR SAID LAND; PROVIDING FOR
SEVERABILITY, AUTHORITY FOR CLERICAL CORRECTIONS, AND ESTABLISHING
AN EFFECTIVE DATE

 

b. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-19:  An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to
rezone approximately 477.8 acres of real property known as Picture Canyon, from No
Zoning (County) and Rural Residential (RR) to Public Open Space (POS), and to apply the
Landmarks Overlay (LO), the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) and the Rural Floodplain
Designation to approximately 77.8 acres. (Picture Canyon Zoning Map Amendment)

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Eva Putzova, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to

read Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title only for the first time. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING

THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 477.8 ACRES OF
REAL PROPERTY KNOWN AS PICTURE CANYON FROM NO ZONING AND RURAL
RESIDENTIAL (“RR”) TO PUBLIC OPEN SPACE (“POS”), AND TO APPLY THE
LANDMARKS OVERLAY (LO), THE RESOURCE PROTECTION OVERLAY (RPO) AND
THE RURAL FLOODPLAIN DESIGNATION TO APPROXIMATELY 77.8 ACRES;
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

 

3. Buffalo Park West
 

a. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-10:  A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type designation
on Maps 21 and 22 from Area in White area type to Park/Open Space area type
for approximately 26.03 acres located at the northeast corner of Fir Avenue and North San
Francisco Street. (Buffalo Park West Minor Regional Plan Amendment)

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to

read Resolution No. 2016-10 by title only. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          9 



  A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF
REGIONAL PLAN 2030 TO CHANGE THE AREA TYPE DESIGNATION OF
APPROXIMATELY 26.03 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY ON MAPS 21 AND 22
GENERALLY LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF FIR AVENUE AND
NORTH SAN FRANCISCO STREET FROM AREA IN WHITE AREA TYPE TO
PARK/OPEN SPACE AREA TYPE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

 

  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to adopt
Resolution No. 2016-10. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

b. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-16:  An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to
rezone approximately 26.03 acres of real property located at the northeast corner of Fir
Avenue and North San Francisco Street, from Single Family Residential (R1) and Public
Facility (PF) to Public Open Space (POS), and to apply the Rural Floodplain
Designation.  (Buffalo Park West Zoning Map Amendment) 

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to

read Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only for the first time. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING

THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 26.03 ACRES OF
REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF FIR AVENUE AND
NORTH SAN FRANCISCO STREET, FROM SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (R1) AND
PUBLIC FACILITY (PF) TO PUBLIC OPEN SPACE (POS), AND TO APPLY THE RURAL
FLOODPLAIN DESIGNATION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING
AN EFFECTIVE DATE

 

4. Guadalupe Park
 

a. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-09: A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type designations
on Maps 21 and 22 from Existing Suburban and Future Urban to Park/Open Space area
type for approximately 1.07 acres located at 805 West Clay Avenue. (Guadalupe Park
Minor Regional Plan Amendment)

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to read

Resolution No. 2016-09 by title only.

Mr. Jesse Dominguez thanked staff, especially Jennifer, for their assistance in this project.
He said that this is part of the fruition of what they have been working on in conjunction with
the neighborhood plan, and they are all in favor. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          10 



  A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF
REGIONAL PLAN 2030 TO CHANGE THE AREA TYPE DESIGNATIONS OF
APPROXIMATELY 1.07 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY ON MAPS 21 AND 22 LOCATED
AT 805 WEST CLAY AVENUE FROM EXISTING SUBURBAN AND FUTURE URBAN TO
PARK/OPEN SPACE AREA TYPE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

 

  Moved by Councilmember Coral Evans, seconded by Councilmember Eva Putzova to
adopt Resolution No. 2016-09. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

b. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-15:  An
ordinance of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone
approximately 1.07 acres of real property located at 805 West Clay Avenue, from Highway
Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF). (Guadalupe Park Zoning Map Amendment)

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to

read Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only for the first time. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING

THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 1.07 ACRES OF
REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 805 WEST CLAY AVENUE FROM HIGHWAY
COMMERCIAL (HC) ZONE TO PUBLIC FACILITY (PF) ZONE; PROVIDING FOR
SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

 

5. Highland Avenue
 

a. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-11:  A
resolution amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 to change the area type designation
on Maps 21 and 22 from Future Suburban area type to Park/Open Space area type for
approximately 5.31 acres located off Highland Avenue. (Highland Avenue Minor
Regional Plan Amendment)

  

 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to read

Resolution No. 2016-11 by title only. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF

REGIONAL PLAN 2030 TO CHANGE THE AREA TYPE DESIGNATION OF
APPROXIMATELY 5.31 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY ON MAPS 21 AND 22
GENERALLY LOCATED AT THE END OF HIGHLAND AVENUE WEST OF
WOODLANDS VILLAGE BOULEVARD FROM FUTURE SUBURBAN AREA TYPE TO
PARK/OPEN SPACE AREA TYPE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to adopt
Resolution No. 2016-11. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          11 



 

b. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-17:  An
ordinance of the City of Flagstaff amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone
approximately 5.31 acres of real property located off Highland Avenue from Highway
Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF). (Highland Avenue Zoning Map Amendment)

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to read

Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only for the first time. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AMENDING

THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 5.31 ACRES OF
REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT THE END OF HIGHLAND AVENUE WEST OF
WOODLANDS VILLAGE BOULEVARD, FROM HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL (HC) TO
PUBLIC FACILITY (PF); PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN
EFFECTIVE DATE

 

  In response to a request by Mayor Nabours, Ms. Antol replied that through the prior
actions, they will be annexing 718.31 acres into the City of Flagstaff, and rezoned
2,762.19 acres as open space.

 

C. Public Hearing, Consideration, and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-24:  An
ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, extending and increasing the
corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to the
provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona Revised Statues, by annexing certain land totaling
approximately 0.81 acres located in Section 7, Township 21 North, Range 8 East, which
land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, and establishing
City zoning for said land as Rural Residential (RR) for 0.81 acres, providing for severability,
authority for clerical corrections, and establishing an effective date.  (Marquardt
Annexation - Mountain Meadow Drive)

  

 
  Planning Development Manager Brian Kulina reviewed the request for annexation of the

Marquardt property on Mountain Meadow Drive, with the following PowerPoint:

REQUIRED FINDINGS
GOALS AND POLICIES
ZONING - CITY OF FLAGSTAFF ZONING
PUBLIC SYSTEM IMPACT
PUBLIC COMMENT
RECOMMENDATION

Mr. Kulina said that the purpose of this request was to allow the property owner to connect
to the City's sewer system. Mayor Nabours asked if the existing system would be
abandoned. Mr. Kulina replied that it would be decommissioned.

Mayor Nabours asked if the property owner already paid or would be required to pay the
capacity fees. Mr. Kulina replied that when they pay for the meter it would pay for all
necessary capacity fees.
 

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to read

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          12 



  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to read
Ordinance No. 2016-24 by title only for the first time. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
   AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA,

EXTENDING AND INCREASING THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF
FLAGSTAFF, COCONINO COUNTY, STATE OF ARIZONA, PURSUANT TO THE
PROVISIONS OF TITLE 9, CHAPTER 4, ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES, BY
ANNEXING CERTAIN LAND TOTALING APPROXIMATELY 0.81 ACRES LOCATED IN
SECTION 7, TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST, WHICH LAND IS CONTIGUOUS
TO THE EXISTING CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AND
ESTABLISHING CITY ZONING FOR SAID LAND AS RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR) FOR
0.81 ACRES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AUTHORITY FOR CLERICAL
CORRECTIONS, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

D. Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-23:  An
ordinance of the Flagstaff City Council amending Title 7, Health and Sanitation, and Title
12, Floodplain, of the Flagstaff City Code, by amending Chapters 7-02-001-0039, Sewer
Use Charges, Capacity Charges; 7-03-001-0010, Water Rates; and 7-03-001-0011, Water
Main Capacity Charges; 7-03-001-0014 Water Conservation and Chapter 12-02-002-0003,
Schedule of Stormwater Management Utility Service Charges and Fees, thereof.
(Ordinance increasing certain utility rates, charges and fees)

  

 
  Mayor Nabours noted that this was continuation of the public hearing on the proposed

utility rate increases.

Utilities Engineering Manager Ryan Roberts came forward, noting that they had Chris
Fisher from Willdan present as well as Utilities Director Brad Hill and Management
Services Director Rick Tadder to help answer any questions they may have. He then gave
a brief PowerPoint presentation, Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, which
addressed:

SUMMARY OF COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS
AVERAGE RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER
BIG BOX STORE COMMERCIAL CUSTOMER
RATES - ORDINANCE 2016-23

Councilmember Oravits asked staff to explain what the residential user would be receiving
for the increased costs. Mr. Hill said that this funding would provide for increased annual
pipe replacement, several capital projects addressing aging water infrastructure,
improvements at Lake Mary Treatment Plant and on the sewer side the wastewater solids
handling projects. Mr. Hill added that it provides for $14.7 million in additional capital on
the water side over a five-year period, including $140,000 a year increase for water
conservation.

SEWER RATES
STORMWATER RATES

Mr. Hill stated that on the wastewater side it provides for about $15.5 million in capital
improvements. Mr. Roberts said that on the stormwater side they annually do around
$400,000 in projects, and that goes very quickly, so that will increase to $600,000 a year.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          13 



CAPACITY FEES

Mayor Nabours asked what the plans were for the additional funding to address water
conservation. Mr. Hill said that they plan to bring that issue before the Water Commission
and will then bring their plan back to Council.

Councilmember Evans asked if she was correct that they were not collecting monies
toward the $2 million for the Red Gap Ranch. Mr. Roberts replied that was correct. On the
water side, under Option 1, they did not include any design costs for the Red Gap Ranch,
only soft engineering costs in the way of NEPA studies.

Councilmember Evans said that the majority of Council voted to wait for five years and
then collect the $10 million needed to get that study done. Mr. Roberts said that what staff
heard was that the design and pump stations were more than five years out and they had
plenty of time before the next rate study would come before Council, at which time it
would be considered again.

Mr. Hill said that with their projects they will not need Red Gap Ranch within the next ten
years, but their experience is that if they want something on line in three decades, there
are elements that they need to begin working on, such as NEPA.

Mayor Nabours asked staff is they could ensure Council that they were going to have a
good water supply and sewer handling system so they are not caught short on either of
them. Mr. Hill said that he could say that they hired experts to evaluate their water and
wastewater infrastructure, and they did a thorough analysis. As they implement the
program over the next five years, he could give a qualified yes.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she understands that they will consider reclaimed water later,
but it is one system, and they are making final decisions now. It seems like it is hard to
have a conversation about one part of the system without talking about the other.

Mr. Hill said that the reason they took reclaimed water and separated it out is that staff
noticed there was a lot of conversation on reclaimed water, but it only represents 4% of
the utility revenue. Staff felt it was more important to set it aside and have a conversation
on it, and focus on what their number one service is, to get moving on the water and
wastewater improvements.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she was looking for some type of comment about how they
priced part of the system without looking at the entire system. Mr. Hill said that probably
after the summer break they would come back in a work session to talk further about
reclaimed water.

Mayor Nabours said that he was assuming that if they do something with reclaimed water
and it affects wastewater costs, they could adjust the wastewater rates. Mr. Hill said if it
impacts wastewater rates they could do that through another ordinance.

Councilmember Putzova said that it was mentioned that reclaimed water is about 4% of
the total utility revenue, but that is by design; they decided that potable water users would
subsidize the reclaimed water. To her the fundamental question is if they raise rates on
the potable side and adjust elsewhere, who pays for what.

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to read

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          14 



  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to read
Ordinance No. 2016-23 for the first time by title only.

Councilmember Oravits said that staff has done a good job and complimented the Council
for the tough compromises a few weeks ago. He said that no one wants a rate increase, but
it is imperative that they keep up with infrastructure improvements.

Councilmember Putzova said that she would be voting against this ordinance because the
underlying model has only looked at the financial stability as the ultimate goal and because
of the way they articulate what the part of the systems are. Conservation as a policy
direction has not be considered in the model. She also wanted to point out that in the
residential tiered structure when they comingle the energy and water rate, they actually
increase the rates higher for those that consume less than the other tiers. That goes
against the conservation policy that she would like to see built into the model.

Councilmember Evans said that one of her issues with this rate study is that the need for
additional water is driven by growth today, and by not collecting money right now needed
for the Red Gap Ranch study they are negating their financial responsibility. With the next
study they will either have to double the collection or they are going to need to shift the cost
to the rate payers. Both are problematic to her.

Vice Mayor Barotz saked staff to comment on the issue of energy and potable water.
Mr. Hill deferred to Chris Fisher with Willdan. Mr. Fisher said that he did not have those
numbers in front of him, but they do not believe that is the case. They are happy to go back
and look at it again.
  

  Vote: 4 - 3 
 

NAY: Vice Mayor Celia Barotz 
  Councilmember Coral Evans 
  Councilmember Eva Putzova 

 
  AN ORDINANCE OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF,

ARIZONA AMENDING TITLE 7, HEALTH AND SANITATION, AND TITLE 12,
FLOODPLAIN, OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE BY AMENDING SECTIONS
7-02-001-0039, SEWER USE CHARGES, CAPACITY CHARGES; 7-03-001-0010, 
WATER RATES; AND 7-03-001-0011, WATER MAIN CAPACITY CHARGES;
7-03-001-0014, WATER CONSERVATION; AND SECTION 12-02-002-0003, SCHEDULE
OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGES AND FEES,
THEREOF 

 

15. REGULAR AGENDA
 

A. Discussion and Possible Action re: Current Issues Before the Arizona Legislature.
 
  Assistant to the City Manager Stephanie Smith addressed the Council re issues before the

Arizona legislature. She said that a lot of the bills have been heard in committee and are
making their way through or are parked for action on the budget.

She said that several of the Council members offered to make call regarding the VA
Home in Flagstaff and that was appreciated. The most recent update is that discussion

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          15 



about taking that $10 million appropriation for a VA Home and adding a reversionary
clause requiring the funding to be spent within three years. Consensus of Council was that
they would accept the reversionary clause.

She said that it is important for the members of the legislature to understand that this is
not a Flagstaff project, but rather a Northern Arizona project, as it impacts half of the state
since there are no services like this north of Camelback Road in Phoenix.

She said that there has been some discussion about HURF funding and some
conversations about adding one-time money to HURF to be shared with cities, towns and
counties. They are concerned with this being an either/or proposition. Both are priorities
for the City of Flagstaff.

Ms. Smith said that the fireworks and guns in public facilities bills are currently parked and
another vote has not been scheduled. There have been some coalitions out there trying to
hold these bills from going to the Governor.

Councilmember Oravits thanked the members of the public that made calls to the
legislators re the VA funding. He did speak with three of Governor Ducey's advisors and
they are supportive, but they also get so many requests.

Councilmember Oravits said that last year the session ended abruptly and asked
Ms. Smith if she had any sense on that may occur. Ms. Smith replied that her
understanding is that they are behind where they would like to be, but she did not
anticipate anything happening in the near future. There is still a lot of work to be done.

Ms. Smith concluded by stating that they have tentatively scheduled May 17 for a recap of
the session.
 

 

16. DISCUSSION ITEMS

None
 

17. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

After discussion and upon agreement by a majority of all members of the Council, an item
will be moved to a regularly-scheduled Council meeting.

 

A. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Councilmember Evans to place on
a future agenda a discussion on an Additional Next Neighborhood Plan to be Southside

  

 
  Councilmember Evans said that she would like to ask Council to consider being able to

look at a southside plan at the same time that they work on a plan for High Occupancy
Housing (HOH). A majority of Councilmembers agreed to move this to a future agenda for
further discussion.

 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          16 



           

B. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Mayor Nabours to place on a future
agenda a discussion on a Change to the Summer Break Dates

  

 
  Mayor Nabours asked that Council consider putting this on a future agenda to consider

making the Summer Break earlier in the summer to coordinate with the time school is out
for the benefit of Councilmembers and staff with school-aged children. He said that it
would not extend the amount of time, just change the timing. A majority of Council agreed
to bring this item back for consideration.

 

18. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS AND REPORTS FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF, FUTURE
AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

 
  Mayor Nabours asked for a future agenda item request for a work session to discuss the

pros/cons of design build, construction manager at risk (CMAR), design, bid, build,
alternatives and why they use one method over another.

 

19. ADJOURNMENT

The Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held April 5, 2016, adjourned at 8:08 p.m.
 

 _______________________________
MAYOR

ATTEST:
 

 

_________________________________
CITY CLERK

 

  

CERTIFICATION
I, ELIZABETH A. BURKE, do hereby certify that I am the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, County of
Coconino, State of Arizona, and that the above Minutes are a true and correct summary of the Meeting of
the Council of the City of Flagstaff held on April 5, 2016. I further certify that the Meeting was duly called
and held and that a quorum was present.
  
DATED this 19th day of April, 2016.           
  
 ________________________________

CITY CLERK

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting April 5, 2016                          17 



SPECIAL MEETING (EXECUTIVE SESSION)
TUESDAY, APRIL 5, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

BETWEEN THE 4:00 P.M. PORTION AND
6:00 P.M. PORTION OF THE REGULAR MEETING

 

MINUTES
 

               

1. Call to Order

Mayor Nabours called the Special Meeting of April 5, 2016, to order at 4:12 p.m. 
 

2. Roll Call
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE                          

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and Interim City Attorney Sterling Solomon.
 

3. Recess into Executive Session.
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Scott Overton to recess into

Executive Session. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

4. Executive Session:
 

A. Discussion or consideration of employment, assignment, appointment, promotion, demotion,
dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public officer, appointee or employee of any
public body, except that, with the exception of salary discussions, an officer, appointee or
employee may demand that the discussion or consideration occur at a public meeting. The public
body shall provide the officer, appointee or employee with written notice of the executive session
as is appropriate but not less than twenty-four hours for the officer, appointee or employee to
determine whether the discussion or consideration should occur at a public meeting, pursuant to
ARS 38-431.03(A)(1).

 

i. City Attorney/Interim City Attorney Appointment
 

5. Adjournment

  



5. Adjournment

The Special Meeting of April 5, 2016, reconvened into Open Session at 5:01 p.m. at the which
time the Special Meeting adjourned.

  
 

 
_______________________________________
Mayor

ATTEST:

____________________________________
City Clerk

 

  

Flagstaff Special Meeting (Executive Session) April 5, 2016        2 



SPECIAL MEETING (EXECUTIVE SESSION)
TUESDAY, APRIL 12, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

4:00 P.M.
MINUTES

 

               

1. Call to Order

Mayor Nabours called the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of April 12, 2016, to order at
4:01 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call

  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ (joined upstairs)
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE         

            
 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and Interim City Attorney Sterling Solomon.
 

3. Recess into Executive Session.
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to recess into

Executive Session. 
  Vote: 6 - 0 - Unanimously
 

4. Executive Session:
 

A. Discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the public body,
pursuant to ARS 38-431.03(A)(3).

 

i. Sign Code
 

B. Discussions or consultations with designated representatives of the public body in order to
consider its position and instruct its representatives regarding negotiations for the purchase, sale
or lease of real property, pursuant to ARS 38-431.03(A)(7).

 

i. Courthouse Project
 

  



C. Discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the public body and
discussion or consultation with the attorneys of the public body in order to consider its position and
instruct its attorneys regarding the public body's position regarding contracts that are the subject
of negotiations, in pending or contemplated litigation or in settlement discussions conducted in
order to avoid or resolve litigation, pursuant to ARS 38-431.03(A)(3) and (4), respectively.

 

i. Hopi v. City of Flagstaff; City of Flagstaff vs. Arizona Snowbowl (CV2011 00701)
 

5. Adjournment
 
  The Special Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held April 12, 2016, reconvened into Open

Session at 6:07 p.m. at which time the meeting adjourned.
 

 

 _______________________________________
Mayor

ATTEST:

____________________________________
City Clerk

 

 

  

Flagstaff Special Meeting (Executive Session) April 12, 2016        2 



  8. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Danny Thomas, “Express Liquors", 5620
N. Highway 89., Series 09 (liquor store - all spirituous liquor), Person Transfer.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing, staff
recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.

Executive Summary:
The liquor license process begins at the State level and applications are then forwarded to the respective
municipality for posting of the property and holding a public hearing, after which the Council
recommendation is forwarded back to the State. Series 09 (Liquor Store - all spirituous liquor) licenses
are obtained through the person transfer of an existing license from another person and allows a
spirituous liquor store retailer to sell all spirituous liquors, only in the original unbroken package, to be
taken away from the premises of the retailer and consumed off the premises.

Express Liquors is currently operating with a Series 9 liquor license; the person transfer is required
because of the recent sale of the business. The property has been posted as required, and the Police,
Community Development, and Sales Tax divisions have reviewed the application with no concerns noted.

Financial Impact:
There is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff as this is a recommendation to the State.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Liquor licenses are a regulatory action and there is no Council goal that applies.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Not applicable.   

Options and Alternatives:
1) Table the item if additional information or time is needed.
2) Make no recommendation.
3) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for approval.
4) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for denial, stating the reasons for such
recommendation.



Key Considerations:
Because the application is for a person transfer, consideration may be given to only the applicant's
personal qualifications.

The deadline for issuing a recommendation on this application is April 30, 2016.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
This business will contribute to the tax base of the community. We are not aware of any other relevant
considerations.

Community Involvement:
The application was properly posted on March 24, 2016. No written protests have been received to date.

Attachments:  Express Liquors - Letter to Applicant
Hearing Procedures
Series 9 Description
Express - PD Memo
Express - Code Memo
Express - Tax Memo



OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK

March 28, 2016

Express Liquors
Attn: Danny Thomas
5620 N. Highway 89
Flagstaff, AZ  86004

Dear Mr. Thomas:

Your application for a Person Transfer Series 9 liquor license for Express Liquors at 5620 N. 
Highway 89, was posted on March 24, 2016. The City Council will consider the application at a 
public hearing during their regularly scheduled City Council Meeting on Tuesday, April 19, 2016
which begins at 4:00 p.m.

It is important that you or your representative attend this Council Meeting and be prepared to 
answer any questions that the City Council may have.  Failure to be available for questions could 
result in a recommendation for denial of your application.  We suggest that you contact your legal 
counsel or the Department of Liquor Licenses and Control at 602-542-5141 to determine the 
criteria for your license.  To help you understand how the public hearing process will be 
conducted, we are enclosing a copy of the City’s liquor license application hearing procedures.

The twenty-day posting period for your liquor license application is set to expire on April 13, 2016
and the application may be removed from the premises at that time.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call me at 928-213-2077.

Sincerely,

Stacy Saltzburg
Deputy City Clerk

Enclosure



GA02 2005-350/060321

City of Flagstaff

Liquor License Application
Hearing Procedures

1. When the matter is reached at the Council meeting, the presiding officer will accept a 
motion to open the public hearing on the item.  

2. The presiding officer will request that the Applicant come forward to address the Council 
regarding the application in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 
question the Applicant regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by the 
Applicant.

3. The presiding officer will then ask whether City staff have information to present to the 
Council regarding the application.  Staff should come forward at this point and present 
information to the Council in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 
question City staff regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by City staff.

4. Other parties, if any, may then testify, limited to three (3) minutes per person.  Council may 
question these parties regarding the testimony they present to the Council.

5. The Applicant may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) 
minutes.  During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of the Applicant.

6. City staff may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) minutes.  
During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of City Staff.

7. By motion, Council will then close the public hearing.

8. By motion, the Council will then vote to forward the application to the State with a 
recommendation of approval, disapproval, or shall vote to forward with no 
recommendation.



License Types: Series 09 Liquor Store License (All spirituous liquors)

Transferable (From person to person and/or location to location within the same county 
only)
Off-sale retail privileges 
Note: Terms in BOLD CAPITALS are defined in the glossary. 

PURPOSE: 
Allows a spirituous liquor store retailer to sell all spirituous liquors, only in the original 
unbroken package, to be taken away from the premises of the retailer and consumed off 
the premises. 

ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 
A retailer with off-sale privileges may deliver spirituous liquor off of the licensed premises 
in connection with a retail sale. Payment must be made no later than the time of 
DELIVERY. The retailer must complete a Department approved "Record of Delivery" form 
for each spirituous liquor retail delivery. 

On any original applications, new managers and/or the person responsible for the day-to-
day operations must attend a basic and management training class.

A licensee acting as a RETAIL AGENT, authorized to purchase and accept delivery of 
spirituous liquor by other licensees, must receive a certificate of registration from the 
Department. 

A PREGNANCY WARNING SIGN for pregnant women consuming spirituous liquor must 
be posted within twenty (20) feet of the cash register or behind the bar. 

http://www.azliquor.gov/licensing/glossary.asp


 

                                            MEMORANDUM                                 Memo # 16-030-01 

 

 

 

TO  Chief Kevin Treadway   

 

FROM Sgt. Matt Wright  

 

DATE  March 31, 2016 

 

REF Series 9 liquor license application for a person to person transfer for 

“Express Liquors” a Liquor Store 

 
 

On March 31, 2016, I initiated an investigation into an application for a person to person transfer 

on an existing liquor license for Express Liquors located at 5620 N. Hwy 89 in Flagstaff. The 

license number is 09030051 (liquor store). This is the same location Express Liquors has been, 

but now under new ownership. The application has been filed by the listed Agent Danny 

Thomas. Danny is listed for administrative purposes only and will not be involved in operation 

of the business.   

 

The new owners Thomas Peck and Lisa Arthur have recently purchased Express Liquors and the 

series 9 liquor license from previous owner James Shaff. I spoke with Danny Thomas who 

confirmed both Thomas Peck and Lisa Arthur have completed the mandatory liquor law training 

courses. Thomas and Lisa will also handle the day to day operations of the business. This 

business is outside of 300 feet from any school or church.  

 

I conducted a query through our local systems and public access on Thomas Peck and Lisa 

Arthur and no derogatory records were found for Lisa Arthur. I found that Thomas Peck had 

been arrested for criminal damage in 2015; an all court mandated restitution has been paid. I 

found Thomas was arrested in 2013 for assault, but the case was later dismissed by the court. I 

did locate some liquor violations against this business for the previous owner, but nothing for the 

new owners. This is the first liquor license for Thomas Peck and Lisa Arthur.  

 

Based on this investigation I recommend approval of the application for the person to person 

transfer of this license.  





      Memo 
To: Stacy Saltzberg, Deputy City Clerk 

From: Sandy Corder, Interim Revenue Director 

Date: March 24, 2016 

Re: Series 09 Liquor License – Express Liquors 

I have reviewed our records for TPLA LLC, dba Express Liquors, and have no 
objection to approval of this item. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  8. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application: Cecily Clift Maniaci, “Hoot Mart", 101 E.
Birch Ave., Series 10 (beer and wine store), New License.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing, staff
recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.

Executive Summary:
The liquor license process begins at the State level and applications are then forwarded to the respective
municipality for posting of the property and holding a public hearing, after which the Council
recommendation is forwarded back to the State. A Series 10 license allows a retail store to sell beer and
wine (no other spirituous liquors), only in the original unbroken package, to be taken away from the
premises of the retailer and consumed off the premises.

The property has been posted as required, and the Police Department, Community Development, and
Sales Tax divisions have reviewed the application with no concerns noted.

Financial Impact:
There is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff as this is a recommendation to the State.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Liquor licenses are a regulatory action and there is no Council goal that applies. 



Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Not applicable. 

Options and Alternatives:
1) Table the item if additional information or time is needed.
2) Make no recommendation.
3) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for approval.
4) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for denial, stating the reasons for such
recommendation.   

Key Considerations:
Because the application is for a new license, consideration may be given to both the applicant's personal
qualifications and the location.

The deadline for issuing a recommendation on this application is May 13, 2016.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
This business will contribute to the tax base of the community. We are not aware of any other relevant
considerations.

Community Involvement:
The application was properly posted on March 30, 2016. No written protests have been received to date.

Attachments:  Hoot Mart - Letter to Applicant
Hearing Procedures
Series 10 Description
Hoot Mart - PD Memo
Hoot Mart - Code Memo
Hoot Mart - Tax Memo



OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK

March 28, 2016

Hoot Mart
Attn: Cecily Clift Maniaci
PO Box 1808
Grand Canyon, AZ  86023

Dear Ms. Clift Maniaci:

Your application for a new Series 10 liquor license for Hoot Mart at 101 E. Birch Ave., was
posted on March 30, 2016. The City Council will consider the application at a public hearing 
during their regularly scheduled City Council Meeting on Tuesday, April 19, 2016 which begins 
at 4:00 p.m.

It is important that you or your representative attend this Council Meeting and be prepared to 
answer any questions that the City Council may have.  Failure to be available for questions could 
result in a recommendation for denial of your application.  We suggest that you contact your legal 
counsel or the Department of Liquor Licenses and Control at 602-542-5141 to determine the 
criteria for your license.  To help you understand how the public hearing process will be 
conducted, we are enclosing a copy of the City’s liquor license application hearing procedures.

The twenty-day posting period for your liquor license application is set to expire on April 19, 2016
and the application may be removed from the premises at that time.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call me at 928-213-2077.

Sincerely,

Stacy Saltzburg
Deputy City Clerk

Enclosure



GA02 2005-350/060321 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Flagstaff 
 

 

Liquor License Application 

Hearing Procedures 
 

 

1. When the matter is reached at the Council meeting, the presiding officer will open the 

public hearing on the item.   

 

2. The presiding officer will request that the Applicant come forward to address the Council 

regarding the application in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question the Applicant regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by the 

Applicant. 

 

3. The presiding officer will then ask whether City staff have information to present to the 

Council regarding the application.  Staff should come forward at this point and present 

information to the Council in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question City staff regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by City staff. 

 

4. Other parties, if any, may then testify, limited to three (3) minutes per person.  Council may 

question these parties regarding the testimony they present to the Council. 

 

5. The Applicant may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) 

minutes.  During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of the Applicant. 

 

6. City staff may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) minutes.  

During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of City Staff. 

 

7. The presiding officer will then close the public hearing. 

 

8. The Council will then, by motion, vote to forward the application to the State with a 

recommendation of approval, disapproval, or shall vote to forward with no 

recommendation. 

 

 





License Types: Series 10 Beer and Wine Store License (Beer and wine 
only)

Non-transferable 
Off-sale retail privileges 
Note: Terms in BOLD CAPITALS are defined in the glossary. 

PURPOSE:
Allows a retail store to sell beer and wine (no other spirituous liquors), only in the original 
unbroken package, to be taken away from the premises of the retailer and consumed off 
the premises. 

ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 
A retailer with off-sale privileges may deliver spirituous liquor off of the licensed premises 
in connection with a retail sale. Payment must be made no later than the time of 
DELIVERY. The retailer must complete a Department approved "Record of Delivery" 
form for each spirituous liquor retail delivery. 

On any original applications, new managers and/or the person responsible for the day-to-
day operations must attend a basic and management training class. 

A licensee acting as a RETAIL AGENT, authorized to purchase and accept delivery of 
spirituous liquor by other licensees, must receive a certificate of registration from the 
Department. 

A PREGNANCY WARNING SIGN for pregnant women consuming spirituous liquor must 
be posted within twenty (20) feet of the cash register or behind the bar. 

http://www.azliquor.gov/licensing/glossary.asp


 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

Memo #16-028-01 

 

TO:  Chief Kevin Treadway 

 

FROM: Sgt. Matt Wright    

 

DATE: March 31, 2016 

 

RE: LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION – SERIES 10- FOR “Hoot Mart” 

 

 

 

On March 31, 2016, I initiated an investigation into an application for a series 10 (beer and wine 

store) liquor license filed by Cecily Maniaci the owner of The Hoot Mart. Cecily Maniaci is the 

only listed owner and operator on the license. Cecily will run the day to day operations.  The 

convenience mart is located at 101 E. Birch Avenue in downtown Flagstaff.  This application is 

for a series 10 license #10033220. The location of the business is outside of 300 feet from any 

church or school.  

 

I conducted a query through local systems and public access on Cecily Maniaci. No derogatory 

records were found. Cecily has attended the mandatory liquor law training course and provided 

proof.  I spoke with Cecily who stated she had never been arrested, and has ownership of three 

other liquor licenses. Cecily stated she had received three administrative violations for 

delinquent taxes in the past. All of the violations have since been cleared through the payment of 

fines. Cecily said the license is for a convenience mart that she plans to sell beer and wine. 

Cecily does not plan at the moment to sell 40 oz. malt liquor or single cans of beer.  The new 

location of the Hoot Mart is currently under renovation.  

 

As a result of this investigation the recommendation to Council is for approval of the series 10 

license.  

 

 

 

 

 





 

 

      Liquor License Memo 
 

To: Stacy Saltzberg, Deputy City Clerk 

From: Sandy Corder, Interim Revenue Director 

Date: April 6, 2016 

Re: Series 10 Liquor License – Fort Valley Chevron 

I have reviewed our records for Toasted Owl, Inc. dba Hoot Mart and I have no 
objection to the approval of this liquor license. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  8. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application: Vipul Patel, “Fort Valley Chevron", 1312 N.
Fort Valley Rd, Series 10 (beer and wine store), New License.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing, staff
recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.

Executive Summary:
The liquor license process begins at the State level and applications are then forwarded to the respective
municipality for posting of the property and holding a public hearing, after which the Council
recommendation is forwarded back to the State. A Series 10 license allows a retail store to sell beer and
wine (no other spirituous liquors), only in the original unbroken package, to be taken away from the
premises of the retailer and consumed off the premises.

Fort Valley Chevron is an existing business that was recently sold and is under new management. The
property has been posted as required, and the Police Department, Community Development, and Sales
Tax divisions have reviewed the application with no concerns noted.

Financial Impact:
There is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff as this is a recommendation to the State.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Liquor licenses are a regulatory action and there is no Council goal that applies. 



Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Not applicable. 

Options and Alternatives:
1) Table the item if additional information or time is needed.
2) Make no recommendation.
3) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for approval.
4) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for denial, stating the reasons for such
recommendation.   

Key Considerations:
Because the application is for a new license, consideration may be given to both the applicant's personal
qualifications and the location.

The deadline for issuing a recommendation on this application is April 25, 2016.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
This business will contribute to the tax base of the community. We are not aware of any other relevant
considerations.

Community Involvement:
The application was properly posted on March 30, 2016. No written protests have been received to date.

Attachments:  FV Chevron - Letter to Applicant
Hearing Procedures
Series 10 Description
FV Chevron - PD Memo
FV Chevron - Code Memo
FV Chevron - Tax Memo



OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK

March 28, 2016

Fort Valley Chevron
Attn: Vipul Patel
1312 N. Fort Valley Rd.
Flagstaff, AZ  86001

Dear Mr. Patel:

Your application for a new Series 10 liquor license for Fort Valley Chevron at 1312 N. Fort Valley 
Rd., was posted on March 30, 2016. The City Council will consider the application at a public 
hearing during their regularly scheduled City Council Meeting on Tuesday, April 19, 2016 which 
begins at 4:00 p.m.

It is important that you or your representative attend this Council Meeting and be prepared to 
answer any questions that the City Council may have.  Failure to be available for questions could 
result in a recommendation for denial of your application.  We suggest that you contact your legal 
counsel or the Department of Liquor Licenses and Control at 602-542-5141 to determine the 
criteria for your license.  To help you understand how the public hearing process will be 
conducted, we are enclosing a copy of the City’s liquor license application hearing procedures.

The twenty-day posting period for your liquor license application is set to expire on April 19, 2016
and the application may be removed from the premises at that time.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call me at 928-213-2077.

Sincerely,

Stacy Saltzburg
Deputy City Clerk

Enclosure



GA02 2005-350/060321 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Flagstaff 
 

 

Liquor License Application 

Hearing Procedures 
 

 

1. When the matter is reached at the Council meeting, the presiding officer will open the 

public hearing on the item.   

 

2. The presiding officer will request that the Applicant come forward to address the Council 

regarding the application in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question the Applicant regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by the 

Applicant. 

 

3. The presiding officer will then ask whether City staff have information to present to the 

Council regarding the application.  Staff should come forward at this point and present 

information to the Council in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question City staff regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by City staff. 

 

4. Other parties, if any, may then testify, limited to three (3) minutes per person.  Council may 

question these parties regarding the testimony they present to the Council. 

 

5. The Applicant may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) 

minutes.  During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of the Applicant. 

 

6. City staff may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) minutes.  

During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of City Staff. 

 

7. The presiding officer will then close the public hearing. 

 

8. The Council will then, by motion, vote to forward the application to the State with a 

recommendation of approval, disapproval, or shall vote to forward with no 

recommendation. 

 

 





License Types: Series 10 Beer and Wine Store License (Beer and wine 
only)

Non-transferable 
Off-sale retail privileges 
Note: Terms in BOLD CAPITALS are defined in the glossary. 

PURPOSE:
Allows a retail store to sell beer and wine (no other spirituous liquors), only in the original 
unbroken package, to be taken away from the premises of the retailer and consumed off 
the premises. 

ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 
A retailer with off-sale privileges may deliver spirituous liquor off of the licensed premises 
in connection with a retail sale. Payment must be made no later than the time of 
DELIVERY. The retailer must complete a Department approved "Record of Delivery" 
form for each spirituous liquor retail delivery. 

On any original applications, new managers and/or the person responsible for the day-to-
day operations must attend a basic and management training class. 

A licensee acting as a RETAIL AGENT, authorized to purchase and accept delivery of 
spirituous liquor by other licensees, must receive a certificate of registration from the 
Department. 

A PREGNANCY WARNING SIGN for pregnant women consuming spirituous liquor must 
be posted within twenty (20) feet of the cash register or behind the bar. 

http://www.azliquor.gov/licensing/glossary.asp


 

                                            MEMORANDUM                                  Memo #16-031-01 

 

 

 

TO  Chief Kevin Treadway   

 

FROM Sgt. Matt Wright  

 

DATE  March 31, 2016   

 

REF Series 10 liquor license application for Fort Valley Chevron 

 

 

 

On March 31, 2016, I initiated an investigation into an application for a series 10 (beer and wine 

store) liquor license for a gas station called Fort Valley Chevron. Fort Valley Chevron is located 

at 1312 North Fort Valley Road in Flagstaff. The license number is 10033219. 

 

I spoke with Vipul Patel’s brother who confirmed Vipul Patel (Agent), Vishalkumar Patel, and 

Suren Patel (Controlling persons) have recently purchased the gas station. Vipul and his partners 

will operate the day to day business. Fort Valley Chevron is currently operating with an interim 

liquor license selling beer and wine. I visited the store and found that the owners have 40 ounce 

malt liquor and other single beers for sale.   

 

I conducted a query through our local systems and public access on Vipul Patel, Vishalkumar 

Patel, and Suren Patel and no derogatory records were found in the last five years. I could not 

locate any pending or past liquor violations filed against any of the applicants. This is a new 

license due to the fact a series 10 is a non-quota license.  

 

Based on this investigation I can find no reason to oppose this application for the new series 10 

license.  





 

 

      Liquor License Memo 
 

To: Stacy Saltzberg, Deputy City Clerk 

From: Sandy Corder, Interim Revenue Director 

Date: March 28, 2016 

Re: Series 10 Liquor License – Fort Valley Chevron 

I have reviewed our records for Vipul Vinubhai Patel, Partner dba Fort Valley Chevron 
and I have no objection to the approval of this liquor license. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  8. D.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Robert Delgado, "Hensley Beverage
Company", 1850 E. Butler Rd., Series 04 (wholesaler), New License.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing, staff
recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.

Executive Summary:
The liquor license process begins at the State level and applications are then forwarded to the respective
municipality for posting of the property and holding a public hearing, after which the Council
recommendation is forwarded back to the State. A Series 04 license allows a wholesaler to warehouse,
sell and distribute all types of spirituous liquor (beer, wine, distilled spirits) to Arizona-licensed retailers.
Hensley Beverage Company recently purchased Golden Eagle Distributors and will continue to operate
at the same location. The property has been posted as required, and the Police, Community
Development, and Sales Tax divisions have reviewed the application with no concerns noted. 

Financial Impact:
There is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff as this is a recommendation to the State.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Liquor licenses are a regulatory action and there is no Council goal that applies.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Not applicable. 

Options and Alternatives:
1) Table the item if additional information or time is needed.
2) Make no recommendation.
3) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for approval.
4) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for denial, stating the reasons for such
recommendation. 

Key Considerations:
Because the application is for a new license, consideration may be given to both the location and the



Because the application is for a new license, consideration may be given to both the location and the
applicant's personal qualifications.

The deadline for issuing a recommendation on this application is May 10, 2016.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
This business will contribute to the tax base of the community.

Community Involvement:
The application was properly posted on March 30, 2016. No written protests have been received to date.

Attachments:  Hensley - Letter to Applicant
Hearing Procedures
Series 04 description
Hensley - PD Memo
Hensley - Code Memo
Hensley - Tax Memo



OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK

March 28, 2016

Hensley Beverage Company
Attn: Robert Delgado
4201 N. 45th Ave.
Phoenix, AZ  85031

Dear Mr. Delgado:

Your application for a new Series 4 liquor license for Hensley Beverage Company at 1850 E. 
Butler Road, was posted on March 30, 2016. The City Council will consider the application at a 
public hearing during their regularly scheduled City Council Meeting on Tuesday, April 19, 2016
which begins at 4:00 p.m.

It is important that you or your representative attend this Council Meeting and be prepared to 
answer any questions that the City Council may have.  Failure to be available for questions could 
result in a recommendation for denial of your application.  We suggest that you contact your legal 
counsel or the Department of Liquor Licenses and Control at 602-542-5141 to determine the 
criteria for your license.  To help you understand how the public hearing process will be 
conducted, we are enclosing a copy of the City’s liquor license application hearing procedures.

The twenty-day posting period for your liquor license application is set to expire on April 18, 2016
and the application may be removed from the premises at that time.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call me at 928-213-2077.

Sincerely,

Stacy Saltzburg
Deputy City Clerk

Enclosure



GA02 2005-350/060321 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Flagstaff 
 

 

Liquor License Application 

Hearing Procedures 
 

 

1. When the matter is reached at the Council meeting, the presiding officer will open the 

public hearing on the item.   

 

2. The presiding officer will request that the Applicant come forward to address the Council 

regarding the application in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question the Applicant regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by the 

Applicant. 

 

3. The presiding officer will then ask whether City staff have information to present to the 

Council regarding the application.  Staff should come forward at this point and present 

information to the Council in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question City staff regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by City staff. 

 

4. Other parties, if any, may then testify, limited to three (3) minutes per person.  Council may 

question these parties regarding the testimony they present to the Council. 

 

5. The Applicant may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) 

minutes.  During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of the Applicant. 

 

6. City staff may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) minutes.  

During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of City Staff. 

 

7. The presiding officer will then close the public hearing. 

 

8. The Council will then, by motion, vote to forward the application to the State with a 

recommendation of approval, disapproval, or shall vote to forward with no 

recommendation. 

 

 





License Types:  Series 04 Wholesaler

This non-transferable liquor license allows a wholesaler to warehouse, sell 
and distribute all types of spirituous liquor (beer, wine, distilled spirits) to 
Arizona-licensed retailers.

An Employee Log must be kept by the licensee of all persons employed at 
the premises including each employee's name, date and place of birth, 
address and responsibilities.

ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES: A wholesaler may not 
have a financial interest in a retail spirituous liquor business. A wholesaler 
may not offer illegal inducements to a retailer nor engage in commercial 
coercion or bribery or other unlawful trade practices. An Employee Log must 
be kept by the licensee of all persons employed at the premises including 
each employee's name, date and place of birth, address and 
responsibilities.

ARIZONA STATUTES AND REGULATIONS: A.R.S. Â§4-201, 4-202, 4-
203, 4-209(B)(4), 4-209(D)(4), 4-243, 4-243.01; Rule R19-1-226; R19-1-
228.

http://www.azliquor.gov/forms/inv_employeelog.pdf


 

MEMORANDUM 

Memo #16-029-01  

 

 

TO  Chief Treadway 

 

FROM Sgt. Matt Wright 

 

DATE             March 31, 2016 

 

REF Liquor License application for Hensley Beverage Company Series 4 

 

 

On March 31, 2016, I initiated an investigation into a liquor license application filed by Cindy 

McCain, Robert Delgado, and Thomas Holtrup the listed applicants for Hensley Beverage 

Company. Hensley Beverage is located at 1850 E. Butler Ave., in Flagstaff. This is a series 4 

wholesale license application for license number #04033012. A series 4 license is for wholesale 

distributing only. 

 

I conducted a query of local systems and public access on Cindy McCain, Robert Delgado, and 

Thomas Holtrup and no derogatory records were found. I spoke with Thomas who indicated 

Hensley and Company have recently purchased Golden Eagle Distributors and plan to operate at 

the same location. Thomas confirmed they have had one liquor law violation that he was aware 

of. This violation has been disclosed in the application, and occurred in 1995 for dealing 

spirituous liquor to an unlicensed retailer. The fines have been paid.  

 

Hensley Distributing is currently operating under an interim license pending final approval. Due 

to my findings recommendation to Council is for approval.   





 

 Page 1 

      Liquor License Memo 
To: Stacy Saltzberg, Deputy City Clerk 

From: Sandy Corder, Interim Revenue Director 

Date: April 6, 2016 

Re: Series 04 Liquor License – Hensley Beverage Company 

I have reviewed our records for Hensley Beverage Company and I have no objection 
to approval of this liquor license. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  9. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Barney Helmick, Airport Director

Co-Submitter: Stacey Brechler-Knaggs, Grants Manager

Co-Submitter: Damian Gallegos

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract: Airport Master Plan Update and Aeronautical Geographical
Information System (AGIS) Survey Contract.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the contract with Coffman and Associates to update the Airport Master Plan and provide a
Aeronautical GIS Survey. The contract is in the amount of $520,684. This will allow the City to go
through a public process to plan for the future of the Flagstaff Airport.

Executive Summary:
The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) requires airport sponsors to vet their grant requests through a
Master Planning process. This process assures the FAA that the sponsor has public input, and the
grant award matches future growth needs of the airport. The Airport Master Plan will include existing
inventory, future growth of enplanements and traffic. It will also include an official Airport Layout Plan (
ALP map), as well as a list of short, medium and long range projects. The ALP is now required to be in
an electronic format to allow updates. With the Aeronautical Geographical Information System (AGIS)
survey, we will be able to do the electronic updates with in house staff.

Financial Impact:
The City has accepted a Grant with the FAA to cover 91.06% of the $520,684. ADOT Aeronautics will
cover 4.47% ($25,104) with the City of Flagstaff covering the remaining 4.47% ($25,104). This project is
budgeted in FY 2016 in account 221-07-222-3334-0-4421 in the amount of $600,000.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Provide a well-managed transportation system
3) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans
4) Improve effectiveness of notification, communication, and engagement with residents, neighborhoods
and businesses and about City services, programs, policies, projects and developments
5) Improve the economic quality of life for Flagstaff through economic diversification, and by fostering
jobs and programs that grow wages and revenues



Regional Plan

The Airport Master Plan is an extensive plan that will look to future needs of the City of Flagstaff in terms
of growth, needs of the airport, the surrounding area, and the community. This will incorporate the current
regulations of the City of Flagstaff as well as the future growth needs. We will have community
involvement regarding this Master Plan and meetings will be set up for public participation. 
 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
On September 1 2015 the City Council approved the FAA Airport Master Plan Update with AGIS and
ALP grant agreement for this project.

Options and Alternatives:
The grant for this project has been approved, the options are to approve this contract and continue with
the Grant of disapprove and return the Grant.

Background/History:
In 2004 the Airport undertook the last Master Plan project which outlined key projects like the runway
extension and the  Aircraft Rescue Fire Fighter facility. The FAA recommends that the Master Plan be
updated close to every five years or when projects list are close to completion. When the last Master
Plan was completed the City was working to lengthen the runway to accommodate jet traffic. At that
time team charters had to be bused to Phoenix to fly out because the runway was not long
enough. There were less than half the amount of passengers at that time as is currently flying out of
Flagstaff. We went from turbo-prop aircraft with 19 seats, to today we have 50 seat jets. With in the
next two years we will see aircraft with 70+ seats which will add strain to our existing terminal and
terminal parking. The last Master Plan list is almost exhausted. The direction of the airport needs to be
redefined to better meet the public needs.

Key Considerations:
 A formal solicitation was posted for this project as of August 30, 2015. The solicitation closed as of
October 1, 2015 with a total of four firms supplying their Statement of Qualifications for this project. A
panel of five evaluator's scored the proposals, one of which was from the City of Scottsdale airport. The
other four were City of Flagstaff employees. After scoring the proposals, Team Presentations were set up
with the two highest scoring firms. The presentations were held on December 18, 2015. At that time, we
had a clear highest scoring firm by the name of Coffman & Associates. The City of Flagstaff was then
tasked to have an independent estimate done per FAA regulations. A detailed scope of work and an
estimated fee schedule was requested and obtained by Coffman & Associates. The fees were in line with
the independent estimate previously done. In March 2016, it was decided to send the proposal to Mayor
Nabours and City Council for approval of the contract. 

Expanded Financial Considerations:
 The approved grant (FAA and ADOT) will cover 95.53% of the total cost for this Airport Master Plan.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
This project will have members of the Regional Plan on the committee as well as key stakeholders and
public to discuss the options.

Community Involvement:
This project will involve public impute meetings to get feedback on ideas, projects and the future of the



This project will involve public impute meetings to get feedback on ideas, projects and the future of the
airport. It will also involve key stakeholders on a committee to guide the project plans.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
 Approve the contract for the Airport Master Plan with Updated Aeronautical Survey or not approve the
contract. 

Attachments:  Copy of Contract
Grant Provisions
Exhibit A
Exhibit C
Exhibit B



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).   Revised December 19, 2014 

 

CONTRACT FOR AIRPORT MASTER PLAN UPDATE WITH AN AERONAUTICAL SURVEY 
Contract No. 2016-02 

 
This Contract is entered into this _____ day of _________, 2016 by and between the City of Flagstaff, a 
political subdivision of the State or Arizona (“City”), and Coffman & Associates, Inc. at 4835 E. Cactus 
Road, Suite 235, Scottsdale, AZ 85254. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff desires to receive, and Contractor is able to provide materials and/or 
services; 
   
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual promises contained herein, the parties agree as 
follows: 
 
1. Scope of Work:  Contractor shall provide the materials and/or services generally described as 

follows: 
 

AIRPORT MASTER PLAN UPDATE WITH AN AERONAUTICAL SURVEY 
 

and as more specifically described in the scope of work attached hereto as Exhibit A.   
 
2. Compensation:  In consideration for the Contractor’s satisfactory performance, City shall pay 

Contractor the compensation described in Exhibit A.  Any price adjustment must be approved in 
writing and approved by the parties. The City Manager or his designee (the Purchasing Director) 
may approve an adjustment if the Contract price is less than $50,000; otherwise City Council 
approval is required. 

 
3. Standard Terms and Conditions: The City of Flagstaff Standard Terms and Conditions, attached 

hereto as Exhibit B are hereby incorporated in this Contractor by reference and shall apply to 
performance of this Contract, except to the extent modified in Exhibit A. 
 

4. Insurance:  Contractor shall meet insurance requirements of the City, set forth in Exhibit C. 
[OPTION: If no insurance required, replace sentence and type “Reserved.] 
 

5. Contract Term:  The Contract term is for an initial period of 3 years, commencing  
on_____________,2016 and continuing through ______________, 2016. 

 
6. Renewal: This Contract may be renewed or extended for up to two (2) additional one (1) year terms 

by mutual written consent of the parties. The City Manager or his designee (the Purchasing 
Director) shall have authority to approve renewal on behalf of the City. 

 
7. Notice.  Any formal notice required under this Contract shall be in writing and sent by certified mail 

and email as follows: 
 

To the City: 

 

To Contractor: 

 

Damian Gallegos 

City of Flagstaff 

211 W.  Aspen 

Flagstaff, Arizona  86001 

 

Jim Harris 

Coffman & Associates, Inc. 

4835 E. Cactus Road Suite 235 

Scottsdale, AZ 85254 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

dgallegos@flagstaffaz.gov 

 

With a copy to: 

Damian Gallegos 

 

 

 

With a copy to: 

Jim Harris 

 
 
8. Authority.  Each party warrants that it has authority to enter into this Contract and perform its 

obligations hereunder, and that it has taken all actions necessary to enter into this Contract. 
 
CONTRACTOR 
 
 
____________________________________ 
 
Print name:___________________________ 
 
Title:________________________________ 
 
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
 
____________________________________ 
 
Print name:___________________________ 
 
Title:________________________________ 
 
 
Attest: 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
____________________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 
 

 

 

Notice to Proceed issued:__________________, 2016 

 
 



Form GS-2:  Purchase Contract (short form).  Revised December 19, 2014 

 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF WORK 

 
[ATTACH:  Scope of Work described in Solicitation, including any Special Terms and Conditions 
(specific to this Contract), Specifications, and/or Contractor’s response to Solicitation as accepted by 
City; approved Compensation and Schedule for Performance] 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 
[ATTACH:  City of Flagstaff Standard Terms and Conditions] 
 

EXHIBIT C 
INSURANCE 

[ATTACH:  City insurance requirements] 
  
 

 



 

 

 
 

 

 

GRANT PROVISIONS  
 

 

Grant Project Title:  Airport Master Plan Update with an  
     Aeronautical Survey 
 
Funding Agency:    U.S. Department of Transportation, 

Federal Aviation Administration 
 
Grant Agreement No.:  3-04-0015-039 
 

sknaggs
Text Box
     ATTACHMENT C



 

 ASSURANCE OF DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PARTICIPATION  

PULLIAM AIRPORT FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  

MASTER PLAN UPDATE WITH AN AERONAUTICAL SURVEY 

FAA AIP Project Number: 3-04-0015-39  
 

To meet the mandated requirements of the United States Department of Transportation (USDOT), 49 
CFR Part 26, the assurance below shall be signed by the bidder and submitted with the bid.  

BIDDER'S ASSURANCE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TITLE 49 CFR PART 26 RELATING TO 
DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PARTICIPATION  

The bidder hereby gives assurance pursuant to the requirements of Title 49 CFR Part 26 that bidder 
has made a reasonable effort to meet the goals for Disadvantaged Business Enterprise participation 
specified for the contract for which this proposal is submitted and that bidder, if the contract is 
awarded to bidder, will have a DBE participation of    percent of the amount of this bid. 
Bidder further gives assurance that bidder has submitted the documentation required by said 
Regulations and the contract specifications, including the Listing of Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprises with which the bidder will subcontract if the contract is awarded and if bidder is unable to 
meet the contract goals for DBE participation, and the steps bidder has taken to obtain DBE 
participation.  

The City of Flagstaff adopts ADOT’s DBE Program.  ADOT has established a DBE program in 
accordance with the regulations of the USDOT, 49 CFR, Part 26. 

The overall FHWA DBE Goal is 7.76%. The race-conscious portion of the goal is 5.08% and the 
race-neutral portion of the goal is 2.68%. ADOT will use this goal until its next triennial goal 
submission is made (August 1, 2014) and approved by FHWA implementation effective October 1, 
2014. 
 
DBE Goal:  2.68 percent race neutral 

 
 
 

Signature                   Name of Bidder 
 
 

Date                  Name and Title of Signing Officer 
 
 
Business Address      
    
        
 
 
NOTE: Bidder shall insert the percentage for DBE participation even if the percentage is less 
than the contract goal. A bid that fails to meet these requirements may be considered grounds 
for rejecting the bid.  



Required Provisions  Page 1 
  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

   
FAA 
Airports 
 
 
 

Required Contact Provisions for Airport Improvement 
Program and for Obligated Sponsors 

Contents 

1. REQUIRED CONTRACT PROVISIONS. ..................................................................................................................... 2 

2. ACCESS TO RECORDS AND REPORTS.  (Reference: 2 CFR § 200.326, 2 CFR § 200.333) ........................................ 4 

3. AFFIRMATIVE ACTION REQUIREMENT.   (Reference: 41 CFR part 60-4, Executive Order 11246) ........................ 5 

4. BREACH OF CONTRACT TERMS.  (Reference 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(A)) ............................................................ 6 

5. BUY AMERICAN PREFERENCE.  (Reference: 49 USC § 50101) ............................................................................... 7 

6. CIVIL RIGHTS - GENERAL.   (Reference: 49 USC § 47123) .................................................................................... 12 

7. CIVIL RIGHTS – TITLE VI ASSURANCES. ................................................................................................................ 13 

8. CLEAN AIR AND WATER POLLUTION CONTROL.  (Reference: 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(G)) .............................. 201  

 9. DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION (NON-PROCUREMENT).  (Reference: 2 CFR part 180 (Subpart C), 2 CFR 
part 1200, DOT Order 4200.5 DOT Suspension & Debarment Procedures & Ineligibility) ................................. 21 

10. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE.  (Reference: 49 CFR part 26) ............................................................ 22 

 11. FEDERAL FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT (FEDERAL MINIMUM WAGE) (Reference: 29 USC § 201, et seq.) ........ 22 

12. LOBBYING AND INFLUENCING FEDERAL EMPLOYEES. (Reference:  49 CFR part 20, Appendix A) ..................... 23 

13. OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ACT OF 1970 (Reference 20 CFR part 1910) .......................................... 24 

14. RIGHT TO INVENTIONS. (Reference 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(F)) ........................................................................ 24 

15. TERMINATION OF CONTRACT.   (Reference 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(B)) ........................................................... 25 

16. TRADE RESTRICTION (Reference: 49 CFR part 30) .............................................................................................. 26 

17. VETERAN’S PREFERENCE  (Reference: 49 USC § 47112(c)) ................................................................................. 27 



Required Provisions  Page 2 
Access to Records  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

 REQUIRED CONTRACT PROVISIONS. 1.

Federal laws and regulations require that specific contract provisions be included in certain contracts, 

requests for proposals, or invitations to bid whether or not the contracts are federally-funded.   This 

requirement is established within the grant assurances.   Other contract provisions are required to be in 

federally-funded contracts, including all subcontracts.  For purposes of determining requirements for 

contract provisions, the term contract includes subcontracts. 

The type and magnitude of a project determines whether a provision is required.  Some Federal 

provisions have dollar thresholds that define when they are applicable.  The majority of the Federal 

provisions may be incorporated within the contract itself.  However, certain Federal notices are required 

to be identified within the Notice-to-Bidders. 

 GENERAL REQUIREMENT FOR CONTRACTS. 1.1.

In general, the sponsor must: 

1) Physically incorporate these contract provisions (not simply by reference) in each contract 

funded under AIP; 

2) Require the contractor (including all subcontractors) to insert these contract provisions in each 

contract and subcontract, and further require that the clauses be included in all subcontracts; 

3) Require the contractor (or subcontractor) to incorporate applicable requirements of these 

contract provisions by reference for work done under any purchase orders, rental agreements 

and other agreements for supplies or services;  

4) Require that the prime contractor be responsible for compliance with these contract provisions 

by any subcontractor, lower-tier subcontractor or service provider; and 

5) Not modify the provisions.  Minor additions covering state or sponsor requirements may be 

included in a separate supplemental specification, provided they do not conflict with federal 

laws and regulations and do not change the intent of the required contract provision. 

Subject to the applicability criteria noted in the specific contract provisions, these contract provisions 

apply to all work performed on the contract.   

 GENERAL REQUIREMENT FOR REQUESTS FOR BIDS (ADVERTISEMENT) AND NOTICE TO 1.2.

BIDDERS 

In general, the sponsor may incorporate certain provisions by reference in the Request for Bids (the 

Advertisement) rather than including the entire text of the provision in the Request or Notice.  The 

provisions that can be incorporated by reference in the Request or Notice are: 

1) Buy American Preference 



Required Provisions  Page 3 
Access to Records  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

2) Foreign Trade Restriction 

3) Davis Bacon 

4) Affirmative Action  

5) Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension 

6) Governmentwide Requirements for Drug-free Workplace 

 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL CONTRACTS ENTERED INTO BY OBLIGATED 1.3.

SPONSORS.  

Where noted, the sponsor must include certain notifications in contracts or solicitations for proposals 

regardless of funding source. 

  FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH PROVISIONS. 1.4.

Failure to comply with the terms of these contract provisions may be sufficient grounds to: 

1) Withhold progress payments or final payment, 

2) Terminate the contract,  

3) Seek suspension/debarment, or 

4) Any other action determined to be appropriate by the sponsor or the FAA. 

 REQUIRED CONTRACT PROVISIONS.  1.5.

The following list summarizes the contract provisions and to what types of contracts the provisions 

apply: 

All Contracts Regardless of Funding Source 

a. Civil Rights – General 

Civil Rights – Title VI All AIP Funded Contracts 

a. Access to Records and Reports  

b. Affirmative Action Plan 
c. Buy American Preferences  

d. Civil Rights – General   

e. Civil Rights - Title VI   

f. Disadvantaged Business Enterprises 

g. Energy Conservation Requirements 

h. Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (Minimum Wage)  

i. Lobbying and Influencing Federal Employees  

j. Occupational Safety and Health Act 

k. Rights to Inventions  



Required Provisions  Page 4 
Access to Records  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

l. Trade Restriction Clause  

m. Veteran’s Preference  

Additional Provisions for AIP Funded Contracts that are $2,000 and greater 

a. Copeland Anti-Kickback 

b. Davis Bacon Requirements  

Additional Provisions for AIP Funded Contracts that are $10,000 and greater 

a. Affirmative Action 

b. Equal Employment Opportunity  

c. Nonsegregated Facilities  

d. Termination of Contract 

Additional Provisions for AIP Funded Contracts that are $25,000 and greater 

a. Debarment and Suspension 

Additional Provisions for AIP Funded Contracts that are $100,000 and greater 

a. Breach of Contract  

b. Clean Air and Water Pollution Controls 

c. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards 

 ACCESS TO RECORDS AND REPORTS.  2.

(Reference: 2 CFR § 200.326, 2 CFR § 200.333) 

 APPLICABILITY.  2.1.

Applies to all AIP-funded projects and must be included in all contracts and subcontracts. 

 MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE.   2.2.

The mandatory language that must be used on AIP funded project contracts is as follows: 

ACCESS TO RECORDS AND REPORTS 

The Contractor must maintain an acceptable cost accounting system. The Contractor agrees to provide 

the Sponsor, the Federal Aviation Administration, and the Comptroller General of the United States or 

any of their duly authorized representatives access to any books, documents, papers, and records of the 

contractor which are directly pertinent to the specific contract for the purpose of making audit, 

examination, excerpts and transcriptions. The Contractor agrees to maintain all books, records and 

reports required under this contract for a period of not less than three years after final payment is made 

and all pending matters are closed.



 

Required Provisions  Page 5 
Buy American Preference  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION REQUIREMENT.   3.

(Reference: 41 CFR part 60-4, Executive Order 11246)  

  APPLICABILITY. 3.1.

Incorporate in all AIP-funded construction contracts and subcontracts that exceed $10,000.  This notice 

must be placed within the solicitation for proposals.  The goals for minority participation are dependent 

upon the Economic Area (EA) and Standard Metropolitan Statistical Area (SMSA).  Refer to Volume 45 of 

the Federal Register dated 10/3/80.  Page 65984 contains a table of all EA and SMSA and their 

associated minority goals. Executive Order 11246 has set a goal of 6.9% nationally for female 

participation for all construction contractors. 

 MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 3.2.

NOTICE OF REQUIREMENT FOR AFFIRMATIVE ACTION 

1. The Offeror's or Bidder’s attention is called to the "Equal Opportunity Clause" and the "Standard 

Federal Equal Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications" set forth herein. 

2. The goals and timetables for minority and female participation, expressed in percentage terms for the 

contractor's aggregate workforce in each trade on all construction work in the covered area, are as 

follows: 

A. Timetables  

B. Goals for minority participation for each trade (Vol. 45 Federal Register pg. 65984 10/3/80)   

C. Goals for female participation in each trade  (6.9%) 

These goals are applicable to all of the contractor's construction work (whether or not it is Federal or 

federally-assisted) performed in the covered area.  If the contractor performs construction work in a 

geographical area located outside of the covered area, it shall apply the goals established for such 

geographical area where the work is actually performed.  With regard to this second area, the 

contractor is also subject to the goals for both federally funded and non-federally funded construction 

regardless of the percentage of federal participation in funding. 

The contractor's compliance with the Executive Order and the regulations in 41 CFR Part 60-4 shall be 

based on its implementation of the Equal Opportunity Clause, specific affirmative action obligations 

required by the specifications set forth in 41 CFR 60-4.3(a), and its efforts to meet the goals. The hours 

of minority and female employment and training shall be substantially uniform throughout the length of 

the contract, and in each trade, and the contractor shall make a good faith effort to employ minorities 

and women evenly on each of its projects. The transfer of minority or female employees or trainees 

from contractor to contractor or from project to project, for the sole purpose of meeting the 

contractor's goals, shall be a violation of the contract, the Executive Order, and the regulations in 41 CFR 

Part 60-4.  Compliance with the goals will be measured against the total work hours performed. 



 

Required Provisions  Page 6 
Buy American Preference  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

3.  The contractor shall provide written notification to the Director, Office of Federal Contract 

Compliance Programs (OFCCP), within 10 working days of award of any construction subcontract in 

excess of $10,000 at any tier for construction work under the contract resulting from this solicitation.  

The notification shall list the name, address, and telephone number of the subcontractor; employer 

identification number of the subcontractor; estimated dollar amount of the subcontract; estimated 

starting and completion dates of subcontract; and the geographical area in which the subcontract is to 

be performed. 

4. As used in this notice and in the contract resulting from this solicitation, the "covered area" is [insert 

description of the geographical areas where the contract is to be performed giving the state, county, 

and city, if any]. 

 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PLAN. 3.3.

The Department of Labor is responsible for administering the Executive Order 11246, which contains 

requirements for an Affirmative Action Plan.  This Plan is similar in content and requirements to the 

affirmative action plan required in 49 CFR Part 152 subpart e.  49 CFR Part 152 applied to grants issued 

under the Airport Development Aid Program, which was replaced by the Airport Improvement Program.  

 BREACH OF CONTRACT TERMS.  4.

(Reference 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(A))  

 APPLICABILITY. 4.1.

This provision is required in all contracts that exceed the simplified acquisition threshold. This threshold, 

fixed at 41 USC 403(11), is presently set at $100,000. 

 MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 4.2.

The regulation does not prescribe mandatory language, however the following clause represents sample 

language that meets the intent of 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(A). This provision requires grantees to 

incorporate administrative, contractual or legal remedies in instances where contractors violate or 

breach contract terms. 

BREACH OF CONTRACT TERMS 

Any violation or breach of terms of this contract on the part of the contractor or its subcontractors may 

result in the suspension or termination of this contract or such other action that may be necessary to 

enforce the rights of the parties of this agreement.  The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract 

Documents and the rights and remedies available thereunder are in addition to, and not a limitation of, 

any duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. 

 



 

Required Provisions  Page 7 
Buy American Preference  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

 BUY AMERICAN PREFERENCE.  5.

(Reference: 49 USC § 50101) 

 APPLICABILITY. 5.1.

The sponsor must meet the Buy American preference requirements found in 49 USC § 50101 in all 

AIP-funded projects.  The Buy America requirements flow down from the sponsor to first tier 

contractors, who are responsible for ensuring that lower tier contractors and subcontractors are in 

compliance.  The Buy American preference also applies to professional service agreements if the 

agreement includes any manufactured product as a deliverable.  

 REQUIREMENTS.  5.2.

The Buy-American preference requirements established within 49 USC § 50101 require that all steel 

and manufactured goods used on AIP projects must be produced in the United States.  It also gives 

the FAA the ability to issue a waiver to the sponsor to use other materials on the AIP funded project.  

The FAA requires that these waivers be requested in advance of use of the materials on the AIP 

funded project.  The sponsor may request that the FAA issue a waiver from the Buy American 

preference requirements if the FAA finds that: 

1) applying the provision is not in the public interest;   

2) the steel or manufactured goods are not available in sufficient quantity or quality in the 

United States; 

3) the cost of components and subcomponents produced in the United States is more than 

60 percent of the total components of a facility or equipment, and final assembly has taken 

place in the United States.  Items that have an FAA standard specification item number 

(such as specific airport lighting equipment) is considered the equipment in this case. For 

construction of a facility, the application of this subsection is determined after bid opening; 

or 

4) applying this provision would increase the cost of the overall project by more than 

25 percent. 

 NATIONAL BUY AMERICAN WAIVERS WEBSITE.  5.3.

The FAA Office of Airports maintains a list of equipment that has received waivers from the Buy 

American preference requirements on the http://www.faa.gov/airports/aip/buy_american/ 

website.  Products listed on the Nationwide Buy American Waivers Issued list do not require a 

project specific Buy American preference requirement waiver from the FAA. 

  MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE.   5.4.

The mandatory language that must be used on AIP funded project contracts is as follows: 

http://www.faa.gov/airports/aip/buy_american/


 

Required Provisions  Page 8 
Buy American Preference  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

BUY AMERICAN CERTIFICATION 

The contractor agrees to comply with 49 USC § 50101, which provides that Federal funds may not be 

obligated unless all steel and manufactured goods used in AIP-funded projects are produced in the 

United States, unless the FAA has issued a waiver for the product; the product is listed as an 

Excepted Article, Material Or Supply in Federal Acquisition Regulation subpart 25.108; or is included 

in the FAA Nationwide Buy American Waivers Issued list.  

A bidder or offeror must submit the appropriate Buy America certification (below) with all bids or 

offers on AIP funded projects. Bids or offers that are not accompanied by a completed Buy America 

certification must be rejected as nonresponsive.   

Type of Certification is based on Type of Project: 

There are two types of Buy American certifications.   

 For projects for a facility, the Certificate of Compliance Based on Total Facility (Terminal or 

Building Project) must be submitted.   

 For all other projects, the Certificate of Compliance Based on Equipment and Materials Used 

on the Project (Non-building construction projects such as runway or roadway construction; or 

equipment acquisition projects) must be submitted. 

***** 

Certificate of Buy American Compliance for Total Facility 

(Buildings such as Terminal, SRE, ARFF, etc.) 

As a matter of bid responsiveness, the bidder or offeror must complete, sign, date, and submit this 

certification statement with their proposal.  The bidder or offeror must indicate how they intend to 

comply with 49 USC § 50101 by selecting one of the following certification statements.  These 

statements are mutually exclusive.  Bidder must select one or the other (i.e. not both) by inserting a 

checkmark () or the letter “X”. 

 Bidder or offeror hereby certifies that it will comply with 49 USC. 50101 by: 

a) Only installing steel and manufactured products produced in the United States; or 

b) Installing manufactured products for which the FAA has issued a waiver as indicated by 

inclusion on the current FAA Nationwide Buy American Waivers Issued listing; or 

c) Installing products listed as an Excepted Article, Material or Supply in Federal 

Acquisition Regulation Subpart 25.108. 

By selecting this certification statement, the bidder or offeror agrees: 

1. To provide to the Owner evidence that documents the source and origin of the steel 

and manufactured product.   

2. To faithfully comply with providing US domestic products 



 

Required Provisions  Page 9 
Buy American Preference  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

3. To refrain from seeking a waiver request after establishment of the contract, unless 

extenuating circumstances emerge that the FAA determines justified.  

 The bidder or offeror hereby certifies it cannot comply with the 100% Buy American 

Preferences of 49 USC § 50101(a) but may qualify for either a Type 3 or Type 4 waiver under 

49 USC § 50101(b).  By selecting this certification statement, the apparent bidder or offeror 

with the apparent low bid agrees: 

1. To the submit  to the Owner within 15 calendar days of the bid opening,  a formal 

waiver request and required documentation  that support the type of waiver being 

requested.  

2. That failure to submit the required documentation within the specified timeframe is 

cause for a non-responsive determination may results in rejection of the proposal. 

3. To faithfully comply with providing US domestic products at or above the approved US 

domestic content percentage as approved by the FAA. 

4. To furnish US domestic product for any waiver request that the FAA rejects. 

5. To refrain from seeking a waiver request after establishment of the contract, unless 

extenuating circumstances emerge that the FAA determines justified.  

 

Required Documentation 

Type 3 Waiver - The cost of components and subcomponents produced in the United States is 

more that 60% of the cost of all components and subcomponents of the “facility”. The required 

documentation for a type 3 waiver is: 

a) Listing of all manufactured products that are not comprised of 100% US domestic 

content (Excludes products listed on the FAA Nationwide Buy American Waivers Issued 

listing and products excluded by Federal Acquisition Regulation Subpart 25.108; 

products of unknown origin must be considered as non-domestic products in their 

entirety) 

b) Cost of non-domestic components and subcomponents, excluding labor costs associated 

with final assembly and installation at project location. 

c) Percentage of non-domestic component and subcomponent cost as compared to total 

“facility” component and subcomponent costs, excluding labor costs associated with 

final assembly and installation at project location.   

Type 4 Waiver – Total cost of project using US domestic source product exceeds the total 

project cost using non-domestic product by 25%. The required documentation for a type 4 of 

waiver is: 

a) Detailed  cost information for total project using US domestic product 

b) Detailed cost information for total project using non-domestic product 

 

False Statements:  Per 49 USC § 47126, this certification concerns a matter within the 

jurisdiction of the Federal Aviation Administration and the making of a false, fictitious or 



 

Required Provisions  Page 10 
Buy American Preference  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

fraudulent certification may render the maker subject to prosecution under Title 18, United 

States Code. 

 

Date   Signature  

 

 

  

 

Company Name  Title 

* * * * * 

Certificate of Buy American Compliance for Manufactured Products  

(Non-building construction projects, equipment acquisition projects) 

As a matter of bid responsiveness, the bidder or offeror must complete, sign, date, and submit this 

certification statement with their proposal.  The bidder or offeror must indicate how they intend to 

comply with 49 USC § 50101 by selecting one on the following certification statements.  These 

statements are mutually exclusive.  Bidder must select one or the other (not both) by inserting a 

checkmark () or the letter “X”. 

 Bidder or offeror hereby certifies that it will comply with 49 USC § 50101 by: 

a) Only installing steel and manufactured products produced in the United States, or; 

b) Installing manufactured products for which the FAA has issued a waiver as indicated by 

inclusion on the current FAA Nationwide Buy American Waivers Issued listing, or; 

c) Installing products listed as an Excepted Article, Material or Supply in Federal 

Acquisition Regulation Subpart 25.108. 

By selecting this certification statement, the bidder or offeror agrees: 

1. To provide to the Owner evidence that documents the source and origin of the steel 

and manufactured product.   

2. To faithfully comply with providing US domestic product 

3. To furnish US domestic product for any waiver request that the FAA rejects 

4. To refrain from seeking a waiver request after establishment of the contract, unless 

extenuating circumstances emerge that the FAA determines justified.  

 The bidder or offeror hereby certifies it cannot comply with the 100% Buy American 

Preferences of 49 USC § 50101(a) but may qualify for either a Type 3 or Type 4 waiver under 

49 USC § 50101(b).  By selecting this certification statement, the apparent bidder or offeror 

with the apparent low bid agrees: 



 

Required Provisions  Page 11 
Buy American Preference  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

1. To the submit  to the Owner within 15 calendar days of the bid opening,  a formal 

waiver request and required documentation  that support the type of waiver being 

requested.  

2. That failure to submit the required documentation within the specified timeframe is 

cause for a non-responsive determination may result in rejection of the proposal. 

3. To faithfully comply with providing US domestic products at or above the approved US 

domestic content percentage as approved by the FAA. 

4. To refrain from seeking a waiver request after establishment of the contract, unless 

extenuating circumstances emerge that the FAA determines justified.  

Required Documentation 

Type 3 Waiver - The cost of the item components and subcomponents produced in the United 

States is more that 60% of the cost of all components and subcomponents of the “item”. The 

required documentation for a type 3 waiver is: 

a) Listing of all product components and subcomponents that are not comprised of 100% 

US domestic content (Excludes products listed on the FAA Nationwide Buy American 

Waivers Issued listing and products excluded by Federal Acquisition Regulation Subpart 

25.108; products of unknown origin must be considered as non-domestic products in 

their entirety) 

b) Cost of non-domestic components and subcomponents, excluding labor costs associated 

with final assembly at place of manufacture. 

c) Percentage of non-domestic component and subcomponent cost as compared to total 

“item” component and subcomponent costs, excluding labor costs associated with final 

assembly at place of manufacture.   

Type 4 Waiver – Total cost of project using US domestic source product exceeds the total 

project cost using non-domestic product by 25%. The required documentation for a type 4 of 

waiver is: 

a) Detailed  cost information for total project using US domestic product 

b) Detailed cost information for total project using non-domestic product 

False Statements:  Per 49 USC § 47126, this certification concerns a matter within the jurisdiction of 

the Federal Aviation Administration and the making of a false, fictitious or fraudulent certification 

may render the maker subject to prosecution under Title 18, United States Code. 

Date   Signature  

 

 

  

 

Company Name  Title 

 



 

Required Provisions  Page 12 
Civil Rights – General Civil Rights Provision  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

 CIVIL RIGHTS - GENERAL.   6.

(Reference: 49 USC § 47123) 

 APPLICABILITY. 6.1.

The General Civil Rights Provisions found in 49 USC § 47123, derived from the Airport and Airway 

Improvement Act of 1982, Section 520, apply to all AIP-funded projects.  This provision is in addition to 

the Civil Rights – Title VI provisions. 

  MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 6.2.

The mandatory language that must be used on AIP funded project contracts is as follows: 

GENERAL CIVIL RIGHTS PROVISIONS 

 The contractor agrees that it will comply with pertinent statutes, Executive Orders and such rules as are 

promulgated to ensure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, 

age, or handicap be excluded from participating in any activity conducted with or benefiting from 

Federal assistance.   

This provision binds the contractors from the bid solicitation period through the completion of the 

contract. This provision is in addition to that required of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 

This provision also obligates the tenant/concessionaire/lessee or its transferee for the period during 

which Federal assistance is extended to the airport through the Airport Improvement Program, except 

where Federal assistance is to provide, or is in the form of personal property; real property or interest 

therein; structures or improvements thereon.   

In these cases the provision obligates the party or any transferee for the longer of the following periods:   

(a) the period during which the property is used by the airport sponsor or any transferee for a 

purpose for which Federal assistance is extended, or for another purpose involving the provision of 

similar services or benefits; or  

(b) the period during which the airport sponsor or any transferee retains ownership or possession of 

the property.   



 

Required Provisions  Page 13 
Civil Rights – Title VI Assurances  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

 CIVIL RIGHTS – TITLE VI ASSURANCES. 7.

Appropriate clauses from the Standard DOT Title VI Assurances must be included in all contracts 

and solicitations.  The clauses are as follows: 

1) Title VI Solicitation Notice 

2) Title VI Clauses for Compliance with Nondiscrimination Requirements. 

3) Title VI Required Clause for Land Interests Transferred from the United States 

4) Title VI Required Clause for Real Property Acquired Or Improved by the sponsor subject to the 

nondiscrimination Acts and Regulations. 

5) Clauses for Construction/Use/Access to Real Property Acquired Under the Activity, Facility or 

Program 

6) Title VI List Of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Statutes And Authorities 

 APPLICABILITY. 7.1.

The sponsor must insert the Title VI Solicitation Notice in: 

1) All solicitations for bids, requests for proposals work, or material subject to the 

nondiscrimination acts and regulations made in connection with Airport Improvement Program 

grants; and  

2) All proposals for negotiated agreements regardless of funding source 

The Sponsor must insert the Title VI required contract clause and the Title VI list of Pertinent 

Nondiscrimination Statutes and Authorities in every contract or agreement, unless the sponsor has 

determined and the FAA has agreed, that the contract or agreement is not subject to the 

nondiscrimination Acts and the Regulations.  

The sponsor must insert the clauses of Title VI Clauses for Deeds Transferring United States Property, 

as a covenant running with the land, in any deed from the United States effecting or recording a transfer 

of real property, structures, use, or improvements thereon or interest therein to a sponsor. 

The sponsor must include the Title VI Clauses for Transfer of Real Property Acquired or Improved 

Under the Activity, Facility, Or Program, the Title VI Clauses for Construction/Use/Access to Real 

Property Acquired Under the Activity, Facility or Program, and the Title VI List of Pertinent 

Nondiscrimination Authorities, as a covenant running with the land, in any future deeds, leases, 

licenses, permits, or similar instruments entered into by the sponsor with other parties: 

1) For the subsequent transfer of real property acquired or improved under the applicable activity, 

project, or program; and  

2) For the construction or use of, or access to, space on, over, or under real property acquired or 

improved under the applicable activity, project, or program. 



 

Required Provisions  Page 14 
Civil Rights – Title VI Assurances  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

 MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 7.2.

7.2.1. Title VI Solicitation Notice 

(Source:  Appendix 4 of FAA Order 1400.11, Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted Programs at the 

Federal Aviation Administration) 

Title VI Solicitation Notice: 

The (Name of Sponsor), in accordance with the provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights 

Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000d to 2000d-4) and the Regulations, hereby 

notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that any contract entered into 

pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be afforded 

full and fair opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 

discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in consideration 

for an award. 

7.2.2. Title VI Clauses for Compliance with Nondiscrimination Requirements 

(Source:  Appendix A of Appendix 4 of FAA Order 1400.11, Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted 

Programs at the Federal Aviation Administration) 

Compliance with Nondiscrimination Requirements 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in interest 

(hereinafter referred to as the “contractor”) agrees as follows: 

1. Compliance with Regulations:  The contractor (hereinafter includes consultants) will comply 

with the Title VI List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Statutes and Authorities, as they may be 

amended from time to time, which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this 

contract. 

2. Non-discrimination:  The contractor, with regard to the work performed by it during the contract, 

will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in the selection and 

retention of subcontractors, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment.  The 

contractor will not participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by the Acts 

and the Regulations, including employment practices when the contract covers any activity, 

project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 49 CFR part 21.  

3. Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment:  In all 

solicitations, either by competitive bidding, or negotiation made by the contractor for work to be 

performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials, or leases of equipment, 

each potential subcontractor or supplier will be notified by the contractor of the contractor’s 

obligations under this contract and the Acts and the Regulations relative to Non-discrimination on 

the grounds of race, color, or national origin.   



 

Required Provisions  Page 15 
Civil Rights – Title VI Assurances  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

4. Information and Reports:  The contractor will provide all information and reports required by the 

Acts, the Regulations, and directives issued pursuant thereto and will permit access to its books, 

records, accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as may be determined by the 

sponsor or the Federal Aviation Administration to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such 

Acts, Regulations, and instructions.  Where any information required of a contractor is in the 

exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses to furnish the information, the contractor will 

so certify to the sponsor or the Federal Aviation Administration, as appropriate, and will set forth 

what efforts it has made to obtain the information. 

5. Sanctions for Noncompliance:  In the event of a contractor’s noncompliance with the Non-

discrimination provisions of this contract, the sponsor will impose such contract sanctions as it or 

the Federal Aviation Administration may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited 

to: 

a. Withholding payments to the contractor under the contract until the contractor complies; 

and/or 

b. Cancelling, terminating, or suspending a contract, in whole or in part. 

6. Incorporation of Provisions:  The contractor will include the provisions of paragraphs one through 

six in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment, unless 

exempt by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto.  The contractor will 

take action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as the sponsor or the Federal 

Aviation Administration may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for 

noncompliance. Provided, that if the contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with 

litigation by a subcontractor, or supplier because of such direction, the contractor may request 

the sponsor to enter into any litigation to protect the interests of the sponsor.  In addition, the 

contractor may request the United States to enter into the litigation to protect the interests of 

the United States. 

7.2.3. Title VI Clauses for Deeds Transferring United States Property 

 (Source:  Appendix B of Appendix 4 of FAA Order 1400.11, Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted 

Programs at the Federal Aviation Administration) 

CLAUSES FOR DEEDS TRANSFERRING UNITED STATES PROPERTY 

The following clauses will be included in deeds effecting or recording the transfer of real property, 

structures, or improvements thereon, or granting interest therein from the United States pursuant to 

the provisions of the Airport Improvement Program grant assurances. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Federal Aviation Administration as authorized by law and upon the condition that 

the (Title of Sponsor) will accept title to the lands and maintain the project constructed thereon in 

accordance with (Name of Appropriate Legislative Authority), for the (Airport Improvement Program or 



 

Required Provisions  Page 16 
Civil Rights – Title VI Assurances  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

other program for which land is transferred), and the policies and procedures prescribed by the Federal 

Aviation Administration of the U.S. Department of Transportation in accordance and in compliance with 

all requirements imposed by Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, U.S. Department of Transportation, 

Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, Non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the U.S. 

Department of Transportation pertaining to and effectuating the provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights 

Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252; 42 U.S.C. § 2000d to 2000d-4), does hereby remise, release, quitclaim and 

convey unto the (Title of Sponsor) all the right, title and interest of the U.S. Department of 

Transportation/Federal Aviation Administration in and to said lands described in (Exhibit A attached 

hereto or other exhibit describing the transferred property) and made a part hereof. 

(HABENDUM CLAUSE) 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD said lands and interests therein unto (Title of Sponsor) and its successors forever, 

subject, however, to the covenants, conditions, restrictions and reservations herein contained as follows, 

which will remain in effect for the period during which the real property or structures are used for a 

purpose for which Federal financial assistance is extended or for another purpose involving the provision 

of similar services or benefits and will be binding on the (Title of Sponsor), its successors and assigns. 

The (Title of Sponsor), in consideration of the conveyance of said lands and interests in lands, does hereby 

covenant and agree as a covenant running with the land for itself, its successors and assigns, that (1) no 

person will on the grounds of race, color, or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied 

the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination with regard to any facility located wholly or in 

part on, over, or under such lands hereby conveyed [,] [and]* (2) that the (Title of Sponsor) will use the 

lands and interests in lands and interests in lands so conveyed, in compliance with all requirements 

imposed by or pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, U.S. Department of Transportation, 

Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, Non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the U.S. 

Department of Transportation, Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and as said 

Regulations and Acts may be amended[, and (3) that in the event of breach of any of the above-

mentioned non-discrimination conditions, the Department will have a right to enter or re-enter said lands 

and facilities on said land, and that above described land and facilities will thereon revert to and vest in 

and become the absolute property of the Federal Aviation Administration and its assigns as such interest 

existed prior to this instruction].* 

(*Reverter clause and related language to be used only when it is determined that such a clause is 

necessary in order to make clear the purpose of Title VI.) 

7.2.4. Title VI Clauses for Transfer of Real Property Acquired or Improved Under the Activity, 

Facility, or Program 

(Source:  Appendix C of Appendix 4 of FAA Order 1400.11, Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted 

Programs at the Federal Aviation Administration) 



 

Required Provisions  Page 17 
Civil Rights – Title VI Assurances  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

CLAUSES FOR TRANSFER OF REAL PROPERTY ACQUIRED OR IMPROVED UNDER THE ACTIVITY, 

FACILITY, OR PROGRAM 

The following clauses will be included in deeds, licenses, leases, permits, or similar instruments entered 

into by the (Title of Sponsor) pursuant to the provisions of the Airport Improvement Program grant 

assurances. 

A.  The (grantee, lessee, permittee, etc. as appropriate) for himself/herself, his/her heirs, personal 

representatives, successors in interest, and assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does 

hereby covenant and agree [in the case of deeds and leases add “as a covenant running with the 

land”] that: 

1. In the event facilities are constructed, maintained, or otherwise operated on the property 

described in this (deed, license, lease, permit, etc.) for a purpose for which a Federal Aviation 

Administration activity, facility, or program is extended or for another purpose involving the 

provision of similar services or benefits, the (grantee, licensee, lessee, permittee, etc.) will 

maintain and operate such facilities and services in compliance with all requirements 

imposed by the Nondiscrimination Acts and Regulations listed in the Pertinent List of 

Nondiscrimination Authorities (as may be amended) such that no person on the grounds of 

race, color, or national origin, will be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, 

or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the use of said facilities.  

B. With respect to licenses, leases, permits, etc., in the event of breach of any of the above 

Nondiscrimination covenants, (Title of Sponsor) will have the right to terminate the (lease, license, 

permit, etc.) and to enter, re-enter, and repossess said lands and facilities thereon, and hold the 

same as if the (lease, license, permit, etc.) had never been made or issued.* 

C. With respect to a deed, in the event of breach of any of the above Nondiscrimination covenants, the 

(Title of Sponsor) will have the right to enter or re-enter the lands and facilities thereon, and the 

above described lands and facilities will there upon revert to and vest in and become the absolute 

property of the (Title of Sponsor) and its assigns.* 

(*Reverter clause and related language to be used only when it is determined that such a clause is 

necessary to make clear the purpose of Title VI.) 

7.2.5. Title VI Clauses for Construction/Use/Access to Real Property Acquired Under the 

Activity, Facility or Program 

(Source:  Appendix D of Appendix 4 of FAA Order 1400.11, Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted 

Programs at the Federal Aviation Administration) 



 

Required Provisions  Page 18 
Civil Rights – Title VI Assurances  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

CLAUSES FOR CONSTRUCTION/USE/ACCESS TO REAL PROPERTY ACQUIRED UNDER THE 

ACTIVITY, FACILITY OR PROGRAM 

The following clauses will be included in deeds, licenses, permits, or similar instruments/agreements 

entered into by (Title of Sponsor) pursuant to the provisions of the Airport Improvement Program grant 

assurances. 

A. The (grantee, licensee, permittee, etc., as appropriate) for himself/herself, his/her heirs, personal 

representatives, successors in interest, and assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does 

hereby covenant and agree (in the case of deeds and leases add, “as a covenant running with the 

land”) that (1) no person on the ground of race, color, or national origin, will be excluded from 

participation in, denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the use of 

said facilities, (2) that in the construction of any improvements on, over, or under such land, and the 

furnishing of services thereon, no person on the ground of race, color, or national origin, will be 

excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination, 

(3) that the (grantee, licensee, lessee, permittee, etc.) will use the premises in compliance with all 

other requirements imposed by or pursuant to the List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Authorities. 

B. With respect to (licenses, leases, permits, etc.), in the event of breach of any of the above 

nondiscrimination covenants, (Title of Sponsor) will have the right to terminate the (license, permit, 

etc., as appropriate) and to enter or re-enter and repossess said land and the facilities thereon, and 

hold the same as if said (license, permit, etc., as appropriate) had never been made or issued.* 

C. With respect to deeds, in the event of breach of any of the above nondiscrimination covenants, 

(Title of Sponsor) will there upon revert to and vest in and become the absolute property of (Title of 

Sponsor) and its assigns.* 

(*Reverter clause and related language to be used only when it is determined that such a clause is 

necessary to make clear the purpose of Title VI.) 

7.2.6. Title VI List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Authorities 

(Source:  Appendix E of Appendix 4 of FAA Order 1400.11, Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted 

Programs at the Federal Aviation Administration) 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in interest 

(hereinafter referred to as the “contractor”) agrees to comply with the following non-discrimination 

statutes and authorities; including but not limited to: 

 Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252), (prohibits 

discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin);  

 49 CFR part 21 (Non-discrimination In Federally-Assisted Programs of The Department of 

Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of The Civil Rights Act of 1964);  



 

Required Provisions  Page 19 
Civil Rights – Title VI Assurances  Updated February 10, 2014 
 

 The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, (42 U.S.C. 

§ 4601), (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose property has been acquired 

because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and projects);  

 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), as amended, (prohibits 

discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 CFR part 27; 

 The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq.), (prohibits 

discrimination on the basis of age); 

 Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, (49 USC § 471, Section 47123), as amended, 

(prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or sex);  

 The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, (PL 100-209), (Broadened the scope, coverage and 

applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and 

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by expanding the definition of the terms 

“programs or activities” to include all of the programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, 

sub-recipients and contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or 

not); 

 Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, which prohibit discrimination on 

the basis  of disability in the operation of public entities, public and private transportation 

systems, places of public accommodation, and certain testing entities (42 U.S.C. §§ 12131 – 

12189) as implemented by Department of Transportation regulations at 49 CFR parts 37 and 38; 

 The Federal Aviation Administration’s Non-discrimination statute (49 U.S.C. § 47123) (prohibits 

discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex);    

 Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority 

Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures discrimination against minority 

populations by discouraging programs, policies, and activities with disproportionately high and 

adverse human health or environmental effects on minority and low-income populations; 

 Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English 

Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination includes discrimination 

because of limited English proficiency (LEP).  To ensure compliance with Title VI, you must take 

reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons have meaningful access to your programs (70 Fed. 

Reg. at 74087 to 74100);    

 Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits you from 

discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq). 



 

Required Provisions  Page 20 
Termination of Contract   Updated February 10, 2014 
 

 CLEAN AIR AND WATER POLLUTION CONTROL.  8.

(Reference: 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(G)) 

  APPLICABILITY. 8.1.

 Incorporate in all professional service agreements, construction contracts and subcontracts that 

exceed $150,000. 

 DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION (NON-PROCUREMENT).  9.

(Reference: 2 CFR part 180 (Subpart C), 2 CFR part 1200, DOT Order 4200.5 DOT Suspension 

& Debarment Procedures & Ineligibility) 

  APPLICABILITY. 9.1.

The contract agreement that ultimately results from this solicitation is a “covered transaction” as 

defined by Title 2 CFR Part 180.  Bidder must certify at the time they submit their proposal that neither it 

nor its principals are presently debarred or suspended by any Federal department or agency from 

participation in this transaction.  The bidder with the successful bid further agrees to comply with Title 2 

CFR Part 1200 and Title 2 CFR Part 180, Subpart C by administering each lower tier subcontract that 

exceeds $25,000 as a “covered transaction”. 

Incorporate in all contracts and subcontracts that exceed $25,000. 

  MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 9.2.

CERTIFICATE REGARDING DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION (BIDDER OR OFFEROR) 

By submitting a bid/proposal under this solicitation, the bidder or offeror certifies that at the time 

the bidder or offeror submits its proposal that neither it nor its principals are presently debarred or 

suspended by any Federal department or agency from participation in this transaction. 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION (SUCCESSFUL BIDDER 

REGARDING LOWER TIER PARTICIPANTS) 

The successful bidder, by administering each lower tier subcontract that exceeds $25,000 as a “covered 

transaction”, must verify each lower tier participant of a “covered transaction” under the project is not 

presently debarred or otherwise disqualified from participation in this federally assisted project.  The 

successful bidder will accomplish this by: 

1. Checking the System for Award Management at website:  http://www.sam.gov 

2. Collecting a certification statement similar to the Certificate Regarding Debarment and Suspension 

(Bidder or Offeror), above. 

3. Inserting a clause or condition in the covered transaction with the lower tier contract 

http://www.sam.gov/


 

Required Provisions  Page 21 
Termination of Contract   Updated February 10, 2014 
 

If the FAA later determines that a lower tier participant failed to tell a higher tier that it was excluded or 

disqualified at the time it entered the covered transaction, the FAA may pursue any available remedy, 

including suspension and debarment.  

 DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE.  10.

(Reference: 49 CFR part 26) 

 APPLICABILITY. 10.1.

The Disadvantaged Business Enterprise requirements found in 49 CFR part 26, apply to all AIP-funded 

projects and must be included in all contracts and subcontracts.  This includes both project with contract 

goals and project relying on race/gender neutral means.  

 MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE.   10.2.

The mandatory language that must be used on AIP funded project contracts is as follows.  Other than to 

insert appropriate Sponsor information into the noted spaces, the Sponsor must not modify these 

contract clauses: 

DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 

Contract Assurance (§ 26.13) - The contractor or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of 

race, color, national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract. The contractor shall carry out 

applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration of DOT assisted contracts. 

Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, which 

may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy, as the recipient deems appropriate. 

Prompt Payment (§26.29)- The prime contractor agrees to pay each subcontractor under this prime 

contract for satisfactory performance of its contract no later than {specify number} days from the 

receipt of each payment the prime contractor receives from {Name of recipient}. The prime contractor 

agrees further to return retainage payments to each subcontractor within {specify the same number as 

above} days after the subcontractor's work is satisfactorily completed. Any delay or postponement of 

payment from the above referenced time frame may occur only for good cause following written 

approval of the {Name of Recipient}. This clause applies to both DBE and non-DBE subcontractors. 

 FEDERAL FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT (FEDERAL MINIMUM WAGE) 11.

(Reference: 29 USC § 201, et seq.) 

 APPLICABILITY. 11.1.

The federal minimum wage provisions are contained in the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) which is 

administered by the United States Department of Labor Wage and Hour Division.  All contracts and 

subcontracts must meet comply with the FLSA, including the recordkeeping standards of the Act. 

http://www.dol.gov/compliance/laws/comp-flsa.htm


 

Required Provisions  Page 22 
Termination of Contract   Updated February 10, 2014 
 

  MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 11.2.

All contracts and subcontracts that result from this solicitation incorporate the following provisions by 

reference, with the same force and effect as if given in full text.  The contractor has full responsibility to 

monitor compliance to the referenced statute or regulation.  The contractor must address any claims or 

disputes that pertain to a referenced requirement directly with the Federal Agency with enforcement 

responsibilities. 

Requirement Federal Agency with Enforcement Responsibilities 

Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (29 USC 201) U.S. Department of Labor – Wage and Hour Division 

 

 LOBBYING AND INFLUENCING FEDERAL EMPLOYEES. 12.

(Reference:  49 CFR part 20, Appendix A) 

 APPLICABILITY. 12.1.

The Lobbying and Influencing Federal Employees prohibition found in 49 CFR part 20, Appendix A, 

applies to all AIP-funded projects and must be included in all contracts and subcontracts. 

 MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE.  12.2.

The mandatory language that must be used on AIP funded project contracts is as follows: 

LOBBYING AND INFLUENCING FEDERAL EMPLOYEES 

The bidder or offeror certifies by signing and submitting this bid or proposal, to the best of his or her 

knowledge and belief, that: 

1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the bidder or 

offeror, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an 

agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 

Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any 

Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, 

and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, 

grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.  

2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person 

for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of 

Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 

connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned 

shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in 

accordance with its instructions.  



 

Required Provisions  Page 23 
Termination of Contract   Updated February 10, 2014 
 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 

transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or 

entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file 

the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than 

$100,000 for each such failure. 

 OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ACT OF 1970 13.

(Reference 20 CFR part 1910) 

 APPLICABILITY. 13.1.

The United States Department of Labor Occupational Safety & Health Administration (OSHA) oversees 

the workplace health and safety standards wage provisions from the Occupational Safety and Health Act 

of 1970.  All contracts and subcontracts must meet comply with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 

of 1970. 

  MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 13.2.

All contracts and subcontracts that result from this solicitation incorporate the following provisions by 

reference, with the same force and effect as if given in full text.  The contractor has full responsibility to 

monitor compliance to the referenced statute or regulation.  The contractor must address any claims or 

disputes that pertain to a referenced requirement directly with the Federal Agency with enforcement 

responsibilities. 

Requirement Federal Agency with Enforcement Responsibilities 

Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (20 CFR Part 1910) U.S. Department of Labor – Occupational Safety and Health 

Administration 

 

 RIGHT TO INVENTIONS. 14.

(Reference 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(F)) 

 APPLICABILITY.  14.1.

The requirement for rights to inventions and materials found in 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(F) applies to all 

AIP-funded projects and must be included in all contracts and subcontracts.  

 MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 14.2.

The regulation does not prescribe mandatory language, however the following clause represents sample 

language that meets the intent of 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(F). 

 



 

Required Provisions  Page 24 
Termination of Contract   Updated February 10, 2014 
 

RIGHTS TO INVENTIONS 

All rights to inventions and materials generated under this contract are subject to requirements and 

regulations issued by the FAA and the Sponsor of the Federal grant under which this contract is 

executed. 

 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT.   15.

(Reference 2 CFR § 200 Appendix II(B)) 

  APPLICABILITY. 15.1.

 Incorporate in all contracts and subcontracts that exceed $10,000.   

  MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 15.2.

TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 

a. The Sponsor may, by written notice, terminate this contract in whole or in part at any time, either 

for the Sponsor's convenience or because of failure to fulfill the contract obligations.  Upon receipt of 

such notice services must be immediately discontinued (unless the notice directs otherwise) and all 

materials as may have been accumulated in performing this contract, whether completed or in 

progress, delivered to the Sponsor. 

b. If the termination is for the convenience of the Sponsor, an equitable adjustment in the contract 

price will be made, but no amount will be allowed for anticipated profit on unperformed services. 

c. If the termination is due to failure to fulfill the contractor's obligations, the Sponsor may take over the 

work and prosecute the same to completion by contract or otherwise.  In such case, the contractor is 

liable to the Sponsor for any additional cost occasioned to the Sponsor thereby. 

d. If, after notice of termination for failure to fulfill contract obligations, it is determined that the 

contractor had not so failed, the termination will be deemed to have been effected for the 

convenience of the Sponsor.  In such event, adjustment in the contract price will be made as provided 

in paragraph 2 of this clause. 

e. The rights and remedies of the sponsor provided in this clause are in addition to any other rights and 

remedies provided by law or under this contract.



 

Required Provisions  Page 25 
Veteran’s Preference   Updated February 10, 2014 
 

 TRADE RESTRICTION 16.

(Reference: 49 CFR part 30) 

  APPLICABILITY. 16.1.

The trade restriction clause applies to all AIP-funded projects and must be included in all contracts and 

subcontracts.  

  MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 16.2.

The mandatory language is as follows: 

TRADE RESTRICTION CLAUSE 

The contractor or subcontractor, by submission of an offer and/or execution of a contract, certifies that 

it: 

a.  is not owned or controlled by one or more citizens of a foreign country included in the list of 

countries that discriminate against U.S. firms published by the Office of the United States Trade 

Representative (USTR); 

b.  has not knowingly entered into any contract or subcontract for this project with a person that is a 

citizen or national of a foreign country on said list, or is owned or controlled directly or indirectly by one 

or more citizens or nationals of a foreign country on said list; 

c.  has not procured any product nor subcontracted for the supply of any product for use on the project 

that is produced in a foreign country on said list. 

Unless the restrictions of this clause are waived by the Secretary of Transportation in accordance with 

49 CFR 30.17, no contract shall be awarded to a contractor or subcontractor who is unable to certify to 

the above.  If the contractor knowingly procures or subcontracts for the supply of any product or service 

of a foreign country on said list for use on the project, the Federal Aviation Administration may direct 

through the Sponsor cancellation of the contract at no cost to the Government. 

Further, the contractor agrees that, if awarded a contract resulting from this solicitation, it will 

incorporate this provision for certification without modification in each contract and in all lower tier 

subcontracts.  The contractor may rely on the certification of a prospective subcontractor unless it has 

knowledge that the certification is erroneous. 

The contractor shall provide immediate written notice to the sponsor if the contractor learns that its 

certification or that of a subcontractor was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by 

reason of changed circumstances.  The subcontractor agrees to provide written notice to the contractor 

if at any time it learns that its certification was erroneous by reason of changed circumstances. 



 

Required Provisions  Page 26 
Veteran’s Preference   Updated February 10, 2014 
 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when making the 

award.  If it is later determined that the contractor or subcontractor knowingly rendered an erroneous 

certification, the Federal Aviation Administration may direct through the Sponsor cancellation of the 

contract or subcontract for default at no cost to the Government. 

Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records in 

order to render, in good faith, the certification required by this provision.  The knowledge and 

information of a contractor is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent 

person in the ordinary course of business dealings. 

This certification concerns a matter within the jurisdiction of an agency of the United States of America 

and the making of a false, fictitious, or fraudulent certification may render the maker subject to 

prosecution under Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001. 

 VETERAN’S PREFERENCE  17.

(Reference: 49 USC § 47112(c)) 

  APPLICABILITY. 17.1.

The Veteran’s preference clause found in 49 USC § 47112(c) applies to all AIP-funded projects and must 

be included in all contracts and subcontracts that involve labor 

  MANDATORY CONTRACT LANGUAGE. 17.2.

The regulation does not prescribe mandatory language, however the following clause represents sample 

language that meets the intent of 49 USC § 47112(c) is as follows: 

VETERAN’S PREFERENCE 

In the employment of labor (except in executive, administrative, and supervisory positions), preference 

must be given to Vietnam era veterans, Persian Gulf veterans, Afghanistan-Iraq war veterans, disabled 

veterans, and small business concerns owned and controlled by disabled veterans as defined in Title 49 

United States Code, Section 47112.  However, this preference shall apply only where the individuals are 

available and qualified to perform the work to which the employment relates. 

 



PROJECT DESCRIPTION

The City of Flagstaff (City) is seeking a qualified firm to develop an Airport Master Plan 
(AMP) and Aeronautical Survey with complete Field Data Collection and Geographic 
Information System (GIS) component for Flagstaff Pulliam Airport, which will provide a 
framework for the future growth of the operation and development of the airport.

PROJECT OBJECTIVES

To develop an innovative AMP and Aeronautical Survey (Field Data Collection & 
Geographical Information System Standards) for the Flagstaff Pulliam Airport that will 
evaluate and meet the current and future needs of the Airport and Community.

BACKGROUND

The City strives to create and foster a culture of continuous improvement throughout the 
organization. Through the development of a AMP and the City seeks to ensure the 
integrity of the economic viability, operational efficiency, social and financial 
responsibility of the airport. The AMP will guide the City in planning and meeting the 
Regional Goals and requirements currently and in the future. 

SCOPE OF WORK

This project is to prepare an innovative AMP and Aeronautical Survey to be utilized at 
the Flagstaff Pulliam Airport. The plan will be tailored to the local and regional needs 
and goals. The AMP is to be developed in a manner to maximize the economic viability, 
operational efficiency, social responsibility of the airport. 

Work associated with this plan is unique and the level of creativity and the specific 
approach that will be taken by the Respondent should be adequately detailed to 
demonstrate a full understanding of the goals and challenges associated with the 
project. The proposals should be specific, but not limited to: the U.S. Department of 
Transportation Federal Aviation Administration required contents of a AMP with –
Aeronautical Survey survey (FAA A/C 150/5070-6B) (FAA A/C 150/5100-14E) (FAA 
A/C150/5300-18B) which include a description of an overall strategy and process to be 
used for developing a AMP and Aeronautical Survey. 

The intent of this project is to build on upon previous AMP and work and to integrate the 
SMP into the planning process. 

The project will adhere to all Federal Aviation Administration regulations, policies and 
procedures. The project should be completed in 24 months from Notice to Proceed 
date.

QUALIFICATIONS



Consideration will be given to Respondents who meet the following minimum 
qualifications.

a) Prior experience in developing a Airport Master Plan and Aeronautical Survey. 
b) Prior consulting experience this project that includes knowledge of general 

aviation airport operations, commercial air service operations, planning and 
development.

c) Management team with strong experience related to this type of project. 
d) Capability to complete project without having cost escalations or overruns.
e) Proven creativity and innovation used in similar projects.
f) Demonstrated knowledge and understanding of the uniqueness of Flagstaff, 

Northern Arizona and the Flagstaff Airport.
g) Community outreach plan.

BUDGET

The estimated budget for this project is $



Insurance for Purchase of Materials and/or Services 
Form No. 
Revised October 14, 2014

EXHIBIT D

INSURANCE

1. In General. Contractor shall maintain insurance against claims for injury to persons 
or damage to property, arising from performance of or in connection with this 
Contract by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees or contractors. 

2. Requirement to Procure and Maintain. Each insurance policy required by this 
Contract shall be in effect at, or before, commencement of work under this Contract 
and shall remain in effect until all Contractor’s obligations under this Contract have 
been met, including any warranty periods.  The Contractor’s failure to maintain the 
insurance policies as required by this Contract or to provide timely evidence of 
renewal will be considered a material breach of this Contract.  

3. Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance.  The following insurance requirements are 
minimum requirements for this Contract and in no way limit the indemnity covenants 
contained in this Contract.  The City does not represent or warrant that the minimum 
limits set forth in this Contract are sufficient to protect the Contractor from liabilities 
that might arise out of this Contract, and Contractor is free to purchase such 
additional insurance as Contractor may determine is necessary.

Contractor shall provide coverage at least as broad and with limits not less than 
those stated below.

a. Commercial General Liability - Occurrence Form

General Aggregate $2,000,000
Products/Completed Operations $1,000,000
Each Occurrence $1,000,000

b. Umbrella Coverage $2,000,000

c. Automobile Liability –
Any Automobile or Owned, Hired 
and Non-owned Vehicles
Combined Single Limit Per Accident
for Bodily Injury & Property Damage $1,000,000

d. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability

Workers’ Compensation Statutory
Employer’s Liability: Each Accident $500,000
Disease - Each Employee $500,000
Disease - Policy Limit $500,000

4. Self-insured Retention. Any self-insured retentions must be declared to and 
approved by the City.  If not approved, the City may require that the insurer reduce or 
eliminate such self-insured retentions with respect to the City, its officers, agents, 



employees, and volunteers. Contractor shall be solely responsible for any self-insured 
retention amounts. City at its option may require Contractor to secure payment of such 
self insured retention by a surety bond or irrevocable and unconditional letter of credit.

5. Other Insurance Requirements. The policies shall contain, or be endorsed to 
contain, the following provisions:

a. Additional Insured. In Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability 
Coverages, the City of Flagstaff, its officers, officials, agents and employees shall 
be named and endorsed as additional insureds with respect to liability arising out 
of this Contract and activities performed by or on behalf of the Contractor, 
including products and completed operations of the Contractor, and automobiles 
owned, leased, hired or borrowed by the Contractor.

b. Broad Form. The Contractor’s insurance shall contain broad form contractual 
liability coverage.

c. Primary Insurance. The Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be primary 
insurance with respect to the City, its officers, officials, agents, employees and 
volunteers.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the City, its officers, 
officials, agents and employees, shall be in excess of the coverage of the 
Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute to it.

d. Each Insured. The Contractor’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured 
against whom a claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits 
of the insurer’s liability.

e. Not Limited. Coverage provided by the Contractor shall not be limited to the 
liability assumed under the indemnification provisions of this Contract.

f. Waiver of Subrogation. The policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation against 
the City, its officers, officials, agents and employees for losses arising from work 
performed by Contractor for the City.

6. Notice of Cancellation.  Each insurance policy required by the insurance 
provisions of this Contract shall provide the required coverage and shall not be 
suspended, voided, cancelled, reduced in coverage or in limits unless prior written notice 
has been given to the City.  Notices required by this section shall be sent directly to the 
Buyer listed in the original Solicitation and shall reference the Contract Number: 

Attention: Damian Gallegos, Senior Procurement Specialist
Contract No. 2016-18
Purchasing Department
City of Flagstaff,
211 W.  Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, Arizona  86001.

7. Acceptability of Insurers.  Contractor shall place insurance hereunder with 
insurers duly licensed or approved unlicensed companies in the State of Arizona and 
with a “Best’s” rating of not less than A-: VII.  The City does not represent or warrant that 
the above required minimum insurer rating is sufficient to protect the Contractor from 
potential insurer insolvency.



8. Certificates of Insurance.  The Contractor shall furnish the City with certificates of 
insurance (ACORD form) as required by this Contract.  The certificates for each 
insurance policy shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage 
on its behalf.  Any policy endorsements that restrict or limit coverage shall be clearly 
noted on the certificate of insurance. The City project/contract number and project 
description shall be noted on the certificates of insurance. The City must receive and 
approve all certificates of insurance before the Contractor commences work.  

9. Policies. The City reserves the right to require, and receive within ten (10) days, 
complete, certified copies of all insurance policies and endorsements required by this 
Contract at any time.  The City shall not be obligated, however, to review any insurance 
policies or to advise Contractor of any deficiencies in such policies and endorsements.  
The City’s receipt of Contractor’s policies or endorsements shall not relieve Contractor 
from, or be deemed a waiver of, the City’s right to insist on strict fulfillment of 
Contractor’s obligations under this Contract.

10. Modifications. Any modification or variation from the insurance requirements in 
this Contract must have the prior approval of the City’s Attorney’s Office in consultation 
with the City’s Risk Manager, whose decision shall be final.  Such action will not require 
a formal Contract amendment but may be made by their handwritten revision and 
notation to the foregoing insurance requirements.



Form GS-1: Standard Terms and Conditions.  Revised December 17, 2014

FORM GS-1:  STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

PURPOSE: The purpose of this document is to establish standard terms and conditions for a 
contract, typically in conjunction with purchase of materials and/or supplies.  

INSTRUCTIONS:

1. Attach this form to City Solicitations, and as an Exhibit to the resulting contract. 

2. Attach this form to any Purchase Order, by reference and electronic link.

3. If you want to add terms, or delete/replace any of the Standard Terms and Conditions, 
specify those changes in the Contract Scope of Work/Special Terms and Conditions.



Form GS-1: Standard Terms and Conditions.  Revised December 17, 2014

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

IN GENERAL

1. NOTICE TO PROCEED: Contractor shall not commence performance until after City has issued 
a Notice to Proceed.

2. LICENSES AND PERMITS: Contractor its expense shall maintain current federal, state, and 
local licenses, permits and approvals required for performance of the Contract, and provide 
copies to City upon request.

3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS: Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local 
laws, regulations, standards, codes and ordinances in performance of this Contract.

4. NON-EXCLUSIVE: Unless expressly provided otherwise in the Contract, this Contract is non-
exclusive and the City reserves the right to contract with others for materials or services. 

5. SAMPLES:  Any sample submitted to the City by the Contractor and relied upon by City as 
representative of quality and conformity, shall constitute an express warranty that all materials 
and/or service to be provided to City shall be of the same quality and conformity.

MATERIALS

6. PURCHASE ORDERS: The City will issue a purchase order for the materials covered by the 
Contract, and such order will reference the Contract number.

7. QUALITY: Contractor warrants that all materials supplied under this Contract will be new and 
free from defects in material or workmanship.  The materials will conform to any statements made 
on the containers or labels or advertisements for the materials, and will be safe and appropriate 
for use as normally used.  City’s inspection, testing, acceptance or use of materials shall not serve 
to waive these quality requirements.  This warranty shall survive termination or expiration of the 
Contract.

8. ACCEPTANCE:  All materials and services provided by Contract are subject to final inspection 
and acceptance by the City.  Materials and services failing to conform to the Contract 
specifications may be rejected in whole or part.  If rejected, Contractor is responsible for all costs 
associated arising from rejection. 

9. MANUFACTURER’S WARRANTIES: Contractor shall deliver all Manufacturer’s Warranties to 
City upon City’s acceptance of the materials.

10. PACKING AND SHIPPING: Contractor shall be responsible for industry standard packing which 
conforms to requirements of carrier’s tariff and ICC regulations.  Containers shall be clearly 
marked as to lot number, destination, address and purchase order number.  All shipments shall 
be F.O.B.  Destination, City of Flagstaff, 211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, Arizona 86001, 
unless otherwise specified by the City.  C.O.D.  shipments will not be accepted.



Form GS-1: Standard Terms and Conditions.  Revised December 17, 2014

11. TITLE AND RISK OF LOSS:  The title and risk of loss of material shall not pass to the City until 
the City actually receives the material at the point of delivery, and the City has completed 
inspection and has accepted the material, unless the City has expressly provided otherwise in the 
Contract.

12. NO REPLACEMENT OF DEFECTIVE TENDER:  Every tender of materials shall fully comply with 
all provisions of the Contract.  If a tender is made which does not fully conform, this shall 
constitute a breach and Contractor shall not have the right to substitute a conforming tender 
without prior written approval from the City.

13. DEFAULT IN ONE INSTALLMENT TO CONSTITUTE TOTAL BREACH:  Contractor and may 
not substitute nonconforming materials, or services.  Delivery of nonconforming materials, and/or 
services, or a default of any nature, at the option of the City, shall constitute shall deliver 
conforming materials, or services, in each installment or lot of the contract a breach of the 
contract as a whole.

14. SHIPMENT UNDER RESERVATION PROHIBITED:  Contractor is not authorized to ship 
materials under reservation and no tender of a bill of lading shall operate as a tender of the 
materials.

15. LIENS:  All materials and other deliverables supplied to the City shall be free of all liens other 
than the security interest held by Contractor until payment in full is made by the City.  Upon 
request of the City, Contractor shall provide a formal release of all liens.

16. CHANGES IN ORDERS:  The City reserves the right at any time to make changes in any one or 
more of the following:  (a) methods of shipment or packing; (b) place of delivery; and (c) 
quantities.  If any change causes an increase or decrease in the cost of or the time required for 
performance, an equitable adjustment may be made in the price or delivery schedule, or both.  
Any claim for adjustment shall be evidenced in writing and approved by the City Purchasing 
Director prior to the institution of the change.

PAYMENT

17. INVOICES: A separate invoice shall be issued for each shipment and each job completed.  
Invoices shall include the Contract and/or Purchase Order number, and dates when goods were 
shipped or work performed.  Invoices shall be sent within 30 days following performance.  
Payment will only be made for satisfactory materials and/or services received and accepted by 
City.

18. LATE INVOICES:  The City may deduct up to 10% of the payment price for late invoices.  The 
City operates on a fiscal year budget, from July 1 through the following June 30.  Except in 
unusual circumstances, which are not due to the fault of Contractor, City will not honor any 
invoices or claims submitted after August 15 for materials or services supplied in the prior fiscal 
year. 

19. TAXES: Contractor shall be responsible for payment of all taxes including federal, state, and 
local taxes related to or arising out of Contractor’s performance of this Contract. Such taxes 
include but are not limited to federal and state income tax, social security tax, unemployment 
insurance taxes, transaction privilege taxes, use taxes, and any other taxes or business license 
fees as required.  



Form GS-1: Standard Terms and Conditions.  Revised December 17, 2014

Exception:  The City will pay any taxes which are specifically identified as a line item dollar 
amount in the Contractor’s bid, proposal, or quote, and which were considered and approved by 
the City as part of the Contract award process. In this event, taxes shall be identified as a 
separate line item in Contractor’s invoices.

20. FEDERAL EXCISE TAXES: The City is exempt from paying certain Federal Excise Taxes and 
will furnish an exemption certificate upon request.

21. FUEL CHARGES:  Contractor at its own expense is liable for all fuel costs related to 
performance. No fuel surcharges will be accepted or paid by City.

22. DISCOUNTS:  If the Contract provides for payment discounts, payment discounts will be 
computed from the later date of the following: (a) when correct invoice is received by the City; or 
(b) when acceptable materials and/or materials were received by City.  

23. AMOUNTS DUE TO THE CITY: Contractor must be current and remain current in all obligations 
due to the City during performance. Payments to Contractor may be offset by any delinquent 
amounts due to City or fees and charges owed to City under this Contract.

24. OFAC: No City payments may be made to any person in violation of Office of Foreign Assets 
Control regulations, 31 C.F.R. Part 501. 

SERVICES

25. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR:  Contractor shall be an independent contractor for purposes of 
all laws, including but not limited to the Fair Labor Standards Act, Federal Insurance Contribution 
Act, Social Security Act, Federal Unemployment Tax Act, Internal Revenue Code, Immigration 
and Naturalization Act; Arizona revenue and taxation, workers’ compensation, and unemployment 
insurance laws.

26. CONTROL: Contractor shall be responsible for the control of the work.

27. WORK SITE:  Contractor shall inspect the work site and notify the City in writing of any 
deficiencies or needs prior to commencing work.

28. SAFEGUARDING PROPERTY: Contractor shall responsible for any damage to real property of 
the City or adjacent property in performance of the work and safeguard the worksite.

29. QUALITY:  All work shall be of good quality and free of defects, performed in a diligent and 
professional manner.

30. ACCEPTANCE:  If work is rejected by the City due to noncompliance with the Contract, The City, 
after notifying Contractor in writing, may require Contractor to correct the deficiencies at 
Contractor’s expense, or cancel the work order and pay Contractor only for work properly 
performed.

31. WARRANTY:  Contractor warrants all work for a period of one (1) year following final acceptance 
by the City.  Upon receipt of written notice from the City, Contractor at its own expense shall 
promptly correct work rejected as defective or as failing to conform to the Contract, whether 
observed before or after acceptance, and whether or not fabricated, installed or completed by 
Contractor, and shall bear all costs of correction.  If Contractor does not correct deficiencies within 
a reasonable time specified in the written notice from the City, the City may perform the work and 
Contractor shall be liable for the costs. This one-year warranty is in addition to, and does not limit 



Form GS-1: Standard Terms and Conditions.  Revised December 17, 2014

Contractor’s other obligations herein. This warranty shall survive termination or expiration of the 
Contract.

INSPECTION, RECORDS, ADMINISTRATION

32. RECORDS: The City shall have the right to inspect and audit all Contractor books and records 
related to the Contract for up to five (5) years after completion of the Contract.  

33. RIGHT TO INSPECT BUSINESS:  The City shall have the right to inspect the place of business 
of the Contractor or its subcontractor during regular business hours at reasonable times, to the 
extent necessary to confirm Contract performance.

34. PUBLIC RECORDS:  This Contract and any related materials are a matter of public record and 
subject to disclosure pursuant to Arizona Public Records Law, A.R.S. § 39-121 et seq.  If Contractor 
has clearly marked its proprietary information as “confidential”, the City will endeavor to notify 
Contractor prior to release of such information. 

35. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION: Contractor will be required to participate in the City’s  Contract 
Administration Process.  Contractor will be closely monitored for contract compliance and will be 
required to promptly correct any deficiencies.

INDEMNIFICATION, INSURANCE

36. GENERAL INDEMNIFICATION:  Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, 
its council, boards and commissions, officers, employees from all losses, claims, suits, payments 
and judgments, demands, expenses, attorney’s fees or actions of any kind resulting from personal 
injury to any person, including employees, subcontractors or agents of Contractor or damages to 
any property arising or alleged to have arisen out of the negligent performance of the Contract, 
except any such injury or damages arising out of the sole negligence of the City, its officers, 
agents or employees. This indemnification provision shall survive termination or expiration of the 
Contract.  This indemnification clause shall not apply, if a different indemnification clause is 
included in the City’s Specific Terms and Conditions. 

37. INSURANCE:  Contractor shall maintain all insurance coverage required by the City, including 
public liability and worker’s compensation.  

38. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY INDEMNIFICATION: Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the City against any liability, including costs and expenses, for infringement of any 
patent, trademark or copyright or other proprietary rights of any third parties arising out of contract 
performance or use by the City of materials furnished or work performed under this Contract. 
Contractor shall promptly assume full responsibility for the defense of any suit or proceeding 
which is, has been, or may be brought against the City and its agents for alleged infringement, or 
alleged unfair competition resulting from similarity in design, trademark or appearance of goods, 
and indemnify the City against any and all expenses, losses, royalties, profits and damages, 
attorneys fees and costs resulting from such proceedings or settlement thereof.  This 
indemnification shall survive termination or expiration of the Contract.  

CONTRACT CHANGES



Form GS-1: Standard Terms and Conditions.  Revised December 17, 2014

39. PRICE INCREASES: Except as expressly provided for in the Contract, no price increases will be 
approved.

40. COMPLETE AGREEMENT:  The Contract is intended to be the complete and final agreement of 
the parties.  

41. AMENDMENTS: This Contract may be amended by written agreement of the parties.

42. SEVERABILITY:  If any term or provision of this Contract is found by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be illegal or unenforceable, then such term or provision is deemed deleted, and the 
remainder of this Contract shall remain in full force and effect.

43. NO WAIVER:  Each party has the right insist upon strict performance of the Contract, and the 
prior failure of a party to insist upon strict performance, or a delay in any exercise of any right or 
remedy, or acceptance of materials or services, shall not be deemed a waiver of any right to insist 
upon strict performance. 

44. ASSIGNMENT:  This Contract may be assigned by Contractor with prior written consent of the 
City, which will not be unreasonably withheld.  Any assignment without such consent shall be null 
and void.  Unless expressly provided for in a separately executed Consent to Assignment, no 
assignment shall relieve Contractor (Assignor) from any of its obligations and liabilities under the 
Contract with respect to City. The Purchasing Director shall have authority to consent to an 
assignment on behalf of City.

45. BINDING EFFECT: This Contract shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
and their successors and assigns.

EMPLOYEES AND SUBCONTRACTORS

46. SUBCONTRACTING:  Contractor may subcontract work in whole or in part with the City’s 
advance written consent.  City reserves the right to withhold consent if subcontractor is deemed 
irresponsible and/or subcontracting may negatively affect performance. All subcontracts shall 
comply with the underlying Contract. Contractor is responsible for Contract performance whether 
or not subcontractors are used. 

47.  NONDISCRIMINATION: Contractor shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment or person to whom it provides services because of race, color, religion, sex, national 
origin, disability, genetic information, veteran’s status, pregnancy, familial status and represents 
and warrants that it complies with all applicable federal, state and local laws and executive orders 
regarding employment.  In addition any Contractor located within City of Flagstaff limits shall 
comply with the City Code, Chapter 14-02Civil Rights which also prohibits discrimination based on 
sexual orientation, or  gender identity or expression.

48. DRUG FREE WORKPLACE:  The City has adopted a Drug Free Workplace policy for itself and 
those doing business with the City to ensure the safety and health of all persons working on City 
contracts and projects.  Contractor personnel shall abstain from use or possession of illegal drugs 
while engaged in performance of this Contract.

49. IMMIGRATION LAWS: Pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-4401, Contractor hereby warrants to the City 
that the Contractor and each of its subcontractors will comply with, and are contractually obligated 
to comply with, all State and Federal Immigration laws and regulations that relate to its employees 



Form GS-1: Standard Terms and Conditions.  Revised December 17, 2014

and A.R.S. § 23-214(A) (hereinafter “Contractor Immigration Warranty”). A breach of the 
Contractor Immigration Warranty shall constitute a material breach of this Contract and shall 
subject the Contractor to penalties up to and including termination of this Contract at the sole 
discretion of the City.  The City retains the legal right to inspect the papers of any Contractor or 
subcontractor employee who works on this Contract to ensure compliance with the Contractor 
Immigration Warranty.  Contractor agrees to assist the City in regard to any such inspections. The 
City may, at its sole discretion, conduct random verification of the employment records of the 
Contractor and any subcontractors to ensure compliance with Contractor’s Immigration Warranty.  
Contractor agrees to assist the City in regard to any random verification performed.  Neither 
Contractor nor any subcontractor shall be deemed to have materially breached the Contractor 
Immigration Warranty if Contractor or subcontractor if Contractor or subcontractor establishes that 
it has complied with the employment verification provisions prescribed by sections 274A and 274B 
of the Federal Immigration and Nationality Act and the E-verify requirements prescribed by A.R.S. 
§ 23-214(A).

DEFAULT AND TERMINATION

50. TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT: Prior to terminating this Contract for a material breach, the non-
defaulting party shall give the defaulting party written notice and reasonable opportunity to cure 
the default, not to exceed thirty (30) days unless a longer period of time is granted by the non-
defaulting party in writing.  In the event the breach is not timely cured, or in the event of a series of 
repeated breaches the non-defaulting party may elect to terminate Contract by written notice to 
Contractor, which shall be effective upon receipt.  In the event of default, the parties may execute 
all remedies available at law in addition Contract remedies provided for herein.

51. CITY REMEDIES: In the event of Contractor’s default, City may obtain required materials and/or 
services from a substitute contractor, and Contractor shall be liable to the City to pay for the costs 
of such substitute service.  City may deduct or offset the cost of substitute service from any 
balance due to Contractor, and/or seek recovery of the costs of substitute service against  any 
performance security, and/or collect any liquidated damages provided for in the Contract. 
Remedies herein are not exclusive.  

52. CONTRACTOR REMEDIES:  In the event of City’s default, Contractor may pursue all remedies 
available at law, except as provided for herein.

53. SPECIAL DAMAGES:  In the event of default, neither party shall be liable for incidental, special, 
or consequential damages. 

54. TERMINATION FOR NONAPPROPRIATION OF FUNDS: The City may terminate all or a 
portion of this Contract due to budget constraints and non-appropriation of funds for the following 
fiscal year, without penalty or liability to Contractor.  

55. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE: Unless expressly provided for otherwise in the Contract, 
this Contract may be terminated in whole or part by the City for convenience upon thirty (30) days 
written notice, without further penalty or liability to Contractor. If this Contract is terminated, City 
shall be liable only for payment for satisfactory materials and/or services received and accepted 
by City before the effective date of termination. 

56. TERMINATION DUE TO INSOLVENCY: If Contractor becomes a debtor in a bankruptcy 
proceeding, or a reorganization, dissolution or liquidation proceeding, or if a trustee or receiver is 
appointed over all or a substantial portion of the property of Contractor under federal bankruptcy 



Form GS-1: Standard Terms and Conditions.  Revised December 17, 2014

law or any state insolvency law, Contractor shall immediately provide the City with a written notice 
thereof. The City may terminate this Contract, and Contractor is deemed in default, at any time if 
the Contractor becomes insolvent, or is a party to any voluntary bankruptcy or receivership 
proceeding, makes an assignment for a creditor, or there is any similar action that affects 
Contractor’s ability to perform under the Contract. 

57. PAYMENT UPON TERMINATION: Upon termination of this Contract, City will pay Contractor for 
satisfactory performance up until the effective date of termination.  City shall make final payment 
within thirty (30) days from receipt of the Contractor’s final invoice. 

58. CANCELLATION FOR GRATUITIES: The City may cancel this Contract at any time, without 
penalty or further liability to Contractor, if City determines that Contractor has given or offered to 
give any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, trip, favor, 
or service to a public servant (“Gratuities”) in connection with award or performance of the 
Contract. 

59. CANCELLATION FOR CONFLICT OF INTEREST (A.R.S. § 38-511): The City may cancel this 
Contract within three (3) years after its execution, without penalty or further liability to Contractor.

MISCELLANEOUS

60. ADVERTISING:  Contractor shall not advertise or publish information concerning its Contract 
with City, without the prior written consent of the City.

61. NOTICES: All notices given pursuant to this Contract shall be delivered at the addresses as 
specified in the Contract, or updated by Notice to the other party. Notices may be: (a) personally 
delivered, with receipt effective upon personal delivery; (b) sent via certified mail, postage 
prepaid, with receipt deemed effective four (4) days after being sent; (c) or sent by overnight 
courier, with receipt deemed effective two (2) days after being sent Notice may be sent by email 
as a secondary form of notice.  

62. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES: This Contract is intended for the exclusive benefit of the 
parties.  Nothing herein is intended to create any rights or responsibilities to third parties.

63. GOVERNING LAW: This Contract shall be construed in accordance with the laws of Arizona.

64. FORUM: In the event of litigation relating to this Contract, any action at law or in equity shall be 
filed in Coconino County, Arizona.

65. ATTORNEYS FEES:  If any action at law or in equity is necessary to enforce the terms of this 
Contract, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys fees, costs, 
professional fees and expenses.



  9. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Brandi Suda, Finance Director

Co-Submitter: Damian Gallegos

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Audit Services Contract with Clifton Larson Allen.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve contract with Clifton Larson Allen for Professional Audit Services to perform annual audits
of the City's financial records for the years ended June 30, 2016 through June 30, 2019 at the
annual fees as follows:

- June 30, 2016:  $77,910
- June 30, 2017:  $80,410
- June 30, 2018:  $81,560
- June 30, 2019:  $82,300

Executive Summary:
An annual audit is statutorily required by ARS 9-481. In addition, City Charter (Article VI, Section 5)
requires that the City perform an annual financial audit each year. Furthermore, there is a Federal
requirement to complete a Single Audit report if a non-federal entity expends $750,000 of more in federal
financial assistance, which the City has received.

Our contract with Eide Bailly expired with the completion of the audit for the year ending June 30, 2015. 
No further extensions are available. Per the procurement process, Clifton Larson Allen is not only the
highest scoring firm, it also has the best pricing of all three of the short listed firms.

Financial Impact:
The proposal FY2017 budget is $73,240 for audit services fees in the General Fund in account
001-09-402-1314-1-4203 and an additional $8,200 in the Flagstaff Housing Authority accounts for total of
$81,440.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Financial audit services does not fit in a specific Council or Regional Plan goal, but allows for overall
support of the organization.  This item is required by City Charter.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None.



Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the contract with Clifton Larson Allen
2) Choose one of the other five proposals submitted for the RFP.  Cons-potential higher costs associated
with the contract and risk of a formal protest from Clifton Larson Allen if we choose one of the other lower
scoring proposals.
3) Do not approve any contract and conduct a new RFP process.  Cons-Potential delay in audit service
for FY2016.

Background/History:
An annual audit is statutorily required by ARS 9-481. In addition, the City is required to perform an
independent  annual financial audit per City Charter Article VI, Section 5 which states:

"Prior to the end of each fiscal year, the Council shall designate an independent Certified Public
Accountant, who, as of the end of the fiscal year, shall make up an audit of accounts and other evidence
of financial transactions of the City government, and shall submit a long-form report, including
recommendations concerning policy and fiscal procedures, to the Council, and to the City Manager. Such
accountant shall have no personal interest, direct or indirect, in the fiscal affairs of the City government or
of any of its officers. The accountant shall, within specifications approved by the Council, post-audit the
books and documents kept by the City, and any separate or subordinate accounts kept by any other
office, department, or agency of the City government."

In addition to financial audit, the City is Federally required to complete a Single Audit based on Federal
standards.  The City meets this requirement because it expends more than $750,000 in federal financial
assistance.

The City's Finance Section invited CPA firms to submit a written proposal in response to Request for
Proposals (RFP) to provide audit services to perform annual audits of the City's financial records.

The City is requiring CPA firms to perform an annual audit in accordance with:
1.   Generally accepted auditing standards set forth by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA), and the standards for financial audits set forth by the U. S. Government
Accountability Office's (GAO) Government Auditing Standards (GAS).
2.   The  provisions  of  the  Single  Audit  Act  of 1984  and  subsequent  amendments, and  the
provisions  of  U.S. Office  of  Management  and  Budget  (OMB) Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) Title 2, Part 200, Subpart F - Audit Requirements. 
3.   United States   Housing and   Urban   Development (HUD)   Uniform Financial Reporting
Standards (UFRS) Rule implementing requirements of United States 24 CFR part 5, subpart H.
4.   State of Arizona Uniform Expenditure Reporting System (UERS) requirements mandated by
A.R.S. §41-1279.07, with guidelines set forth by the Arizona Auditor General.
5.   State of Arizona Highway User Revenue Fund (HURF) Expenditure requirements pursuant to
A.R.S. §9-481.
6.  State of Arizona Department of Environmental Quality Local Government Financial Test, 40CFR
258.74. 
7.   Minimum Accounting Standards for Arizona Courts (Part III, Guide for External Review by
Auditors) every three years beginning with fiscal year ending June 30, 2016.
8.   Federal Aviation Administration Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies.

Key Considerations:
The City's Purchasing Section conducted a formal competitive Request for Proposals (RFP) for



The City's Purchasing Section conducted a formal competitive Request for Proposals (RFP) for
solicitation number 2016-42, which was advertised on January 24, 2016. The RFP closed as of 3:00pm
February 12, 2016.  There were a total of seven (7) proposal responses.  Based on the scoring results, a
decision was made to "short-list" and advance the three (3) highest scoring Proposers (Clifton Larson
Allen, Eide Bailly and Heinfeld Meech) to phase two (2) of the RFP process, which involved interview
questions/presentations.  Clifton Larson Allen aggregate score, which included Phase One (1)--written
proposal response and phase two (2)--interview questions/presentation, was the highest scoring
Proposer with 747 total points out of 840 total possible points and the evaluation team which consisted of
6 members (4 City Employees and 2 Audit Committee members) determined Clifton Larson Allen to be
the most responsible and responsive Proposer whose offer is the most satisfactory and advantageous to
the City based on the evaluation criteria outlined in the RFP document as follows:

Phase 1

1. Firm Expertise and Key Staff Experience (35 Points)
2. Specific Audit Approach (35 Points)
3. Pricing  (20 Points)
4. Other Services, Exceptions and References (10 Points)

Phase 2

1.  Interview Questions/Presentations (40 Points)

Expanded Financial Considerations:

Community Benefits and Considerations:

Community Involvement:
Involve:  There were two members of the community involved in the RFP for Audit Services.  They are
also members of our Audit Committee.

Inform

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
 Options would be to approve contract as it stands or not approve it. 
Alternatives would be to go with one of the other six firms.
Final alternative would be to not approve highest scoring firm and begin another new RFP process to
select another firm which would cause delays for the current audit year. 

Attachments:  Scoring Tabulation
Copy of Contract



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
PURCHASING DIVISION
RFP 2016-42-PROFESSIONAL AUDIT SERVICES

SCORING TABULATION
Evaluation Criteria Ranking

Firm Expertise and Key Staff Experience (35 points)
Evaluator #1 29 26 22 29 17 23 16
Evaluator #2 35 34 22 30 22 25 32
Evaluator #3 35 30 30 28 30 26 25
Evaluator #4 28 28 25 28 28 25 33
Evaluator #5 32 25 30 28 10 28 20
Evaluator #6 25 33 25 34 15 25 15
Total Score 184 176 154 177 122 152 141
Specific Audit Approach (35 points)

Evaluator #1 18 30 20 30 15 17 23
Evaluator #2 34 34 22 28 23 25 32
Evaluator #3 35 35 35 33 33 35 30
Evaluator #4 30 28 7 30 30 26 6
Evaluator #5 35 35 25 35 15 35 20
Evaluator #6 30 35 18 30 25 20 25
Total Score 182 197 127 186 141 158 136
Pricing (20 points)

Evaluator #1 14 10 8 14 12 18 20
Evaluator #2 19 18 15 15 15 15 16
Evaluator #3 17 15 14 18 16 19 20
Evaluator #4 19 17 19 19 19 20 20
Evaluator #5 17 15 14 18 16 19 20
Evaluator #6 15 18 18 15 15 15 12
Total Score 101 93 88 99 93 106 108
Other Service, Exceptions and References (10 points)

Evaluator #1 7 7 5 5 0 6 4
Evaluator #2 8 8 4 6 0 5 7
Evaluator #3 10 10 10 10 10 10 8
Evaluator #4 7 10 8 7 7 8 6
Evaluator #5 10 10 7 7 0 5 5
Evaluator #6 5 5 5 7 5 7 7
Total Score 47 50 39 42 22 41 37
Team Presentation (20 points)

Evaluator #1 18 15 16
Evaluator #2 20 18 15
Evaluator #3 20 18 19
Evaluator #4 20 18 19
Evaluator #5 20 20 17
Evaluator #6 20 10 15
Total Score 118 99 0 101 0 0 0
Evaluation Questions (20 points)

Evaluator #1 17 15 16
Evaluator #2 20 18 15
Evaluator #3 20 18 19
Evaluator #4 20 18 18
Evaluator #5 18 20 18
Evaluator #6 20 10 15
Total Score 115 99 0 101 0 0 0

747 714 408 706 378 457 422

Total Points Possible = 840 agregate

Hinton 

Burdick

Vavrinek 
Trine 
Day

Clifton 
Larson 
Allen

Eide Bailly Fester and 

Chapman

Heinfeld Meech Henry & 

Horne



CONTRACT FOR PROFESSIONAL AUDIT SERVICES
Contract No. 2016-42

This Contract is entered into this _____ day of April, 2016 by and between the City of Flagstaff, a 
political subdivision of the State or Arizona (“City”), and Clifton Larson Allen LLP at 20 East Thomas 
Road Suite 2300, Phoenix, AZ 85012.

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff desires to receive and Contractor is able to provide professional 
services;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual promises contained herein, the City and Contractor 
(the “parties”) agree as follows:

SERVICES

1. Scope of Work: Contractor shall provide the professional services generally described as follows:

PROFESSIONAL AUDIT SERVICES

and as more specifically described in the scope of work attached hereto as Exhibit A.

2. Schedule of Services: Contractor shall perform all work per the schedule set forth in Exhibit A.

3. Standard Terms and Conditions: The City of Flagstaff Standard Terms and Conditions, attached 
hereto as are hereby incorporated by reference by reference and shall apply to performance of this 
Contract, except to the extent modified in Exhibit A.

CITY RESPONSIBILITIES

4. City Representative: The City Representative is Damian Gallegos, Senior Procurement Specialist.
All communications to the City shall be through the City Representative.  City Representative is 
responsible for bringing any request for a contract amendment or price adjustment to the attention 
of the City Buyer.

5. City Cooperation: City will cooperate with Contractor by placing at its disposal all available 
information concerning the City, City property, or the City project reasonably necessary for 
Contractor’s performance of this Contract.

CONTRACT TERM

6. Contract Term: The Contract shall be effective as of the date signed by both parties. Performance 
shall commence within ten (10) days from the City’s issuance of the Notice to Proceed, and shall be 
completed on or before______________, 2016 consistent with the Schedule of Services. 

7. Renewal: The initial term of this contract shall be four (4) years and may be renewed for up to three 
(3) additional one (1) year terms by mutual written consent of the parties. The City Manager or his 
designee (the Purchasing Director) shall have authority to approve renewal on behalf of the City.

8. Termination: This Contract may be terminated pursuant to the Standard Terms and Conditions 
attached hereto.



PAYMENT

9. Compensation: Contractor shall be paid for satisfactory performance of the work, in accordance 
with the Compensation Schedule attached hereto as part of Exhibit A.

10. Price Adjustment: If price adjustments are permitted (see Exhibit A), any price adjustment must be 
approved by the City in writing as a formal Contract Amendment.  The City Council must approve 
the price adjustment if the annual contract price exceeds $50,000; otherwise the City Manager or 
his designee (the Purchasing Director) shall have authority to approve a price adjustment on behalf 
of the City.

DATA AND RECORDS

11. City Ownership of Document and Data: Any original documents prepared or collected by 
Contractor in performance of this Contract such as models, samples, reports, test plans, survey 
results, graphics, tables, charts, plans, maps, specifications, surveys, computations and other data 
shall be the property of City (“City’s work product”), unless otherwise agreed by the parties in 
writing.  Contractor agrees that all materials prepared under this Contract are “works for hire” within 
the meaning of the copyright laws of the United States and hereby assigns to the City all rights and 
interests Contractor may have in the materials it prepares under this Contract, including any right to 
derivative use of the material. 

12. Re-Use. City may use City’s work product without further compensation to Contractor; provided, 
however, City’s reuse without written verification or adaption by Contractor for purposes other than 
contemplated herein is at City’s sole risk and without liability to Contractor. Contractor shall not 
engage in any conflict of interest nor appropriate any portion of City’s work product for the benefit of 
Contractor or any third parties without City’s prior written consent.

13. Delivery of Document and Data: Upon termination of this Contract in whole or part, or upon 
expiration if not previously terminated, Contractor shall immediately deliver to City copies all of
City’s work product and any other documents and data accumulated by Contractor in performance 
of this Contract, whether complete or in process.  

INSURANCE

14. Insurance: Contractor shall meet insurance requirements of the City, set forth in Exhibit B.

MISCELLANEOUS

15. Notice: Any notice concerning this Contract shall be in writing and sent by certified mail and email 
as follows:



To the City: To Contractor:

Damian Gallegos
City of Flagstaff
211 W.  Aspen
Flagstaff, Arizona  86001
dgallegos@flagstaffaz.gov

Dennis Osuch
Clifton Larson Allen LLP
20 East Thomas Road Suite 2300
Phoenix, AZ 85012

With a copy to:

Damian Gallegos

With a copy to:

Dennis Osuch

16. Authority.  Each party warrants that it has authority to enter into this Contract and perform its 
obligations hereunder, and that it has taken all actions necessary to enter into this Contract.

CONTRACTOR

____________________________________

Print name:___________________________

Title:________________________________

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

____________________________________

Print name:___________________________

Title:________________________________

Attest:

____________________________________
City Clerk

Approved as to form:

____________________________________
City Attorney’s Office

Notice to Proceed issued:__________________, 2016



  9. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Patrick Brown, Senior Procurement Specialist

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Citywide Professional On-call Consulting Services:
Architecture, Landscape Architecture, Engineering, Geotechnical and Survey.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Approve the fifteen (15) On-Call Professional Services contracts for the following firms and
disciplines:

Architecture: Johnson Walzer Associates and Loven Contracting
Landscape Architecture: The WLB Group and Kimley-Horn
Engineering: Civil Design Engineers, Peak Engineering, Plateau Engineering, Shephard
Wesnitzer Inc., Turner Engineering, The WLB Group and Woodson Engineering
Geotechnical: Speedie and Associates, and Western Technologies
Survey: Shephard Wesnitzer Inc. and Woodson Engineering
 

2) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

Executive Summary:
The On-call consulting services contracts allow for continued consolidation of the design and construction
delivery schedules of City projects. Due to annual escalation in labor and material costs, compression of
delivery schedules can play an important role in managing limited budgets.

The term of the contracts for all disciplines is for three (3) consecutive years, with two (2) additional one
year optional renewals thereafter.

Financial Impact:
No immediate financial impact. Costs will be expended from budgets already approved and allocated to
individual projects by Council. Each contractor's pricing schedule is on file with the Purchasing Division
and will be incorporated as part of each contractor's contract.  Pricing varies among contractors.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
3) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Yes.



Yes.
In December 2010, council approved twenty-two (22) Professional On-Call Services contracts for the
same disciplines.  

Options and Alternatives:
Approve the contracts with the firms in all disciplines as presented.1.
Approve a smaller number of contracts overall or by discipline.2.
Reject the On-Call Professional Services contracts, and solicit for individual contracts on an as
needed basis.

3.

Background/History:
 The City of Flagstaff manages a significant number of capital projects, which span the spectrum of size
and complexity from small improvement projects to multi-million dollar infrastructure projects. 
 
Over the past 5 years, Capital Improvements, Utilities, Flagstaff Metropolitan Planning Organization, and
Public Works have awarded over thirty (30) task orders utilizing these contracts.  Through the use of
these contracts, all City departments were able to manage multi-project and work programs in a more
time efficient manner.  
 
While the use of the previous Professional On-Call Services contracts proved to be a valuable tool, not
all contracts were fully utilized. As a result, the number of contracts to be awarded in this solicitation was
scaled back from 22 to 15 for better utilization.
 
In September 2015, the City solicited a Requests for Qualifications (RSOQ) for On-Call Professional
Consultant Services in five (5) discipline areas, Architecture; Landscape Architecture; Engineering;
Geotechnical; and Surveying.  On November 4, 2015, the City received a total of 59 statements from 53
respondents. An evaluation committee was formed consisting of six (6) members, including two
members outside of City employment, all having experience working in or with these professional
services. Due to the extremely large response, the committee spent four and a half (4-1/2) months, early
November 2015 through the late March 2016, evaluating all proposals. 

Key Considerations:
On-Call Professional Service Contracts save time and money for all parties involved.  The consultants
are relieved of many hours of proposal preparation and interview time, along with related expenses.  The
City saves the cost of multiple legal advertisements, and the staff time and related expenses involved in
individually advertising and selecting consultants for each separate project.  On-Call Service Contracts
are specifically addressed and authorized by the Arizona Revised Statues and they adhere to current City
of Flagstaff procurement standards.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
Scope of Work, schedules, and task-specific fee proposals for Task Order amendments will be
formulated on an as needed basis. Task Order amendments associated with these contracts will be
charged directly to specific projects and their individual budgets.  All Task Order amendments will be
reviewed and approved by Division and/or Department heads prior to execution.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
All projects undertaken by the City have a direct or indirect impact on the quality of life enjoyed by the
citizens of Flagstaff.  Utilization of On-Call Consultants offers the primary advantage of expedited project
delivery that will bring the project to fruition for the community's benefit faster and with less total project
costs.



Community Involvement:
N/A

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
Approve the contracts with the firms in all disciplines as presented. This will allow staff to continue
delivering projects in a more  timely and efficient manner.
Approve a smaller number of contracts overall or by discipline. This will limit the number of projects
staff will be able to deliver in a timely and efficient manner.
Reject the On-Call Professional Services contracts, and solicit for individual contracts on an as
needed basis. This will result in staff adding more time to the delivery of projects.

Attachments:  Evaluation Scores
On-Call Services Contract



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF RSOQ #2016-12

On-Call Professional Services

EVALUATION SUMMARY

Architecture (2) Interviewed

Total Score Possible (TSP): 660

A
P

M
I

B
W

S

D
 &

 F
 D

e
sig

n

D
W

L

E
M

C
2

G
L

H
N

H
D

A

J
W

A

J
o

n
e
s

L
E

A

L
o

v
e
n

M
3

M
ic

h
a

e
l B

a
k

e
r

P
W

M
A

R
B

A

R
e
e
c
e

R
. B

r
o

w
n

 A
r
c
h

W
S

M TSP: 510

H
D

A

L
o

v
e
n

520 533 530 518 542 522 556 597 532 498 558 507 506 537 462 527 499 509 382 485

Landscape Architecture (2)

Total Score Possible (TSP): 660

K
im

le
y

-H
o

r
n

M
c
G

a
n

n

N
o

r
r
is D

e
sig

n

O
ta

k

T
h

e
 W

L
B

 G
r
o

u
p

583 551 568 569 600

Engineering (7)

Total Score Possible (TSP): 660

A
p

p
lie

d
 E

n
g

B
r
o

w
n

 &
 C

a
ld

w
e
ll

C
a

r
o

llo

C
iv

e
l D

e
sig

n
 E

n
g

C
iv

ilte
c

G
H

D

G
L

H
N

H
y

d
r
o

 G
e
o

 C
h

e
m

J
E

 F
u

lle
r

K
im

le
y

-H
o

r
n

M
ic

h
a

e
l B

a
k

e
r

N
a

tu
r
a

l C
h

a
n

n
e
ls

N
C

S

N
fr

a

P
e
a

k
 E

n
g

P
E

C

P
la

te
a

u
 E

n
g

S
h

e
p

h
a

r
d

 W
e
sn

itz
e
r

T
a

ta
 &

 H
o

w
a

r
d

T
e
tr

a
 T

e
c
h

T
u

r
n

e
r
 E

n
g

W
e
stla

n
d

T
h

e
 W

L
B

 G
r
o

u
p

W
o

o
d

so
n

 E
n

g

W
S

P
 P

a
r
so

n
s

Y
S

M
A

362 502 496 576 472 509 441 384 521 516 474 426 421 447 599 425 559 566 477 503 538 507 582 592 504 434

Geotechnical (2)

Total Score Possible (TSP): 660

A
T

L

N
in

y
o

 &
 M

o
o

r
e

S
p

e
e
d

ie
 &

 A
sso

c

W
e
ste

r
n

 T
e
c
h

554 560 610 569

Survey (2)

Total Score Possible (TSP): 660

A
Z

 S
u

r
v

e
y

in
g

C
iv

il D
e
sig

n
 E

n
g

N
o

r
th

la
n

d

S
h

e
p

h
a

r
d

 W
e
sn

itz
e
r

T
h

e
 W

L
B

 G
r
o

u
p

W
o

o
d

so
n

 E
n

g

561 542 533 567 556 592



CONTRACT FOR  

ON-CALL PROFESSIONAL SERVICES: [DISCIPLINE] 

Contract No. 2016-12 
 
This Contract is entered into this _____ day of __________, 20___ by and between the City of 
Flagstaff, a political subdivision of the State or Arizona (“City”), and ______________, [OPTION: 
an Arizona limited liability company] (“Contractor"). 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff desires to receive and Contractor is able to provide professional 
services; 
   
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual promises contained herein, the City and 
Contractor (the “parties”) agree as follows: 
 
SERVICES 
 
1. Scope of Work:  Contractor shall provide the professional services generally described as 

follows: 
 
   ON-CALL PROFESSIONAL SERVICES: [DISCIPLINE] 

 
and as more specifically described in the scope of work attached hereto as Exhibit A.   

 
2. Schedule of Services:  Contractor shall perform all work per the schedule set forth in Exhibit A.   
 
3. Standard Terms and Conditions: The City of Flagstaff Standard Terms and Conditions, attached 

hereto as Exhibit B are hereby incorporated by reference by reference and shall apply to 
performance of this Contract, except to the extent modified in Exhibit A.   

 
4. Key Personnel/Subcontractors:  Contractor’s Key Personnel, Subcontractors (if any), and 

contact information are designated in Exhibit A.  Key Personnel are those employees whose 
license number and signature will be placed on key documents and those employees who have 
significant responsibilities for completion of the services. The City Representative for this 
contract has the right to approve any proposed substitution of Key Personnel or Subcontractors. 

 
CITY RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
5. City Representative:  The City Representative is Patrick Brown, C.P.M., Senior Procurement 

Specialist or his/her designee.  All communications to the City shall be through the City 
Representative.  City Representative is responsible for bringing any request for a contract 
amendment or price adjustment to the attention of the City Buyer. 

 
6. City Cooperation:  City will cooperate with Contractor by placing at its disposal all available 

information concerning the City, City property, or the City project reasonably necessary for 
Contractor’s performance of this Contract. 

 
CONTRACT TERM 
 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 2 OF 15    

7. Contract Term:  The Contract shall be effective as of the date signed by both parties. 
Performance shall commence within ten (10) days from the City’s issuance of the Notice to 
Proceed, and shall be in force for an initial term of three (3) consecutive years.  

 
8. Renewal: This Contract may be renewed for up to two (2) additional one (1) year terms by 

mutual written consent of the parties. The City Manager or his designee (the Purchasing 
Director) shall have authority to approve renewal on behalf of the City. 

 
9. Termination:  This Contract may be terminated pursuant to the Standard Terms and Conditions 

attached hereto. 
 
PAYMENT 
 
10. Compensation:  Contractor shall be paid for satisfactory performance of the work, in accordance 

with the Compensation Schedule attached hereto as part of Exhibit A.   
 
11. Price Adjustment:  If price adjustments are permitted (see Exhibit A), any price adjustment must 

be approved by the City in writing as a formal Contract Amendment.  The City Council must 
approve the price adjustment if the annual contract price exceeds $50,000; otherwise the City 
Manager or his designee (the Purchasing Director) shall have authority to approve a price 
adjustment on behalf of the City. 

 
DATA AND RECORDS 
 
12. City Ownership of Document and Data:  Any original documents prepared or collected by 

Contractor in performance of this Contract such as models, samples, reports, test plans, survey 
results, graphics, tables, charts, plans, maps, specifications, surveys, computations and other 
data shall be the property of City (“City’s work product”), unless otherwise agreed by the 
parties in writing.  Contractor agrees that all materials prepared under this Contract are “works 
for hire” within the meaning of the copyright laws of the United States and hereby assigns to the 
City all rights and interests Contractor may have in the materials it prepares under this Contract, 
including any right to derivative use of the material.  

 
13. Re-Use.  City may use City’s work product without further compensation to Contractor; 

provided, however, City’s reuse without written verification or adaption by Contractor for 
purposes other than contemplated herein is at City’s sole risk and without liability to Contractor.  
Contractor shall not engage in any conflict of interest nor appropriate any portion of City’s work 
product for the benefit of Contractor or any third parties without City’s prior written consent. 

 
14. Delivery of Document and Data:  Upon termination of this Contract in whole or part, or upon 

expiration if not previously terminated, Contractor shall immediately deliver to City copies all 
of City’s work product and any other documents and data accumulated by Contractor in 
performance of this Contract, whether complete or in process.   

 
INSURANCE 
 
15. Insurance:  Contractor shall meet insurance requirements of the City, set forth in Exhibit C.  
 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 3 OF 15    

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
16. Cooperative Use Of Contract:  This Agreement resulting from the RSOQ may be extended for 

use by the members of the Flagstaff Alliance for the Second Century.  An Intergovernmental 
Agreement (IGA) has been executed between the City, Coconino County Community College 
District, Northern Arizona University, Coconino County and Flagstaff Unified School District.  
The Agreement may also be extended to other municipalities and government agencies of the 
state. Any such usage by other municipalities and government agencies must be in accordance 
with the ordinance, charter and/or rules and regulations of the respective political entity.  Any 
public agencies not identified within this Agreement who wish to cooperatively use the contract 
are subject to the approval of Vendor. 

 
The City is also a member of S.A.V.E. (Strategic Alliance for Volume Expenditures), which 
consists of numerous municipalities, counties, universities, colleges, schools and other Arizona 
State agencies.  These cooperatives are achieved through Intergovernmental Agreements (IGA) 
in accordance with provisions allowed by A.R.S. §11-952 and §41-2632.  The IGAs permit 
purchases of material, equipment and services from Vendors at the prices, terms and conditions 
contained in contracts originated between any and all of these agencies and the Vendor(s) 
contract, as awarded. 

 
17. Notice:  Any notice concerning this Contract shall be in writing and sent by certified mail and 

email as follows: 
 

 
To the City: 
 

To Contractor: 

Patrick Brown, C.P.M. 
Senior Procurement Specialist 
City of Flagstaff 
211 W.  Aspen 
Flagstaff, Arizona  86001 
pbrown@flagstaffaz.gov 

 

 
With a copy to: 
 
 
 

 
With a copy to: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 4 OF 15    

18. Authority:  Each party warrants that it has authority to enter into this Contract and perform its 
obligations hereunder, and that it has taken all actions necessary to enter into this Contract. 

 
(Please sign in blue ink. Submit original signatures – photocopies not accepted)  
 
CONTRACTOR 
 
____________________________________ 
 
Print name:___________________________ 
 
Title:________________________________ 
 
 
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
 
____________________________________ 
 
Print name:___________________________ 
 
Title:________________________________ 
 
 
Attest: 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
____________________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 

 
Notice to Proceed issued:__________________, 20___ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 5 OF 15    

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF WORK 

 
[ATTACH:  Solicitation Scope of Work/Contractor’s Proposal (with any modifications required by 
City) 
 
Price Schedule 
  
Schedule of Services 
 
Key Personnel 
 
Subcontractors] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 6 OF 15    

EXHIBIT B 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

IN GENERAL 
 
1. NOTICE TO PROCEED:   Contractor shall not commence performance until after City has 

issued a Notice to Proceed. 
 
2. LICENSES AND PERMITS:  Contractor its expense shall maintain current federal, state, and 

local licenses, permits and approvals required for performance of the Contract, and provide 
copies to City upon request. 

 
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS:  Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state and 

local laws, regulations, standards, codes and ordinances in performance of this Contract. 
 
4. NON-EXCLUSIVE:  Unless expressly provided otherwise in the Contract, this Contract is 

non-exclusive and the City reserves the right to contract with others for materials or services.  
 
5. SAMPLES:  Any sample submitted to the City by the Contractor and relied upon by City as 

representative of quality and conformity, shall constitute an express warranty that all 
materials and/or service to be provided to City shall be of the same quality and conformity. 

   
MATERIALS 
 
6. PURCHASE ORDERS:  The City will issue a purchase order for the materials covered by the 

Contract, and such order will reference the Contract number. 
 
7. QUALITY:  Contractor warrants that all materials supplied under this Contract will be new 

and free from defects in material or workmanship.  The materials will conform to any 
statements made on the containers or labels or advertisements for the materials, and will be 
safe and appropriate for use as normally used.  City’s inspection, testing, acceptance or use 
of materials shall not serve to waive these quality requirements.  This warranty shall survive 
termination or expiration of the Contract. 

 
8. ACCEPTANCE:  All materials and services provided by Contract are subject to final 

inspection and acceptance by the City.  Materials and services failing to conform to the 
Contract specifications may be rejected in whole or part.  If rejected, Contractor is 
responsible for all costs associated arising from rejection.  

 
9. MANUFACTURER’S WARRANTIES:  Contractor shall deliver all Manufacturer’s Warranties 

to City upon City’s acceptance of the materials. 
 
10. PACKING AND SHIPPING:  Contractor shall be responsible for industry standard packing 

which conforms to requirements of carrier’s tariff and ICC regulations.  Containers shall be 
clearly marked as to lot number, destination, address and purchase order number.  All 
shipments shall be F.O.B.  Destination, City of Flagstaff, 211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, 
Arizona 86001, unless otherwise specified by the City.  C.O.D.  shipments will not be 
accepted. 

 
11. TITLE AND RISK OF LOSS:  The title and risk of loss of material shall not pass to the City 

until the City actually receives the material at the point of delivery, and the City has 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 7 OF 15    

completed inspection and has accepted the material, unless the City has expressly provided 
otherwise in the Contract. 

 
12. NO REPLACEMENT OF DEFECTIVE TENDER:  Every tender of materials shall fully comply 

with all provisions of the Contract.  If a tender is made which does not fully conform, this shall 
constitute a breach and Contractor shall not have the right to substitute a conforming tender 
without prior written approval from the City. 

 
13. DEFAULT IN ONE INSTALLMENT TO CONSTITUTE TOTAL BREACH:  Contractor and 

may not substitute nonconforming materials, or services.  Delivery of nonconforming 
materials, and/or services, or a default of any nature, at the option of the City, shall constitute 
shall deliver conforming materials, or services, in each installment or lot of the contract a 
breach of the contract as a whole. 

 
14. SHIPMENT UNDER RESERVATION PROHIBITED:  Contractor is not authorized to ship 

materials under reservation and no tender of a bill of lading shall operate as a tender of the 
materials. 

 
15. LIENS:  All materials and other deliverables supplied to the City shall be free of all liens other 

than the security interest held by Contractor until payment in full is made by the City.  Upon 
request of the City, Contractor shall provide a formal release of all liens. 

 
16. CHANGES IN ORDERS:  The City reserves the right at any time to make changes in any 

one or more of the following:  (a) methods of shipment or packing; (b) place of delivery; and 
(c) quantities.  If any change causes an increase or decrease in the cost of or the time 
required for performance, an equitable adjustment may be made in the price or delivery 
schedule, or both.  Any claim for adjustment shall be evidenced in writing and approved by 
the City Purchasing Director prior to the institution of the change. 

 
PAYMENT 
 
17. INVOICES: A separate invoice shall be issued for each shipment and each job completed.  

Invoices shall include the Contract and/or Purchase Order number, and dates when goods 
were shipped or work performed.  Invoices shall be sent within 30 days following 
performance.  Payment will only be made for satisfactory materials and/or services received 
and accepted by City. 

 
18. LATE INVOICES:  The City may deduct up to 10% of the payment price for late invoices.  

The City operates on a fiscal year budget, from July 1 through the following June 30.  Except 
in unusual circumstances, which are not due to the fault of Contractor, City will not honor any 
invoices or claims submitted after August 15 for materials or services supplied in the prior 
fiscal year.  

 
19. TAXES:  Contractor shall be responsible for payment of all taxes including federal, state, and 

local taxes related to or arising out of Contractor’s performance of this Contract. Such taxes 
include but are not limited to federal and state income tax, social security tax, unemployment 
insurance taxes, transaction privilege taxes, use taxes, and any other taxes or business 
license fees as required.   

 
 Exception:  The City will pay any taxes which are specifically identified as a line item dollar 

amount in the Contractor’s bid, proposal, or quote, and which were considered and approved 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 8 OF 15    

by the City as part of the Contract award process.  In this event, taxes shall be identified as a 
separate line item in Contractor’s invoices. 

 
20. FEDERAL EXCISE TAXES:  The City is exempt from paying certain Federal Excise Taxes 

and will furnish an exemption certificate upon request. 
 
21. FUEL CHARGES:  Contractor at its own expense is liable for all fuel costs related to 

performance. No fuel surcharges will be accepted or paid by City. 
 
22. DISCOUNTS:  If the Contract provides for payment discounts, payment discounts will be 

computed from the later date of the following: (a) when correct invoice is received by the City; 
or (b) when acceptable materials and/or materials were received by City.   

 
23. AMOUNTS DUE TO THE CITY:  Contractor must be current and remain current in all 

obligations due to the City during performance. Payments to Contractor may be offset by any 
delinquent amounts due to City or fees and charges owed to City under this Contract. 

 
24. OFAC:  No City payments may be made to any person in violation of Office of Foreign Assets 

Control regulations, 31 C.F.R. Part 501.  
 
SERVICES 
 
25. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR:  Contractor shall be an independent contractor for 

purposes of all laws, including but not limited to the Fair Labor Standards Act, Federal 
Insurance Contribution Act, Social Security Act, Federal Unemployment Tax Act, Internal 
Revenue Code, Immigration and Naturalization Act; Arizona revenue and taxation, workers’ 
compensation, and unemployment insurance laws. 

26. CONTROL:   Contractor shall be responsible for the control of the work. 

27. WORK SITE:  Contractor shall inspect the work site and notify the City in writing of any 
deficiencies or needs prior to commencing work. 

28. SAFEGUARDING PROPERTY:  Contractor shall responsible for any damage to real 
property of the City or adjacent property in performance of the work and safeguard the 
worksite. 

29. QUALITY:  All work shall be of good quality and free of defects, performed in a diligent and 
professional manner. 

30. ACCEPTANCE:  If work is rejected by the City due to noncompliance with the Contract, The 
City, after notifying Contractor in writing, may require Contractor to correct the deficiencies at 
Contractor’s expense, or cancel the work order and pay Contractor only for work properly 
performed. 

31. WARRANTY:  Contractor warrants all work for a period of one (1) year following final 
acceptance by the City.  Upon receipt of written notice from the City, Contractor at its own 
expense shall promptly correct work rejected as defective or as failing to conform to the 
Contract, whether observed before or after acceptance, and whether or not fabricated, 
installed or completed by Contractor, and shall bear all costs of correction.  If Contractor does 
not correct deficiencies within a reasonable time specified in the written notice from the City, 
the City may perform the work and Contractor shall be liable for the costs. This one-year 
warranty is in addition to, and does not limit Contractor’s other obligations herein.  This 
warranty shall survive termination or expiration of the Contract. 

 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 9 OF 15    

INSPECTION, RECORDS, ADMINISTRATION 
 
32. RECORDS:  The City shall have the right to inspect and audit all Contractor books and 

records related to the Contract for up to five (5) years after completion of the Contract.   
 

33. RIGHT TO INSPECT BUSINESS:  The City shall have the right to inspect the place of 
business of the Contractor or its subcontractor during regular business hours at reasonable 
times, to the extent necessary to confirm Contract performance. 

 
34. PUBLIC RECORDS:  This Contract and any related materials are a matter of public record 

and subject to disclosure pursuant to Arizona Public Records Law, A.R.S. § 39-121 et seq.  If 
Contractor has clearly marked its proprietary information as “confidential”, the City will endeavor 
to notify Contractor prior to release of such information.  

 
35. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION:  Contractor will be required to participate in the City’s  

Contract Administration Process.  Contractor will be closely monitored for contract 
compliance and will be required to promptly correct any deficiencies. 

 
INDEMNIFICATION, INSURANCE 
 

36. GENERAL INDEMNIFICATION:  Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 
City, its council, boards and commissions, officers, employees from all losses, claims, suits, 
payments and judgments, demands, expenses, attorney’s fees or actions of any kind 
resulting from personal injury to any person, including employees, subcontractors or agents 
of Contractor or damages to any property arising or alleged to have arisen out of the 
negligent performance of the Contract, except any such injury or damages arising out of the 
sole negligence of the City, its officers, agents or employees.  This indemnification provision 
shall survive termination or expiration of the Contract.   This indemnification clause shall not 
apply, if a different indemnification clause is included in the City’s Specific Terms and 
Conditions.  

37. INSURANCE:  Contractor shall maintain all insurance coverage required by the City, 
including public liability and worker’s compensation.   

38. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY INDEMNIFICATION:  Contractor shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the City against any liability, including costs and expenses, for infringement of any 
patent, trademark or copyright or other proprietary rights of any third parties arising out of 
contract performance or use by the City of materials furnished or work performed under this 
Contract. Contractor shall promptly assume full responsibility for the defense of any suit or 
proceeding which is, has been, or may be brought against the City and its agents for alleged 
infringement, or alleged unfair competition resulting from similarity in design, trademark or 
appearance of goods, and indemnify the City against any and all expenses, losses, royalties, 
profits and damages, attorneys fees and costs resulting from such proceedings or settlement 
thereof.  This indemnification shall survive termination or expiration of the Contract.   

 
 
CONTRACT CHANGES 
 
39. PRICE INCREASES:  Except as expressly provided for in the Contract, no price increases 

will be approved. 
 

40. COMPLETE AGREEMENT:  The Contract is intended to be the complete and final 
agreement of the parties.   



                                                                                                                          PAGE 10 OF 15    

 
41. AMENDMENTS:  This Contract may be amended by written agreement of the parties. 

 
42. SEVERABILITY:  If any term or provision of this Contract is found by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be illegal or unenforceable, then such term or provision is deemed deleted, and 
the remainder of this Contract shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
43. NO WAIVER:  Each party has the right insist upon strict performance of the Contract, and the 

prior failure of a party to insist upon strict performance, or a delay in any exercise of any right 
or remedy, or acceptance of materials or services, shall not be deemed a waiver of any right 
to insist upon strict performance.  

 
44. ASSIGNMENT:  This Contract may be assigned by Contractor with prior written consent of 

the City, which will not be unreasonably withheld.  Any assignment without such consent shall 
be null and void.  Unless expressly provided for in a separately executed Consent to 
Assignment, no assignment shall relieve Contractor (Assignor) from any of its obligations and 
liabilities under the Contract with respect to City.  The Purchasing Director shall have 
authority to consent to an assignment on behalf of City. 

 
45. BINDING EFFECT:  This Contract shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 

parties and their successors and assigns. 
 
EMPLOYEES AND SUBCONTRACTORS 
 
46. SUBCONTRACTING:  Contractor may subcontract work in whole or in part with the City’s 

advance written consent.  City reserves the right to withhold consent if subcontractor is 
deemed irresponsible and/or subcontracting may negatively affect performance. All 
subcontracts shall comply with the underlying Contract.  Contractor is responsible for 
Contract performance whether or not subcontractors are used.  

 
47.  NONDISCRIMINATION:  Contractor shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant 

for employment or person to whom it provides services because of race, color, religion, sex, 
national origin, disability, genetic information, veteran’s status, pregnancy, familial status and 
represents and warrants that it complies with all applicable federal, state and local laws and 
executive orders regarding employment.  In addition any Contractor located within City of 
Flagstaff limits shall comply with the City Code, Chapter 14-02Civil Rights which also 
prohibits discrimination based on sexual orientation, or  gender identity or expression. 

 
48. DRUG FREE WORKPLACE:  The City has adopted a Drug Free Workplace policy for itself 

and those doing business with the City to ensure the safety and health of all persons working 
on City contracts and projects.  Contractor personnel shall abstain from use or possession of 
illegal drugs while engaged in performance of this Contract. 

 
49. IMMIGRATION LAWS:  Pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-4401, Contractor hereby warrants to the 

City that the Contractor and each of its subcontractors will comply with, and are contractually 
obligated to comply with, all State and Federal Immigration laws and regulations that relate to 
its employees and A.R.S. § 23-214(A) (hereinafter “Contractor Immigration Warranty”). A 
breach of the Contractor Immigration Warranty shall constitute a material breach of this 
Contract and shall subject the Contractor to penalties up to and including termination of this 
Contract at the sole discretion of the City.  The City retains the legal right to inspect the 
papers of any Contractor or subcontractor employee who works on this Contract to ensure 
compliance with the Contractor Immigration Warranty.  Contractor agrees to assist the City in 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 11 OF 15    

regard to any such inspections. The City may, at its sole discretion, conduct random 
verification of the employment records of the Contractor and any subcontractors to ensure 
compliance with Contractor’s Immigration Warranty.  Contractor agrees to assist the City in 
regard to any random verification performed.  Neither Contractor nor any subcontractor shall 
be deemed to have materially breached the Contractor Immigration Warranty if Contractor or 
subcontractor if Contractor or subcontractor establishes that it has complied with the 
employment verification provisions prescribed by sections 274A and 274B of the Federal 
Immigration and Nationality Act and the E-verify requirements prescribed by A.R.S. § 23-
214(A). 

 
 DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 
 
50. TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT:  Prior to terminating this Contract for a material breach, the 

non-defaulting party shall give the defaulting party written notice and reasonable opportunity 
to cure the default, not to exceed thirty (30) days unless a longer period of time is granted by 
the non-defaulting party in writing.  In the event the breach is not timely cured, or in the event 
of a series of repeated breaches the non-defaulting party may elect to terminate Contract by 
written notice to Contractor, which shall be effective upon receipt.  In the event of default, the 
parties may execute all remedies available at law in addition Contract remedies provided for 
herein.   
 

51. CITY REMEDIES: In the event of Contractor’s default, City may obtain required materials 
and/or services from a substitute contractor, and Contractor shall be liable to the City to pay 
for the costs of such substitute service.  City may deduct or offset the cost of substitute 
service from any balance due to Contractor, and/or seek recovery of the costs of substitute 
service against  any performance security, and/or collect any liquidated damages provided for 
in the Contract. Remedies herein are not exclusive.   

 
52. CONTRACTOR REMEDIES:  In the event of City’s default, Contractor may pursue all 

remedies available at law, except as provided for herein. 
 

53. SPECIAL DAMAGES:   In the event of default, neither party shall be liable for incidental, 
special, or consequential damages.  

 
54. TERMINATION FOR NONAPPROPRIATION OF FUNDS:  The City may terminate all or a 

portion of this Contract due to budget constraints and non-appropriation of funds for the 
following fiscal year, without penalty or liability to Contractor.   

 
55. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE:  Unless expressly provided for otherwise in the 

Contract, this Contract may be terminated in whole or part by the City for convenience upon 
thirty (30) days written notice, without further penalty or liability to Contractor. If this Contract 
is terminated, City shall be liable only for payment for satisfactory materials and/or services 
received and accepted by City before the effective date of termination.  

 
56. TERMINATION DUE TO INSOLVENCY:  If Contractor becomes a debtor in a bankruptcy 

proceeding, or a reorganization, dissolution or liquidation proceeding, or if a trustee or 
receiver is appointed over all or a substantial portion of the property of Contractor under 
federal bankruptcy law or any state insolvency law, Contractor shall immediately provide the 
City with a written notice thereof. The City may terminate this Contract, and Contractor is 
deemed in default, at any time if the Contractor becomes insolvent, or is a party to any 
voluntary bankruptcy or receivership proceeding, makes an assignment for a creditor, or 
there is any similar action that affects Contractor’s ability to perform under the Contract.  



                                                                                                                          PAGE 12 OF 15    

 
57. PAYMENT UPON TERMINATION:  Upon termination of this Contract, City will pay 

Contractor for satisfactory performance up until the effective date of termination.  City shall 
make final payment within thirty (30) days from receipt of the Contractor’s final invoice.  

 
58. CANCELLATION FOR GRATUITIES: The City may cancel this Contract at any time, without 

penalty or further liability to Contractor, if City determines that Contractor has given or offered 
to give any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a public servant (“Gratuities”) in connection with award or 
performance of the Contract.  

 
59. CANCELLATION FOR CONFLICT OF INTEREST (A.R.S. § 38-511):  The City may cancel 

this Contract within three (3) years after its execution, without penalty or further liability to 
Contractor.  

 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
60. ADVERTISING:   Contractor shall not advertise or publish information concerning its Contract 

with City, without the prior written consent of the City. 
 

61. NOTICES:  All notices given pursuant to this Contract shall be delivered at the addresses as 
specified in the Contract, or updated by Notice to the other party. Notices may be: (a) 
personally delivered, with receipt effective upon personal delivery; (b) sent via certified mail, 
postage prepaid, with receipt deemed effective four (4) days after being sent; (c) or sent by 
overnight courier, with receipt deemed effective two (2) days after being sent  Notice may be 
sent by email as a secondary form of notice.    

 
62. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES:  This Contract is intended for the exclusive benefit of the 

parties.  Nothing herein is intended to create any rights or responsibilities to third parties. 
 

63. GOVERNING LAW:  This Contract shall be construed in accordance with the laws of 
Arizona. 

 
64. FORUM:  In the event of litigation relating to this Contract, any action at law or in equity shall 

be filed in Coconino County, Arizona. 
 

65. ATTORNEYS FEES:  If any action at law or in equity is necessary to enforce the terms of this 
Contract, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys fees, costs, 
professional fees and expenses. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE 

 
INSURANCE 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 13 OF 15    

 
 
1. In General.  Contractor shall maintain insurance against claims for injury to persons or damage 

to property, arising from performance of or in connection with this Contract by the Contractor, 
its agents, representatives, employees or contractors.  

 
2. Requirement to Procure and Maintain.  Each insurance policy required by this Contract shall be 

in effect at, or before, commencement of work under this Contract and shall remain in effect 
until all Contractor’s obligations under this Contract have been met, including any warranty 
periods.  The Contractor’s failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by this Contract 
or to provide timely evidence of renewal will be considered a material breach of this Contract.   

 
3.  Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance.  The following insurance requirements are minimum 

requirements for this Contract and in no way limit the indemnity covenants contained in this 
Contract.  The City does not represent or warrant that the minimum limits set forth in this 
Contract are sufficient to protect the Contractor from liabilities that might arise out of this 
Contract, and Contractor is free to purchase such additional insurance as Contractor may 
determine is necessary. 

 
Contractor shall provide coverage at least as broad and with limits not less than those stated 
below. 

 
a. Commercial General Liability - Occurrence Form 

 
General Aggregate   $2,000,000 
Products/Completed Operations $1,000,000 
Each Occurrence   $1,000,000 

 
b. Umbrella Coverage   $2,000,000 

 
c. Automobile Liability –  

Any Automobile or Owned, Hired  
and Non-owned Vehicles 
Combined Single Limit Per Accident  
for Bodily Injury & Property Damage $1,000,000 

 
d. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability 

 
Workers’ Compensation  Statutory 
Employer’s Liability: Each Accident $500,000 
Disease - Each Employee  $500,000 
Disease - Policy Limit   $500,000 

 
[OPTION:  e.   Professional Liability   $2,000,000]  

 
4. Self-Insured Retention. Any self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the 

City.  If not approved, the City may require that the insurer reduce or eliminate such self-
insured retentions with respect to the City, its officers, agents, employees, and volunteers. 
Contractor shall be solely responsible for any self-insured retention amounts.  City at its option 
may require Contractor to secure payment of such self insured retention by a surety bond or 
irrevocable and unconditional letter of credit. 

 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 14 OF 15    

5. Other Insurance Requirements. The policies shall contain, or be endorsed to contain, the 
following provisions: 

 
a. Additional Insured. In Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability Coverages, the 

City of Flagstaff, its officers, officials, agents and employees shall be named and endorsed 
as additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of this Contract and activities 
performed by or on behalf of the Contractor, including products and completed operations 
of the Contractor, and automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by the Contractor. 

 
b. Broad Form. The Contractor’s insurance shall contain broad form contractual liability 

coverage. 
 

c. Primary Insurance. The Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with 
respect to the City, its officers, officials, agents, employees and volunteers.  Any insurance 
or self-insurance maintained by the City, its officers, officials, agents and employees, shall 
be in excess of the coverage of the Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute to it. 

 
d. Each Insured. The Contractor’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured against 

whom a claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer’s 
liability. 

 
e. Not Limited. Coverage provided by the Contractor shall not be limited to the liability 

assumed under the indemnification provisions of this Contract. 
 

f. Waiver of Subrogation. The policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation against the City, 
its officers, officials, agents and employees for losses arising from work performed by 
Contractor for the City. 

 
6. Notice of Cancellation.  Each insurance policy required by the insurance provisions of this 

Contract shall provide the required coverage and shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled, 
reduced in coverage or in limits unless prior written notice has been given to the City.  Notices 
required by this section shall be sent directly to the Buyer listed in the original Solicitation and 
shall reference the Contract Number:  

 
Attention: Patrick Brown, C.P.M. 
Contract No. 2016-12 
Purchasing Section 
City of Flagstaff, 
211 W.  Aspen Avenue 
Flagstaff, Arizona  86001. 

 
7. Acceptability of Insurers.  Contractor shall place insurance hereunder with insurers duly 

licensed or approved unlicensed companies in the State of Arizona and with a “Best’s” rating of 
not less than A-: VII.  The City does not represent or warrant that the above required minimum 
insurer rating is sufficient to protect the Contractor from potential insurer insolvency. 

 
8. Certificates of Insurance.  The Contractor shall furnish the City with certificates of insurance 

(ACORD form) as required by this Contract.  The certificates for each insurance policy shall be 
signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf.  Any policy 
endorsements that restrict or limit coverage shall be clearly noted on the certificate of 
insurance.  The City project/contract number and project description shall be noted on the 



                                                                                                                          PAGE 15 OF 15    

certificates of insurance. The City must receive and approve all certificates of insurance and 
endorsements before the Contractor commences work.   

 
9. Policies.  The City reserves the right to require, and receive within ten (10) days, complete, 

certified copies of all insurance policies and endorsements required by this Contract at any 
time.  The City shall not be obligated, however, to review any insurance policies or to advise 
Contractor of any deficiencies in such policies and endorsements.  The City’s receipt of 
Contractor’s policies or endorsements shall not relieve Contractor from, or be deemed a waiver 
of, the City’s right to insist on strict fulfillment of Contractor’s obligations under this Contract. 

 
10. Modifications. Any modification or variation from the insurance requirements in this Contract 

must have the prior approval of the City’s Attorney’s Office in consultation with the City’s Risk 
Manager, whose decision shall be final.  Such action will not require a formal Contract 
amendment but may be made by their handwritten revision and notation to the foregoing 
insurance requirements. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 



  10. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Brandi Suda, Finance Director

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE:
Consideration of Audited Financial Reports: Year ending June 30, 2015.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the FY 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and approve the FY 2015 Single
Audit Report (as reissued).

Executive Summary:
The City is required to perform an annual audit each year, pursuant to ARS 9-481 and the City Charter
(Article VI, Section 5); this audit is commonly known as the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR).  The CAFR is reviewed by an independent auditor to provide reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free of material misstatement.  In addition, the City also obtains an annual Single
Audit as a condition of receiving federal assistance in excess of $300,000. An independent auditor
performs the Single Audit.

Financial Impact:
There is no financial impact to approving the City's Fiscal Year 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report (CAFR) or the FY 2015 Single Audit.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Financial Reporting does not fit in a specific Council or Regional Plan goal, but allows for overall support
of the organization.  This item is required by City Code.

Previous Council Decision on This:
No.

Options and Alternatives:
  

Approve the City's FY 2015 CAFR and FY 2015 Single Audit Report.
Do not approve the City's FY 2015 CAFR and FY 2015 Single Audit report, and provide direction to
the Audit Committee or independent auditor to address Council's questions/issues.

Background/History:
 The City is required to perform an independent  annual financial audit per City Charter Article VI, Section



 The City is required to perform an independent  annual financial audit per City Charter Article VI, Section
5 which states: 

"Prior to the end of each fiscal year, the Council shall designate an independent Certified Public
Accountant, who, as of the end of the fiscal year, shall make up an audit of accounts and other evidence
of financial transactions of the City government, and shall submit a long-form report, including
recommendations concerning policy and fiscal procedures, to the Council, and to the City Manager. Such
accountant shall have no personal interest, direct or indirect, in the fiscal affairs of the City government or
of any of its officers. The accountant shall, within specifications approved by the Council, post-audit the
books and documents kept by the City, and any separate or subordinate accounts kept by any other
office, department, or agency of the City government."

In addition to financial audit, the City is required to complete a Single Audit because it receives more than
$300,000 in federal assistance. For Fiscal Year 2016, the City received $750,000 in federal assistance.

The City has hired Eide Bailly, LLC (the Auditors). The Auditors work directly with the Finance Staff to
complete review of the City's financial data and internal controls.  The financial reports are the
responsibility of the City and are based on activity of the fiscal year. The CAFR is presented in
accordance with all standards as defined by the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  The
Auditors are not responsible for reviewing every transaction for the fiscal year, however based on the
standards the Auditors plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the statements are
free of material misstatements.  The Auditors prepare the Single Audit which is an independent
assessment of City finances and includes a schedule of expenditures of federal fund awards.

The City has established an Audit Committee to review the financial reports and findings (CAFR and the
Single Audit).  The committee discusses the information and makes a recommendation to Council to
accept or reject the financial reports.  The Audit Committee is represented by a City Councilmember,
three citizens (one vacant), the City Manager, and the Management Services Director:

Eva Putzova, Council Member
David Cosper, CPA
Sharman Cawood, CPA
Josh Copley, City Manager
Rick Tadder, Management Services Director

The financial reports were reviewed by the Audit Committee through a presentation by the Auditors.  The
presentation of the financial reports to the Audit Committee occurred on February 10, 2016 and was
facilitated by Brandi Suda, Finance Director; Sarah Wyant, Audit Manager with Eide Bailly; and Challis
Bugbee, Senior Associate with Eide Bailly. At this time it was noted that a potential issue had been
discussed about the classification of net position.

After this presentation City staff discussed the potential error on classification of net position with the
Auditors. The Auditors recommended that we make the corrections and reissue the CAFR.  Staff made
the decision to reissue the CAFR. The discovery relates to the classification of restricted and unrestricted
net assets on the governmental wide statement of net position. (Statement of Net Position is page 21 of
the CAFR). With the implementation of GASB 68 (Pension Liability), for the first time the City had a
negative unrestricted net position. It was unclear how to report this in relation to the restricted net
position. Effects of this reclassified unrestricted net position deficit of $12,596,148 to an unrestricted net
position deficit of $65,530,075 and resulting increase in restricted net position to
$52,933,927. This change has no change or negative impact on the balance sheet of governmental fund
statements or the proprietary fund statements.  A second Audit Committee meeting occurred on April 5,
2016 and the following members were in attendance: David Cosper, Sharman Cawood, Josh Copley,
and Rick Tadder.

Key Considerations:



The City has received an "unqualified opinion" from the Auditors, meaning the audit firm believes the
financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  In
the Communication to Mayor and City Council (attached) the audit firm states: there were no difficulties
encountered in performing the audit and; there were no disagreements with management.  The letter
states there were two corrected misstatements and one uncorrected misstatement.  Misstatements are
noted when the Auditors have found items that may be incorrectly presented during the audit
engagement.  

The first corrected misstatement related to accuracy of aggregation of financial data related to impaired
capital assets and insurance proceeds for the Housing Authority.  The second item is related to timely
and accurately reporting of miscellaneous receivables.  The uncorrected misstatement is related to the
accruing of accounts payable in the incorrect reporting period. The uncorrected item is not
deemed material to the City CAFR. 

In the Single Audit Report, three financial statement findings were noted. The first two relate to the
corrected misstatements noted above. The third finding related to the discovery by City staff mentioned
above.

Due to findings on the FY 2013 reports, the City's Single Audit status does not qualify as a low
risk auditee.  As a result, this year's single audit covered a minimum of fifty percent of the federal
expenditures.  Since no material weaknesses were noted in the FY 2015 Single Audit, the City will qualify
as a low risk auditee for the FY 2016 audit. We do not expect to have any negative impacts to our ability
to submit for federal grants based on these findings. 

The Audit Committee unanimously approved the acceptance of the CAFR and Single Audit at the April 5,
2016 meeting.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
An annual audit is statutorily required by ARS 9-481.  In addition, should the City not perform an annual
audit of it financial statements and complete a Single Audit, the City could lose valuable grant funding. 
The amount of reimbursements of Federal Award reported for in Fiscal Year 2015 was $11.4 million. 
State and local grant funding was $1.9 million in Fiscal Year 2015.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Independent review of the City’s financial statements elevates the level of confidence that the City is
reporting fairly, accurately, and within prescribed guidelines.

Community Involvement:
 Involve:  The community is directly involved through the participation on the Audit Committee. 

Inform:  Any community member may review the most recent CAFR and Single Audit
Report.  The current and historical CAFR and Single Audit and SEFA are on file and available for public
inspection in the following locations:

On the City web site, www.flagstaff.az.gov under the Finance and Budget section
(http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?nid=164)
At the Flagstaff Public Library, 300 W Aspen Ave, Flagstaff, Arizona
At the East Flagstaff Community Library, 3000 N 4th Street, Suite 5, Flagstaff, Arizona
Contact the Finance Director at (928) 213-2217

In addition, one copy of the CAFR and one copy of the Single Audit are on file and available in the
Council office.

Attachments:  Council Communication

http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?nid=164


Attachments:  Council Communication
Memo



 

w w w . e i d e b a i l l y . c o m  
 

1850 N. Central Ave., Ste. 400  |  Phoenix, AZ 85004-4624  |  T 602.264.5844  |  F 602.277.4845  |  EOE 

 
 
 
 
December 30, 2015 
 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and the Audit Committee  
City of Flagstaff 
Flagstaff, Arizona 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Flagstaff (the City) for the year 
ended December 30, 2015. Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our 
responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards and 
OMB Circular A-133, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. 
We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated May 30, 2015. Professional standards 
also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Findings 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. As described in 
Note 1, the City changed accounting policies related to accounting for pensions to adopt the provisions of 
GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and GASB Statement No. 71 
Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date. Accordingly, the 
accounting change has been retrospectively applied to the financial statements beginning July 1, 2014. 
We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the 
proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the City’s financial statements 
were: 

 
Management’s estimate of the valuation of donated infrastructures is based on internal and 
external, as deemed necessary, estimates and studies for each donated item. 
 
Management’s estimate of the Incurred but not Reported (IBNR) liability is based on historical 
claims rates, management’s knowledge of current year activity, and an analysis of other key 
factors. 
 
Management’s estimate of the landfill closure and post-closure costs related to liability is based 
on third-party actuarial and environmental study analysis, estimates of usage capacity remaining, 
and an analysis of other key factors. 
 
Management’s estimate of the net pension liability and related costs is based primarily upon 
analysis reports issued by each plan’s administrator and other key factors. 



 

 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates listed above in determining 
that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. We identified the following misstatements, which were corrected by management: 
  

An adjustment was made to remove impaired capital assets and to record associated insurance 
proceeds, receivables, loss due to impairment, deferred inflows of resources, and construction in 
process associated with the impairment of certain assets owned by the City. This adjustment increased 
insurance proceeds and associated receivables and deferred inflows of resources by $289,006, 
reduced accumulated depreciation by $89,000, and increased property and equipment by a net 
$126,243. 
 
An adjustment was made to remove revenue and miscellaneous receivables related to fiscal year 2016 
contracts and services to be performed erroneously recorded in fiscal year 2015 in the amount of 
$160,000. 

 
The following summarizes uncorrected misstatements of the financial statements, for which management 
has determined that their effects are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 
 
 Adjustment to reduce accrual of capital outlay expense $114,089 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated December 30, 2015. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial statements or a determination 
of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards 
require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant 
facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 



 

 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
 
Management had informed us of a potential fraud regarding a manager with the City.  After further 
investigation management concluded that fraud had not occur, but there were poor management decisions 
made by the manager. As auditors we reviewed the circumstances with management and reviewed the 
applicable documentation and concluded that no further audit procedures relating to the situation was 
deemed necessary nor additional reporting required by the Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Other Matters 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to management’s discussion and analysis, schedules of the City’s 
proportionate share of net pension liabilities, schedules of changes in net pension liabilities and related 
ratios, and the schedule of the City’s pension contributions, which are required supplementary 
information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries 
of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and 
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
 
We were engaged to report on the combining nonmajor fund financial statements, the capital assets 
schedule by function and activity, the budgetary comparison of the major debt service fund and nonmajor 
governmental funds, and the financial data submission schedules, which accompany the financial 
statements but are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of 
management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that 
the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and 
complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the 
supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements 
or to the financial statements themselves. 
 
We were not engaged to report on introductory and statistical sections, which accompany the financial 
statements but are not RSI. We did not audit or perform other procedures on this other information and 
we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 
 
The financial statements include the financial statements of the Municipal Facilities Corporation (MFC), a 
nonprofit corporation created by the City for the purpose of constructing, acquiring, and equipping 
municipal facilities, which for the purposes of our audit, we did not consider to be a significant 
component of the financial statements. Consistent with the audit of the financial statements as a whole, 
our audit included obtaining an understanding of the MFC and its environment, including internal control, 
sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the MFC and 
completion of further audit procedures, as determined to be necessary. 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the City Council and management of the City and is not 
intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
Phoenix, Arizona 



Memo 
To: Honorable Mayor and City Council  

From: Brandi Suda, Finance Director 

Date: April 5, 2016  

Re: Annual Financial Report Documents 

We are scheduled to present the FY 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
and Single Audit at the April 19th Council Meeting.  Due to the size of the files, we 
have placed a copy of the following reports in the Council’s office: 

 June 30, 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (as reissued) 
 Single Audit Report and Schedule of Financial Assistance (as reissued) 

 

These reports may also be accessed on the City website here: 

http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?nid=164 

 
 

Finance Section 



  10. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Dean Coughenour, Assistant to City Manager -
Risk Management

Co-Submitter: Rick Compau

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Approve the renewal of our Workers' Compensation
contract with Copperpoint Mutual Insurance (Workers Compensation Insurance Contract).

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the renewal of our Workers' Compensation contract with Copperpoint Mutual Insurance at
an estimated annual cost of $730,000.

Executive Summary:
Approval of the renewal of our Workers' Compensation coverage at a reduction of $50,000. No changes
in coverage or insurance providers.

Financial Impact:
By renewing our Workers' Compensation insurance coverage with CopperPoint insurance the City will
save an estimated $50,000 this fiscal period. Since policy ending 6/30/14 we have saved over $700,000
dollars, cumulative, in our renewals. The estimated annual premium for 2016-2017 is less than the
total paid during the 2005-2006 fiscal period. There has been no change in our insurance carrier or
coverage.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Effective governance. 



Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
No

Options and Alternatives:
1)  Approve
2)  Request additional quotes
3)  Self insure our Workers' Compensation program for the following fiscal period 

Background/History:
The City of Flagstaff is required to carry Workers' Compensation coverage per Arizona statute. The City
is currently insured with Copperpoint Mutual, formally SCF of Arizona and have been for over ten years. 
The premium that the City pays is determined by several factors. They are; the rate per $100 of payroll
as determined for Arizona by the National Council on Compensation and Insurance, our payroll by
position type, our experience modification factor which is a multiplier that moves our premium up or down
based on the City of Flagstaff's history of losses over a rolling three year period and our ability to
negotiate a discount with our carrier if available. 
Over the last three years our employee injuries have been reduced by 50% while serious injuries are
down over 80%. Because of this our multiplication factor has dropped from 1.18 times the rate in fiscal
year 14 to .93 times the rate for fiscal year 17.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
Because of the efforts of our employees, (who are the real risk managers for the City), and the
subsequent reduction in injuries, we have been able to secure a reduction in each of our renewals over
the last three years. Although our total payroll exposure has increased modestly and our rates per $100
have changed, our net savings over the last three years as compared to premium paid in FY 14 is
$722,643. We anticipate continued savings in future renewals.
As our losses become more predictable and our Risk culture improves we will look to self insure our
Workers' Compensation program over the next two to five years.

Community Involvement:
Inform

Attachments:  PowerPoint



 Insurance 
Renewals 



Broad types of Insurance 
• Property 
• Liability 
• Auto 
• Crime 
• Excess  
• Airport Liability 
• Workers’ Compensation 



2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 
Workers' comp $751,471  $737,479  $775,665  $1,028,366  
P & C $751,906 $849,996 $999,986 $1,226,093 

$0 

$500,000 

$1,000,000 

$1,500,000 

$2,000,000 

$2,500,000 

Renewals prior to a change in our program 



2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 
Workers' comp $1,028,366  $890,000  742,455 $730,000  
P & C $1,226,093 $905,000 875,000 $850,000  

$0 

$500,000 

$1,000,000 

$1,500,000 

$2,000,000 

$2,500,000 

Renewals after a change in our program 



Results 
• Employee recordable injuries down over 50% 
• Serious injuries down over 80% 
• Early intervention in liability related events 
• Least number of police employment related injuries 

in 12 years  
• Savings of over $1.7 million in premium over the last 

three renewals 
 



Results 
 
• Real time communication and prompt reporting 
• Innovative, “in the field”, training programs such as 

“Saving Our Assets, Leadership and Motivation, 
Saving Our Assets 2.0” 

• Cultivation of vendor partnerships 



The Crystal Ball  
• Increase in Liability premium fiscal year 17/18 due to 

unfavorable claim development 
• Potential increase in our self insured retention over 

the next 3 to 5 years 
• Property premium will remain fairly stable 
• Workers’ Compensation premium to remain fairly 

stable 
• Self insurance of Workers’ Compensation in 3 to 5 

year window 



Insurance Renewal 
Questions?? 



  10. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Dean Coughenour, Assistant to City Manager -
Risk Management

Co-Submitter: Rick Compau

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Approve the renewal of our Casualty insurance with
Travelers Insurance and our Property coverage with AIG insurance.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the renewal of our Casualty insurance with Travelers Insurance and our Property
coverage with AIG insurance at a total estimated annual cost of $850,000.

Executive Summary:
Approval of our Property and Casualty insurance programs at a savings of $25,000 for a total of
$850,000. There are no changes in carriers, coverage or deductibles. This renewal is $25,000 less than
last fiscal period and $375,000 less than budgeted for the 2013-2014 fiscal period. There is no change in
deductible and no changes in carriers or coverage from last fiscal period.

Financial Impact:
By renewing our Casualty coverage with Travelers insurance and our Property coverage with AIG the
City will save an estimated annual premium expenditure of $25,000 over last fiscal period.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
 Effective governance. 



Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
no 

Options and Alternatives:
1)  Approve
2)  Reject and request quotes
3)  Self insure our Property and Casualty programs 

Background/History:
The City of Flagstaff carries insurance to protect the City from unexpected financial loss. Main coverage
areas include auto, general liability, excess liability ($20 million), property coverage, crime, cyber, airport
liability in the amount of $40 million, flood and specific properties, employers liability, errors and omission
coverage, and other supplemental coverages as appropriate. 
Our current carrier for most lines of coverage is Travelers Insurance. For our property coverage, we are
insured with AIG.
The City has a $75,000 self insured retention on both general and auto liability claims. This self insured
retention applies to both legal fees incurred as well as settlement amounts.

Recent adverse claim activity from a January 2011 claim, is likely to cause a modest increase in the
general liability portion of our renewal in FY 2018.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
Over the last three renewal periods we have saved $1,048,279 from what we paid in fiscal 14 for these
coverage's.
We anticipate reviewing the appropriateness of our self insured retention, currently $75,000, and a
potential recommendation for an increase over the next two to four years. 

Community Involvement:
Inform

Attachments:  AIG Policy
Liability policy
Airport policy



113812B (02/14)
©2013 American International Group, Inc.

All Rights Reserved.
Page 1 of 8

 

Property Performance®

American Home Assurance Company
(A CAPITAL STOCK COMPANY)

EXECUTIVE OFFICES:  175 Water Street 18th Floor, New York, New York, 10038

BINDING ADVICE

Issued: 02/17/2016

Policy Number: 020413301 Renewal of: 020413301

Item 1. Named Insured and Address:

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
211 W ASPEN AVE 
FLAGSTAFF, AZ 86001-5399

The Named Insured includes you and/or your affiliated and subsidiary companies and/or 
corporations as now exist or may hereafter be incorporated, constituted or acquired, including 
their interests as may appear in partnerships or joint ventures which you are legally obligated to 
insure.

Item 2. Mortgagees, Loss Payees, and Additional Insureds: Per Certificates on File with the Company.

Item 3. Policy Period:

From: 07/01/2016 To: 07/01/2017

(12:01 a.m., Standard Time at the Address of the Named Insured shown in Item 1. above.)

Item 4. Coverage Territory:

United States, its territories and possessions and Puerto Rico, including their respective coastal 
waters. If any coverage is provided on a worldwide basis, such worldwide coverage shall not 
include any jurisdiction prohibited or restricted under United Nations resolutions or the trade or 
economic sanctions, laws or regulations of the European Union or the United States of America. 
Losses are only covered within the coverage territory.

US TIV: $222,844,448

Canada TIV: $0

Rest of World TIV: $0

Total TIV: $222,844,448

Item 5. Premium and Engineering Fees:

A. Total Premium: $192,012

B. Terrorism Premium: Not Covered 



113812B (02/14)
©2013 American International Group, Inc.

All Rights Reserved.
Page 2 of 8

 

C. Commission: NET

D. Surcharges: (If Applicable)

E. Engineering Fees: $9,500  (not included within the Total Premium)

Above premiums are exclusive of all taxes, surcharges, and fees unless otherwise shown. State 
surcharges to be paid by the Insured are not included in the premium above.  

Item 6. Limit of Liability: $222,844,448  (hereinafter, the “Policy Limit”)  This is our maximum liability 
in any one occurrence as a result of all covered loss or damage regardless of the number of 
covered locations, coverages, or Covered Causes of Loss under this Policy.

Item 7. Sublimits of Liability: Sublimits of liability stated below are part of and not in addition to the 
Policy Limit shown in Item 6. above.  The sublimits are the maximum amount we will pay for all 
loss or damage arising out of the specific perils or coverages shown below or the maximum 
number of days for a specific coverage, if applicable.  These sublimits of liability and the 
specified limits of liability contained in the forms, endorsements and extensions attached, if 
any, are per occurrence unless otherwise indicated. 

If the words, NOT COVERED are shown, instead of a limit, sublimit amount or number of days, 
or if a specified amount or number of days is not shown corresponding to any coverage or 
Covered Cause of Loss, then no coverage is provided for that coverage or Covered Cause of 
Loss

A. Sublimits Applicable to Specified Covered Causes of Loss:

1. Earth Movement:

a. Annual Aggregate: $15,000,000

b. Subject to A.1.a. above, the Annual Aggregate for all loss or damage arising out of 
earth movement for any location wholly or partially within the following states and 
territory combined: California, Alaska, Hawaii, and Puerto Rico: Not Covered

c. Subject to A.1.a. above, the Annual Aggregate for all loss or damage arising out of 
earth movement for any location wholly or partially within the Pacific Northwest 
Earthquake Zone Counties: Not Covered

d. Subject to A.1.a. above, the Annual Aggregate for all loss or damage arising out of 
earth movement for any location wholly or partially within the New Madrid 
Earthquake Zone Counties: Not Covered

e. Other Sublimit(s) Applicable to Earth Movement: Not Applicable

2. Flood:

a. Annual Aggregate: $10,000,000

b. Subject to A.2.a. above, the Annual Aggregate for all loss or damage due to all 
flood for any location wholly or partially within Special Flood Hazard Areas (SFHA) 
as defined by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA): Not Covered

c. Other Sublimit(s) Applicable to Flood: Not Applicable

3. Named Storm: $222,844,448   This is our maximum liability in any one occurrence for 
named storm as a result of all loss or damage (to the extent covered) including, but not 
limited to, loss or damage from wind, hail, lightning, tornado, rain or water (whether 



113812B (02/14)
©2013 American International Group, Inc.

All Rights Reserved.
Page 3 of 8

 

driven by wind or not), flood, or any wind driven objects or debris, regardless of the 
number of covered locations, coverages, or Covered Causes of Loss under this Policy.

Other Sublimit(s) Applicable to Named Storm: Not Applicable

Subject to the applicable Named Storm Sublimit, in the event loss or damage by flood 
that occurs concurrently or in any sequence with a named storm, the maximum amount 
we will pay per occurrence for all such loss or damage by flood shall be the sublimits of 
liability for flood as shown in A.2.a. and/or A.2.b., and/or A.2.c. whichever is/are 
applicable.  However, if flood is not covered, the maximum amount we will pay per 
occurrence for all such loss or damage by named storm shall exclude loss or damage by 
flood.

4. Terrorism:

[X] NOT COVERED [  ] Covered and Included Within the Policy Limit

This is our maximum liability in any one occurrence for terrorism as a result of all loss or 
damage regardless of the number of covered locations, coverages, or Covered Causes 
of Loss under this Policy.
 

5. Equipment Breakdown:   $222,844,448   This is our maximum liability in any one 
occurrence for equipment breakdown as a result of all loss or damage regardless of the 
number of covered locations, coverages, or Covered Causes of Loss under this Policy.

Other Sublimit(s) Applicable to Equipment Breakdown: Not Applicable

B. Sublimits Applicable to Additional Coverages – Each of these sublimits is part of, and not in 
addition to the Policy Limit and any other sublimits shown in Item 7.A. of the Declarations.

1. Accounts Receivable: $1,000,000

2. Arson or Theft Reward: $100,000

3. Brands and Labels: $100,000

4. Building Materials at Off Premises 
Storage for Property Under 
Construction: $250,000

5. Debris Removal: $1,000,000 or 25% of direct physical loss or 
damage to all covered property, whichever is less.

6. Deferred Payments: $250,000

7. Demolition and Increased Cost of 
Construction:

Demolition Coverage A: No Sublimit Applies

Demolition Coverage B: $2,500,000

Demolition Coverage C: $2,500,000

8. Electronic Data and Media: 

Covered Causes of Loss (Other Than $250,000



113812B (02/14)
©2013 American International Group, Inc.

All Rights Reserved.
Page 4 of 8

 

Cyber Perils): 

Cyber Perils: $250,000

9. Errors or Omissions: $5,000,000

10. Expediting Expenses: $500,000

11. Fairs or Exhibitions: $500,000

12. Fine Arts: $500,000

13. Fire Brigade Charges and 
Extinguishing Expenses: $100,000

14. Fungus, Mold or Spore: $1,000,000

15. Installation Coverage: $500,000

16. Land and Water Clean-Up: $100,000

17. Locks and Keys: $100,000

18. Machinery or Equipment Startup 
Option: $5,000,000 Applicable to a separate occurrence only

19. Miscellaneous Unnamed Locations: $5,000,000

20. Money and Securities: $100,000

21. Newly Acquired Property: $5,000,000

22. Outdoor Property: $250,000

23. Pairs or Sets: No Sublimit Applies

24. Personal Property Not at a Covered 
Location: $1,000,000

25. Preservation of Property: $500,000

26. Professional Fees: $100,000

27. Property Removed From a Covered 
Location: $100,000

28. Railroad Rolling Stock: $100,000

29. Salespersons Samples: $100,000

30. Service Interruption: $1,000,000

31. Spoilage: $1,000,000

32. Transit: $500,000



113812B (02/14)
©2013 American International Group, Inc.

All Rights Reserved.
Page 5 of 8

 

33. Upgrade to Green®: 25% of the amount payable for direct physical loss 
or damage, subject to a maximum of $500,000. This 
includes any Time Element loss attributed to Upgrade 
to Green.

34. Valuable Papers and Records: $1,000,000

35. Additional Sublimits: Not Applicable

C. Sublimits Applicable to Additional Time Element Coverages - Each of these sublimits is part 
of, and not in addition to the Policy Limit and any other sublimits shown in Item 7.A. of the 
Declarations.

1. Attraction Property: 30 days, subject to a maximum of $500,000

2. Contingent Time Element: $1,000,000

The following sublimits are subject to the Contingent Time Element Sublimit shown in 
Subsection C.2. above: 

a. Named Supplier/Customer: $1,000,000

b. Unnamed Supplier/Customer: $1,000,000

c. Other Sublimits of Liability: Not Applicable

3. Contractual Penalties: $50,000

4. Crisis Management: Not Covered

5. Extended Period of Indemnity: 120 days

6. Extra Expense: $5,000,000

7. Ingress & Egress: 30 days, subject to a maximum of $1,000,000

8. Interruption by Civil or Military 
Authority: 30 days, subject to a maximum of $1,000,000

9. Logistics Extra Cost: $100,000

10. Rental Value: $1,000,000

11. Royalties: $100,000

12. Service Interruption: $1,000,000 Qualifying period: 24 hours

13. Soft Costs: $1,000,000

14. Additional Sublimits: Not Applicable

D. Contractor’s Equipment



113812B (02/14)
©2013 American International Group, Inc.

All Rights Reserved.
Page 6 of 8

 

$250,000 per item subject to a maximum per occurrence sublimit of $5,000,000

Item 8. Additional Time Element Provisions

A. Ordinary Payroll:

[X] Provided for 90 days  [ ] Not Provided

B. Maximum Operations Period of Indemnity (Gross Profits):              12 months

C. Maximum Construction Period of Indemnity (Gross Profits):           12 months

Item 9. Maximum Amount Payable:

In the event of covered loss or damage hereunder, our liability shall be limited to the lesser of the 
following: 

A. The actual adjusted amount of loss or damage, less applicable deductible(s), or

B. The limit of liability or applicable sublimit of liability shown in this Policy or endorsed onto this Policy

Item 10. Deductibles: The deductibles shown below apply per occurrence unless otherwise stated.

A. Policy Deductible: $25,000 Applicable to all covered loss or damage unless otherwise 
stated below or in this Policy.

B. Earth Movement:

1. $50,000 for all loss or damage arising out of earth movement, except if B.2., B.3., B.4. 
or B.5. below applies;

2. Not Applicable% of Total Insurable Values at the time of the loss at each covered 
location involved in the loss or damage, subject to a minimum of Not Applicable any one 
occurrence for all loss or damage arising out of earth movement in California, Hawaii, 
Alaska, and Puerto Rico;

3. Not Applicable% of Total Insurable Values at the time of the loss at each covered 
location involved in the loss or damage, subject to a minimum of Not Applicable any one 
occurrence for all loss or damage arising out of earth movement in the Pacific 
Northwest Earthquake Zone Counties;

4. Not Applicable% of Total Insurable Values at the time of the loss at each covered 
location involved in the loss or damage, subject to a minimum of Not Applicable any one 
occurrence for all loss or damage arising out of earth movement in the New Madrid 
Earthquake Zone Counties.

5. Other Earth Movement Deductible: Not Applicable

C. Flood:

1. $50,000 for all loss or damage arising out of flood, except if C.2. or C.3. below applies;

2. Not Applicable% of Total Insurable Values at the time of the loss at each covered 
location involved in the loss or damage, subject to a minimum of Not Applicable any one 
occurrence for all loss or damage arising out of flood at any location wholly or partially 
within Special Flood Hazard Areas (SFHA) as defined by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA).



113812B (02/14)
©2013 American International Group, Inc.

All Rights Reserved.
Page 7 of 8

 

3. Other Flood Deductible: Not Applicable

D. Named Storm

Not Applicable% of Total Insurable Values at the time of the loss at each covered location 
involved in the loss or damage, subject to a minimum of $25,000 any one occurrence for all 
loss or damage arising out of named storm.

Other Named Storm Deductible: Not Applicable

E. Equipment Breakdown

1. $25,000 for all loss or damage to covered equipment and any time element coverage 
provided under SECTION VI – TIME ELEMENT COVERAGES per occurrence

2. If one or more deductibles are shown below, each will be applied separately:

a. Not Applicable  for all loss or damage to covered equipment per occurrence

b. Not Applicable for time element coverage provided under SECTION VI – TIME 
ELEMENT COVERAGES per occurrence

c. Not Applicable   for time element coverage provided under SECTION VI – TIME 
ELEMENT COVERAGES during the period of indemnity

d. Not Applicable  following the occurrence per covered location for time element 
coverage provided under SECTION VI – TIME ELEMENT COVERAGES

As used above, average daily value means your business income that would have been 
earned during the period of indemnity, divided by the number of operating days in that 
period.

3. Other Equipment Breakdown Deductible: Not Applicable

 

F. Additional Deductibles: 

CONTRACTOR'S EQUIPMENT: $5,000

MOBILE PERSONAL COMPUTER AND BOOKS COVERAGE ENDORSEMENT: $5,000

ELECTRONIC DATA PROCESSING EQUIPMENT:$5,000

The following two paragraphs apply to the deductibles set forth in Item 10.A. through Item 
10.F. above, inclusive:

In each case of loss or damage covered by this Policy, we shall not be liable unless you sustain 
loss or damage in a single occurrence greater than any applicable deductible described herein.  
When this Policy covers more than one covered location, the deductible shall apply against the 
total loss or damage covered by this Policy in any one occurrence, unless otherwise stated 
herein.

If two or more deductible amounts provided in this Policy apply to a single occurrence, the total 
to be deducted shall not exceed the largest deductible applicable unless otherwise stated in this 
Policy.  If covered loss or damage by flood occurs concurrently or in any sequence with a 
named storm, then we shall apply the flood deductible set forth in Item 10.C. or the named 
storm deductible set forth in Item 10.D., whichever is greater.

Special Terms and Conditions:



113812B (02/14)
©2013 American International Group, Inc.

All Rights Reserved.
Page 8 of 8

 

1) MOBILE PERSONAL COMPUTERS AND BOOKS COVERAGE ENDORSEMENT (MANUSCRIPT)

2) DESIGNATED ACCOUNT CLAIM ADJUSTOR PR8474 (03/09)

Form Name Form Number Form Edition
Commercial Property Policy 113813 2/14
Cancellation Non-Renewal Endorsement 52132 5/11

Applicable Amendatory Endorsements

Producer: WILLIS OF ARIZONA INC
LEANNE MOYZES

Address: 11201 N TATUM BLVD SUITE 300
PHOENIX, AZ 85028

Subject to the conditions above, the Company hereby binds the insurance applied for to become 
effective at 12:01 AM on the effective date shown in Item 3., Policy Period.

This binder contains a broad outline of coverage and does not include all the terms, conditions, and 
exclusions of the Policy (or Policies) that may be issued to you. 

There are State Notices and State Amendatory Endorsements applicable to the Policy that are not 
attached herein; however, these will be provided with the Policy and at any time before then upon 
your request.

The Policy (or Policies) contains the full and complete agreement with regard to coverage.  Please 
review the Policy (or Policies) thoroughly with your broker upon receipt and notify us promptly in 
writing if you have any questions.  In the event of any inconsistency between the binder and the 
Policy, the policy language shall control unless the parties agree to an amendment.

Unless otherwise amended by a State Amendatory Endorsement, we shall not be deemed to provide 
cover and we shall not be liable to pay any claim or provide any benefit hereunder to the extent that 
the provision of such cover, payment of such claim or provision of such benefit would expose us, our 
parent company or our ultimate controlling entity to any sanction, prohibition or restriction under 
United Nations resolutions or the trade or economic sanctions, laws or regulations of the European 
Union or the United States of America.

Premium must be remitted within 30 days from the effective date or 15 days from billing, whichever 
is later.

Sincerely,

Authorized Representative



ENDORSEMENT #1 

This endorsement, effective 12:01 A.M., July 1, 2016 
Forms a part of Policy No.: 020413301 
Issued to: City of Flagstaff 
By: American Home Assurance Company 

MOBILE PERSONAL COMPUTERS AND BOOKS COVERAGE ENDORSEMENT 

This endorsement modifies insurance provided by this Policy: 

SCHEDULE 

Mobile Personal Computers and Books Sublimit: $250,000 per occurrence 
______________________________________________________________ 

The following provision is added to the ADDITIONAL COVERAGES Section: 

MOBILE PERSONAL COMPUTERS AND BOOKS: 

Subject to the sublimit of liability for Mobile Personal Computers and Books, we will pay for direct 
physical loss or damage by a Covered Cause of Loss to: 

a. Mobile personal computers, including your laptops, notebooks and tablets while in a vehicle; 
and 

b. Your books while in a bookmobile; 

provided that, you: (1) own or lease and (2) operate, such vehicle or bookmobile. 

We shall not pay the cost to replace or restore electronic data and media or the cost to research, 
gather or assemble information. 

All other terms and conditions of the Policy remain the same. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 ____________________________ 
 Authorized Representative 

Manuscript Form ©2014 American International Group, Inc. 
All Right Reserved. 

Page 1 of 1 

 



ENDORSEMENT #2 

This endorsement, effective 12:01 A.M., July 1st, 2016 
Forms a part of Policy No.: 020413301 
Issued to: City of Flagstaff 
By: American Home Assurance Company 
 
 

DESIGNATED ACCOUNT CLAIM ADJUSTER 
 
 

It is hereby agreed that the following shall be designated as the ACCOUNT CLAIM ADJUSTER for all 
claims reported under this policy:  
 
 
 AIG PROPERTY CLAIMS FIELD GROUP (PCFG) 
 
 
Loss Notification: 
 
 

luis.amador@aig.com    Luis Amador 
National General Adjuster 
AIG Property Claims Field Group 
1042 N. Mountain Ave., #B412 
Upland, CA 91786 
 
Tel:  909 621 4704 
Cell: 818 207 2696 
Fax:  855 889 9648 

 
 
 
cc: yumei.hom@aig.com    YuMei Hom 

Assistant Vice President 
AIG Property Claims Field Group 
777 S Figueroa St 
Los Angeles, CA 90017 
 
Tel:  213 689 3629 
Cell: 213 910 0330 
Fax:  213 226 4213 

 
 
 
ALL OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS REMAIN UNCHANGED 
 
 

 
 ____________________________ 
     Authorized Representative 

PR8474 (03/09) ©2014 American International Group, Inc. 
All Right Reserved. 

Page 1 of 1 

 

mailto:luis.amador@aig.com
mailto:yumei.hom@aig.com


CyberFirst Travelers Indemnity Company ZPL-13S47452

Automobile Travelers Indemnity Company 810-9156P739

Umbrella Travelers Indemnity Company ZUP-15P01926

General Liability, Employee Benefit Plans Liability Travelers Indemnity Company ZLP-15P01914

February 17, 2016

Presented by
Willis of AZ, Inc

Prepared by

Professional Liability Travelers Indemnity Company ZLP-15P01914

Travelers Companies 
A.M. Best Rating A++ (Superior)

IMPORTANT: Proposed coverages are provided by the company’s forms, subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the policy (ies) in 
current use by the company. The policies themselves must be read for specific details. No warranty is made or implied regarding compliance 
with any bid specifications, unless such provisions are a part of the proposal.

Line of Business Company Policy Number

Created for
City of Flagstaff

Jeff Godwin, AU, ARM, CPCU Sue Dahlhauser

Date Prepared

Account Executive: Territory Manager:

Effective Date Expiration Date
July 1, 2016 July 1, 2017

Public Sector Services
385 Washington Street 
St. Paul, MN 55102
Phone       651/310-7911 
Toll-Free  800-328-2189
Fax            651-310-5383

Travelers Companies

INSURANCE BINDER

Page 1 of 27



Financial Strength

A++

AA

Aa2

 

It is the policy of Travelers to comply with all applicable federal, state and local fair employment laws. In addition, Travelers files appropriate 
EEO-1 reports and voluntarily subscribes to the principles of affirmative action. 

The independent financial strength ratings, which reflect the Travelers claims-paying ability, are as follows:

A.M.Best  (A++ is the highest of 16)

Standard & Poor's  (AA is the 3rd highest of 21)

Moody's (Aa2 is the 3rd highest of 21)

Travelers (NYSE: TRV) is a leading provider of property casualty insurance and surety products and of risk management 
services to a wide variety of businesses, other organizations and to individuals.  The company reported 2014 revenues of $27 billion and total 
assets of $103 billion.

Our products are distributed primarily through U.S. independent insurance agents and brokers. Travelers is the second largest writer of personal 
insurance through independent agents. Travelers is headquartered in St. Paul, Minnesota, with significant operations in Hartford, Connecticut. 
The company also has offices in the U.K., Ireland, and Canada. Travelers has about 30,000 employees worldwide. For more information, visit 
www.travelers.com.

The financial strength of an insurance company is understandably important to its policyholders. Independent services, such as A.M. Best, 
Standard & Poor's and Moody's, have consistently given high ratings to our claim-paying ability and financial strength. 

ABOUT TRAVELERS

Page 2 of 27



Underwriting

Claim Services

Risk Control Services

The team at Travelers takes the time to understand issues affecting local government. They analyze current risks, anticipate those customers may 
face in the future and create flexible solutions to manage both. 

Our underwriters stay abreast of public affairs, as well as evolving legal and social issues. We develop balanced solutions to meet each 
customer’s unique situation and work with agents and brokers to customize the most effective plan for our clients. 

When it comes to claim handling, one size doesn’t fit all. Travelers has claim professionals dedicated to handling claims for public entities. They 
understand state-specific issues and have extensive knowledge of the immunities and special defenses afforded to public entities. In addition, 
Travelers retains defense counsel who specializes in representing public entities and understand the complexity of public entity legislation.

Travelers risk control consultants work exclusively with public entity clients. These risk control professionals are dedicated to understanding a 
customer’s unique operations, risks and issues. The value-added risk management programs, seminars and personalized service plans offered by 
Travelers help prevent losses and reduce overall costs for public entities. 

PUBLIC SECTOR EXPERTISE

Travelers is the leading provider of property and casualty insurance for public entities. It’s a position we’ve worked hard to earn by building 
lasting relationships and strong foundations in communities across the country. With our expertise, years of hands-on experience and 
outstanding financial strength and stability, clients count on us to deliver thoughtfully designed, tailored insurance coverages and risk 
management solutions for the exposures they face.

Our underwriting, risk control and claim teams work exclusively with public entities. Travelers has impressive capabilities to serve the needs of 
the market. We’re proud to offer:

         Package products for municipalities, counties, water and sewer districts and other selected special 
      districts. For these segments, we deliver a menu of customized offerings and solutions – including 
      property, liability, auto and professional coverages – designed specifically for local governments.

         Large public entity property business – including schedules in excess of $250 million total insured 
      values – for the segments listed above as well as for schools, excess property and assumed reinsurance.

Page 3 of 27



3)  Hundreds of vendor web-based risk management training courses which are available from any computer with 
     internet access, anytime 24/7.  Travelers clients simply set up an account with the vendor and receive a 
    15% discount off retail pricing.  Additional volume discounts are applied on purchases of $1,000 or more.  

         CyberFirst : eRisk Hub is a private web based portal containing information and technical resources that can assist in the 
      prevention of network, cyber and privacy events and provide timely support if an incident occurs.

         In the Public Interest  Newsletter: Each issue of this newsletter addresses risk control concerns for general liability, vehicle 
      operations and employment practices. The newsletter also features risk control and risk management information to minimize 
      the frequency and severity of losses.

At Travelers, we are dedicated to meeting our public entity clients' risk management and risk control needs. 
We are pleased to offer you these valuable risk control resources as a part of this insurance proposal. 

         Travelers Web Site: As a policyholder, you will have access to our Risk Control Web-site.  You will be able to immediately 
      download risk control materials, or order them from our products database.  In addition, the site provides a pathway to 
      register for our Safety Academy courses....http://www.travelers.com/riskcontrol 


         Public Sector Risk Control Answer Line: Have a technical question about a risk control issue?  Use the Travelers Public Sector 
      Answer Line.  Clients can direct their specific risk control questions to the Answer Line for advice and information.   
      Ask Risk-Control@Travelers.com. 

         Employment Practices Liability Risk Management Resources: Our EPL resources include:

1)  Free access to an Internet-based resource site with a wealth of employment practices information including 
     emerging issues in employment law, sample handbook, best practices for policies and procedures, articles, 
     searchable library and much more:

2)  800# Hotline for free general guidance from an attorney who specializes in employment law and can answer questions
    about workplace concerns.  

Our goal is to provide public entities with resources to reduce loss-related expenses and enhance delivery of public services. These risk control 
resources respond to historical losses experienced by public entities and align with "best practices" for government entities, as advocated by the 
Public Risk Management Association (PRIMA) and the International City/County Management Association (ICMA).

When you select Travelers as your insurance carrier, you will have access to a wealth of risk control resources, including, but not limited to: 

         The Public Sector Risk Control Seminars: The value-added risk management programs, seminars and training sessions offered by 
      Travelers help prevent losses and reduce overall costs for public entities. 

RISK CONTROL RESOURCES

Travelers offers risk control resources that have a proven impact on preventing losses and reducing overall costs for public 
entities. These resources have been developed for public entity clients to address issues related to general liability, vehicle safety,
property protection, law enforcement liability and employment practices liability.

Page 4 of 27



#N/A

Cities

Arizona

SIR - Personal & Advertising Injury Each Person or Organization - Loss & Loss Expense 75,000$                            
SIR - Each Abuse or Molestation Offense Retention - Loss & Loss Expense 75,000$                            

SIR - Each Occurrence Retention - Loss & Loss Expense 75,000$                            

Each Abuse Or Molestation Offense Limit 1,000,000$                       

Sewage Back Up 1,000,000$                       

Failure To Supply Sublimit 1,000,000$                       

Abuse or Molestation Aggregate Limit 1,000,000$                       

Each Occurrence Limit 1,000,000$                       

The following limits apply:

Damage to Premises Rented to You Limit (Any One Premises) 300,000$                          

Medical Expense Limit (Any One Person) Excluded

General Aggregate Limit 2,000,000$                       

Products Completed Operations Aggregate Limit 2,000,000$                       

Personal and Advertising Injury Liability Any One Person or Organization Limit 1,000,000$                       

GENERAL LIABILITY - OCCURRENCE

Coverage Limit

Page 5 of 27



The following additional coverages are included:  

Professional Health Care & Social Services - (CGD481) applies when "Yes" is indicated below:
EMT's Yes

The following additional exclusions apply:

Excluded Premises & Operations are identified at the end of the proposal.

• Exclusion - Access or Disclosure of Confidential Or 
   Personal Information

• Exclusion - Lead

• Designated Activities or Operations

• Law Enforcement Activities Or Operations • Discrimination

• Medical Payments Exclusion • Professional Health Care Services - Public Entities

• Employees And Volunteer Workers As Insureds 
  For Certain Bodily Injury, Personal Injury And 
  Property Damage

• Exclusion - Consumer Financial Protection Laws

• Employment-Related Practices Exclusion • War

• Asbestos • Public Use Of Private Property

• Injury to Volunteer Firefighters • Fungi or Bacteria

• Employers Liability Exclusion • Unsolicited Communications

• Public Entity Xtend • Cap on Certified Acts of Terrorism

• Products/Completed Operations Hazard Redefined • Cemetery Professional Services Liability

• Limited Abuse & Molestation Liability 
• Professional Health Care And Social Services Liability 
Coverage - Designated Professionals - Public Entities

GENERAL LIABILITY - OCCURRENCE

• Amendment of Coverage B - Personal & Advertising
  Injury

• Mobile Equipment Redefined - Public Entities

• Amendment - Pollution Exclusion • Failure to Supply - Limited Coverage

Page 6 of 27



Coverage

Who is an Insured

Other

       Employment-related practices are excluded.  Coverage may be available under the Employment-Related 
      Practices Liability - Claims-Made agreement.

Elected or Appointed Officials Lessors of Equipment

Board Members Watercraft Users

Employees and Volunteer Workers

      Your Law Enforcement Activities or Operations, including jail premises, are excluded.  Coverage may be available under 
      Law Enforcement Liability agreement.

• Unintentional Omission will not prejudice rights under
   insurance;

• Knowledge and Notice of Occurrence or Offense;

• Blanket Waiver of Subrogation.

Pollution Coverage - broadening endorsement includes coverage for bodily injury and property damage arising out of certain discharges or 
releases of pollutants caused by:
• Pesticide, herbicide, fungicide or fertilizer application;
• Chlorine, sodium hypochlorite or any other chemical use in sewage treatment, water purification or swimming pool maintenance;
• Use of substances in providing, or training for, fire-fighting or emergency response services; or
• Sewage back-up into a building from any named insured’s sewage treatment facility or sanitary sewer.

Public Entity Owners, Managers or Lessors of Premises

• Owned Watercraft Less Than 25 Feet - Exception to 
   Aircraft, Auto Or Watercraft Exclusion;

• Aircraft Chartered With Pilot - Exception to Aircraft, Auto 
   Or Watercraft Exclusion;

• Damage to Premises Rented to You – Exception to 
   Damage To Property Exclusion;

• Increased Supplementary Payments For Bail Bonds;

• Good Samaritan Services Coverage; • Contractual Liability - Railroads;

GENERAL LIABILITY - OCCURRENCE

  Features & Benefits

Coverage features include:

• Reasonable Force Property Damage – Exception to 
   Expected Or Intended Injury Exclusion;

• Non-Owned Watercraft 50 Feet Long or Less – Exception to 
   Aircraft, Auto Or Watercraft Exclusion;

Page 7 of 27



Retroactive  Date:

Coverage

Who is an Insured

None

  Features & Benefits

This coverage form is designed to provide coverage for damages that the insured is legally obligated to pay because of  a negligent act, error or 
omission committed in the administration of the named insured’s employee benefit program, as that term is defined in the coverage form.  
Administration includes counseling employees, including their dependents and beneficiaries, with respect to the employee benefit program and 
handling records in connection with the employee benefit program.  

Public Entity
Employees

Each Employee Limit 1,000,000$                       

SIR - Each Employee Retention - Loss & Loss Expense 75,000$                            

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITY 
Claims Made

Coverage Limit

Aggregate Limit 3,000,000$                       

Page 8 of 27



The Following Endorsements Apply: 

Coverage 

• Bodily Injury, Personal Injury and Property Damage; • Authorized Moonlighting;

• Canine & Equine Exposures;

• Injury due to the use of mace, pepper spray or tear gas; • False Arrest, Detention or Imprisonment;

• Mental Anguish, Emotional Distress; • False or Improper Service of Process;

• Violation of Civil Rights protected under any federal, state or local law; • Mutual Aid Agreements.
Who Is An Insured

Other 

       Additional Supplementary Payment of $25,000 for personal property of others (Deductible options only).

      Damages include plaintiff’s attorney fees if awarded or paid in settlement.

       Defense outside limits.

       Pay on behalf of basis (Deductible Options Only).

       Duty to defend claims and suits even if allegations are groundless, false, or fraudulent (Deductible Options Only).

       Contractual Liability Exclusion does not apply to injury or damage if insured would have liability for damages even without 
      the contract. 
       Professional Health Care Services Exclusion does not apply to providing first aid or to certain services performed by 
      non-medical staff.
       Coverage for jail nurses providing professional health care services can be added by endorsement.
    Limits not reduced by payment of deductible or self-insured retention.

Elected and Appointed Officials, 
   Executive Officers and Directors 

Volunteer Workers

  Features & Benefits

This coverage is designed to cover the premises and operations exposures and the professional liability of law enforcement agencies, including 
your jail operations. It covers amounts any insured is legally required to pay as damages for covered bodily injury, property damage or personal 
injury that is caused by a wrongful act committed by you or on your behalf while conducting law enforcement activities or operations. Wrongful 
act is defined as any act, error or omission. Insurance applies to:

• Injury caused by electric mobility devices not subject to compulsory/financial 
   responsibility law;

Public Entity Employees Legal Representatives

• Mobile Equipment Redefined-Exclusion of Vehicles 
    Subject to Motor Vehicle Laws

• Amendment of Common Policy Conditions-Prohibited Coverage-
   Unlicensed Insurance and Trade or Economic Sanctions

• Fungi or Bacteria Exclusion • Cap On Losses From Certified Acts of Terrorism

SIR - Each Wrongful Act Retention - Damages and Defense Expenses 75,000$                            

Occurrence

Coverage Limit

Aggregate Limit 1,000,000$                       
Each Wrongful Act Limit 1,000,000$                       

LAW ENFORCEMENT LIABILITY

Page 9 of 27



The Following Endorsements are Included: 

No Airport Yes Transit Authorities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Clinics Yes Gas Utilities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Hospital Yes Electric Utilities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Blood Banks Yes Housing Authorities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Nursing Homes Yes Schools or School Districts

Yes Health Care Facilities:Rehabilitation Facilities Yes Joint Powers Authority

Yes Port Authorities

Coverage

Who Is An Insured
Public Entity

Other 
       Pay on behalf of basis, (Deductible options only).

       Professional health care services and law enforcement activities or operations exclusions apply.
       Coverage for insured persons appointed at the named insured’s request to serve on outside nonprofit tax-exempt entity.

      Breach of Contract Exclusion does not apply to loss arising out of the breach of a mutual aid agreement.

      Definition of “suit” includes arbitration/alternative dispute resolution proceeding seeking money damages.
   Coverage for Limited Special Expense Reimbursement – Key Employees.  (Available premium charge required for 
      endorsement).

       Duty to defend claims and suits even if allegations are groundless, false, or fraudulent (Deductible Options Only).

      Coverage for “your boards” operating under your jurisdiction and part of total operating budget.

      Coverage extends to employed: lawyers, architects, engineers, accountants and other professional “employees” while performing 
      duties related to the conduct of your business (Professional Health Care Services Exclusion and certain other exclusions apply, 
      however).
      Coverage applies to zoning disputes that seek damages, provided that such claims do not amount to a of “taking or controlling of 
       private property for public use or benefit, including the diminution in value for such property”.

This coverage is designed to cover damages any insured is legally required to pay for covered loss that is caused by a wrongful act committed 
while conducting duties by or on behalf of a public entity or its boards. Wrongful act is defined as any act, error or omission.  (Excludes 
coverage for bodily injury, personal injury, advertising injury, property damage and employment-related loss.)

Employees (including employees of the entity’s boards)
Boards and Board Members Legal Representatives
Elected and Appointed Officials,
      Executive Officers & Directors

Volunteer Workers

The Following Are Excluded When “Yes” Is Indicated Below.  
If “No” Is Indicated, An Amendment And/Or Manuscript Endorsement May Be Required.

Features and Benefits

Retroactive Date: 6/1/1995
IMPORTANT NOTICE:  
Deductibles apply to damages & defense expenses unless required otherwise by state regulation.

• Amendment of Network & Information Security 
   Wrongful Act Definition

• Amendment of Common Policy Conditions-Prohibited Coverage-
   Unlicensed Insurance and Trade or Economic Sanctions

• Cap On Losses From Certified Acts of Terrorism • Amendment of Coverage - Designated Boards, 
Commissions, Or Governmental Units or Departments

SIR - Each Wrongful Act Retention - Damages and Defense Expenses 75,000$                            

Coverage Limit
Aggregate Limit 1,000,000$                       
Each Wrongful Act Limit 1,000,000$                       

PUBLIC ENTITY MANAGEMENT LIABILITY
Claims-Made

Page 10 of 27



Coverage

Who Is An Insured

Other 

No Airport Yes Transit Authorities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Clinics Yes Gas Utilities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Hospital Yes Electric Utilities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Blood Banks Yes Housing Authorities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Nursing Homes Yes Schools or School Districts

Yes Health Care Facilities:Rehabilitation Facilities Yes Joint Powers Authority

Broad Definition Wrongful Employment Practice Offense.

Duty to defend suits that are governmental administrative hearings seeking injunctive relief, such as EEOC proceedings.

Defense expenses are payable within the limits of insurance.  Damages include attorneys’ fees of the person making or 
      bringing the claim or suit if the insured is legally required to pay them under the law which was violated.
   Breach of Contract Exclusion applies only to written contracts (not verbal).
   Damages include Back/Front Pay if awarded. 
   Third Party Sexual Harassment coverage available (Additional premium charge required for endorsement.
   Defense obligation for criminal,dishonest, fraudulent or malicious wrongful employment practice offenses or knowing 
      violations of rights or laws provided until it has been admitted or determined in a legal proceeding that such wrongful 
      employment practice offense was committed by that insured or with consent or knowledge of that insured.
   Contractual Liability Exclusion does not apply to employment loss if insured would have liability for damages even 
     without the contract. 

The Following Are Excluded When “Yes” Is Indicated Below.  
If “No” Is Indicated, An Amendment And/Or Manuscript Endorsement May Be Required.

Elected and Appointed Officials, 
    Executive Officers & Directors

Volunteer Workers

Pay on behalf of basis (Deductible options only).
Duty to defend claims or suits even if allegations are groundless, false, or fraudulent (Deductible Options Only).

Features and Benefits

This coverage is designed to cover damages any insured is legally required to pay for covered employment loss caused by a wrongful 
employment practice offense.  (Excludes coverage for bodily injury and property damage.) Wrongful employment practice offense is defined to 
include discrimination; wrongful termination; harassment; retaliatory action; wrongful discipline; wrongful hiring, supervision, demotion, or 
failure to promote; and employment-related misrepresentation, defamation, libel, slander, disparagement, and invasion of privacy.

Public Entity Employees (including employees of the entity’s boards)
Boards and Board Members Legal Representatives

The Following Endorsements Apply
• Exclusion - Other Employment Laws • Amendment of Common Policy Conditions-Prohibited Coverage-

   Unlicensed Insurance and Trade or Economic Sanctions
• Amendment of Coverage- Designated Boards, 
Commissions, or Governmental Units or Departments

• Cap On Losses From Certified Acts of Terrorism

Retroactive Date: 6/1/1995

Aggregate Limit 5,000,000$                       
Each Wrongful Employment Practice Offense Limit 5,000,000$                       

SIR - Each Wrongful Employment Practice Offense Retention - Damages and Defense Expenses 75,000$                            

PUBLIC ENTITY EMPLOYMENT-RELATED PRACTICES LIABILITY  
Claims Made

Important Notice:
The Public Entity Employment-Related Practices Liability Form provides claims-made coverage.

Coverage Limit

Page 11 of 27



Yes Port Authorities

Page 12 of 27



Third-Party Liability 

First-Party Liability

Security Breach Notification and Remediation Expenses 

Crisis Management Service Expenses

The Following Are Excluded When "Yes" Is Indicated Below:

No Airport Yes Transit Authorities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Clinics Yes Gas Utilities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Hospital Yes Electric Utilities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Blood Banks Yes Housing Authorities

Yes Health Care Facilities: Nursing Homes Yes Schools or School Districts

Yes Health Care Facilities:Rehabilitation Facilities Yes Joint Powers Authority

Yes Port Authorities

The Following Exclusions Apply

• Exclusion - Employment Related Practices
• Exclusion - Designated Boards, Commissions or 
Governmental Units or Departments

Retroactive Date: 6/1/2009

The Following Endorsements Apply

• Cap On Losses From Certified Acts of Terrorism

5,000$                             50,000$                             

5,000$                             50,000$                             

* Deductible applies to damages & defense expenses unless required otherwise by state regulation.
** Defense expenses within the limits of coverage and deductible unless required otherwise by state regulation.

First Party Deductible Sub LimitsCyberFirst Expense Reimbursement Coverage Form 

Network And Information Security Liability Coverage Form 5,000$                             1,000,000$                        

CyberFirst Liability Limits Limits(**)

Aggregate Limit 1,000,000$                        

Third Party 
Deductible (*)

Each Wrongful 
Act Limit

IMPORTANT NOTICE: 
CYBERFIRST LIABILITY COVERAGE IS PROVIDED ON A CLAIMS-MADE BASIS AND DEFENSE EXPENSES ARE PAYABLE 
WITHIN, AND ARE NOT IN ADDITION TO, THE LIMITS OF INSURANCE.  PAYMENTS MADE UNDER YOUR FIRST-PARTY 
COVERAGE FORM, IF THAT FORM IS PART OF YOUR POLICY, WILL REDUCE THE LIMITS OF INSURANCE.

CYBERFIRST LIABILITY - Claims Made Coverage

Page 13 of 27



This special coverage is an integrated product that provides:

  Claims-made coverage;

   A Supplemental Extended Reporting Period Endorsement (12 months, 24, months, 36 months, 60 months or of unlimited

      duration) is available for an extra charge if coverage is discontinued or not renewed;

   Applies on an excess basis over any valid and collectible other insurance.  

Provides the following first-party reimbursement coverages for the Named Insured: 

  Business Interruption & Additional Expenses Coverage; 

  Extortion Expenses Coverage;

  Computer Program and Electronic Data Restoration Expenses Coverage;

  Computer Fraud;

  Funds Transfer Fraud Coverage; 

  Telecommunications Service Theft Coverage;

  Unauthorized use of any advertising material, or any slogan or title, of others in the advertising of the business, premises, 
     products, services, work or complete work of others;
  Infringement of copyright, title, slogan, trademark, trade name, trade dress, service mark, or service name in your 
     covered material;
  Plagiarism or unauthorized use of a literary or artistic format, character or performance in your covered material.

CyberFirst Expense Reimbursement Coverage Form (Optional coverage – not included unless noted above)

  Security Breach Notification Expenses Coverage;  

Crisis Management Service Expenses Coverage;

Failure to prevent the transmission of a computer virus;
   Failure to provide any authorized user of your web-site or your computer or communications network with access
      to such website or such computer or communication network;

   Failure to prevent unauthorized access to, or use of, electronic data containing private or confidential information of others;

   Failure to provide notification of any actual or potential unauthorized access to, or use of, data containing private or confidential 
      information of others as required by any security breach notification law that applies to you.

CyberFirst Communications And Media Liability Coverage Form (Optional coverage - not included unless noted above)
Covers the following wrongful acts committed by or on behalf of an insured in the conduct of the Named Insured’s business:

   Who is Insured: 
          - Public Entity;                                             - Employees (including employees of the entity's boards);
          - Boards & Board Members;                        - Legal Representatives (if the entity becomes insolvent or bankrupt;
          - Elected & Appointed Officials                    - Volunteer Workers;
             Executive Officers & Directors.

This insurance does not apply to the extent that providing coverage for a loss would expose Travelers or any of its affiliated or parent companies 
to trade or economic sanctions.  

This insurance also does not apply to the extent that providing coverage for a loss would violate the laws or regulations of a foreign country or 
jurisdiction that apply to unlicensed insurance.  In the event of a loss incurred by a foreign insured organization to which the insurance would 
have applied but for such laws or regulations, we will reimburse a Named Insured other than a foreign insured organization for the amount of 
such loss because of that Named Insured's financial interest in the foreign insured organization.

CyberFirst Network and Information Security Coverage Form
Coverage for the following wrongful acts committed by or on behalf of an insured in the conduct of your business:

  CYBERFIRST Liability (Claims Made)  
  Program Features & Benefits

 • Cyber liability and first-party coverage provided through a modular policy structure.  The policy contains the CyberFirst General 
    Provisions Form and the CyberFirst Network and Information Security Liability Coverage Form. The insured can also 
    purchase the CyberFirst Communications and Media Liability Coverage Form and the CyberFirst Expense 
    Reimbursement Coverage Form if first-party coverages are desired;

  World-wide coverage – covers wrongful acts committed anywhere and claims made or suit’s brought anywhere in the world,
    unless prohibited by law or regulation;

Page 14 of 27



388          

51            

SIR - Self Insured Retention Each Accident - Liability - Loss and Loss Expense 75,000$                            

Number of trailers:

Number of autos, excluding trailers:

Underinsured Motorist Not Covered

Medical Payments    Not Covered

Uninsured Motorist Not Covered

Liability                    1 Only 1,000,000$                       

Personal Injury Protection Not Covered

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Liability Coverage Auto Symbols Limit

Page 15 of 27



Covered Autos Described As

$20,000 

$20,000 

$20,000 

Hired Car Physical Damage Comprehensive

Hired Car Physical Damage Collision 5,000$                            

Hired Physical Damage Deductible

1,000$                            

Any Owned Auto with an Original Cost New greater than: Collision  $                              5,000 

 Owned Covered Autos Not Otherwise Described Below:

Any Owned Auto with an Original Cost New greater than: Comprehensive  $                              1,000 

AUTOMOBILE PHYSICAL DAMAGE DEDUCTIBLES
Deductible Amount - Deductibles shown below apply to each covered auto.

Description of Covered Autos To Which This Insurance Applies Coverage Deductible

Any Owned Auto with an Original Cost New greater than: Actual Cash Value                         26,042,498 

AUTOMOBILE PHYSICAL DAMAGE COVERAGE

Valuation Total OCN

Symbol 10 Comprehensive & Collision coverage applies to:

Page 16 of 27



Coverage

Who is Insured for Auto Liability

Other

The Following Endorsements Apply:

• Amendment of Bodily Injury Definition • Public Entity Auto Extension

• Employees As Insureds - CA 99 33 • Exclusion - Aviation Emergency or Designated Airport 
Premises - City of Flagstaff - CA T8 01

• Blanket Additional Insured - CA T4 37

• Professional Services Not Covered • Emergency Vehicles - Volunteer Firefighters' & 
  Workers' Injuries Excluded

Auto Liability coverage if written is extended to provide:
●  Bail Bonds $3,000
●  Insureds Expenses - $500 A Day
●  Transit Rodeo

●  Expected or Intended Injury if Protecting a Person 
     or Property
●  Blanket Waiver or Subrogation
●  Unintentional Errors or Omissions

Auto Physical Damage coverage if written is extended to provide:

●  Airbags - $1,000
●  Personal Property - $400
●  Waiver of Deductible - Repaired Glass Only
●  Transportation Expenses - 
    $50 A Day / $1,500 Maximum

●  Freezing of Fire Truck Equipment
●  Customized Equipment for Emergency 
    Vehicles and Public Transportation Autos
●  Hired Auto Physical Damage - 
    Loss of Use $65 A Day/$750 Maximum

Public Entity Elected or Appointed Officials
Board Members Volunteer or Employee Firefighters
Owner of a Commandeered Auto

Automobile Liability and Physical Damage  Features & Benefits

This coverage is designed to cover amounts any insured is legally required to pay as damages for covered bodily injury and property damage that 
results from the ownership, maintenance, use, loading or unloading of a covered auto and is caused by an accident.  In addition, coverage is 
provided for covered pollution costs or expense that results from an accident, which also causes bodily injury or property damage.  Coverage 
also applies for physical damage to covered autos, if shown on the previous page.

Page 17 of 27



 $421 per power unit auto  $                             0.070  $                                     0.051 

3. The premium charged at inception is the estimated annual premium based on the number of units and total original cost new for all covered 
autos on file with the company at inception.  The insured is to submit a current schedule of owned automobiles as of the expiration of the policy 
and the total earned premium will be computed on the basis of the average net change  in units and their corresponding original cost new for 
the policy term.

4. All autos added will carry the same Liability limits and Physical Damage deductibles issued at policy inception for autos of the same type.

5. Any new auto requiring valuation other than actual cash value must be reported within 30 days of acquisition.  These autos will be added to 
the policy automobile schedule mid term and a final premium will be determined at policy expiration.

Automobile Composite Rating

In order to provide our insureds better service and administrative efficiency, Travelers Public Sector Services is pleased to provide the following 
process for handling mid-term automobile change requests.  All requests will be managed in accordance with the Composite Rate Application 
outlined below.  The insured should continue to submit all change requests to their agent for accurate record keeping and claims verification 
purposes.   Particular attention should be paid to Item 5, which specifies the types of automobiles that will continue to require reporting to the 
Company.

Composite Rate Application

1. If your policy includes the coverage for which a composite rate is designated in the table below then the premium for that coverage is 
composite rated.  Automobile Liability is rated on a "per unit" basis and Automobile Physical Damage is rated on the basis of the original cost 
new of the autos.  The composite rates reflect premium charges for any applicable miscellaneous auto coverages, with the exception of 
Garagekeepers Legal Liability.

2. The composite rates for Automobile Liability and Physical Damage are the rates applicable at the inception of the policy.  Based on the 
information provided for this proposal and as of the date of this proposal, these rates are as follows:

Liability Comprehensive Collision

Page 18 of 27



General Aggregate Coverage is provided over the following:

• Designated Activities or Operations 

• Amendment of Damage To Your Work Exclusion • Exclusion - Consumer Financial Protection Laws

• Public Use Of Private Property Exclusion
• Exclusion - Access or Disclosure of 
   Confidential Or Personal Information

• Total Exclusion - Failure to Supply

• Amendment of Contractual Liability Exclusion  • Discrimination

• Amendment Of Watercraft Or Aircraft Exclusion  • Abuse or Molestation

• Amendment of Damage to Property Exclusion  • Amendment Pollution Exclusion

• Injury To Volunteer Firefighters Exclusion - 
  Limited Following Form

• Professional Health Care Services Limited 
   Following Form - Public Entities

• Asbestos Exclusion • Fungi or Bacteria Exclusion

• War Exclusion • Unsolicited Communications

• Professional Health Care & Social Services Liability

The Following Exclusions Apply:

The Following Endorsements Apply:
• Amendment of Coverage B - Personal & Advertising 
  Injury

• Cap on Losses from Certified Acts of Terrorism

• Amendment of Who is an Insured • Crisis Management Services Expenses

• Products/Completed Operations Hazard Redefined • Cemetery Professional Services Liability

Employee Benefits Liability

Law Enforcement Liability

Public Entity Management Liability

Retained Limit Any One Occurrence or Offense 10,000$                            

General Liability Automobile Liability

Products / Completed Operations Aggregate Limit 20,000,000$                     
Personal and Advertising Injury Any One Person or Organization Limit 20,000,000$                     
Each Occurrence Limit 20,000,000$                     

General Aggregate Limit 20,000,000$                     

UMBRELLA EXCESS LIABILITY

Coverage Limit

Page 19 of 27



Coverage

UMBRELLA EXCESS LIABILITY - OCCURRENCE

Features & Benefits

This main purpose of this coverage is to provide excess limits above primary coverage for bodily injury, property damage, personal injury and 
advertising injury, as well as for other types of coverage when the Umbrella policy includes an excess coverage endorsement for such other 
coverage. Examples of such other coverage may include Law Enforcement Liability, Public Entity Management Liability, Employment –Related 
Practices Liability and CyberFirst Liability coverage.

Page 20 of 27



GL & UMB GL & UMB
Airport, including any airfield, runway, hangar terminal, 
or other property in connection with aviation activities

Housing project or authority

EXCLUDED PREMISES & OPERATIONS FOR GENERAL LIABILITY AND UMBRELLA

The following Premises or Operations are excluded by Designated Activities or Operations Exclusion Endorsement for General Liability 
Coverage Form (when GL is shown below) and Umbrella Liability Coverage Form (when UMB is shown below). 

GL & UMB

Page 21 of 27



o    quarterly loss runs from the TPA or self administrator that include the date of loss, claimant name,  
     description of the claim, open and closed claim amounts, open and closed expense amounts,

o     cooperation in claim audits (minimum requirement is annual),
o     a copy of the agreement between the TPA and insured, and
o     advance notice of any change in claim administrator.

Please refer to the coverage forms outlining your responsibilities to report claims.

When Travelers is not the claim administrator, we require:
o      immediate notification of:

any claim exceeding 50% of any SIR,
the total claim activity exceeding 50% of the total SIR, and
serious injury claims outlined in policy forms.

Employee Benefit Plan Liability
Coverages: Law Enforcement Liability

Public Entity Management Liability
Employment-Related Practice Liability
Auto Liability

Entity Approved to Handle Claims: Self-Managed Claim Handling

General Liability

SPECIAL CLAIM HANDLING CONDITIONS

When your coverage is written on a Self-Insured Retention basis:
The Multiple Self-Insured Retention Endorsement will apply to the following coverages shown below:
This quote is valid only for claim administrator shown below:

Page 22 of 27



Account Executive:
Fax Number:  

Entity Name:

Agency: State:

Coverage Included Charge For Insured Losses 

Property 

Inland Marine 1% of the applicable premium. 

Workers' Compensation See workers compensation premium schedule. 

Note – terrorism premium charges are subject to change at any 
time based on state regulatory action. 

All other coverages subject to TRIA 1% of the applicable premium. 

3% of the total Property Coverage premium.  

The federal Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 as amended (“TRIA”) establishes a program under which the Federal 
Government may partially reimburse “Insured Losses” (as defined in TRIA) caused by “Acts Of Terrorism” (as defined in 
TRIA). “Act Of Terrorism” is defined in Section 102(1) of TRIA to mean any act that is certified by the Secretary of the Treasury 
– in consultation with the Secretary of Homeland Security and the Attorney General of the United States – to be an act of 
terrorism; to be a violent act or an act that is dangerous to human life, property, or infrastructure; to have resulted in damage 
within the United States, or outside the United States in the case of certain air carriers or vessels or the premises of a United 
States Mission; and to have been committed by an individual or individuals as part of an effort to coerce the civilian population 
of the United States or to influence the policy or affect the conduct of the United States Government by coercion.

The Federal Government’s share of compensation for such Insured Losses is established by TRIA and is a percentage of the 
amount of such Insured Losses in excess of each Insurer’s “Insurer Deductible” (as defined in TRIA), subject to the “Program 
Trigger” (as defined in TRIA). Through 2020, that percentage is established by TRIA as follows:
85% with respect to such Insured Losses occurring in calendar year 2015.
84% with respect to such Insured Losses occurring in calendar year 2016.
83% with respect to such Insured Losses occurring in calendar year 2017.
82% with respect to such Insured Losses occurring in calendar year 2018.
81% with respect to such Insured Losses occurring in calendar year 2019.
80% with respect to such Insured Losses occurring in calendar year 2020.

In no event, however, will the Federal Government be required to pay any portion of the amount of such Insured Losses 
occurring in a calendar year that in the aggregate exceeds $100 billion, nor will any Insurer be required to pay any portion of such 
amount provided that such Insurer has met its Insurer Deductible. Therefore, if such Insured Losses occurring in a calendar year 
exceed $100 billion in the aggregate, the amount of any payments by the Federal Government and any coverage provided by this 
policy for losses caused by Acts Of Terrorism may be reduced.

For coverages other than Workers Compensation and Employers Liability that apply to such Insured Losses, the charge for such 
Insured Losses is included in the premium for such coverage and is listed below.  Any charges for Insured Losses, regardless of 
coverage type, do not include any charge for the portion of such Insured Losses covered by the Federal Government under TRIA.

eff Godwin, AU, ARM, CPC
       651-310-5383

Terrorism Risk Insurance Act Disclosure

City of Flagstaff

Willis of AZ, Inc Arizona

Page 23 of 27



Account Executive:
Fax Number:  

State:

PREMIUM
$116,082 X

$191 X

$142,201 X

$21,111 X

$42,699 X

$163,348 X

$31,609 X

$111,300 X

$4,069 X

$632,610 X

Signature: Date:

CyberFirst Liability ZPL-13S47452

Umbrella ZUP-15P01926

Auto Physical Damage 810-9156P739

Employee Benefit Plans Liability ZLP-15P01914

Law Enforcement Liability ZLP-15P01914

Public Entity Management Liability ZLP-15P01914

Total Premium 

General Liability ZLP-15P01914

COVERAGE    INSUREDS SELECTION POLICY NUMBER

Public Entity Employment-Related Practices Liability ZLP-15P01914

Auto Liability 810-9156P739

AGENCY BILL PAYMENT PLAN OPTIONS
INSTALLMENT 

CHARGE
SELECTION

Full Payment - due at inception None XXX

This notice serves as a premium summary and provisional bill.  If a delay in the issuing of a policy, endorsement or premium bearing instrument 
occurs, and we issue either a premium bearing instrument or an individual bill, you are obligated to remit premium to us before we issue the 
policy or endorsement.  Payment from you on individual bills is due on the date specified on the bill.   To bind coverage:

         Place a checkmark in the box next to the payment plan and lines of business to be bound;
         Sign this form and fax or email to the underwriter named above.

Note:  The estimated premium shown in the Premium Schedule and Quote Options, if any, may differ from actual premiums shown on the 

IMPORTANT NOTE REGARDING THE ACCOUNT MINIMUM PREMIUM:  The lines of business shown in the Premium Schedule 
and Quote Options , if any, are subject to a $5,000 account minimum premium.  If the line(s) of business selected for binding do not total at least 
$5,000, then the premiums shown for those lines of business will be adjusted to total $5,000.  

       651-310-5383

ACCOUNT PREMIUM SUMMARY & PROVISIONAL BILL

Entity Name: City of Flagstaff

Agency: Willis of AZ, Inc Arizona

eff Godwin, AU, ARM, CPC

Page 24 of 27



PREMIUM

inspection should be done this summer.

GENERAL CONDITIONS

THIS BINDER OUTLINES THE COVERAGE FORMS, LIMITS OF INSURANCE, POLICY ENDORSEMENTS AND OTHER PROVISIONS OF 
YOUR POLICY.  THIS IS NOT A COMPLETE LISTING OF ALL THE ENDORSEMENTS INCLUDED IN YOUR POLICY.  IN ADDITION TO 
THE POLICY ENDORSEMENTS OUTLINED IN THIS BINDER, ANY RESULTING INSURANCE POLICY ISSUED BY TRAVELERS MAY 
INCLUDE ADDITIONAL ENDORSEMENTS, INCLUDING STATE-MANDATED ENDORSEMENTS, THAT MAY AFFECT COVERAGE 
UNDER THIS BINDER AND THE POLICY.  THIS BINDER IS VALID UNTIL YOUR POLICY IS ISSUED OR CANCELLED.  WHEN ISSUED, 
YOUR POLICY WILL, WITHOUT NOTICE, AUTOMATICALLY CANCEL, REPLACE AND SUPERSEDE THIS BINDER AND ANY OTHER 
CORRESPONDENCE THAT DOCUMENTS THE INSURANCE COVERAGE REFERENCED HEREIN.  PLEASE REVIEW THIS BINDER 
CAREFULLY.  IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS, PLEASE CONTACT YOUR AGENT OR BROKER.

ANY COVERAGE UNDER THIS BINDER IS SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE ACTUAL FORMS IN CURRENT USE BY US, AS 
WELL AS PAYMENT OF YOUR PREMIUM.  THIS BINDER DOES NOT AMEND, OR OTHERWISE AFFECT, THE PROVISIONS OR 
COVERAGE OF ANY RESULTING INSURANCE POLICY ISSUED BY US.  IT IS NOT A REPRESENTATION THAT COVERAGE DOES OR 
DOES NOT EXIST FOR ANY PARTICULAR CLAIM OR LOSS UNDER ANY SUCH POLICY.  COVERAGE DEPENDS ON THE 
APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE ACTUAL POLICY ISSUED, THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES INVOLVED IN THE CLAIM OR 
LOSS, AND ANY APPLICABLE LAW.

As Broker/Agent you will be responsible for being aware of and complying with the various legal requirements associated with 
countersignature in various jurisdictions covered in the policies.
The binder is valid until your policy is issued or cancelled.

When available, please provide a complete copy of the state dam inspection for Upper Lake Mary Dam - the

OTHER INFORMATION

Please provide the following information:

Umbrella:  To provide coverage over Employers Liability, the underlying carrier must have a Best Rating of "A- VI " 
or higher and limits must be at least 500,000/500,000/500,000.  Provide a copy of Declarations page for verification 
of coverage prior to binding.

$                                           -   

$                                           -   

$                                           -   

$                                           -   

$                                           -   

QUOTE OPTIONS AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

QUOTE OPTION INSUREDS SELECTION

$                                           -   

$                                           -   

Page 25 of 27



Entity Name:

Agency:

COVERAGE

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%CyberFirst Liability

Public Entity Management Liability

Public Entity Employment-Related Practices Liability

Auto Liability

Auto Physical Damage

Umbrella

General Liability

Employee Benefit Plans Liability

Law Enforcement Liability

COMMISSION

City of Flagstaff

Willis of AZ, Inc

COMMISSION

Page 26 of 27



CP-68-20 07-08

http://www.travelers.com/w3c/legal/Producer_Compensation_Disclosure.html

If you prefer, you can call the following toll-free number: 1-866-904-8348.  Or you can 
write to us at Travelers, Enterprise Development, One Tower Square, Hartford, CT 
06183

Important Notice Regarding Compensation Disclosure

For information about how Travelers compensates independent agents, brokers, or 
other insurance producers, please visit this website: 

Page 27 of 27



ACE WESTCHESTER SPECIALTY
601 South Figueroa Street, 15Th Floor, Los Angeles, CA 90017

Tel  (213) 833 -3100            Fax (213) 833-3275

DATE:   February 17, 2016

TO:   Stephan Prufer FROM:   Sheila Fujimoto
Willis Global Aviation, Loa Angeles

RISK ID: 27833

FAX:   213-607-6301

SUBJECT: City of Flagstaff

COMMENTS: We have pleasure in enclosing our Airport Owners and Operators quotation(s) in respect
of the referenced Insured.

Commission to your office is as follows: Nil

Thank you for the opportunity to provide you with this quotation.

Best Regards,

Sheila Fujimoto



POLICYHOLDER DISCLOSURE
NOTICE OF TERRORISM
INSURANCE COVERAGE

You are hereby notified that under the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act, as amended, you have a right to purchase insurance
Coverage for losses resulting from acts of terrorism, as defined in Section 102(1) of the Act: The term "act of terrorism"
means any act that is certified by the Secretary of the Treasury- in consultation with the Secretary of Homeland Security,
and the Attorney General of the United States- to be an act of terrorism; to be a violent act or an act that is dangerous to
human life, property, or infrastructure; to have resulted in damage within the United States, or outside the United States
in the case of certain air carriers or vessels or the premises of a United States mission; and to have been committed by an
individual or individuals as part of an effort to coerce the civilian population of the United States or to influence the policy
or affect the conduct of the United States Government by coercion.

YOU SHOULD KNOW THAT WHERE COVERAGE IS PROVIDED BY THIS POLICY FOR LOSSES RESULTING FROM
CERTIFIED ACTS OF TERRORISM, SUCH LOSSES MAY BE PARTIALLY REIMBURSED BY THE UNITED STATES
GOVERNMENT UNDER A FORMULA ESTABLISHED BY FEDERAL LAW. HOWEVER, YOUR POLICY MAY 
CONTAIN OTHER EXCLUSIONS WHICH MIGHTAFFECT YOUR COVERAGE, SUCH AS AN EXCLUSION FOR
NUCLEAR EVENTS. UNDER THE FORMULA, THE UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT GENERALLY  REIMBURSES
85% THROUGH 2015; 84% BEGINNING ON JANUARY 1, 2016; 83% BEGINNING ON JANUARY 1, 2017; 82%
BEGINNING ON JANUARY 1, 2018; 81% BEGINNING ON JANUARY 1, 2019 AND 80% BEGINNING ON JANUARY
1, 2020 OF COVERED TERRORISM LOSSES EXCEEDING THE STATUTORILY ESTABLISHED DEDUCTIBLE PAID
BY THE INSURANCE COMPANY PROVIDING THE COVERAGE. THE PREMIUM CHARGED FOR THIS COVERAGE
IS PROVIDED BELOW AND,  DOES NOT INCLUDE ANY CHARGES FOR THE PORTION OF LOSS THAT MAY BE
COVERED BY THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT UNDER THE ACT.

YOU SHOULD ALSO KNOW THAT THE TERRORISM RISK INSURANCE ACT, AS AMENDED, CONTAINS A $100
BILLION CAP THAT LIMITS U.S. GOVERNMENT REIMBURSEMENT AS WELL AS INSURERS' LIABILITY FOR
LOSSES RESULTING FROM CERTIFIED ACTS OF TERRORISM WHEN THE AMOUNT OF SUCH LOSSES IN ANY
ONE CALENDAR YEAR EXCEEDS $100 BILLION.  IF THE AGGREGATE INSURED LOSSES FOR ALL INSURERS
EXCEED $100 BILLION, YOUR COVERAGE MAY BE REDUCED.

Acceptance or Rejection of Terrorism Insurance Coverage 

_______I hereby elect to purchase terrorism coverage for a prospective premium of $945

_______I hereby decline to purchase terrorism coverage for certified acts of terrorism. I understand that I will 
have no coverage for losses resulting from certified acts of terrorism. 

________ ___________________________ ACE PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

Policyholder/Applicant's Signature Insurance Company 

_________________________ To be advised when policy purchased
Print Name Policy Number 

_________________________ 
Date

© 2015 National Association of Insurance Commissioners



CHUBB
601 South Figueroa Street, 15Th Floor, Los Angeles, CA 90017

Tel  (213) 833 -3100            Fax (213) 833-3275

TO: -   Stephan Prufer DATE:   February 17, 2016
Willis Global Aviation, Loa Angeles

FROM:   Sheila Fujimoto
FAX: -  213-607-6301 RISK ID:   27833

AIRPORT OWNERS AND OPERATORS LIABILITY QUOTATION
With

ACE PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY
(AA- S&P,  A+ XV Best)

In accordance with your request, we are pleased to provide the following quotation:
.
Please read this quotation carefully, as the limits, coverage and other terms and conditions may vary significantly from
those requested in your submission and/or from the expiring policy.  Terms and conditions that are not specifically
mentioned in this quotation are not included.  The terms and conditions of this quotation supersede the submitted
insurance specifications and all prior quotations  and binders.  Actual coverage will be provided by and in accordance
with the policy as issued.

The insurer is not bound by any statements made in the submission purporting to bind the insurer unless such statement
is reflected in the policy or in an agreement signed by someone authorized to bind the insurer.  

This quotation has been constructed in reliance on the data provided in the submission.  A material change or
misrepresentation of that data voids this quotation.

This quotation is not a binder of insurance.   In no event will this quotation remain open beyond 30 days from the quote 
issuance date shown above or the coverage effective date, whichever comes first.

This quotation is subject to the Insured's producer being duly licensed in his/her resident state; in addition, the producer
must hold a non-resident license in the state in which the Insured is domiciled if different from the producer's resident state.
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

********       THREE YEAR FIXED PREMIUM POLICY OPTION         ********

We offer the option for a three year policy term with premium fixed at three times the annual terms shown in this 
quotation. Premium to be paid in three equal annual installments.
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

The U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, commonly known as "FATCA", became the law in the U.S. in March of 2010
and becomes effective July 1, 2014.  Pursuant to FATCA, brokers, producers, agents and/or clients may need to obtain 
withholding certificates, such as Forms W-8 or W-9, from insurance companies.
For information on how to obtain the applicable withholding certificate from ACE U.S. insurance companies, please go to
http://www.acegroup.com/us-en/assets/www.acegroup.com-w-9.pdf.

NAMED

INSURED: City of Flagstaff

NAMED 211 W. Aspen Avenue
INSURED'S Flagstaff, Arizona  86001
ADDRESS:



PERIOD: From:  July 1, 2016 To:   July 1, 2017
both days at 12.01a.m. Local Time at the address of the Named Insured.

INTEREST: The Insured's legal liability, to which this policy applies, arising out of the Insured's Airport operations at
the following airport location(s):

FAA ID State Name
FLG AZ Flagstaff Pulliam Airport, Flagstaff, AZ

SUM $40,000,000 each occurrence/offense in respect of Bodily Injury, Personal and Advertising Injury and
INSURED: Property Damage combined, subject to the following limitations:

Products-Completed Operations Annual Aggregate Limit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $40,000,000
Personal Injury and Advertising Injury Annual Aggregate limit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $40,000,000
Malpractice Annual Aggregate Limit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $40,000,000
Extended Coverage - War, Hi-jacking and Other Perils Annual Aggregate Limit. . . . . . . . . $40,000,000
Fire Damage Limit Any One Fire . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $500,000
Medical Expense Limit Any One Person . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $10,000
Hangarkeepers not "in flight" Limit Any One occurrence . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $40,000,000
Hangarkeepers not "in flight" Limit Any One Aircraft . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $40,000,000
Non-Owned Aircraft Liability. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $40,000,000

Excess Automobile Liability (off premises) 
   excess of $1,000,000 any one accident/occurrence . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $25,000,000
Excess Employers Liability (excluding disease)
   excess of $1,000,000 any one accident/occurrence . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $25,000,000

DEDUCTIBLE Nil  each occurrence or offense, but not to exceed Nil annual aggregate.

CONDITIONS: The Airport Owners and Operators General Liability Policy contains, inter alia, the following
exclusion clauses:

War, Hi-Jacking and Other Perils Exclusion Clause
Noise, Pollution and Other Perils Exclusion Clause

The policy is also subject to the following:

90 days notice of cancellation, non-renewal or reduction in coverage by Insurer, but
10 days notice for non-payment of premium. This provision does not override the Automatic

Termination review or cancellation provisions of endorsements AAP 203 or AAP 237.

The policy may be cancelled or nonrenewed subject to the terms of the following endorsement
AAP AZ        (11/99) Arizona Changes - Cancellation and Nonrenewal

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Schedule of Policy Forms applicable to airports and locations in: ARIZONA

Form Reference and Edition Title

AAP 200      (07-10) Airport Owners and Operators General Liability Policy - Jacket

AAP 201      (11-99) Airport Owners and Operators General Liability Policy - Declarations

AAP 201S   (11-99) Airport Owners and Operators General Liability Policy -

    - Schedule of Endorsements

AAP 202      (11-99) Airport Owners and Operators General Liability Policy - Policy Provisions

AAP 203      (02-08) Extended Coverage - War, Hi-jacking and Other Perils Endorsement



AAP 204      (11-03) Amendment of Noise and Pollution and Other Perils Exclusion

AAP 211      (03-09) Extension-Specific Excess Automobile Liability Insurance

U/L Limit $1,000,000

Occ Limit $25,000,000

Agg Limit $25,000,000 Applies only if there is an aggregate limit in the underlying

AAP 220      (11/99) Immunity Waiver Endorsement

AAP 227      (03-09) Extension-Specific Excess Employers Liability Insurance

U/L Limit $1,000,000

Occ Limit $25,000,000
Agg Limit $25,000,000 Applies only if there is an aggregate limit in the underlying

AAP 228      (11/99) Cancellation Notification Change 

AAP 234      (11/99) Airport Limited Enhanced Coverage Endorsement

AAP 237      (11/99) Nuclear Risks Exclusion Clause

AAP 248     (11/99) Volunteers Endorsement

AAP 256      (11/99) Date Recognition Exclusion Endorsement

AAP 255      (03-08) Date Recognition Limited Coverage Endorsement

AAP 270      (01-15) Amendment to Include Coverage for Certified Acts of Terrorism; Cap on

      Losses from Certificed Acts of Terrorism

AAP 273     (11-03) Pollution Endorsement

AAP 275     (01-15) Limited Terrorism Coverage Endorsement

AAP 277      (01-06) Silica And Silica-Related Dust Exclusion

AAP 284      (05-11) Mutual Aid Endorsement

Contract with: All written contracts entered into by you.

Contract Date:

ALL-21101    (11-06) Trade or Economic Sanctions Endorsement

AAP 306      (03-08) Infringement of Copyright, Patent, Trademark or Trade Secret Endorsement

AAP 307      (03-08) Amendment to Supplementary Payments (Court Cost) Endorsement

ANNUAL

GL PREMIUM: $9,450

ANNUAL TRIA

PREMIUM: $945

ANNUAL WAR

PREMIUM: $945 Reducing to $236 if TRIA coverage also purchased

The War and TRIA coverages and premiums are quoted on an ''if required'' basis and may be rejected by the Insured

Please note that you do not have authority to bind the above insurance. Please contact us if you wish to bind this
Insurance. We look forward to receiving your instructions and thank you for your inquiry

On behalf of ACE Property and Casualty Insurance Company

By ______________________________________
Sheila Fujimoto

Authorized Representative



  10. D.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: David Pedersen, Capital Improvements Project
Manager

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting
Date:

04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract: Sunnyside Phase V-C Improvement Project.  (Approval of a
road-construction contract in Sunnyside).

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Approve the construction contract with RTR Paving and Resurfacing, Inc. in the amount of
$615,077.70 with a contract period of 135 calendar days;
2) Approve a contract allowance of $60,000 to cover the potential costs associated with
unanticipated or additional items of work;
3) Authorize Change Order Authority for the City Manager in the amount of $61,508 (10% of the
contract amount);
4) Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

Executive Summary:
Award of this contract to RTR Paving and Resurfacing, Inc. will provide an agreement for the construction
services for the Sunnyside Phase V-C Improvement Project. The scope of this project will include five (5)
blocks of the Sunnyside Neighborhood (Attachment 1). Currently, these streets have deteriorated road
surfaces, an absence of sidewalks, curb and gutter, and inadequate stormwater drainage. Roadways
included in this project will be completely reconstructed. Improvements within the scope of this project will
tie into the adjacent street improvements which have already been completed.      
 
This project is scheduled in the Capital Five-Year Plan and is funded by Highway User Revenue Funds
(HURF) for FY2016.

Financial Impact:
The project has a total FY2016 budget appropriation of $825,000 in account 040-06-162-3078-6.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
3) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an
efficient and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
6) Provide a well-managed transportation system

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The Council adopted the FY2016 budget at the 16 June 2015 Council meeting and this appropriation



The Council adopted the FY2016 budget at the 16 June 2015 Council meeting and this appropriation
was included in said budget. City Council has previously authorized completed Sunnyside improvement
phases.
 

Options and Alternatives:
Approve the award as recommended. Approval will allow the work to move forward in calendar
2016 or;

1.

Reject approval of the award. This would delay the project. If rejection occurs, possible options
include: 

re-advertise the project and open new bids;a.
suspend or cancel the project.b.

2.

Background/History:
The Sunnyside Neighborhood has undergone numerous phases of public improvements that included
construction of concrete sidewalk, curb and gutter, parkway and driveway construction, asphalt street
reconstruction, and underground utility upgrades. Phase V-C will be funded as a result of accumulated
funds from lot sales at the Flagstaff Auto Park. Attachment 1 illustrates the Phase V-C project area.  
 
The project area is located in the south central portion of the Sunnyside Neighborhood and is bound to
the north by Third Avenue, to the south by First Avenue, to the east by East Street, and to the west by
Izabel Street. The project scope includes construction of ADA-accessible concrete sidewalk, curb and
gutter, parkways and driveways, asphalt street reconstruction, and stormwater catch basins on Third
Avenue to mitigate localized surface drainage issues and improve conveyance of storm drainage through
the neighborhood.

On March 3, 2016, staff posted and Invitation for Bids (IFB) for construction services. The bid was also
advertised in the local newspaper on March 6th and March 13th. On March 24, 2016 (due date), five bids
were received and opened. After review of all bids received, RTR Paving & Resurfacing's bid was
deemed to be the lowest responsive and responsible. Bids received are as followed:

RTR Paving & Resurfacing: $615,077.70
Eagle Mountain Construction: $661,519.25
Kinney Construction Services: $671,195.00
Standard Construction Company: $790,776.25
Woodruff Construction: $828,913.00
  
 

Key Considerations:
Design and construction of the Phase V-C improvements will provide a wide range of public
improvements in an otherwise unimproved area of the Sunnyside Neighborhood. Within the project area
there are no walkable sidewalks to separate pedestrians from vehicular traffic, localized drainage issues
which effect property owners, and unimproved driveway ramps and degraded asphalt roadway.
 
The contract scope of services stipulates the contract duration for construction is 135 days. Construction
is programmed for summer 2016.
 

Community Benefits and Considerations:
The community benefits of this project include:  



The community benefits of this project include:  
Replacement of a degraded asphalt roadway with a new asphalt pavement, including curb and
gutter;
ADA-accessible sidewalks and ramps;
Fire hydrant replacement to meet the current standards;
New stormwater catch basins and infrastructure to alleviate poor surface drainage;
Water meter replacement and two-inch copper waterlines for future implementation;
Mailbox replacement.

Community Involvement:
Community involvement has been multi-faceted. Nearly all on-site property owners have had at least one
discussion with the Capital Improvement Project Manager regarding the project. Additionally, Capital
Improvement Staff has presented to the Sunnyside Neighborhood Association the scope and objectives
of the project.
 
The Capital Improvement Project Manager has and will continue to work alongside franchise utilities to
coordinate relocations and relevant project workings.
 

Attachments:  Vicinity Map
Construction Contract



Attachment 1. Sunnyside Phase V-C Improvement Project Map 



 1  

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
 

City of Flagstaff, Arizona 
and 

RTR Paving & Resurfacing, LLC.  
 

This Construction Contract (“Contract”) is made and entered into this    day of  

    2016, by and between the City of Flagstaff, an Arizona municipal 

corporation with offices at 211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, Arizona ("Owner") and RTR Paving 

& Resurfacing LLC., an Arizona limited liability company ("Contractor") with offices at 4387 E. 

Huntington Drive, Flagstaff, Arizona.  Contractor and the Owner may be referred to each 

individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. Owner desires to obtain construction services; and  

 

B. Contractor has available and offers to provide personnel and materials necessary to 

accomplish the work and complete the Project as described in the Scope of Work within the 

required time in accordance with the calendar days included in this Contract. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the Owner and Contractor agree as follows: 

 

1. Scope of Work.  The Contractor shall furnish any and all labor, materials, equipment, 

transportation, utilities, services and facilities required to perform all work for the construction of 

Sunnyside Improvements Phase V-C Project (the “Project”).  Contractor shall construct the 

Project for the Owner in a good, workmanlike and substantial manner and to the satisfaction of the 

Owner through its engineers and under the direction and supervision of the City Engineer, or his 

properly authorized agents including but not limited to project managers and project engineers.  

Contractor’s work shall be strictly pursuant to and in conformity with the Contract. 

 

1.1 A Pre-Construction Conference will be held with the successful Contractor after the Notice 

of Award is issued.   The date and time of the Conference will be agreed upon between the 

Contractor and the Engineer.  The meeting will be held at City Hall, 211 West Aspen 

Avenue, Flagstaff, AZ 86001.  The purpose of the meeting is to outline specific 

construction items and procedures that the City of Flagstaff (the “Owner”) feels require 

special attention on the part of the Contractor.  The Contractor may also present any 

variations in procedures to improve the workability of the Project, reduce the cost, or reduce 

inconvenience to the public.  The Contractor shall submit a written proposal at this 

conference outlining intended plans for pavement replacement, maintaining continuous 

access to residences and businesses along the construction site, and traffic control. 

 

2. Contract; Ownership of Work.  Contractor shall furnish and deliver all of the materials 

and perform all of the work in accordance with this Contract; Construction Plans; Special 

Provisions; the City of Flagstaff Engineering Design and Construction Standards and 

Specifications; the latest version of the Maricopa Association of Governments (“MAG”) 



 2  

Specifications for Public Works Construction and City revisions to the MAG Specifications for 

Public Works Construction (“Exhibit A”); and any Arizona Department of Transportation 

(A.D.O.T.) Standards that may be referenced on the Plans or in the specifications, incorporated in 

this Contract by reference, plans and associated documents.  All provisions of the Invitation for 

Construction Bids, Performance Bond, Payment Bond, Certificates of Insurance, Addenda, Change 

Orders and Field Orders, if any, are hereby incorporated into this Contract.  All materials, work, 

specifications and plans shall be the property of the Owner. 

 

The following exhibits are incorporated by reference and are expressly made a part of this 

Contract: 

 

2.1.1 Revisions of MAG Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction Exhibit A 

                    (“Flagstaff Addendum to MAG”)       

2.1.2 Special Provisions         Exhibit B 

 

3. Payments.  In consideration of the faithful performance of the work described in this 

Contract, the Owner shall pay an amount not to exceed $615,077.70 to the Contractor for work and 

materials provided in accordance with the bid schedule, which amount includes all federal, state, 

and local taxes, as applicable.  This amount shall be payable through monthly progress payments, 

subject to the following conditions: 

 

3.1 Contractor shall promptly submit to the Owner all proper invoices necessary for the 

determination of the prices of labor and materials; 

 

3.2 Progress payments shall be made in the amount of ninety percent (90%) of the value of 

labor and materials incorporated in the work, based on the sum of the Contract prices of 

labor and material, and of materials stored at the worksite, on the basis of substantiating 

paid invoices, as estimated by the Owner, less the aggregate of all previous payments, until 

the work performed under this Contract is fifty percent (50%) complete.  When and after 

such work is fifty (50%) complete, the ten percent (10%) of value previously retained may 

be reduced to five percent (5%) of value completed if Contractor is making satisfactory 

progress as determined by the Owner, and providing that there is no specific cause or claim 

requiring a greater amount to be retained.  If at any time the Owner determines that 

satisfactory progress is not being made, the ten percent (10%) retention shall be reinstated 

for all subsequent progress payments made under this Contract; 

 

3.3 The City Engineer shall have the right to finally determine the amount due to Contractor; 

 

3.4 Monthly progress payments shall be made by the Owner, on or before fourteen (14) 

calendar days after the receipt by the Owner of an approved estimate of the work 

completed;  

 

3.5 Contractor agrees that title to materials incorporated in the work, and stored at the site, shall 

vest with the Owner upon receipt of the corresponding progress payment; 

 



 3  

3.6 The remainder of the Contract price, after deducting all such monthly payments and any 

retention, shall be paid within sixty (60) days after final acceptance of completed work by 

the Owner.  The release of retention or alternate surety shall be made following the Owner’s 

receipt and acceptance of: Contractor's Affidavit Regarding Settlement of Claims, Affidavit 

of Payment, Consent of Surety for Final Payment, and Unconditional Full and Final lien 

waivers from all subcontractors and suppliers who have filed an Arizona Preliminary 20 

Day Lien Notice in accordance with A.R.S. §§ 33-992.01 and 33-992.02. 

 
4. Time of Completion.  Contractor agrees to complete all work as described in this Contract 

within one hundred thirty-five (135) calendar days from the date of the Owner’s Notice to 

Proceed free of all liens, claims and demands of any kind for materials, equipment, supplies, 

services, labor, taxes and damages to property or persons, in the manner and under the conditions 

specified within the time or times specified in this Contract. 

 

5. Performance of Work.  All work covered by this Contract shall be done in accordance 

with the latest and best accepted practices of the trades involved.  The Contractor shall use only 

skilled craftsmen experienced in their respective trades to prepare the materials and to perform the 

work. 

 

6. Acceptance of Work; Non Waiver.  No failure of the Owner during the progress of the 

work to discover or reject materials or work not in accordance with this Contract shall be deemed 

an acceptance of, or a waiver of, defects in work or materials.  No payment shall be construed to be 

an acceptance of work or materials which are not strictly in accordance with the Contract. 

 

7. Delay of Work.  Any delay in the performance of this Contract due to strikes, lockouts, 

fires, or other unavoidable casualties beyond the control of the Contractor and not caused by any 

wrongful act or negligence of the Contractor shall entitle the Contractor to an extension of time 

equal to the delay so caused.  The Contractor shall notify the Owner in writing specifying such 

cause within twenty-four (24) hours after its occurrence.  In the event such delay is caused by 

strikes, lockouts, or inability to obtain workmen for any other cause, the Owner shall have the right 

but shall not be obligated to complete the work on the same basis as is provided for in Section 13 

below (Contract Violations). 

 

8.         Failure to Complete Project in Timely Manner.  If Contractor fails or refuses to execute 

this Contract within the time specified in Section 4 above, or such additional time as may be 

allowed, the proceeds of Contractor’s performance guaranty shall become subject to deposit into the 

Treasury of the municipality as monies available to compensate the Owner for damages as provided 

by A.R.S. § 34-201 for the delay in the performance of work under this Contract, and the necessity 

of accepting a higher or less desirable bid from such failure or refusal to perform this Contract as 

required.  If Contractor has submitted a certified check or cashier's check as a performance 

guaranty, the check shall be returned after the completion of this Contract.  

 

9. Labor Demonstration.  It is understood that the work covered by this Contract is for the 

Owner's business purposes and that any unfavorable publicity or demonstrations in connection with 

the work will have a negative effect upon the Owner.  If Contractor’s actions in performance of the 



 4  

Contract result in any public demonstration on behalf of the laborers or organized labor in the 

vicinity of the Owner's premises, whether such demonstration is in the form of picketing, posting of 

placards or signs, violence, threats of violence or in any other form, which in the Owner's judgment, 

might convey to the public the impression that the Owner or the Contractor or any subcontractor is 

unfair to laborers or to organized labor, the Owner shall have the right to terminate this Contract 

immediately, unless the Contractor shall have caused such demonstration to be discontinued within 

two (2) days after request of the Owner to do so.  In the event any such demonstration is attended by 

violence, the Owner may fix lesser time within which a discontinuance shall be accomplished.  In 

the event of Contract termination, the Contractor agrees to remove from the Premises within 

twenty-four (24) hours of termination, all machinery, tools, and equipment belonging to it or to its 

subcontractors.  All obligations or liabilities of the Owner to the Contractor shall be discharged by 

such termination, except the obligation to pay to the Contractor a portion of the Contract price 

representing the value based upon the Contract prices of labor and materials incorporated in the 

work as established by the Owner, less the aggregate of all previous payments, but subject to all of 

the conditions pertaining to payments generally. 

 

10. Material Storage.  During the progress of the work, the Contractor shall arrange for office 

facilities and for the orderly storage of materials and equipment.  Contractor shall erect any 

temporary structures required for the work at his or her own expense.  The Contractor shall at all 

times keep the premises reasonably free from debris and in a condition which will not increase fire 

hazards.  Upon completion of the work, the Contractor shall remove all temporary buildings and 

facilities and all equipment, surplus materials and supplies belonging to the Contractor.   Contractor 

shall leave the Premises in good order, clean, and ready to use by the Owner.  The establishment of 

any temporary construction yard, material storage area or staging area to be located within City of 

Flagstaff limits and outside the public right-of-way or Project limits generally requires a Temporary 

Use Permit.  (See Exhibit A, Section 107.2.1.) 

 

11. Maintenance During Winter Suspension of Work.  A “Winter Shutdown” is the period 

of time typically including December through March during which no Work will be performed 

by any person or entity (including but not limited to the Contractor) on the Project and Contractor 

shall shutdown, properly insulate and shelter the Project in a safe and workmanlike manner 

pursuant to local, state and federal laws.  Although December through March is typically the time 

frame, the City reserves the right to initiate and terminate a Winter Shutdown at the City’s sole 

discretion in the event of adverse weather conditions.  A Winter Shutdown may be declared by 

the City despite delays, for any reason, on the Project.  City retains the right to declare a Winter 

Shutdown. If work has been suspended due to winter weather, the Contractor shall be responsible 

for maintenance and protection of the improvements and of partially completed portions of the 

work until final acceptance of the project.  Winter Shutdown shall be by field order, change order or 

original contract.  If repairs and/or maintenance are needed during the Winter Shutdown, the 

Contractor is required to perform the repairs and/or maintenance within twenty-four (24) hours of 

notification from the City.  If the needed repairs and/or maintenance are not addressed within the 

timeframe, the City will accomplish the work and deduct the cost from monies due or become due 

to the Contractor.   

 



 5  

The City shall provide snow removal operations on active traffic lanes only during the Winter 

Shutdown.  All other snow removal and maintenance operations shall be the responsibility of the 

Contractor during the Winter Shutdown.  All cost associated with snow removal and proper 

disposal shall be considered incidental to the work including repair of temporary surface 

improvements due to normal wear and snow removal operations during the Winter Shutdown.   

 

12. Assignment.  Contractor shall not assign this Contract, in whole or in part, without the prior 

written consent of the Owner. No right or interest in this Agreement shall be assigned, in whole or 

in part, by Contractor without prior written permission of the City and no delegation of any duty 

of Contractor shall be made without prior written permission of the City.  The City shall not 

unreasonably withhold consent to such assignment.  Contractor agrees that any assignment 

agreement between Contractor and the Assignee shall include and subject to the assignee to all 

obligations, terms and conditions of this Agreement and that Contractor shall also remain liable 

under all obligations, terms and conditions of this Agreement.   

 

13. Notices.  Many notices or demands required to be given, pursuant to the terms of this 

Contract, may be given to the other Party in writing, delivered in person, sent by facsimile 

transmission, emailed, deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid,  or deposited with 

any commercial air courier or express service at the addresses set forth below, or to such other 

address as the Parties may substitute by written notice, given in the manner prescribed in this 

paragraph.  However, notices of termination, notices of default and any notice regarding 

warranties shall be sent via registered or certified mail, return receipt requested at the address set 

forth below and to legal counsel for the party to whom the notice is being given.  

 

If to Owner: If to Contractor: 
Patrick Brown, C.P.M. 

Senior Procurement Specialist 

211 West Aspen Avenue 

Flagstaff, AZ  86001 

Sherri Hofner 

CFO/Estimator 

P.O. Box 30536 

Flagstaff, AZ 86003 

 
14. Contract Violations.  In the event of any of the provisions of this Contract are violated by 

the Contractor or by any of Contractor’s subcontractors, the Owner may serve written notice upon 

the Contractor and the Surety of its intention to terminate such Contract (the “Notice to 

Terminate”).  The Contract shall terminate within five (5) days of the date Contractor receives the 

Notice to Terminate, unless the violation ceases and Contractor makes arrangements for correction 

satisfactory to the Owner.  In the event of any such termination, the Owner shall immediately serve 

notice of the termination upon the Surety by registered mail, return receipt requested.  The Surety 

shall have the right to take over and perform the Contract.  If the Surety does not commence 

performance within ten (10) days from the date of receipt of the Owner’s notice of termination, the 

Owner may complete the work at the expense of the Contractor, and the Contractor and his or her 

Surety shall be liable to the Owner for any excess cost incurred by the Owner to complete the work. 

 If the Owner completes the work, the Owner may take possession of and utilize such materials, 

appliances and plants as may be on the worksite site and necessary for completion of the work. 

 



 6  

15. Termination for Convenience.  The Owner may terminate this contract at any time for any 

reason by giving at least thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor.  If termination occurs 

under this Section 15, the Contractor shall be paid fair market value for work completed by 

Contractor as of the date of termination. The parties agree that fair market value shall be determined 

based on the Contractor’s original bid price, less any work not yet completed by the Contractor as 

of the date the written notice of termination is given to the Contractor. 

 

16. Contractor's Liability and Indemnification.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, 

Provider shall indemnify, save and hold harmless the City of Flagstaff and its officers, officials, 

agents, and employees (hereinafter referred to as “Indemnitee”) from and against liabilities, 

damages, losses and costs, including reasonable attorney fees, but only to the extent caused by 

the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful conduct of the contractor, subcontractor or 

design professional or other persons employed or used by the contractor, subcontractor or design 

professional in the performance of the contract.   The amount and type of insurance coverage 

requirements set forth in the Contract (Section 103.6 of Exhibit A) will in no way be construed as 

limiting the scope of the indemnity in this paragraph.   

 

17. Non Appropriation.  In the event that no funds or insufficient funds are appropriated and 

budgeted in any fiscal period of the Owner to meet the Owner’s obligations under this Contract, the 

Owner will notify Contractor in writing of such occurrence, and this Contract will terminate on the 

earlier of the last day of the fiscal period for which sufficient appropriation was made or whenever 

the funds appropriated for payment under this Contract are exhausted.  No payments shall be made 

or due to the other party under this Contract beyond these amounts appropriated and budgeted by 

the Owner to fund the Owner’s obligations under this Contract. 

 

18. Amendment of Contract.  This Agreement may not be modified or altered except in 

writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of the parties. 

 

19. Subcontracts.  Contractor shall not enter into any subcontract, or issue any purchase order 

for the completed work, or any substantial part of the work, unless in each instance, prior written 

approval shall have been given by the Owner.  Contractor shall be fully responsible to the Owner 

for acts and omissions of Contractor's subcontractors and all persons either directly or indirectly 

employed by them. 

 

20. Cancellation for Conflict of Interest.  This Contract is subject to the cancellation 

provisions of A.R.S. § 38-511. 

 

21. Compliance with All Laws.  Contractor shall comply with all applicable laws, statutes, 

ordinances, regulations and governmental requirements in the performance of this Contract.   

 

22.    Employment of Aliens.  Contractor shall comply with A.R.S. § 34-301, which provides 

that a person who is not a citizen or ward of the United States shall not be employed upon or in 

connection with any state, county or municipal public works project. 

 



 7  

23.    Compliance with Federal Immigration Laws and Regulations.  Contractor warrants that 

it complies with all Federal Immigration laws and regulations that relate to its employees and 

complies with A.R.S. 23-214.A.  Contractor acknowledges that pursuant to A.R.S. 41-4401 a 

breach of this warranty is a material breach of this contract subject to penalties up to and including 

termination of this contract, and that the City retains the legal right to inspect the papers of any 

employee who works on the contract to ensure compliance with this warranty. 

 

24. Contractor’s Warranty.  Contractor warrants that it complies with all Federal 

Immigration laws and regulations that relate to its employees and complies with A.R.S. § 23-

214.A, Verification of Employment Eligibility.  Contractor shall not employ aliens in accordance 

with A.R.S. § 34-301, Employment of Aliens on Public Works Prohibited.  Contractor 

acknowledges that pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-4401, Government Procurement; E-Verify 

Requirement; Definitions, a breach of this warranty is a material breach of this contract subject to 

penalties up to and including termination of this Contract, and that the Owner retains the legal 

right to inspect the papers of any employee who works on the Contract to ensure compliance with 

this warranty.  

 

25. Jurisdiction and Venue.  This Agreement shall be administered and interpreted under the 

laws of the State of Arizona.  The Contractor hereby submits itself to the original jurisdiction of 

those courts located within Coconino County, Arizona. 

 
26. Attorney's Fees.  If suit or action is initiated in connection with any controversy arising out 

of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover in addition to costs such sum as 

the court may adjudge reasonable as attorney fees, or in event of appeal as allowed by the appellate 

court. 

 
27. Time is of the Essence.  Contractor acknowledges that the completion of the Contract by 

the dates specified final completion is critical to the Owner, time being of the essence of this 

Contract. 

 

28. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  The parties acknowledge and agree that the terms, 

provisions, conditions, and obligations of this Contract are for the sole benefit of, and may be 

enforceable solely by, the Parties to this Contract, and none of the terms, provisions, conditions, 

and obligations of this Contract are for the benefit of, or may be enforced by, any person or entity 

not a party to this Contract. 

 

29. Headings.  The article and section headings contained herein are for convenience in 

reference and are not intended to define or limit the scope of any provision of this Contract. 

 

30. Severability.  If any part of this Contract is determined by a court to be in conflict with any 

statute or constitution or to be unlawful for any reason, the parties intend that the remaining 

provisions of this Contract shall remain in full force and effect unless the stricken provision leaves 

the remaining Contract unenforceable. 

 

 



 8  

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Owner and Contractor, by their duly authorized representatives, 

have executed this Contract as of the date written above.  

 

(Please sign in blue ink. Submit original signatures – photocopies not accepted)  

 

Owner, City of Flagstaff  RTR Paving & Resurfacing, LLC. 
   

Josh Copley, City Manager  Signature 

   

   

Attest:  Printed Name 

   

City Clerk  Title 

 

 

 

  

Approved as to form:   

   

City Attorney   

   

 



  10. E.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Dan Folke, Planning Director

Co-Submitter: Mark Landsiedel

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE:
Update on Joint Land Use Study (JLUS) Re: Naval Observatory Flagstaff Station and
Camp Navajo and a request to appoint two Council members to serve on the Policy Committee.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive and discuss information regarding the Joint Land Use Study (JLUS) and appoint two
Councilmembers to serve on the JLUS Policy Committee.

Executive Summary:
Coconino County will be the local sponsor of a Joint Land Use Study (JLUS) for the US Naval
Observatory and Camp Navajo.  As stated in information provided by the Navy and the Department of
Defense, the purpose of a JLUS is to prevent incompatible uses surrounding military installations that
may interfere with the ability to complete the mission of the facility and to limit impacts of the installation
on surrounding property owners.  The results of a JLUS could have great value in informing what uses
are appropriate within activity centers located on the west side of town, within closer proximity to the
Naval Observatory.  The Flagstaff Regional Plan calls for completing specific plans for each activity
center. It is unknown if the results of the JLUS will recommend removing exiting development rights on
properties in the area.   

It is staff's understanding that the Naval Observatory initiated the application with the support of the
County as project sponsor.  A draft scope of work has been prepared by Coconino County and is
attached to this report.  Deputy County Manager Neal Young is the current project manager. 



Financial Impact:
At this time no funding is being requested.  While a local match for the grant to fund the JLUS is required,
it is anticipated that it will be provided using in-kind services.  Staff time spent working on the JLUS can
be provided as the local match.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS
7) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans
9) Improve the economic quality of life for Flagstaff through economic diversification, and by fostering
jobs and programs that grow wages and revenues

REGIONAL PLAN:
 Policy LU.18.1. Design activity centers and corridors appropriate to and within the context of each area
type: urban, suburban, or rural.
 Policy LU.18.9. Plan activity centers and corridors appropriate to their respective regional or
neighborhood scale.

Previous Council Decision on This:
No.

Options and Alternatives:
City Council can choose not to participate in the JLUS and direct staff accordingly.

Community Involvement:
Inform

Attachments:  Draft JLUS Scope
JLUS Notes & Timeline
PowerPoint
DOD Presentation



1

Scope of Work

Joint Land Use Study
For

[United States Naval Observatory Flagstaff Station]
[Coconino County, Arizona]

Coconino County, Arizona, is seeking proposals from qualified firms to prepare a Joint Land 
Use Study (JLUS) for the United States Naval Observatory (Flagstaff Station) and the 
surrounding communities.  The Department of Defense Office of Economic Adjustment 
(OEA) provides grants to State and local governments to conduct a JLUS to support the 
long-term sustainability and operability of the military installation complex.  Interested 
firms must demonstrate knowledge and experience in community planning, development 
and land use issues, fiscal impact analysis, economic development, and military installation 
management and operations.

Purpose of Study

A Joint Land Use Study (JLUS) is a community-driven, cooperative and strategic 
planning process among the United States Naval Observatory (Flagstaff Station);
Arizona State Land Department, United States Forest Service, Bureau of Land 
Management and the National Parks Service; and the State of Arizona to 

1) promote community development that is compatible with military training, 
testing, and operational missions; and

2) to seek ways to reduce operational impacts on adjacent lands.  

The goal of the JLUS is to encourage State and local governments to work in tandem 
with military installations to implement measures that prevent the introduction of 
incompatible civilian development that may impair the continued operational utility 
of the military installation, and to preserve and protect the public health, safety, and 
welfare of those living near an active military installation, and associated ranges, 
Military Training Routes, Special Use Airspace, and Military Operating Areas.

The JLUS planning process is intended to increase public awareness of the military 
missions and contribution to the regional economy.

The JLUS planning process is intended to protect and preserve military readiness 
and defense capabilities while supporting continued community economic 
development.  



2

The JLUS planning process, including data collection and analysis, shall consider, but 
not limited to, the following military mission compatible use factors, as applicable:

Airspace and land restrictions
Airborne noise
Urban growth
Spectrum encroachment
Endangered species and critical habitat
Air
Water
Cultural resources
Unexploded ordnance and munitions
Marine resources 
Energy compatibility and availability
Security
Natural factors
Lighting

The JLUS planning process shall include an Implementation Plan with identified 
monitoring responsibilities that ensure the recommendations advanced in the JLUS 
are realized.  The Implementation Plan shall include a list of specific public and 
private actions for each study participant organized by their scheduled execution 
date –

Short Term (1-3 years)
Medium-Term (4-10 years)
Long-Term (11-20 years)

Each listed action should assign responsibility for the task and include an estimate 
of cost and source of funding. These recommended actions should include smart 
land use planning principles and practices that can achieve a balance between 
potentially conflicting interests.

The JLUS planning process shall support improved communication and establish 
formal policies and procedures for military participation and cross-jurisdictional 
coordination in community development review and planning processes including 
proposed alternative energy development projects.

JLUS project shall include a four-page maximum Project Overview for public 
distribution and posting on websites.  Project Overview shall include description of 
military operations, graphic display of study area and military operations footprint, 
identify community organization structure and participants for both planning and 
implementation, summary of compatible use issues, and primary JLUS 
recommendation highlights.



3

Background

United States Naval Observatory Flagstaff Station lies just west of Flagstaff, Arizona and is 
comprised of multiple telescopes.  The USNO is located within Coconino County. The 
mission of the U.S. Naval Observatory Flagstaff Station, is to make, analyze, and interpret 
such astrometric and photometric dark sky observations as are required to fulfill the 
mission of the U.S. Naval Observatory and to conduct a research program to improve the 
observational methods and the accuracy of astronomical data required by the Navy and 
other components of the Department of Defense.

[role of installation in overall Military Department strategic plan, and economic impact to 
regional economy.]

USNO Flagstaff Station was established in 1955 a few miles west of Flagstaff, Arizona, and 
is the US Naval Observatory’s dark-sky site for optical and near-infrared astronomy. There 
are presently two USNO sites in the Flagstaff area, this station (NOFS) and the Navy 
Precision Optical Interferometer (NPOI) located some 15 miles south of the city.

Camp Navajo Bellemont, Arizona is a regional training and munitions storage site 
operated by the Arizona Army National Guard located near Bellemont and Flagstaff 
Arizona.

Coconino County, Arizona is located in the north central part of Arizona and is the second 
largest county by land area in the 48 contiguous states covering 18,661 square miles.  It 
was established in 1891.

Flagstaff, Arizona is a city in northern Arizona that serves as the county seat.  It was 
established in 1882.

The USNO Flagstaff Station is depicted in the following diagram:



4

Proposed Study Area

The proposed study area for the JLUS includes:

Counties of Coconino and Yavapai
Cities of Flagstaff and Williams

[If possible, describe boundaries for Military Mission Footprint, cite source, and then 
link to listing of JLUS participants.]

Community Organizational Structure for JLUS Project

Coconino County, Arizona, is serving as the JLUS project sponsor and coordinating entity.  
Coconino County has established a JLUS Policy Committee comprised of ……………  A JLUS 



5

Technical Working Group(s) [or JLUS Technical Committee(s)] will serve as an advisory 
body to the JLUS Policy Committee and is comprised of ………………… to assist with data 
gathering and technical input and review throughout the study process.  

All JLUS Policy Committee meetings are open to the public.  The JLUS Technical Working 
Group (or Committee(s)], may choose to hold closed meetings, as required.

Available Resource Documents to Support JLUS Planning Process

[List all pertinent Military Department and Community plans, studies, reports, etc. 
that are available to define the Military Mission Footprint and support the 
cooperative planning effort.]

Proposal Content

Responses to this Request for Proposal shall include a detailed Work Plan to 

Address the overall timeline and milestones necessary to complete the JLUS;
Identify specific activities that will be accomplished each month;
Identify staffing and number of hours devoted to each activity; and,
Describe the work products/deliverables produced for each activity.

Responders may propose modifications to the activities and sequencing reflected below 
which, based on previous experience, would improve the effectiveness of the study effort 
while maintaining the budget and timeframe.

Scope of Services

Task 1 – Overall Project Initiation and Administration

Task includes any necessary refinements to the JLUS Work Plan and administration of the 
study to ensure coordination with the JLUS project sponsor and committees.

Subtask 1.1     Work Plan Refinement

The Consultant will meet with the JLUS project sponsor to review and refine, as needed, the 
JLUS Work Plan and make any necessary adjustments that will not impact the overall 
budget and scope of the project.  The Consultant will present the final Work Plan before the 
JLUS Policy and Technical Committees for approval.

Subtask 1.2     Administration and Management

The Consultant will work with the Coconino County staff to provide administrative support 
to the JLUS Policy Committee and Technical Working Group(s) to accomplish the following 
activities:



6

Schedule committee and public meetings
Prepare meeting notices, agendas, minutes, handout materials, maps, presentation 
and any other items to accomplish the study objectives.
Provide written monthly status reports that detail work in progress, work 
accomplished, and funds expended.  Progress reports are due the 15th of the month 
following the reporting period for Kitsap County staff review and distribution to 
study participants.
Provide written work products and verbal JLUS committee briefings at the 
conclusion of each major phase of the study.
If necessary, update the Work Plan and JLUS milestone completion dates.

Subtask 1.3     Project Coordination

A single Coconino County staff person will coordinate all communication with Federal, 
state and local agencies and elected officials.  All information concerning the JLUS, 
including progress reports, meeting agendas and materials, presentations, and draft and 
final reports will be provided to Coconino County staff prior to JLUS committee review and 
prior to public release.  Upon the completion of the JLUS project, all maps (including GIS 
shape files), data, and report shall be the property of the project sponsor and provided to 
Coconino County in both paper and electronic formats.

Task 2 – Community Organization    

Task includes Consultant support to project sponsor to organize and convene the JLUS 
Policy Committee. [Note: Most JLUS project sponsors do not rely upon Consultant 
support to organize the JLUS Policy Committee and Technical Working Group(s). If 
this is the case for your JLUS project, please delete this Task.]

Task 3 – Stakeholder and Public Involvement

Public participation is an integral part of the JLUS planning process to help ensure 
decisions are made in consideration of and to benefit public needs and preferences. Early 
and continuous public involvement brings diverse viewpoints and values into the 
decision-making process. This process enables the participants to make better informed 
decisions through collaborative efforts and builds mutual understanding and trust among 
stakeholders and the general public.  Successful public participation is a continuous 
process, consisting of a series of activities and actions to both inform the public and 
stakeholders and to obtain input from them which influence decisions that affect their 
lives.

Conducting meaningful public participation involves seeking public input at specific and 
key points in the decision-making process issues where such input has a real potential to 
help shape the final decision or set of actions. Public participation activities provide more 
value when they are open, relevant, timely, and appropriate for the intended goal of the 



7

public involvement process. Public participation activities should provide a balanced 
approach with representation of all stakeholders and include measures to seek out and 
consider the needs of all stakeholders.  

Subtask 3.1     Public Involvement Strategy

Consultant shall prepare a public involvement strategy that covers the key phases during 
the JLUS planning process.  The Consultant will present the strategy before the JLUS 
Policy Committee for input and final approval.  The public involvement strategy will 
include the identification of key stakeholders, specific schedule, and methods of 
communication tools to provide key project planning information to the following groups:

Elected Officials
JLUS Project Stakeholders
General Public
Target Groups (such as major landowners, neighborhood associations, employers, 
homebuilders, real estate industry, etc.)
Media

The public involvement strategy will include a variety of communication tools to facilitate 
early and continuing outreach to the above groups, such as charrettes, periodic 
newsletters, JLUS project website, media releases/media kits, periodic fact sheets, etc.  The 
Consultant shall maintain a contact list, throughout the study process, to mail/e-mail 
project information materials to interested parties.  

Subtask 3.2     Installation Tour

The Consultant, working through the project sponsor, will coordinate an installation tour, 
including outlying facilities as appropriate.  The purpose of the installation-led tour is for 
the JLUS Policy Committee and JLUS Technical Working Group members gain a more 
comprehensive understanding of the military missions, issues, and constraints imposed 
through incompatible development.

Subtask 3.3     Public/Elected Officials

The Consultant will assist with relationship building and outreach to local, State and 
Federal public officials representing the participating jurisdictions who will ultimately be 
responsible for implementing the JLUS recommendations.  Consultant may need to brief 
affected legislative bodies, state officials, economic development boards, and State and 
Federal elected officials about the purpose and goals of the JLUS planning process.

Subtask 3.4 – Enhanced Community Participation – is an optional task that the 
community may choose to include in their scope of work, subject to OEA Project 
Manager recommendation and guidance.   The enhanced community participation 



8

may include either a Charrette or Community Visioning element, but not both.  The 
below text solicits a proposal for both optional activities, with the community making 
the final decision on which option to pursue after reviewing the submitted proposals 
and conducting Consultant presentations/interviews, if applicable. 

Subtask 3.4     Enhanced Community Participation   (Optional Task)

Coconino County covers a large geographic area affecting multiple jurisdictions.   
Therefore, the Consultant is requested to provide a description and cost for two optional 
approaches to enhance community participation during the JLUS planning process.  These 
two optional approaches are a Charrette and Community Visioning, each intended to:

Establish broad stakeholder engagement and public involvement during the JLUS 
planning process; 
Compress the time required to complete the JLUS and begin development of 
implementation tools; and 
Develop project “buy-in” and ownership to ensure participating agencies and 
jurisdictions carry out the JLUS recommendations.   

Subtask 3.4.1     Charrette (Optional Task)

The Consultant is requested to provide a description and separate cost to undertake a 
charrette.  A charrette process can be an effective tool to mobilize and sustain the JLUS 
planning process and smoothly move into finalizing the report and implement the 
recommendations.  The charrette should involve a multidisciplinary team of professionals 
that have the expertise and capacity to develop all elements of a JLUS – data collection, 
mapping, analysis, recommendations, and implementation tools.  The charrette team will 
work closely with the JLUS stakeholders through a series of feedback loops, during which 
alternative concepts are developed, reviewed by stakeholders, and revised accordingly.  
The charrette is a sophisticated process that best serves controversial or complex planning 
projects.  A charrette offers an opportunity to bring all the decision makers together for a 
discrete amount of time to create a solution, making it a powerful planning tool.    

When conducting a charrette the Consultant should:
Work collaboratively;
Compress work sessions;
Involve all relevant disciplines;
Communicate in short feedback loops;
Study the details and the whole;
Produce a feasible plan
Use charrette process to achieve a shared vision and create holistic solutions to 
promote compatible development;
Conduct a multiple-day charrette; and



9

Hold the charrette at a site convenient for JLUS Committee members and 
stakeholders. 

Subtask 3.4.2     Community Visioning  (Optional Task)

The Consultant is requested to provide a description and separate cost to undertake a 
community visioning process.  Visioning is a planning process through which a community, 
or region, creates a shared vision for its future and begins to make it a reality.  Such a vision 
provides an overlay for other community plans, policies, and decisions, as well as guide to 
actions.  Most communities set their vision timeframe 20 to 25 years into the future.  A 
successful community visioning initiative shares five key characteristics:

Understand the whole community and full range of issues shaping the need and 
purpose for a JLUS;
Reflect on community values;
Address emerging trends and strategic issues driving the community’s future;
Envision a preferred future; and
Promote local action through a strategic action plan that serves as a community 
“road map”.

Subtask 3.5 Public Meetings

The Consultant will hold public meetings throughout the study to educate the public about 
the purpose of the JLUS, the JLUS planning process, JLUS recommendations, and to seek 
input from the public during key phases of the study.  Public meetings will be held at the 
following key intervals:

[Note: Study sponsor may add additional public meetings as required.]

Project Initiation
Consultant to hold meeting before the JLUS Policy Committee at the beginning of the study 
to explain the JLUS project, goals and objectives.  Public comments will be sought, including 
any conflicts with the installation or military operations, and recommendations for 
analysis.

Interim Findings and Preliminary Recommendations
Consultant will present the results of data collection and analysis, information about 
existing and anticipated future conflicts between community development and military 
operations, proposed strategies to mitigate and/or eliminate identified conflicts, and other 
preliminary recommendations.  Public comments will again be solicited with emphasis on 
the implementation strategies.

Final Recommendations



10

Prior to the JLUS Policy Committee and participating jurisdictions taking any formal 
actions, the Consultant will present the final JLUS report, including recommendations, and 
an Implementation Plan.

Consultant responsibilities related to the public meetings include:

Schedule appropriate meeting locations, dates and times, in consultation with the 
study sponsor and JLUS Policy Committee.
Public notification of meetings to affected citizens, businesses, elected officials and 
other interested parties.
Prepare press releases and media kits that highlight purpose and desired outcomes 
of the public meetings.  Coordinate with study sponsor on press release distribution.
Arrange for any special accommodations to ensure compliance with the Americans 
with Disabilities Act and/or non-English speaking participants, as needed.
Present key study findings, which may include draft reports, maps and other 
materials, to the public, elected officials, and other interested parties in attendance, 
and solicit public comments and feedback both during and after the meeting.
Prepare agendas, handouts, presentations, maps, comment forms and other 
materials to effectively inform the public about the study and solicit their comments.
Maintain a record of all public comments received (verbal and written), including a 
summary or meeting minutes.

Task 4 – Data Collection, Inventory and Mapping

This task includes the collection of all relevant data from the installation and participating 
jurisdictions and other entities or sources in order to conduct the analysis phase of the 
JLUS planning process.

[This list of data layers will vary for each JLUS project based on type of military 
operations, military mission footprint and applicable community data.]

1. Create GIS layers depicting land use plan and/or zoning designations
2. Create GIS layers with non-conforming uses
3. Create GIS layers of proposed development
4. Create GIS layers of proposed capital improvement plan/projects
5. Create GIS layers of sensitive biological and/or cultural resource areas
6. Create GIS layers of agriculture suitability factors
7. Create GIS layers of special resources areas, i.e. aquifer recharge zones, wetlands, 

wellhead protection zones, etc.
8. Create GIS layers of noise contours for military operations
9. Create GIS layers of military flight operations, i.e. Clear Zone, APZs
10. Create GIS layers of military blast arcs
11. Create GIS layers depicting military operation line of site corridors
12. Create GIS layers of commercial airport flight paths in study area
13. Create GIS layers of shipping lanes



11

14. Create GIS layers of commercial port access and shipping
15. Create GIS layers depicting both land and sea based mobility corridors and the 

regional transportation system
16. Compile population forecasts from participating jurisdictions
17. Compile and create GIS layers depicting projected growth trends related to 

population forecasts
18. Compile and review local, State and Federal regulatory framework for community 

development
19. Compile and review military documents to map footprint for military operations, 

and any other pertinent documents.
20. Identify policies and regulations that govern off-shore development, such as energy 

production, natural gas storage, oil drilling, or commercial fishing ventures.
21. Identify policies and regulations that govern siting of on-shore alternative energy 

projects, transmission lines, natural gas storage and pipelines, and oil drilling

Present collected data and mapping to the Technical Working Group(s), JLUS 
Policy Committee, and public
Publish findings on JLUS project website

Task 5 – Survey/Interview Key Stakeholders 

1. Interview participating local government staff and elected officials
2. Interview State government staff and elected officials
3. Interview Agency/Institution management
4. Interview Military Department personnel
5. Compile interview results to define opportunities and constraints

Present collected data to the Technical Working Group(s), JLUS Policy 
Committee, and public
Publish findings on JLUS project website

Task 5 – Conflict/Compatibility Analysis 

1. Identify areas of current land use conflict, type of conflict and impact 
2. Identify areas of future potential conflict, type of conflict and impact 
3. Identify areas where land use is compatible, test sustainability, assess risk
4. Identify both land and sea mobility corridor conflicts, type of conflict and impact
5. Identify conflicts relating to potential on- and off-shore development such as energy 

production, natural gas storage, oil drilling or commercial fishing ventures

Map conflict areas
Present data and mapping to the Technical Working Group(s), JLUS Policy 
Committee, and public to solicit input on resolution of conflicts and impacts
Publish findings on JLUS project website



12

Task 6 – Conflict Resolution Strategies

1. Develop resolution strategies for current conflict areas
2. Develop resolution strategies and timeline for future conflict areas
3. Develop resolution strategies to support compatible land uses
4. Identify model planning tools and techniques to guide compatible development
5. Identify model land use regulations – local, State and Federal
6. Develop a process at the local level for cities and counties to work with the State of 

Arizona, USNO, Department of Defense Siting Clearinghouse, and other Federal 
agencies to support compatibility between development of regional renewable 
energy resources and military operations, including test and training activities.  The 
Department of Defense Siting Clearinghouse requirements and standards published 
in Title 32, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 211 shall advise and guide the process 
to facilitate the early submission of renewable energy project proposals to the 
Clearinghouse for military mission compatibility review.

7. Develop recommendations on transportation infrastructure resulting from future 
military mission needs and relate to transportation requirements for future 
development.  Ensure these recommendations are coordinated with appropriate 
local and/or State transportation organizations responsible for transportation 
planning and funding. [Optional task.  May not apply to all JLUS project sites.]

Develop a tool box of policies, regulations, ordinances, agreements, etc. to 
address existing incompatibility issues and guide future compatible 
development to protect and preserve military readiness and defense 
capabilities while supporting continued community economic development. 
City/Agency/Institution review of potential solutions
Present potential solutions to JLUS Policy Committee for review and 
comment
Solicit public input to potential solutions

Task 7 – Prepare Study Report

Subtask 7.1     Draft Plan 

1. Compile resolution strategies
2. Develop short-, mid-, and long-term priorities
3. Develop an appropriate implementation strategy for JLUS recommendations.  The 

strategy is anticipated to recommend actions for Federal, state, local, non-
governmental agencies.  The Consultant will identify appropriate responsible 
parties, timelines, estimated costs, and appropriate financing mechanisms to 
implement the recommendations.

4. Develop a monitoring plan and recommend an organizational structure and process 
that promotes JLUS participants to continue working together on compatibility and 
viability issues beyond completion of the JLUS project.

5. Develop metrics for measuring plan effectiveness



13

6. Release Draft Plan for public presentation and comment
7. Compile responses to Draft Plan and update as required

Subtask 7.2      Final Plan

1. Present Final JLUS to JLUS Policy Committee for final approval
2. Present Final JLUS to participating local jurisdiction legislative bodies for formal 

adoption
3. Deliver completed JLUS document to study sponsor

The Consultant will provide XX printed copies of the final report to Coconino County staff 
for distribution to the study participants, as well as an electronic copy of the final report for 
future reproduction and distribution, as needed. 

Subtask 7.3 Project Overview

JLUS project deliverable shall include a four-page maximum Project Overview to post on 
the OEA website.  Project Overview shall include description of military operations, graphic 
display of study area and military operations footprint, identify community organization 
structure and participants for both planning and implementation, summary of compatible 
use issues, and primary JLUS recommendation highlights.

A disclaimer statement will appear on the title page of the Joint Land Use Study, or any 
other OEA-funded deliverable.  It will read: 

“This study was prepared under contract with Coconino County, Arizona, with financial 
support from the Office of Economic Adjustment, Department of Defense. The content reflects 
the views of Coconino County and does not necessarily reflect the views of the Office of 
Economic Adjustment.”



1

BOS ROUNDTABLE

FEBRUARY 2, 2016

REQUEST FOR DIRECTION

COCONINO COUNTY JOINT LAND USE STUDY

Purpose: The Coconino County Joint Land Use Study, sponsored by the Office of Economic 
Adjustment, is a community-driven, cooperative, strategic planning process among U.S. 
Naval Observatory, Camp Navajo Army Depot and the surrounding jurisdictions to:

1) Promote community development that is compatible with the military training, testing, and 
operational missions, and

2) Seek ways to reduce operational impacts on adjacent lands.

Potential outcomes from the Study include:

Results that provide updated information and materials for a revised Area Plan for 
Bellemont
Conservation Planning/Dark Sky (Joint with REPI)
Military Influence Area Delineation
Capital Improvement Planning (ADOT)

As the local sponsor and fiscal agent Coconino County acts as a facilitator in the process to 
develop the following:

1) Form the JLUS Policy Committee, a steering committee that provides direction related to 
study/design, policy recommendations, budget approval, and final study report. 

2) Develop the draft Scope of Work with direction from the Policy Committee that will be used for 
the JLUS grant application 

2) Draft the RFP to procure consultant as soon as grant funds are approved

3) Provide direction and oversight for the consultant during the study process, including committee 
formation (TAC and Working Groups) and participation throughout

4) Conduct grant administration, procure consultant and manage consultant’s contract

Next Steps: 

1) Update City of Flagstaff Mayor and City Manager (2/17)

1) Draft invite letter for the Policy Committee members (signed by District 1 and 3 Supervisors-By 
2/29)

2) Complete Scope of Work and JLUS Application (By April 30)



2

Organizational Structure:

Coconino County: Local sponsor and fiscal agent for coordination, accountability, grant 
management, contract management.

Policy Committee: Policy direction, study design/oversight, budget approval, monitoring, report 
adoption. 

Technical Advisory Committee: Technical issues, alternatives, report development, 
recommendations.

Project Manager: Susan Salley Veazey, Project Manager, OEA, Sacramento, CA 916.557.7365 
susan.s.veazey.civ@mail.mil

Feb 1-29 Develop draft Scope of Work for Coconino County JLUS

It has been determined by OEA that the study will include both Camp Navajo and 
the US Naval Observatory, as we previously discussed. Recently, it was confirmed 
that Coconino County will submit one application that will cover both installations.

The name of the JLUS has been changed from Flagstaff Project to Coconino County 
JLUS 

Feb/Mar/Apr Form Policy Committee (PC) with kick-off meeting to discuss and 
develop consensus on Scope of Work and final make-up of TAC and Working 
Groups.

Complete draft of application and work with Susan Veazey to create final scope of 
work and material for preparation of the online JLUS application. 

March-April Ready draft RFP (based on Scope of Work) to procure planning consultant as soon 
as grant is approved. Susan Veazey will review to ensure compliance with Federal 
guidelines.

March-April Submit completed application to Susan Veazey for review.

April-May Project Manager submits Coconino County JLUS Application to OEA Technical 
Review Committee

May-Aug Notification of grant approval and procurement process can immediately begin for 
consultant

Duration JLUS process is expected to range from 18-months to 2-yrs. 



3

Suggestions for committee membership: 

Policy Committee: City of Flagstaff (Electeds), Coconino County (Electeds), NAU (Representing 
Old Growth Interests), US Forest Service, Governor’s Office (Government Affairs and Military 
Liaison), Tribal Governments, Business Community (West Flag and Bellemont Areas), AGFD, 
AZDOT, Astronomers (Lighting Committee Members), Agricultural Community/Ranchers. 

Ex Officio (Members of PC without voting capacity) US Army/AZDEMA Camp Navajo, US Naval 
Observatory. 

Technical Advisory Committee: AZDEMA (John Ladd); Camp Navajo Facilities Mgr, Naval 
Observatory; Land/Resource Managers: US Fish and Wildlife Service (Shaula Hedwall); Arizona 
Game and Fish (Urban Wildlife Planner), AZ State Forestry, NGOs (TPL, Sierra Club): NAU: Rural 
Policy Institute, Local Residents: Flagstaff and Bellemont (Jamie Neilsen) residents; Developers, 
Landowners, Education, Recreation Groups, etc.

Issues-based Working Groups:

County Area Plan 
City Regional/FMPO Plan
Military Influence Area Delineation
Capital Improvement Planning (ADOT)
Conservation Planning/Dark Sky (Joint with REPI)
State Legislation
Utilities/Private



Joint Land Use Study 

(JLUS)

Flagstaff City Council

April 19, 2016



Joint Land Use Study

Update on Related Studies

Overview of JLUS

Request for two Policy Committee 

members



Related Studies

Mission Compatibility Light Pollution 

Study

Street Lighting to Enhance Dark 

Skies (SLEDS)

Citizen Committee on Dark Skies



Joint Land Use Study 

(JLUS)

To Promote Compatible Use

To Sustain the Military Mission

Funded by Dept. of Defense

Requires Local Match

Initiated by US Naval Observatory



Joint Land Use Study 

(JLUS)
Coconino County: project sponsor

US Naval Observatory Flagstaff 

Station

Camp Navajo Bellemont

Select Consultant to complete the 

study



Joint Land Use Study 

(JLUS)

Policy Committee

Technical Committee

 Questions?

Good Evening.







































































  10. F.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Leah Bloom, Housing and Grants Administrator

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Community Development Block Grant Program:

1) Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-15: A resolution approving the City of Flagstaff's 2016
-2020 Consolidated Plan and authorizing its submission to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
(HUD).

2) Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-16: A resolution approving the City of Flagstaff's 2016
Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice and authorizing its submission to the U.S. Department of Housing
and Urban Development (HUD).

3) Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-17: A resolution approving the City of Flagstaff's
2016/2017 Annual Action Plan and authorizing its submission to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD). 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Resolution No. 2016-15 by title only
2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-15 (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-15 
4) Read Resolution No. 2016-16 by title only
5) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-16 (if approved above)
6) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-16 
7) Read Resolution No. 2016-17 by title only
8) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-17 (if approved above)
9) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-17

Executive Summary:
This staff summary is for the approval of three separate plans that need to be submitted to the U.S. Department of
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) as part of the Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG). All
three plans are due to HUD on May 15, 2016 and are required in order for the City of Flagstaff to maintain its
compliance with federal CDBG regulations. Timely submission of these plans will enable the City to continue its
annual entitlement allocation of CDBG funding.

Resolution No. 2016-15
The FY 2016-2020 Consolidated Plan (Con Plan) functions as a community guiding document to help achieve
HUD’s primary objective and national objectives.

Resolution No. 2016-16
The Analysis of Impediments to Further Fair Housing Choice (AI) reviews current information and data available
from a number of sources, identifies current impediments to fair housing in the City of Flagstaff, evaluates the
efficacy of the 2011 Plan of Action and develops a new plan that takes appropriate steps to overcome the effects of
any impediments identified to further fair housing choice and maintains records reflecting the actions taken.

Resolution No. 2016-17

 



Resolution No. 2016-17
The Annual Action Plan (AA Plan) is a document that specifies how the 2016/2017 annual allocation of CDBG funds
will be spent.
  

Financial Impact:
Approval of the above resolutions is critical to the City of Flagstaff receiving its annual CDBG entitlement allocation.
The 2016/2017 CDBG allocation is $599,050, an increase of $19,453 from last year. In addition, the City of Flagstaff
is able to combine program income and reallocated funds from previous years to increase the funds available for
allocation. Total program income and reallocated funds equals $41,743 for a grand total of $640,793 available for
the 2016/2017 program year, through the Annual Action Plan process.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
4) Explore and adopt policies to lower the costs associated with housing to the end user
10) Support and assist the most vulnerable

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural neighborhoods in the Flagstaff
region. 
• Policy NH.1.1. Preserve and enhance existing neighborhoods.

Goal NH.3. Make available a variety of housing types at different price points, to provide housing opportunities for all
economic sectors.
• Policy NH.3.1. Provide a variety of housing types throughout the City and region, including purchase and rental
options, to expand the choices available to meet the financial and lifestyle needs of our diverse population.
• Policy NH.3.3. Increase the availability of affordable housing for very low-income persons, through innovative and
effective funding mechanisms.

Goal NH.4. All housing is safe and sanitary.
• Policy NH.4.1. Expand the availability of affordable housing throughout the region by preserving existing housing,
including housing for very low-income persons. Policy NH.4.2. Reduce substandard housing units by conserving and
rehabilitating existing housing stock to minimize impacts on existing residents.
• Policy NH.4.3.Address accessibility issues and other housing barriers to persons with disabilities or special needs.
• Policy NH.4.4. Encourage green practices in housing construction and rehabilitation that support durable, healthy,
and energy efficient homes.
• Policy NH.4.5. Renovate the existing housing stock to conserve energy and reduce utility and maintenance costs
for owners and occupants.
• Policy NH.4.6. Consider and integrate public transportation when possible in planning housing developments, to
help reduce a household’s transportation costs and minimize impact on the community’s roads and transportation
system.
• Policy NH.4.7. Enforce compliance with fair housing laws.

Goal NH.5. Eliminate homelessness.
• Policy NH.5.1. Provide adequate resources for families with children experiencing homelessness.
• Policy NH.5.2. Provide adequate resources for individuals experiencing homelessness.
• Policy NH.5.3. Support and expand programs that prevent homelessness.
• Policy NH.5.4. Make transitional housing resources available to populations experiencing homelessness.   

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None 

Options and Alternatives:
A) Approve Resolution Nos. 2016-15, 2016-16 and 2016-17 and authorize the submission of the Con Plan, AI and



A) Approve Resolution Nos. 2016-15, 2016-16 and 2016-17 and authorize the submission of the Con Plan, AI and
the AA Pan to HUD.
B) Modify one or all Resolution Nos. 2016-15, 2016-16 and 2016-17 and authorize the submission to HUD.
C) Not approve Resolution Nos. 2016-15, 2016-16 and 2016-17 and risk losing future CDBG allocations.

Background/History:
In order to receive CDBG funding, the City must complete and submit to HUD three required plans by May 15, 2016. 

The Consolidated Plan (Con Plan) (Resolution No. 2016-15) is due to HUD every five years. With Council's
approval, the City’s Con Plan will provide the framework for the use of Community Development Block Grant
(CDBG) funding beginning July 1, 2016 and ending June 30, 2021. The Con Plan was created with great
community involvement and includes community identified goals for the next five years.

1.

The Analysis of Impediments to Further Fair Housing Choice (AI) (Resolution No. 2016-16) is an analysis of
Flagstaff’s fair housing conditions and outlines appropriate actions/goals to overcome any impediments
identified while maintaining records reflecting the actions taken to further fair housing choice in Flagstaff.
Being an entitlement community, the City must annually certify that it will affirmatively further fair housing

2.

Lastly, the City must complete an Annual Action (AA) Plan (Resolution No. 2016-17). This plan describes how
CDBG funds will be used in the coming year and how the annual allocation will be allocated.

3.

Every two years, staff requests guidance from Council on CDBG Priorities and the overall CDBG process for the
coming two years. On January 27, 2015 Council established four priorities (housing, homelessness, neighborhood
revitalization and mentally ill / serial inebriate populations) and provided guidance to conduct a formal public
proposal process to assess the community needs for CDBG funds. In the 2016 CDBG process, ten external agency
proposals were received, along with two City of Flagstaff requests. Of the twelve proposals, one was received via
email; it was incomplete and deemed ineligible.

Housing staff are responsible for determining whether a proposed activity is eligible, conducting a risk assessment of
the project and applying agency. Federal funds require administrative knowledge and capacity to ensure compliant
and timely expenditure of funds. Additionally, a committee comprised of three community representatives (one
non-profit representative, one neighborhood association leader, and one external grants representative) and four
City staff met to review the external proposals and rank them by consensus. Rankings are created primarily to serve
as a risk and benefit assessment and are the guiding input of the staff recommendations forwarded to City Council.

Below is a list of the proposals in ranking order. The proposals are divided between Housing and Public Service
categories as they have two separate funding limits and different criteria. Internal City of Flagstaff proposals are
presented to meet City Council priorities or other unmet needs in the community and are not ranked (NR)
competitively with the other proposals as the City would administer these projects directly. A comprehensive
Proposal Book that includes each of the below proposals was distributed to Council on March 25, 2016.
  
Housing Activities Proposal/Project Request Ranking
Flagstaff Shelter Services Energy Improvement Project $19,800 128
Housing Solutions of Northern
Arizona

Financial Assistance & Housing
Counseling $120,000 127

Northland Family Help Center Shelter Renovation $25,154 84
Arizona Conservation Corps Rose Street Meeting Space $85,000 27
City of Flagstaff Owner Occupied Housing Rehabilitation $150,000 NR

City of Flagstaff Hal Jensen Community Center
Rehabilitation $105,239 NR

Public Service Activities Proposal/Project Request Ranking
Flagstaff Shelter Services
Operational

Assistance for Overflow & Housing
Program $70,000 144

Coconino County Community
Services Housing Stabilization $60,750 105

Catholic Charities Cedar Rose Emergency Shelter for
Families $30,000 104



DNA People’s Legal Services Eviction Prevention $11,400 88
Sunshine Rescue Mission, Inc. Dorsey Manor Dedicated Case Manager $35,000 81

Key Considerations:
In order to receive CDBG funding, the City must complete a Con Plan every five years. The City’s Con Plan for HUD
Program Years 2016 – 2020 was recently completed. In addition to the 5-year Con Plan, the City must complete an
AA Plan that describes how CDBG funds will be used in the coming year. As part of the 5-year Con Plan and AA
Plans, the City certifies it will affirmatively further fair housing. As part of this certification, the City must complete an
AI, take appropriate actions to overcome the effects of any impediments identified through the analysis, and
maintain records reflecting the actions taken.

Resolution No. 2016-15 - Consolidated Plan (Con Plan)
The creation of the Con Plan is an extensive process involving public and stakeholder input (gathered through
surveys, public meetings and a 45 day public comment period), community needs assessments and a housing
market analysis. The data outlined in the Con Plan helps determine the relative priority of activities and the
populations that will be served in the coming years. HUD allows two priority
designations – high and low. Assignment of priority does not reflect a lack of need for any particular population or
activity; it merely identifies those conditions that are most likely to be addressed with limited CDBG funding. 

High (H) priority activities are likely to be funded with CDBG resources during the next five years.
Low (L) priority activities may be funded as opportunities arise.

The table below summarizes planned CDBG activities, the priority level and 5-year numeric goal for each. Activities
that will be targeted to special populations are indicated. The table is designed to meet HUD requirements.

  

Activity Special
Population

Priority
Level 5 Year Goal

Priority Need: Revitalization, Public Facilities &
Infrastructure      

Facility Improvements X H 500 People
ADA Accessibility Improvements X L 500 People
Land Acquisition for Affordable Housing Development   L 5 Households
Infrastructure for Affordable Housing Development   L 5 Households
Priority Need: Public Services & Economic
Opportunities      

Service and Facility Operating Support X H 2,000 People
Employment & Job Training Support Services   L 5 People
Housing Stabilization Services including
Eviction/Foreclosure Prevention and Legal Services   H 500

Households
Priority Need: Addressing Homelessness      
Service and Facility Operating Support, including Outreach X H 5,000 People
Increase number of emergency /transitional shelter beds for
families X H 20 Beds

Increase supply of permanent supportive housing X H 15 Beds
Priority Need: Decent Affordable Housing      
Owner-occupied Housing Rehabilitation   H 25 Units
Rental Housing Construction   H 5 Units
Owner Housing Construction   H 2 Units

5 Year Consolidated Plan Goals



First-time Homebuyer Assistance   H 25
Households

Rental Housing Rehabilitation   L 10 Units

Resolution No. 2016-16 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice (AI)
Similar to the Con Plan, the AI is created utilizing substantial community involvement (stakeholder surveys, phone
interviews and a public comment process). The purpose of the AI is to identify legitimate fair housing problems
(impediments) faced by people seeking housing in Flagstaff. The AI reviews current information and data available
from a number of sources, identifies current impediments to fair housing in the City of Flagstaff, evaluates the
efficacy of the 2011 Plan of Action and develops a new Plan of Action to address current impediments.

The City’s goals for the 2016 AI include: 

Strive to eliminate all forms of illegal housing discrimination in Flagstaff.1.
Actively promote fair housing choice for all persons in Flagstaff.2.
Provide opportunities for housing occupancy regardless of race, color, religion, sex, familial status, disability
and national origin in Flagstaff.

3.

Actively promote housing in Flagstaff that is structurally accessible to, and usable by all persons including
persons with disabilities.

4.

Foster compliance with the nondiscrimination provisions of the Fair Housing Act.5.

Resolution No. 2016-17 Annual Action Plan (AA)
HUD has two funding caps with regard to the use of CDBG funds. Public Service expenditures are capped at 15%
of the allocation and Program Administration is capped at 20% of the allocation. The rest of the available funding
can be spent on Housing/Economic Development Activities.

Public Service Funding Recommendation
Federal CDBG regulations do not allow more than 15% of funds to be spent on Public Service Activities; $94,600
for Program Year 16/17. Below are the funding recommendations for the Public Service Category:
  
Public Service
Activities Proposal/Project Request Recommendation Ranking

Flagstaff Shelter
Services
 

Operational Assistance for
Overflow Shelter & Housing
Program

$70,000 $70,000 144

Coconino County
Community Services Housing Stabilization $60,750 $24,600 105

 

Housing Funding Recommendation
Based on the above Public Service recommendations, there is $420,133 in CDBG funds available for Housing
Activities.  Below are the funding recommendations for the Housing Category:
 
 
Housing Activities Proposal/Project Request Recommendation Ranking
Flagstaff Shelter
Services Energy Improvement Project $19,800 $19,800  128

Housing Solutions of
Northern Arizona

Financial Assistance & Housing
Counseling $120,000 $120,000  127

Northland Family Help
Center Shelter Renovation $25,154 $25,154  84

City of Flagstaff Owner Occupied Housing
Rehabilitation $150,000 $150,000  NR

City of Flagstaff Hal Jensen Community Center
Rehabilitation  $105,239  $105,239  NR

                                                                                             



Expanded Financial Considerations:
The City expects to receive between $550,000 to $700,000 in CDBG funding during each of the next five years.

The attached Resolution 2016-17 is reflective of the recommendations listed above.   The 2016/2017 CDBG
recommendations are based on a total of $640,793 in available funding and the City of Flagstaff's estimated indirect
rate for 2016/2017 of 10%.  

The 2016/2017 allocation is $599,050, a $19,459 increase from 2015/2016.  
In addition to the annual allocation, there is $31,957 available from prior year program income and $9,786 in
reallocated funds for a total of $640,793 available to allocate. Program income is gathered through the
repayment of loans of the Owner Occupied Housing Rehabilitation and Homebuyer Financial Assistance
programs. Reallocated funds derive from de-obligation of funds and/or activities completing their scope of work
with a remainder of funding. The amount available is a decrease of $174,556 from 2015/2016 due to an
unusually high amount of program income last year. Program income for the current year is more in line with
historical trends.
Federal CDBG regulations do not allow more than 15% of funds to be spent on public service activities;
$94,651.14.  Staff is recommending an allocation of $94,600 as it is safer to budget slightly below the cap.
CDBG administration and compliance are limited to 20% of the allocation; $126,201.53.  Staff is
recommending an allocation of $126,000. 

Grant Compliance and Administration = $70,651
City's Indirect Rate (Estimated10%)= $55,349                            

Community Benefits and Considerations:
CDBG funds, leveraged with other private and public funds over the past 15 years, have resulted in benefits to
thousands of Flagstaff residents. In program year 2014-2015, Flagstaff leveraged $694,849.61 in CDBG
expenditures with $4,683,301.00 in other private or public funds.

Community Involvement:
  All three plans offer extensive community involvement and collaboration ranging from public meetings and public
comment periods to telephone and online surveys.  

Total Public Participation
5 Public Meetings & Multiple
Surveys
January 6 &22, 2016 February 15, 2016 April 12 & 19, 2016 
Open Grant Proposal
January 6 –February 5, 2016
Public Comment Period for Draft Consolidated Plan, Analysis of Impediments to Further Fair
Housing & Annual Action Plan 
March 1 – April 15, 2016
Proposal Ranking Committee with Citizen Participation & Staff
March 4, 2016

Resolution 2016-15 - Consolidated Plan (Con Plan)
The Housing Section met with the Coconino County Continuum of Care, which leads efforts to address
homelessness for the Rural Continuum of Care managed by the Arizona Department of Housing. Two public
consultation meetings took place to seek Con Plan input into 1) community needs and 2) proposed goals, activities
and objectives. An online survey was conducted to secure input into community needs and priorities; 63 responses
were received.

Resolution 2016-16 - Analysis of Impediments to Further Fair Housing (AI)
A public forum was conducted in conjunction with the Southwest Fair Housing Council with the purposes of: 1)
providing fair housing education, 2) identifying fair housing concerns and issues, and 3) identifying solutions to
address fair housing concerns in the City of Flagstaff. In addition, during the months of November and December
2015, a resident survey was conducted with 159 respondents. Interviews were conducted with 6 individuals working
in the housing and related industries in Flagstaff and 13 participants in the Flagstaff Leadership Program. Both the
survey and the interviews focused on gathering information to help identify possible fair housing impediments and
ways to address them.



Resolution 2016-17 Annual Action Plan (AA)
The AA Plan process had three public meetings, a ranking committee with citizens and city staff, and a public
comment period for community involvement.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
A) Approve any or all of the Resolution Nos. 2016-15, 2016-16 and 2016-17 and authorize the submission of the
Consolidated Plan, Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice and Annual Action Plan to HUD.
B) Modify any or all of the Resolution Nos. 2016-15, 2016-16 and 2016-17.
C) Not approve any or all of the Resolution Nos. 2016-15, 2016-16 and 2016-17.

Attachments:  Consolidated Plan Executive Summary
Executive Summary Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice
April 12 Power Point Presentation to Council
Resolution 2016-15
Resolution 2016-16
Resolution 2016-17



CCIITTYY  OOFF  FFLLAAGGSSTTAAFFFF  AARRIIZZOONNAA  

FY2016-2020 HUD Consolidated Plan Executive Summary 
 

Page 1 of 4 

Introduction. The Five-Year Consolidated Plan provides the framework for the use of Community Development 

Block Grant (CDBG) funding received by the City of Flagstaff from the US Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (HUD) for the five-year period beginning July 1, 2016 and ending June 30, 2021. The FY 2016-17 

CDBG allocation is $599,050. CDBG funds must be used to benefit low and moderate income households and 

neighborhoods. Eligible CDBG activities fall into three broad categories:  

1. Decent Affordable Housing. 

2. Human Services and Economic Opportunities, including services for people experiencing homelessness. 

3. Neighborhood Revitalization, Public Services and Facilities, including facilities serving people experiencing 

homelesness. 

 

Community Consultation Process. The Housing Section met with the Coconino County Continuum of Care, which 

leads efforts to address homelessness for the Rural Continuum of Care managed by the Arizona Department of 

Housing. Two public consultation meetings took place to seek input into 1) community needs and 2) proposed 

goals, activities and objectives.  

 

An online survey was conducted to secure input into community needs and priorities; 63 responses were received.  

Survey respondents identified the following priority needs:  

 Public Services 

o Mental Health 

o Housing 

o Child Care 

 Housing 

o Construction of Rental Housing 

o Eviction Prevention 

o Rental Assistance 

 Facilities/Services for People with Special Needs 

o DV Victims 

o People with Substance Abuse Disorders 

 Community Facilities 

o Child Care Centers 

o Health Facilities 

o Senior Centers 

o Disability Accessibility Improvements 

 Economic / Community Development 

o Job Creation 

o Employment Training 

o Employment Search Services 

 Services/Facilities for People Experiencing Homelessness 

o Emergency Shelter and Transitional Housing for Families 

o Unaccompanied youth (undercounted) 

 

Consolidated Plan Analyses. A housing market analysis and assessments of homelessness, non-housing 

community development, and special needs populations are conducted for the Consolidated Plan. The housing 

market analysis and needs assessments identify trends and conditions in a socio-economic and community 

context. These trends and conditions are then reviewed in the context of stakeholder and citizen input and the 

priorities of the City’s General and Capital Improvements Plans to establish priorities, goals and objectives for the 

next five years. The following information summarizes the results of the analysis and assessments. 

 



CCIITTYY  OOFF  FFLLAAGGSSTTAAFFFF  AARRIIZZOONNAA  

FY2016-2020 HUD Consolidated Plan Executive Summary 
 

Page 2 of 4 

Housing Market Analysis 

 

Housing Variety.  

 There is a general oversupply of units with 3 or more bedrooms and insufficient units with 1 or 2 

bedrooms. People have choice of where to live – including units that are too large for their household – 

and many small owner households choose to occupy housing units with 3 or more bedrooms.  

 With students rooming together off-campus, large families may be challenged to find rental units with 

adequate bedrooms to comfortably accommodate all members of the family.  

 VASH Voucher holders seeking 1-bedroom units that meet Housing Quality Standards have been 

challenged to find quality affordable units. 

 

Housing Quality.  

 There are 8,106 units that were built before 1980; this represents 36% of housing the housing stock. 

Renters and owners are equally likely to occupy pre-1980 housing units, with renters slightly more likely 

to occupy units built before 1950. 

 HUD data indicates that 2,290 pre-1980 housing units are occupied by households with children – 60% by 

renters and 40% by owners. These housing units may contain lead based paint, which can lead to serious 

pediatric health problems. 

 US Census data indicates there are 37 units in Flagstaff that lack complete plumbing facilities and 192 that 

lack complete kitchen facilities; these units may be illegal accessory dwelling units.  

 The City’s experience with owner-occupied housing rehabilitation indicates that most units are in need of 

roofing, electrical and plumbing upgrades, hot water heaters and heating units. Public input from the 

City’s survey indicates that deferred maintenance is occurring in the City’s older neighborhoods where 

rental housing predominates. 

 

Housing Affordability.  

 Housing cost burden is the most significant housing problem in Flagstaff. 

 2011 CHAS data when compared with 2011 household income and tenure data suggests: 

o Insufficient rental units affordable to households with income less than 30% AMI, and  

o Insufficient owner units affordable to households with income 50% to 80% AMI.  

 College students living off-campus often appear to be very low income and their presence tends to inflate 

the number of households with income less than 30% AMI who are cost burdened. However, it is 

important to ensure adequate rental housing for non-student households with income less than 30% AMI.  

 While the long-term (2000 to 2011) median home value increased 98% increase and the median rent 

increase was 44%, shorter-term (2011 to 2013) data indicate a 9.6% decrease in home values and a 6% 

increase in rents. The long-term expectation is that both home values and rents will increase as the 

housing market continues to recover. Rents are expected to increase more significantly as demand for 

home purchases is expected to remain relatively low. Rent increases may be somewhat lower than 

expected as site plans have been approved for 696 additional rental units that will primarily serve college 

students; the actual impact of new housing intended for student occupancy will depend on NAU student 

enrollment, which has been increasing steadily over the past five years. 

 

Public Services and Economic Opportunities Analyses Summary 

 Records of past funding indicate a need for agency operating support, homeless outreach services, 

financial education and counseling, housing stabilization assistance, and health services.  

 Respondents to the City’s Consolidated Plan survey identified mental health, affordable housing, and child 

care services as priority public services needs in Flagstaff. 



CCIITTYY  OOFF  FFLLAAGGSSTTAAFFFF  AARRIIZZOONNAA  

FY2016-2020 HUD Consolidated Plan Executive Summary 
 

Page 3 of 4 

 There is a mismatch between the high education levels of Flagstaff workers and the entry-level 

employment opportunities that are available. By targeting CDBG investment in public services that 

improve basic skills, job readiness and employment search skills, the City can supplement existing efforts. 

 

Neighborhood Revitalization and Public Facilities and Infrastructure Analyses Summary 

 There are 7 Census Tracts where low-income populations are concentrated – Census Tracts 2, 3, 5, 8, 10, 

12 and 15. An area of low-income concentration is defined as an area where at least 51% of the 

population has income below 80% of the area median income.  

 There are 5 Census Tracts where minority populations are concentrated – Census Tracts 3, 4, 5, 8, and 

11.02. An area of minority concentration is defined as an area where the proportion of minorities (non-

White) is at least 10% higher than the proportion of that minority group citywide.  

 The City has designated four target areas. These target areas encompass many of the areas of low-income 

and minority concentration and include:  

o Sunnyside - Census Tract 3, Block Group 2, 3, & 4. 

o Southside - Census Tract 8, Block Group 1. 

o Pine Knoll - Census Tract 8, Block Group 2. 

o La Plaza Vieja - Census Tract 11.02, Block Group 1 & 3  

 Needed public facilities located in LMI neighborhoods and/or serving LMI residents and people with 

special needs include emergency shelters and transitional housing, and facilities providing services to 

youth, seniors and people with special needs. The City library foresees a need for expansion to serve 

individuals experiencing homelessness and youth as school libraries are under-funded. Sustainability and 

energy efficiency improvements to shelters are also a critical need and several providers have approached 

the City for assistance. 

 Respondents to the City’s Consolidated Plan survey identified child care centers, health care facilities, 

senior centers and disability accessibility improvements as priority public facilities needs in Flagstaff. 

 

Homelessness 

 The 2015 sheltered count reported by the AZ Department of Housing identified 771 sheltered individuals 

in Coconino County, including emergency shelter, transitional housing, and permanent supportive 

housing. Counts of sheltered families served by victim services agencies are not included in the sheltered 

count.  

 The 2015 point in time count revealed 151 people in 91 households experiencing homelessness in 

Coconino County. This count was conducted in January when unsheltered homelessness in Coconino 

County is relatively low due to inclement weather. The July 2014 unsheltered count reported by Coconino 

County to the AZ Department of Housing identified 388 unsheltered individuals in Coconino County.  

 Nearly 1/3 of unsheltered homeless people indicated the primary reason for homelessness was no 

employment. Other high ranking primary contributors to homelessness were household/ family dispute, 

insufficient employment, and the high cost of housing. 

 



CCIITTYY  OOFF  FFLLAAGGSSTTAAFFFF  AARRIIZZOONNAA  

FY2016-2020 HUD Consolidated Plan Executive Summary 
 

Page 4 of 4 

Consolidated Plan Goals and Activities 

 

Public and stakeholder input, records of past funding, the needs assessments and housing market analysis are used 

to determine the relative priority of activities and the populations that will be served. HUD allows two priority 

designations – high and low. Assignment of priority does not reflect a lack of need for any particular population or 

activity; it merely identifies those conditions that are most likely to be addressed with limited CDBG funding.  

 High priority activities are likely to be funded with CDBG resources during the next five years. 

 Low priority activities may be funded as opportunities arise.  

 

The table summarizes planned CDBG activities and the priority level and 5-year numeric goal for each. Activities 

that will be targeted to special populations are indicated. The table is designed to meet HUD requirements.  

 

5-year Consolidated Plan Goals 

Activity Special 

Population 

Priority 

Level 

5-year Goal 

Priority Need: Revitalization, Public Facilities & Infrastructure    

Facility Improvements X H 500 people 

ADA Accessibility Improvements X L 500 people 

Land Acquisition for Affordable Housing Development  L 5 households 

Infrastructure for Affordable Housing Development  L 5 households 

Priority Need: Public Services & Economic Opportunities    

Service and Facility Operating Support X H 2,000 people 

Employment & Job Training Support Services  L 5 people 

Housing Stabilization Services including Eviction/Foreclosure 

Prevention and Legal Services 

 H 500 households 

Priority Need: Addressing Homelessness    

Service and Facility Operating Support, including Outreach X H 5,000 people 

Increase number of emergency /transitional shelter beds for families X H 20 beds 

Increase supply of permanent supportive housing X H 15 beds 

Priority Need: Decent Affordable Housing    

Owner-occupied Housing Rehabilitation  H 25 units 

Rental Housing Construction  H 5 units 

Owner Housing Construction  H 2 units 

First-time Homebuyer Assistance  H 25 households 

Rental Housing Rehabilitation  L 10 units 

 

 

 



City of Flagstaff 
2016 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 

Executive Summary 
 
 

Introduction 

In addition to prohibiting discrimination in housing, the Fair Housing Act also promotes the creation of diverse, 
inclusive communities with equal access to community resources such as good schools, transportation and jobs, 
and healthy environments. To accomplish this goal, the Fair Housing Act explicitly requires that federal housing 
and community development programs affirmatively advance fair housing and expand opportunity, or 
“affirmatively further fair housing” (AFFH), regardless of race, color, religion, national origin, family status, 
disability, and gender. 
 
The City of Flagstaff receives an annual entitlement allocation of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 
funding from the US Department of Housing and Urban Development. The amount of CDBG funding received by 
the City varies from year-to-year. In Program Year 2016-2017, the City received $599,050. The purposes of CDBG 
funding are:  

1. Providing Decent Housing, 

2. Providing a Suitable Living Environment, and  

3. Expanding Economic Opportunities. 
 
In order to receive CDBG funding, the City must complete a Consolidated Plan every five years. The City’s 
Consolidated Plan for HUD Program Years 2016 – 2020 was recently completed. In addition to the 5-year 
Consolidated Plan, the City must complete an Annual Action Plan that describes how CDBG funds will be used in 
the coming year. As part of the 5-year Consolidated Plan and Annual Action Plans, the City certifies it will 
affirmatively further fair housing. As part of this certification, the City must complete an Analysis of Impediments 
to Fair Housing Choice (AI), take appropriate actions to overcome the effects of any impediments identified 
through the analysis, and maintain records reflecting the actions taken.  

AI Purpose and Goals 

The purpose of this AI is to identify legitimate fair housing problems (impediments) faced by people seeking 
housing in Flagstaff. The AI reviews current information and data available from a number of sources, identifies 
current impediments to fair housing in the City of Flagstaff, evaluates the efficacy of the 2011 Plan of Action and 
develops a new Plan of Action to address current impediments.  
 
The City’s goals in developing this AI and implementing the Plan of Action include to:  

1. Strive to eliminate all forms of illegal housing discrimination in Flagstaff. 

2. Actively promote fair housing choice for all persons in Flagstaff. 
3. Provide opportunities for housing occupancy regardless of race, color, religion, sex, familial status, 

disability and national origin in Flagstaff. 

4. Actively promote housing in Flagstaff that is structurally accessible to, and usable by all persons including 
persons with disabilities. 

5. Foster compliance with the nondiscrimination provisions of the Fair Housing Act.  

Statistical Analysis 

Multiple statistical analyses were conducted, drawing on data from the following sources:  

• 2007-2011 US Census Bureau American Community Survey data 

• Census 2010 Census Tract Block Group level data for the City of Flagstaff; 

1 



City of Flagstaff 
2016 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 

Executive Summary 
 
 

• Census 2010 City of Flagstaff and Coconino County data; 

• Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFEIC) Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA) data; 

• HUD Fair Housing complaint data; and  

• HUD CHAS data. 
 
In addition to data and information from the US Census, HUD and FFEIC, the City and KELLC collected information 
and data for this AI from the following sources: 

• A survey of 159 Flagstaff area residents; 

• Interviews with 6 individuals working in the housing and related industries in Flagstaff and 13 participants 
in the Flagstaff Leadership Program; 

• A public forum conducted in conjunction with the Southwest Fair Housing Council; 

• Reports, data, and studies conducted on the national level; 

• The City of Flagstaff Consolidated Plans for FY2011-2015 and FY2016-2020; 

• The City of Flagstaff HUD Consolidated Annual Performance Reports for FY2011 through FY2014; and 

• The City of Flagstaff 2011 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice. 

Regulation, Policy and Ordinance Review 

One component of the AI is the review of local regulations, policies and ordinances that potentially impact fair 
housing in the City. Community Development staff completed a survey instrument secured from HUD.  

Review of Documents and Studies 

In addition to statistical analyses, the following documents were reviewed and incorporated into this Analysis of 
Impediments to Fair Housing Choice: 

• US Department of Housing and Urban Development FY 2012-2013 Annual Report on Fair Housing (most 
recent available). 

• Where You Live Matters 2015 Fair Housing Trends Report by The National Fair Housing Alliance. 

• City of Flagstaff Regional Transportation and Land Use Plan; and 

• City of Flagstaff Incentive Policy for Affordable Housing. 

Fair Housing Complaints and Enforcement Review  

Fair housing complaint data was compiled from the City of Flagstaff, Southwest Fair Housing Council, and the US 
Department of Housing and Urban Development Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity Office.  

2 



City of Flagstaff 
2016 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 

Executive Summary 
 
 

Identified Impediments 

HUD defines impediments to fair housing choice as: 

• Any actions, omissions or decisions taken because of race, color, religion, sex, disability, familial status, or 
national origin that restrict housing choices or the availability of housing choice. 

• Any actions, omissions or decisions that have this effect. 
 
The following impediments were identified in the City of Flagstaff:  

1. Housing Discrimination. A survey of Flagstaff residents, discussions with industry stakeholders, and fair 
housing testing data indicate housing discrimination exists.  

a. 54% of survey respondents believe that housing discrimination occurs or likely occurs, 

b. 15% of survey respondents believe they or someone they know has experienced housing 
discrimination.  

c. The types of discrimination most believed to be occurring, in rank order are: 
i. Refusing, discouraging or charging more to rent an apartment or buy a home 

ii. Discouraging a person from living where he or she wants to live, often by steering him or her 
to another apartment, complex or neighborhood 

iii. Refusing, discouraging or charging more for home insurance 

iv. Refusing or making it hard to get a loan to buy or refinance a house or take out home equity 
by doing things like charging more money or offering a worse deal than someone should be 
able to get if he or she shopped around  

2. Community Education. The number and nature of fair housing complaints in Flagstaff is low, yet the 
results of the community survey and interviews indicate that there is a need for more outreach and 
education.  

a. 56% of survey respondents are either not very informed or only somewhat informed about housing 
discrimination. 

b. 10% of survey respondents do not know where to report a housing discrimination complaint. 

c. While 54% of survey respondents indicated they believe housing discrimination is occurring or likely 
occurring in Flagstaff and 61% indicated they would report housing discrimination if they 
encountered it, there were only 13 complaints filed between 2012 and 2015. 

3. Fair Housing Monitoring and Reporting. A comprehensive data base is necessary to capture the volume 
and disposition of potential housing discrimination complaints to better focus community education and 
outreach activities. 

a. The City’s central registry indicates that 2 Fair Housing complaints were received in 2014 and referred 
to agencies that could handle the complaint – HUD, AGO or SWHFC. The majority of calls / complaints 
received by the City were regarding landlord-tenant issues. 

b. There were 3 complaints investigated by Southwest Fair Housing Council between 2011 and 2014. 

4. Minority and Low-income Areas of Concentration. Concentrations of both minorities and low-income 
households exist in four Census Tracts. 

a. LMI Concentration = at least 51% of population has income below 80% AMI. 

i. Census Tracts 2, 3, 5, 8, 10, 12, and 15. 
b. Minority Concentration = proportion of minorities at least 10% higher than the Citywide proportion. 

3 



City of Flagstaff 
2016 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 

Executive Summary 
 
 

i. Census Tracts 3, 4, 5, 8 and 11.02. 

c. Four Census Tracts that are both areas of low income and minority concentration.  
i. Census Tract 3, 4, 5, and 8.  

d. The City’s minority population continues to grow. 

i. In 2011, racial and ethnic minorities represented 27% of the population, up from 26% of the 
population in 2008 and 21% in 2000. 

ii. Northern Arizona University students represented 22% of the City’s minority population in 
2011, including 43% of the Black/African American population and 100% of the Pacific 
Islander population. 

5. Lending Discrimination. Home Mortgage Disclosure Act data indicates that 1) minority loan applicants and 
female loan applicants experience a disproportionately higher rate of loan denial, and 2) minority loan 
applicants and loan applicants in low-income and minority-concentration areas are also more likely to 
receive high-cost loans. 
a. In part explained by higher volume of applications for manufactured housing purchase. 

i. Manufactured housing purchase applications have double the rate of denial of site built.  

b. Minority home purchase loan applicants are also applying for HUD loans that are generally higher-
cost. 

6. Disability Accessibility. Testing data from Southwest Fair Housing Council indicates that housing 
discrimination on the basis of disability is more likely to be supported. Complaint data from Southwest 
Fair Housing Council and the US Department of Housing and Urban Development indicate a higher volume 
of complaints based on disability.  

a. 11 of 13 fair housing complaints reported by HUD in Flagstaff were regarding disability. 

b. 14 of 15 complaints reported by SWFHC were regarding disability. 

i. Majority (14) were rental housing. 

City of Flagstaff Fair Housing Action Plan FY 2016-2020 

The Action Plan is a critical element of the AI as it describes the measurable activities that will be conducted by the 
City of Flagstaff to address the identified impediments. In summary, the City will take the following actions to 
address impediments: 

1. Sponsor a variety of education opportunities for residents and stakeholders. 

2. Prepare and publish proclamations, resolutions, public notices, posters, brochures and other print 
materials regarding fair housing.  

3. Reach out to minority and other protected classes to encourage their participation in fair housing 
planning and education opportunities. 

4. Ensure that assigned staff maintains records of fair housing actions. 

5. Make referrals to key organizations that assist with fair housing concerns. 

6. Participate in the Arizona Fair Housing Partnership and sponsor a Fair Housing event in April of each year. 

 

4 



City of Flagstaff 
2016 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 

Executive Summary 
 
 

 
2016 FAIR HOUSING ACTION PLAN 

Impediment Action Plan 

Impediment # 1 - Housing Discrimination. 
A survey of Flagstaff residents and 
discussions with industry stakeholders 
indicate housing discrimination exists. 
Increased support and awareness are 
needed to identify and address housing 
discrimination. 

1. Annually adopt a proclamation declaring April to be observed as 
Fair Housing Month. 

2. Semi-annually publish fair housing information in for example, local 
newspapers, neighborhood and City newsletters, utility bills and on 
the City website. 

3. Continue to participate in the Arizona Fair Housing Partnership and 
sponsor a Fair Housing event in spring of each year. 

4. Continue to distribute fair housing referral information and 
encourage complainants to contact the Arizona Attorney General’s 
Office, HUD, or the Southwest Fair Housing Council. 

5. Continue to ensure that the Fair Housing Logo is displayed on 
business cards and in program marketing information. 

Impediment #2 - Community Education. 
The number and nature of fair housing 
complaints in Flagstaff is low, yet the 
results of the community survey and 
interviews and public forum indicate there 
is a need for more outreach and 
education. Industry stakeholders are more 
likely to participate in community 
education activities and additional effort is 
essential to reach residents. 

1. Each April, reach out to stakeholders, residents and the community 
at large to announce April as Fair Housing Month. Include 
information regarding Fair Housing, Fair Housing services, and who 
to call for more information. 

2. Annually sponsor fair housing training for Flagstaff residents, 
networking with landlords and property managers, nonprofit, 
neighborhood-based, faith organizations and education institutions 
to reach a broad audience. Include information regarding 
landlord/tenant issues in training. 

3. Through sign-in sheets, track the volume of residents, landlords and 
industry stakeholders participating in community education 
activities. 

4. Maintain a Fair Housing page on the City of Flagstaff website and 
include direct links to the HUD Fair Housing website and the Arizona 
Attorney General Civil Rights Division website. 

5. Continue to display fair housing posters and make fair housing 
materials available in Flagstaff public facilities and to nonprofit and 
faith-based organizations. 

Impediment #3 - Fair Housing Monitoring 
and Reporting. Maintain a comprehensive 
data base to capture the volume and 
disposition of potential housing 
discrimination complaints to better focus 
community education and outreach 
activities. 

1. Continue to distribute fair housing referral information and 
encourage complainants to contact the Arizona Attorney General’s 
Office, HUD, or the Southwest Fair Housing Council. 

2. Update the City’s fair housing complaint log to include: a brief 
summary of the complaint, date of contact, protected basis, 
housing tenure, and to whom the complainant is referred.  

 

5 



City of Flagstaff 
2016 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 

Executive Summary 
 
 

 
2016 FAIR HOUSING ACTION PLAN 

Impediment Action Plan 

Impediment #4. Minority and Low-
income Areas of Concentration. 
Concentrations of minorities and low-
income households exist, and the City’s 
minority population continues to grow. 

1. Continue to distribute fair housing brochures in both English and 
Spanish. 

2. Continually encourage minority and lower-income households to 
seek housing counseling from HUD-certified housing counseling 
agencies. Provide information to housing counseling agencies to 
assist them in educating minority and lower-income households 
regarding the range of housing options in Flagstaff, including those 
outside of minority and low-income concentration areas. 

3. Annually sponsor fair housing training for Flagstaff residents, 
networking with nonprofit, neighborhood-based and faith 
organizations and education institutions to reach out to minority 
populations and areas of minority concentration. 

Impediment #5 - Lending Discrimination. 
Minority loan applicants, female loan 
applicants, and loan applicants in 
minority-concentration areas experience a 
disproportionately high rate of denial. 
Minority loan applicants and loan 
applicants in minority-concentration areas 
are also more likely to receive high-cost 
loans. Minority households and loan 
applicants in minority-concentration areas 
require additional education to better 
understand the credit market. 

1. Distribute brochures containing contact information for Housing 
Counseling and Education organizations in minority and low-income 
concentration areas, and to social service, neighborhood-based, 
faith-based, and education organizations. 

2. Continue to work with the Arizona Fair Housing Partnership to 
discourage predatory lending and other discriminatory practices in 
the City of Flagstaff. 

 

Impediment #6 - Disability Accessibility. 
The majority of fair housing complaints 
reported by Southwest Fair Housing 
Council and the United States Department 
of Housing and Urban Development were 
regarding disability. Increased support and 
awareness are needed to identify and 
address housing discrimination, including 
that directed towards accessibility for 
persons with disabilities. 

1. Maintain an assigned ADA Accessibility Specialist within the City of 
Flagstaff. 

2. Continually encourage the development of housing accessible to or 
adaptable for persons with disabilities in federally-funded projects. 

3. Annually sponsor fair housing training for Flagstaff residents, 
networking with nonprofit, neighborhood-based and faith 
organizations and education institutions to reach out to persons 
with disabilities. 

4. Ensure that education and outreach activities include information 
regarding housing accessibility and adaptability for persons with 
disabilities. 

 

6 



4/4/2016

1

1

Leah Bloom - Housing and Grants Administrator
Martina Kuehl – Kuehl Enterprise, LLC

April 12, 2016

City of Flagstaff

CDBG OVERVIEW

Federal grant program administered by 
the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD). 

National and Primary Objective
The development of viable urban communities 
through the provision of the following, principally 
for low and moderate income persons: 
 Decent housing
 A suitable living environment
 Economic opportunity

2



4/4/2016

2

The funding can be allocated as City Council 
determines based on council priorities and

• Needs identified in the Consolidated Plan

• One or more of the Primary Objectives

• The National Objective

3

CDBG OVERVIEW

HOW DOES THE CITY ACCESS THE 
FUNDS?

 Analysis of Impediments to Further Fair Housing Choice -
Every 5 years Due May 15, 2016

- Provides guidance in overcoming Fair Housing Impediments

 Consolidated Plan - Every 5 years – Due May 2016
- Tells HUD what the community needs are and outlines goals and 

statistics to address those needs

 Annual Action Plan – Due May 15, 2016
- Tells HUD what the City is going to do with its annual CDBG  

allocation

 Consolidated Annual Performance Evaluation Report 
(CAPER) Due September
- Reports to HUD the City’s accomplishments with its annual CDBG 

allocation

4



4/4/2016

3

Completed
5 Public Meetings & Multiple Surveys

• January 6 & 22, 2016

• February 15, 2016

• April 12,19 2016

Open Grant Proposal Process
• January 6 – February 5, 2016

Draft Consolidated Plan, Analysis of Impediments to 
Further Fair Housing, & Annual Action Plan for 
Public Comment

• March 1 – April 15, 2016

Proposal Ranking Committee with Citizens & Staff 
• March 4, 2016 5

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION PROCESS

1. Analysis of Impediments to 
Further Fair Housing Choice

2. 5 Year Consolidated Plan
3. Annual Action Plan Process

i. Proposals Received

ii. Funding Recommendations
4. Requesting Council Approval 

of Resolution Numbers 
1. 2016-15 Consolidated Plan
2. 2016-16 Analysis of Impediments
3. 2016-17 Annual Action Plan

(April 19 Council Meeting) 6

TONIGHT 



4/4/2016

4

7

Martina Kuehl – Kuehl Enterprise, LLC

2016 Analysis of Impediments to Further 
Fair Housing Choice 

Resolution No. 2016-16 

ANALYSIS OF IMPEDIMENTS TO FAIR 
HOUSING CHOICE (AI)

Required for receipt of CDBG funding

 Identifies fair housing problems 
(impediments) faced by people seeking 
housing in Flagstaff 

Develops a Plan of Action to address 
current impediments 

Final AI 
New HUD requirements
 Fair Housing Assessment
 Due by August 15, 2020

8



4/4/2016

5

PROCESS

Public and Stakeholder Consultation
 Fair Housing Forum – Southwest Fair Housing Council
 January 22, 2016
 17 attendees

 Survey - 159 responses
 Interviews

Data Analysis
 HUD eCon Planning Suite 
 Fair Housing Complaints & Testing 
 Home Mortgage Disclosure Act
 2010 Decennial Census and 2007/11 American 

Community Survey

Regulation, Policy, Ordinance Review
National Studies 9

IDENTIFIED IMPEDIMENTS AND 
ACTION PLAN

6 Identified Impediments 
1. Housing Discrimination
2. Community Education
3. Fair Housing Monitoring
4. Minority & Low Income Areas of 

Concentration
5. Lending Discrimination
6. Disability Accessibility

Action Plan
 Primary Focus = Education and Outreach
 Activities reported in Consolidated Annual 

Performance Report submitted to HUD
10



4/4/2016

6

EDUCATION AND OUTREACH ACTION PLAN

 Annually proclaim Fair Housing Month in April
 Publish fair housing information in (for example) local 

newspapers, neighborhood and City newsletters, util ity bil ls 
and on the City website

 Sponsor a Fair Housing event in spring
 Sponsor fair housing training. Include information regarding 

 Landlord/tenant issues
 Disability accessibility and adaptability for persons with disabilities

 Distribute fair housing referral information in English and 
Spanish and encourage complainants to contact the Arizona 
Attorney General’s Office, HUD, or the Southwest Fair 
Housing Council

11

EDUCATION AND OUTREACH ACTION PLAN

 Display the Fair Housing Logo on business cards and in 
program marketing information

 Maintain a Fair Housing page on the City website
 Display fair housing posters and make fair housing 

materials available in Flagstaff public facil it ies and to 
nonprofit and faith-based organizations

 Encourage minority and lower-income households to seek 
housing counseling from HUD-certified housing counseling 
agencies 

 Provide information to housing counseling agencies to 
assist them in educating minority and lower-income 
households about housing options in Flagstaff, including 
those outside of minority and low-income concentration 
areas

12



4/4/2016

7

ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION PLAN

 Track the volume of residents, landlords and industry 
stakeholders participating in community education activities 

 Participate in the Arizona Fair Housing Partnership and 
work with them to discourage predatory lending and other 
discriminatory practices in Flagstaff

 Maintain an assigned City ADA Accessibil ity Specialist
 Encourage the development of housing accessible to or 

adaptable for persons with disabil ities
 Update the City’s fair housing complaint log to include: a 

brief summary of the complaint, date of contact, protected 
basis, housing tenure, and to whom the complainant is 
referred 

13

NEXT STEPS & QUESTIONS

Public comment period ends April 15, 2016

 Incorporate any written comments into Plan

Submit to HUD by May 15, 2016

14

Questions?



4/4/2016

8

15

Resolution No. 2016-15 

Martina Kuehl – Kuehl Enterprise, LLC

5 Year Consolidated Plan

16

Quantifies need/demand for CDBG activities

Establishes priorities for and planned uses of CDBG 
funds
 About $550,000 annually

Elements based on Assessments
1. Affordable housing
2. Homelessness and special needs populations
3. Non-housing community development
4. Barriers to affordable housing
5. Lead-based paint
6. Anti-poverty
7. Institutional Structure and Coordination

5-YEAR HUD CONSOLIDATED PLAN



4/4/2016

9

17

PROCESS

Public and Stakeholder Consultation
Continuum of Care Meeting
2 Public Meetings
January 6, 2016
February 16, 2016

Survey
63 responses

Data Analysis
HUD eCon Planning Suite 
Primarily 2011 data

Prior funding requests and uses

18

STRATEGIC PLAN - FOUR PRIORITY 
AREAS 

1. Revitalization, Public Facilities & 
Infrastructure

2. Public Services & Economic Opportunities
3. Homelessness
4. Decent Affordable Housing

 HUD allows two priority designations
 High = likely to be funded
 Low = funded as opportunities arise



4/4/2016

10

19

TARGET AREAS

The City has designated four target areas. These 
target areas encompass many of the areas of 
low-income and minority concentration and 
include: 
 Sunnyside 
 Census Tract 3, Block Group 2, 3, & 4.

 Southside 
 Census Tract 8, Block Group 1.

 Pine Knoll 
 Census Tract 8, Block Group 2.

 La Plaza Vieja 

 Census Tract 11.02, Block Group 1 & 3

20

REVITALIZATION, PUBLIC FACILITIES & 
INFRASTRUCTURE

Activity  Special 

Population 

Priority 

Level 

5‐year Goal 

Priority Need: Revitalization, Public Facilities & Infrastructure       

Facility Improvements  X  H  5 projects  

500 people 

ADA Accessibility Improvements  X  L  2 projects 

500 people 

Land Acquisition for Affordable Housing Development    L  1 project 

5 households 

Infrastructure for Affordable Housing Development    L  1 project 

5 households 

 



4/4/2016

11

21

PUBLIC SERVICES & ECONOMIC 
OPPORTUNITIES GOALS

Priority Need: Public Services & Economic Opportunities       

Activity  Special 

Population 

Priority 

Level 

5‐year Goal 

Service and Facility Operating Support  X  H  5 projects 

2,000 people 

Employment & Job Training Support Services    L  1 project 

5 people 

Housing Stabilization Services including Eviction/Foreclosure 

Prevention and Legal Services 

  H  500 

households 

 

22

HOMELESSNESS ACTIVITY GOALS

Activity  Special 

Population

Priority 

Level 

5‐year 

Goal 

Service and Facility Operating 

Support, including Outreach 

X  H  5,000 

people 

Increase number of emergency 

/transitional shelter beds for families 

X  H  20 beds 

Increase supply of permanent 

supportive housing 

X  H  15 beds 

 



4/4/2016

12

23

DECENT AFFORDABLE HOUSING GOALS

Activity  Special 

Population

Priority 

Level 

5‐year 

Goal 

Owner‐occupied Housing 

Rehabilitation 

  H  25 units 

Rental Housing Construction    H  5 units 

Owner Housing Construction    H  2 units 

First‐time Homebuyer Assistance    H  25 

households 

Rental Housing Rehabilitation    L  10 units 
 

NEXT STEPS & QUESTIONS

Public comment period ends April 15, 2016

 Incorporate any written comments into Plan

Submit to HUD by May 15, 2016

24

Questions?



4/4/2016

13

25

Resolution No. 2016-17

Leah Bloom - Housing and Grants Administrator

2016/2017 Annual Action Plan

Council CDBG Priorities 
Established January 2015

• Housing
• Homelessness
• Neighborhood Revitalization
• Mentally ill and/or Serial Inebriate Population

City Staff Responsibilities
• Conduct proposal process
• Determine activity eligibility
• Assess activity viability
• Conduct agency risk assessment
• Provide recommendations to the City Council

26

COUNCIL DIRECTION AND STAFF 
RESPONSIBILITIES



4/4/2016

14

The City of Flagstaff is the Responsible entity to the HUD
 Meeting community needs identi f ied in the Consol idated Plan
 Ensure compliance with federal regulat ion

Past Performance and Success Measures
 Require signif icant addit ional data to be col lected
 Agencies col laborat ion efforts and systems design tools

Organizational Experience
 Federal grant experience
 Review staff resumes

Financial Capacity and Timeliness of Expenditure
 Rate of Expenditure
 Review f inancial audit
 Budget analysis 
 Suff icient leverage 
 Grant request is real ist ic

27

CONDUCTING RISK ASSESSMENT FOR 
EACH PROPOSAL

Ranking committee considers each proposal and 
scores them based on items such as:

• National and Primary Objectives

• Council’s CDBG Priorities

• Target Neighborhood Location

• Community Need

• Collaboration Efforts

• Budget

• Leverage & Cost Effectiveness
28

PROPOSAL SCORING CRITERIA 
EXAMPLES



4/4/2016

15

29

HOW MUCH MONEY ARE WE TALKING 
ABOUT?

16/17 Entitlement $599,050.00

Prior Year Program Income $31,957.00

Reallocated Funds $9,786.00

Total $640,793.00

• Public Service Activities 
• (15% cap) - $94,600

• Administration
• (20% cap) - $126,000
$55,349 for a 10% estimated indirect

• Eligible  Housing Activities

• $420,133

30

DISTRIBUTION ALLOWED BY HUD



4/4/2016

16

Public Service (15% cap) $94,600.00

Housing Activities $420,193.00

Admin/Grant Compliance and Indirect (20% cap)
Recommending 

$126,201.53
$126,000.00

• Estimated City Indirect at 10% = $55,349
• Admin/Grant Compliance = $70,651

31

HOW MUCH MONEY ARE WE TALKING 
ABOUT FOR EACH CATEGORY?

Agency Proposal/Project Request Ranking

Flagstaff Shelter Services

Operational Assistance 
for Housing Services & 
Winter Overflow Shelter $70,000 144

Coconino County Community 
Services Housing Stabilization $60,750 105

Catholic Charities Community 
Services

Operational Assistance
for Cedar Rose Family 
Shelter $30,000 104

DNA People’s Legal Services Eviction Prevention $11,400 88

Dorsey Manor Rescue Mission
Operational Assistance 
for a Case Manager $35,000 81

Total: $207,150

32

PUBLIC SERVICE PROPOSALS
$94,600



4/4/2016

17

33

HOUSING PROPOSALS
$420,193

Agency Proposal/Project Request Ranking

Flagstaff Shelter 
Services

Energy Improvement 
Rehabilitation

$19,800 128

Housing Solutions of NA Financial Assistance & 
Counseling

$120,000 127

Northland Family Help 
Center

Minor Rehabilitation $25,154 84

Arizona Conservation 
Corp

Rose Street Meeting 
Space Rehabilitation

$85,000 27

City of Flagstaff Owner Occupied
Housing Rehabilitation

$150,000 Internal

City of Flagstaff Hal Jensen Community 
Center Improvements

$105,239 Internal

Total $505,193

34

Agency Proposal/Project Request Recommendation Ranking Served

Flagstaff Shelter 
Services

Operational Assistance 
for Housing Services & 
Winter Overflow Shelter $70,000 $70,000 144

650
individuals

Coconino County 
Community 
Services Housing Stabilization $60,750 $24,600 105

24 
households

Total $94,600

PUBLIC SERVICE RECOMMENDATIONS 
15% = $94,600

Total Available Public Service Funding (15%): $94,600



4/4/2016

18

Agency Proposal/Project Request Recommendation Ranking Served

Flagstaff Shelter 
Services

Energy Improvement 
Rehabilitation

$19,800 $19,800 128 1,591
individuals

Housing
Solutions of NA

Financial Assistance 
& Counseling

$120,000 $120,000 127 106 
households

Northland 
Family Help 
Center

Minor Rehabilitation $25,154
$25,154

84 350
individuals

City of Flagstaff
Owner Occupied 
Housing Rehab.

$150,000 $150,000 Internal 5 
households

City Flagstaff
Hal Jensen 
Community Center 
Rehabilitation

$105,239 $105,239 Internal
3,000 

Individuals

Total $420,193
35

Total Available Housing Funding: $420,193

HOUSING ACTIVITIES RECOMMENDATIONS

• Tonight 
• Council Input for the following Resolutions

• 2016-15 Consolidated Plan
• 2016-16 Analysis of Impediments to Further Fair Housing Choice
• 2016-17 Annual Action Plan

• April 19, 2016
• Council Consideration of above Resolutions

• May 15, 2015
• Submission to HUD

• Analysis of Impediments to Further Fair Housing Choice
• Consolidated Plan
• Annual Action Plan

36

NEXT STEPS & QUESTIONS



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-15

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF FY 2016-2020 
CONSOLIDATED PLAN AND AUTHORIZING ITS SUBMISSION TO THE U.S. 
DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT (HUD).

WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council is committed to the welfare of its low and moderate income 
residents; and 

WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council is committed to meeting the national objective of the United 
States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to: 1) benefit low and moderate 
income persons; 2) address slum and blight; and 3) meet an urgent community need; and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff has been designated as a Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) Entitlement Community by HUD; and

WHEREAS, preparation of the Consolidated Plan is a federal requirement in order for local 
Entitlement jurisdictions to continue to receive CDBG and other HUD grant funding; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff has prepared its five-year 2016-2020 Consolidated Plan in order 
to meet the federal requirement; and

WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council has reviewed the FY 2016-2020 Consolidated Plan;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.  That the FY 2016-2020 Consolidated Plan reflecting strategies developed within 
the public planning process is hereby approved and authorized for submission to the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council and approved by the Mayor of the City of 
Flagstaff this day of , 2016.

MAYOR



ATTEST:

CITY CLERK

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

CITY ATTORNEY



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-16

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 2016 ANALYSIS OF 
IMPEDIMENTS TO FAIR HOUSING CHOICE AND AUTHORIZING ITS 
SUBMISSION TO THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN 
DEVELOPMENT.

WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council is committed to meeting the national objective of the United 
States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to:  (1) benefit low and moderate 
income persons; (2) address slum and blight; or (3) meet an urgent community need; and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff recognizes and values the efforts of those who seek to reduce 
barriers to full and fair housing opportunity; and

WHEREAS, shelter is a basic human need and when shelter is denied, the quality of human life is 
greatly diminished; and 

WHEREAS, people must not be denied equal access to, and enjoyment of, housing because of 
race, color, national origin, religion, sex, disability or familial status; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff has been designated as a Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) Entitlement Community by HUD; and

WHEREAS, preparation of the Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice is a federal 
requirement in order for local Entitlement jurisdictions to continue to receive CDBG and other 
HUD grant funding; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff has prepared the Analysis of Impediment to Fair Housing Choice 
in order to meet the federal requirement; and

WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council has reviewed the Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing 
Choice.



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-16 PAGE 2

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.  That the 2016 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice reflecting 
strategies developed within the public planning process is hereby approved and submission to 
the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development is authorized.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council and approved by the Mayor of the City of 
Flagstaff this day of , 2016.

MAYOR

ATTEST:

CITY CLERK

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

CITY ATTORNEY



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-17

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 2016/2017 ANNUAL 
ACTION PLAN AND AUTHORIZING ITS SUBMISSION TO THE UNITED 
STATES DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT.

WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council is committed to the welfare of its low and moderate income 
residents; and 

WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council is committed to meeting the national objectives of the United 
States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) to: (1) benefit low and moderate 
income persons; (2) address slum and blight conditions; and (3) meet an urgent community need; 
and

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff has been designated as a Community Development Block Grant 
(“CDBG”) Entitlement Community by HUD; and

WHEREAS, preparation of the Annual Action Plan is a federal requirement in order for local 
entitlement jurisdictions to continue to receive CDBG and other HUD grant funding; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff has prepared a 2016/2017 Annual Action Plan in order to meet 
the federal requirement; and

WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Council has reviewed the 2016/2017 Annual Action Plan; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF AS 
FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. That the submission of 2016/2017 Annual Action Plan be hereby approved and
authorized to reflect the following use of the 2016/2017 CDBG funds, and the reallocation of CDBG 
funds from previous program years.

2016/2017 Funds For Allocation

Total 2016/2017 Entitlement Award $599,050.00

Total Reallocation from Program Income and Previous Project Years $41,743.00

15/16 Program Income $31,957.00
Unspent reallocated funding $9,786.00
13/14 DNA People’s Legal Services 824C-14 $9,468.00
14/15 The Guidance Center 1210C-14 $317.00

Total Available $640,793.00



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-17 PAGE 2

2016/2017 CDBG ENTITLEMENT FUNDS ALLOCATION

Housing Activities
Flagstaff Shelter Services – Energy Efficiency Rehabilitation $19,800.00
Housing Solution of Northern Az. – Housing Assistance & Counseling $120,000.00
Northland Family Help Center – Minor Shelter Rehabilitation $25,154.00
City of Flagstaff – Owner Occupied Housing Rehabilitation $150,000.00
City of Flagstaff – Hal Jensen Community Center Rehabilitation $105,239.00

Public Service Activities
Flagstaff Shelter Services – Shelter Operations $70,000.00
Coconino County Community Services – Housing Stabilization $24,600.00

Administration
Grant Compliance and Administration $70,651.00
City’s Estimated Indirect Rate at 10% $55,349.00

Total City of Flagstaff CDBG Allocation $640,793.00

SECTION 2. That the Housing Section be authorized to submit this resolution and Annual Action 
Plan to HUD.

SECTION 3. That the City Manager be authorized to execute the above non-intergovernmental 
agreements in the amounts authorized by City Council in this Resolution.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council and approved by the Mayor of the City of Flagstaff 
this day of , 2016.

MAYOR

ATTEST:

CITY CLERK

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

CITY ATTORNEY



  14. A. 1. a.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting
Date:

04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-20: An ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, extending and increasing the corporate limits of the City
of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona
Revised Statutes, by annexing certain land totaling approximately 640.51 acres located in Section 12,
Township 21 North, Range 6 East, which land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of
Flagstaff, and establishing city zoning for said land as Public Open Space (POS) for 640.51 acres.
(Observatory Mesa Annexation)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-20 by title only for the final time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance no. 2016-20 by title for the final time (if approved above)
3) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-20 

Executive Summary:
An annexation request of approximately 640.51 acres, which is part of the Observatory Mesa open
space owned by the City of Flagstaff.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
LU.7.2 Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City services, or that a
pre-annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The Public Hearing and first read of this Ordinance was held on April 5, 2016.

Options and Alternatives:
1. Approve the ordinance as proposed.



1. Approve the ordinance as proposed.
2. Approve the ordinance with conditions.
3. Deny the ordinance.

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting an annexation of 640.51 acres, which is a part of Observatory Mesa. With funding
from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond, the City of Flagstaff acquired Observatory Mesa in
November 2013 for the express purpose of preserving its unique recreational, educational and natural
resources. 

This annexation is the first of a three-step process. The second being a Regional Plan Amendment to
change the Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22) from Area in White/State Land to Parks/Open
Space. The third is a Zoning Map Amendment to add the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone. Both
amendment applications are being processed concurrently with this application but will not become
effective until after the annexation has been completed.

Key Considerations:
State statutes only allow the City to adopt a zoning classification that permits densities and intensities no
greater than those permitted by the County immediately before the annexation. Currently the property is
zoned Open Space and Conservation (OS) in the County so the property will come into the City in the
Public Open Space (POS) zone. A Regional Plan Amendment application to change the current
designation on Maps 21 and 22 from Area in White/State Land to Parks/Open Space is proposed to
support the existing zoning on the property as well as update ownership and city limits. A Zoning Map
Amendment application to add the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone is proposed to further the
preservation of the property and its resources. The Regional Plan Amendment and Zoning Map
Amendment applications will be considered subsequent to review of the annexation application.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Annexation request are addressed in the attached
Planning & Zoning Commission staff report date February 12, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with requests for annexation. In accordance with State statute, notice of the public hearing
was provided by placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to
all property owners within 600 feet of the site. The notices were also provided to the County Recorder,
County Assessor, County Community Development Department, and the Chair of the Board of
Supervisors.

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the Annexation, Regional Plan,
and Zoning Map Amendments and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22,
2015. Four individuals spoke at this meeting but none referenced any concerns with Observatory Mesa.

Attachments:  Application & Narrative
Planning & Zoning Commission Staff Report
Annexation Legal Description
Ord. 2016-20







PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIVISION
ANNEXATION REPORT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 12, 2016
PZ-15-00134-01 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

An annexation request of approximately 77.8 acres located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East.  The 
property is identified as Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel Number 113-06-004. This annexation request is the first 
part of a two-part request.  The second part of the request is a Zoning Map Amendment.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the annexation request to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.  

PRESENT LAND USE:

The subject site consists of undeveloped land with no zoning designation under Coconino County jurisdiction.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

If this annexation is approved, the property will come into the City boundaries with no zoning designation because it 
currently has no zoning in Coconino County.  The accompanying Zoning Map Amendment will place the subject 
property into the Public Opens Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection 
Overlay (RPO) zone and add the Rural Floodplain designation.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Single-family residences; Agricultural Residential, 5 acre minimum (AR-5) zone (County)
East: Single-family residences; Rural Residential (RR) zone (City)
South: El Paso Gas Pump Station; General (G) zone (County)
West: Coconino County Public Works Yard and Cinder Mine; Public Facility (PF) and Heavy 

Industrial (HI) zones (City)

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

The Commission shall find that the requested annexation complies with Section 9-471 of the Arizona Revised Statutes; 
the applicable goals and policies set forth in the City’s General Plan, “Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030”; and Division 10-
20.90 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code.

STAFF REVIEW:

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND:

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting an annexation of 77.8 acres, which is a part of the Picture Canyon Preserve and Archeological Park.  With 
funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond and a 2012 Growing Smarter Grant, the City of Flagstaff acquired 
Picture Canyon in October 2012 for the express purpose of preserving its unique historical, cultural, archeological, 
recreational, and educational resources.  The canyon is an ecologically diverse riparian corridor and has a variety of native 
trees and plants.  The area has many archeological resources with existing logging railroad features on the property eligible 



PZ 15-00134-01
February 24, 2016
Page 2

for listing on the National Register of Historic Places

This annexation is the first of a two-step process.  The second being a Zoning Map Amendment request to establish 
zoning on the parcel, Public Open Space (POS) zone, Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, and the Resource Protection 
Overlay (RPO) zone, and designate the parcel as Rural Floodplain.  The Zoning Map Amendment application is being 
processed concurrently with this application but will not become effective until after the annexation has been 
completed.

ARIZONA STATE STATUTE COMPLIANCE:

State statutes only allow the City to adopt a zoning classification that permits densities and intensities no greater than 
those permitted by the County immediately before the annexation. Currently the property is not zoned in the County
so the property will come into the City with no zoning designation..  A Zoning Map Amendment application to zone 
the parcel to Public Open Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) zone and Rural Floodplain designation is proposed to further the preservation of the property and its resources.  
The Zoning Map Amendment application will be considered subsequent to review of the annexation application. 

FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN CONFORMANCE:

Policy/Analysis

All proposed annexations shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with the policies of the General 
Plan.  The proposed annexation should not be detrimental to the majority of the persons or property in the surrounding 
area or the community in general.  The City’s basic position regarding annexation is that the annexation must 
demonstrate a favorable benefit to the taxpayers of the City.

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030), Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22) designates the subject site as 
Park/Open Space.  The proposal to rezone the subject properties to the Public Open Space (POS) zone is in conformance 
with the Regional Plan designation.  Staff has identified the following Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be 
applied to support the proposed annexation:

LU.7.2 - Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City services, or that a pre-
annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate.

Summary of Regional Plan & Annexation Compliance

This parcel is located within the Urban Growth Boundary. The proposed annexation is consistent with the goals and 
policies of the Regional Land Use and Transportation Plan and furthermore the application complies with all the 
requirements set forth in the Arizona Revised Statutes related to annexations.

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICE IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater

No analysis was required.

Stormwater



PZ 15-00134-01
February 24, 2016
Page 3

No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation

This zoning map amendment is not anticipated to have any impact to the City’s parks or recreation systems.

ZONING REQUIREMENTS FOR PROPOSED ZONING:

As was noted above, the property, if annexed will need to be brought into the City with a zoning similar to the existing 
County zoning.  In this case, the County has not applied zoning to this parcel, see attached letter from Coconino 
County in regards to the current zoning.  The parcel will come into the City with no zoning.  Arizona statues require
that once annexed, the zoning is to remain in place for a period of 30 days.  As a result, an ordinance modifying the 
zoning code must include an effective date 30 plus days after the annexation ordinance becomes effective. The Zoning 
Map Amendment application and the staff report have been provided in conjunction with this application.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Citizen Participation

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in conjunction with 
requests for annexation.  In accordance with State statute, notice of the public hearing was provided by placing an ad in 
the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the site.
The notices were also provided to the County Recorder, County Assessor, County Community Development 
Department and the Chair of the Board of Supervisors.

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and annexation and 
asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015.  One individual inquired about these 
applications affecting the management plans for Picture Canyon.  Minutes for this meeting are attached.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends that the Commission forward the annexation request to the City Council with a recommendation of 
approval. 

ATTACHMENTS:

Application and narrative from applicant
Annexation Legal Description and Map
Zoning letter from Coconino County 
Public Hearing Legal Advertisements







ORDINANCE NO. 2016-20 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
ARIZONA, EXTENDING AND INCREASING THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF 
THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, COCONINO COUNTY, STATE OF ARIZONA, 
PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 9, CHAPTER 4, ARIZONA 
REVISED STATUTES, BY ANNEXING CERTAIN LAND TOTALING 
APPROXIMATELY 640.51 ACRES LOCATED IN SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 21 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, WHICH LAND IS CONTIGUOUS TO THE EXISTING 
CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AND ESTABLISHING 
CITY ZONING FOR SAID LAND AS PUBLIC OPEN SPACE (POS) FOR 640.51 
ACRES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AUTHORITY FOR CLERICAL 
CORRECTIONS, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, petitioner owns parcel APN 112-05-002 located in Section 12, Township 21 North, 
Range 6 East, consisting of a total of 640.51 acres of land located within Coconino County, 
Arizona, as property adjacent to the boundaries of the City of Flagstaff, and described in Exhibit 
A, attached to and made a part hereof; and 
 
WHEREAS, a petition in writing (“Petition”) accompanied by a map or plot of said Property, 
having been filed and presented to the Mayor and Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, 
signed by the owners of one-half or more in value of the real property and more than one-half of 
the persons owning real and personal property as would be subject to taxation by the City of 
Flagstaff in the event of annexation of the territory and land hereinafter described as shown by 
the last assessment of said Property, which said territory is contiguous to the City of Flagstaff 
and not now embraced within its corporate limits, asking that the Property be annexed to the 
City of Flagstaff, and that the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff be extended and increased 
so as to embrace the same; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, are desirous of complying 
with said Petition and extending and increasing the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff to 
include said territory as described in Exhibit A; and  
 
WHEREAS, Petition sets forth a true and correct description of all the exterior boundaries of the 
entire area proposed to be annexed to the City of Flagstaff, and had attached thereto at all 
times an accurate map of the territory desired to be annexed; and 
 
WHEREAS, no alterations increasing or reducing the territory sought to be annexed have been 
made after the Petition had been signed by an owner of real and personal property in such 
territory; and 
 
WHEREAS, the provisions of Section 9-471, Arizona Revised Statutes, and amendments 
thereto, have been fully observed; and 
 
WHEREAS, proper and sufficient certification and proof of the foregoing facts are now on file in 
the office of the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, together with a true and correct copy 
of the original Petition referred to herein, which is on file in the office of the Coconino County 
Recorder; and 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-20  PAGE 2 

 
WHEREAS, the development of the Property will be controlled by the relevant provisions of the 
Zoning Code and various other City codes regulating the development of the Property; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the proposed annexation for the Property has been 
considered by the Planning and Zoning Commission and that the City staff and the Commission 
have each recommended that the Council proceed with the annexation at this time; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has reviewed the Staff Summary Report, which discusses the proposed 
annexation, and now finds that the annexation of the Property would be consistent with the 
objectives and policies of the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 ratified May 20, 2014 (“Regional 
Plan”); that the annexation of the Property would not be detrimental to the majority of the 
persons or property in the surrounding area or to the community in general; and the Council 
specifically further finds that:  The annexation of the Property and the existing and proposed 
uses thereon will further the objectives of the Regional Plan. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  That the following described territory be, and the same hereby is, annexed to the 
City of Flagstaff, and that the present corporate limits be, and the same hereby are, extended 
and increased to include the following described territory contiguous to the present City of 
Flagstaff corporate limits: 
 
 See attached Exhibit A, which are incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
SECTION 2.  That the territory described in Exhibit A is annexed to the City of Flagstaff subject 
to the following condition: 
 

That a copy of this Ordinance, together with an accurate map of the territory hereby 
annexed to the City of Flagstaff, certified by the Mayor of said City of Flagstaff, be 
forthwith filed and recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Coconino County, 
Arizona. 

 
SECTION 3. That, pursuant to the provisions of Section 9-471(L), Arizona Revised Statutes, 
upon this Ordinance becoming final under the provisions of Section 9-471(D), Arizona Revised 
Statutes, the municipal zoning designation for the Property under the Zoning Code shall be: 
 

1. The entirety of APN 102-15-002 will be located within the Public Open Space 
(POS) Zone.  

2. All annexed parcels shall be placed in the City of Flagstaff Lighting Zone 2 and 
shall comply with City of Flagstaff Zoning Code Lighting Standards. 

 
SECTION 4. The Community Development Department of the City of Flagstaff is hereby 
directed to enter such changes and amendments as may be necessary upon the Zoning Map of 
said Zoning Code in compliance with this ordinance. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-20  PAGE 3 

SECTION 5.  That the Flagstaff City Clerk shall provide a copy of the adopted annexation 
ordinance to the Clerk of the Coconino County Board of Supervisors within sixty days of the 
annexation becoming final. 
 
SECTION 6.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 7.  The City Clerk is hereby authorized to correct typographical and grammatical 
errors, as well as errors of wording and punctuation, as necessary related to this ordinance as 
amended herein, and to make formatting changes needed for purposes of clarity and form, or 
consistency, within thirty (30) days following adoption by the City Council. 
 
SECTION 8.  This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after adoption by the 
Flagstaff City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, this 19th day of 
April, 2016. 
 

 
 

        
        MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 
 
 
 







  14. A. 1. b.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting
Date:

04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-21:  An ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately
1610.69 acres of real property located on Observatory Mesa, from Rural Residential ("RR") to Public
Open Space ("POS"), and approximately 2.0 acres from Rural Residential ("RR") to Public Facility ("PF")
and to apply the Resource Protection Overlay ("RPO") to approximately 640.51 acres. (Observatory
Mesa Zoning Map Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-21 by title only for the final time
2)  City Clerk reads Ordinance no. 2016-21 by title for the final time (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-21 

Executive Summary:
A Zoning Map Amendment request to rezone approximately 1610.69 acres located on Observatory Mesa
from Rural Residential (RR) to Public Open Space (POS), approximately 2.00 acres from Rural
Residential (RR) to Public Facility (PF) and to apply the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) to
approximately 640.51 acres.

Financial Impact:
None 



Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal
community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.
Goal E&C.7. Give special consideration to environmentally sensitive lands in the development design and
review process.
Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.
Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The Public Hearing and first read of this Ordinance was held on April 5, 2016.

Options and Alternatives:
1.  Approve the ordinance with the proposed condition.
2.  Approve the ordinance with no conditions, additional conditions or modified conditions.
3.  Deny the ordinance.

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 1610.69 acres known as
Observatory Mesa to the Public Open Space (POS), approximately 2.00 acres to Public Facility (PF) and
add the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone to approximately 640.51. An overlay zone is a special
zoning district placed over an existing zoning district, part of a district, or a combination of districts.
Overlay zones build on the underlying zoning, by establishing additional requirements. In this case, the
overlay zone would be in addition to the Public Open Space (POS) zone. Approximately 1612.69 acres
of Observatory Mesa already have the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone applied.

With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond, the City of Flagstaff acquired Observatory
mesa in November 2013 for the express purpose of preserving its unique recreational, educational, and
natural resources.

Key Considerations:
The primary purpose of this Zoning Map Amendment is to add layers of protection to Observatory Mesa.
The majority of the properties will be zoned and regulated under the Public Open Space (POS) zoning,
which is intended to be applied to areas of the City that are appropriate for designation as public open
space to allow for resource protection and passive recreation uses. The two acres that will be rezoned to
Public Facility (PF) currently consists of a tank farm maintained by the Utilities Division, which would not
be a permitted use in the Public Open Space (POS) zone.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Annexation request are addressed in the attached



Community benefits and considerations related to this Annexation request are addressed in the attached
Planning & Zoning Commission staff report date February 12, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with requests for Zoning Map Amendment. In accordance with State statute, notice of the
public hearing was provided by placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and
mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the site.

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
annexation and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015. 

Attachments:  Planning & Zoning Commission Report
Observatory Mesa ZMA Application
FRP 2030 Goals & Policies
Open Space Commission Minutes
Ord. 2016-21
Exhibit A



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 12, 2016
PZ-15-00136 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

A Zoning Map Amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, City 
of Flagstaff, to rezone approximately 1610.69 acres located on Observatory Mesa from Rural Residential (RR) to Public 
Open Space (POS), rezone approximately 2.00 acres from Rural Residential (RR) to Public Facility (PF) and to apply the 
Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) Zone to approximately 640.51 acres.  This Zoning Map Amendment request is the third 
part of a three-part request; the first is an annexation of 640.51 acres and the second is a Regional Plan Amendment of 
approximately 2253.20 acres.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Zoning Map Amendment to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE:

The site consists of vacant lands on Observatory Mesa consisting of 2253.20 acres.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

Future development is expected to consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Single-family residences; Agricultural Residential, 2.5 acre minimum (AR-2.5) zone and Residential Single Family, 
5 acre minimum (RS-5) zone (County)

East: Single-family residences; Rural Residential (RR) zone and Estate Residential (ER) zone (City)
South: Railroad Springs Subdivision; Manufactured Home (MH) zone (City)

Single-family residences; General, 10-acre minimum (G) zone (County)
West: Coconino County National Forest lands; Open Space and Conservation (OS) zone (County) 

The subject property is checker boarded with Coconino National Forest lands.

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

STAFF REVIEW. An application for a Zoning Map Amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared.  The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning 
Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing.  The recommendation shall set forth whether 
the Zoning Map Amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the 
proposed development, or denied; shall include an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed 
amendment with the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and, a recommendation on the amendment 



PZ-15-00136
February 24, 2016
Page 2

based on the standards of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 “Establishment of Zones” of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-
1).

FINDINGS FOR REVIEWING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to 
whether the application is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 
and the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City 
of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the affected site is physically 
suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle 
access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or 
development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity 
in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific 
plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code 
(Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

STAFF REVIEW:

Introduction/Background

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 1610.69 acres known as Observatory Mesa to the Public Open 
Space (POS), approximately 2.00 acres to Public Facility (PF) and add the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone to 
approximately 640.51. An overlay zone is a special zoning district placed over an existing zoning district, part of a district, 
or a combination of districts.  Overlay zones build on the underlying zoning, by establishing additional requirements. In this 
case, the overlay zone would be in addition to the Public Open Space (POS) zone. Approximately 1612.69 acres of 
Observatory Mesa already have the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone applied.  

With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond, the City of Flagstaff acquired Observatory mesa in November 
2013 for the express purpose of preserving its unique recreational, educational, and natural resources.  

Proposed Development Concept Plans

Future development is expected to consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan (FRP 2030)

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030) Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22) designates the subject site as 
Area in White/State Land.  A minor Regional Plan Amendment will be heard prior to this application to amend the current 
designation to Parks/Open Space.  If the Regional Plan Amendment is approved, the proposal to rezone the subject property
to the Public Open Space (POS) and Public Facility (PF) zones with the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone will be in 
conformance with the Regional Plan.  Staff has identified a total of 12 Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be 
applied to support the proposed Zoning Map Amendment.  A list of these policies is attached to this report.  The most 
relevant policies were analyzed below:

Goal OS.1.The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors and habitat 
areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that sustains our quality of life, 
cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.

Policy OS.1.2.While observing private property rights, preserve natural resources and priority open lands, under 



PZ-15-00136
February 24, 2016
Page 3

the general guidance of the Flagstaff Area Open Space and Greenways Plan and the Natural Environment 
Maps.
Policy OS.1.3.Use open spaces as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and cultural 
resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public lands, scenic byways, and 
wildlife habitats.

The primary purpose of this Zoning Map Amendment is to add layers of protection to Observatory Mesa.  The majority of 
the properties will be zoned and regulated under the Public Open Space (POS) zoning, which is intended to be applied to 
areas of the City that are appropriate for designation as public open space to allow for resource protection and passive 
recreation uses.  The two acres that will be rezoned to Public Facility (PF) currently consists of a tank farm maintained by 
the Utilities Division, which would not be a permitted use in the Public Open Space (POS) zone.  

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

The requirements of the Public Open Space (POS) zone and the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone are intended to 
promote the preservation and unique character of properties within the zone. Additionally, the Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) provides standards for the protection of natural resources, including floodplains, steep slopes, and forest. The Public 
Facility (PF) zone is intended to provide areas within the City for active and passive recreation uses, parks, public open 
space, governmental buildings and facilities, schools and school grounds, quasi-public buildings and facilities and related 
uses.  

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater

A water and sewer analysis was not required as part of this request; however, the Utilities Division did request a condition of 
approval allowing for the maintenance of existing and expansion of future utility infrastructure.

Stormwater

No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation

This Zoning Map Amendment expands recreational opportunities within the City’s parks and recreation system.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Resources

The subject property will be entirely located within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone as defined by Section 10-
50.90.020.A of the Zoning Code (Page 50.90-2).  Further, this application does not anticipate any physical modifications to 
the existing site.  No impact to resources is anticipated.



PZ-15-00136
February 24, 2016
Page 4

Citizen Participation

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment, annexation, and 
regional plan amendment and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015.  Four individuals 
spoke in regards to the open spaces case but none directly in relation to Observatory Mesa.  Minutes for this meeting are 
attached.

DISCUSSION:

The application of the Public Open Space (POS) zone, the Public Facility (PF) zone, and the Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) zone meets the intent of the Regional Plan goals and policies and will comply with the designation of Parks/Open 
Space if the accompanying minor Regional Plan Amendment is approved.  These zones and designations work in concert to 
protect the natural resources on the property as well as support the City’s Open Space program.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 
Zoning Map for approximately 1610.69 acres to the Public Open Space (POS) zone, approximately 2.00 acres to the Public 
Facility (PF) zone and to apply the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone to 640.51 with the following condition:

1. The City of Flagstaff shall recognize existing easements and rights-of-ways granted by the Arizona State Land 
Department.  All easements and rights-of-ways shall remain in full force and effect.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map Amendment Application and narrative
o FRP 2030 Goals and Policies – Full list
o Open Space Commission Meeting Minutes 
o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements





Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Goals and Policies for Observatory Mesa

Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal 
community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.

Policy E&C.6.3. Promote protection, conservation, an ecological restoration of the region’s 
diverse ecosystem types and associated animals.

Goal E&C.7. Give special consideration to environmentally sensitive lands in the development design 
and review process.

Policy E&C.7.1. Design development proposals and other land management activities to 
minimize the alteration of natural landforms and maximize conservation of distinctive natural 
features.

Policy E&C.7.2. Favor the use of available mechanisms at the City and County level for the 
preservation of environmentally sensitive lands, including but not limited to public acquisition, 
conservation easements, transfer of development rights, or clustered development with open 
space designations.

Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors 
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that 
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.

Policy OS.1.2. While observing private property rights, preserve natural resources and priority
open lands, under the general guidance of the Flagstaff Area Open Space and Greenways Plan 
and the Natural Environment maps.

Policy OS.1.3. Use open spaces as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and 
cultural resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public 
lands, scenic byways, and wildlife habitats.

Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.

Policy CC.1.1. Preserve the natural character of the region through planning and design to  
maintain views of significant landmarks, sloping landforms, rock outcroppings, water courses, 
floodplains, and meadows, and conserve stand of ponderosa pine.

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, 
recreation facilities, and trails.

Policy Rec.1.1. Integrate active and passive recreational site within walking distance throughout 
the region to promote a healthy community for all City and County residents and visitors.



M I N U T E S 

City of Flagstaff 

Open Spaces Commission 

Thursday, October 22, 2015 

4:00 – 6:00 pm 

 

City Hall, Council Chambers 

211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, Arizona 

 
A quorum of the Flagstaff City Council may be in attendance of the Sustainability 

Commission meeting.  

 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need 

assistance to participate in this meeting, please contact 928-213-2100.  

Notification at least 48 hours in advance will enable the City to make 

reasonable arrangements.   

 

CALL TO ORDER 

   
COMMISSION MEMBERS: CITY STAFF: COMMUNITY MEMBERS: 

Bryan Burton Nicole Woodman, Sustainability Manager Jack Welch 

Jim Burton Elizabeth Emery, Open Space Specialist Tadd Madeksza 

Jessica Gist McKenzie Jones, Sustainability Specialist Allen Haden 

Tina Pfeiffer John Begay, Sustainability Aide Hannah Griscom 

 Martin Ince, Multi-Modal Planner Elizabeth Stegall 

 Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager 

Mandy Metzger 

  Tracy Plecas 

 

1. Call to order 

Commissioner Gist called the meeting to order at 4:03pm.  

Public Participation 
At this time, any member of the public may address the Commission on any subject 
that is not scheduled before the Commission on that day. The Arizona Open 
Meeting Law prohibits the Commission from discussing or taking action on an item 
which is not listed on the prepared agenda. Commission members may, however, 
respond to criticism made by those addressing the Commission, ask staff to review a 
matter, or ask that a matter be placed on a future agenda. To address the 
Commission on an item that is on the agenda, please wait for the Chair to call for 
Public Comment at the time the item is heard. 

2. Approval of Minutes 

Commissioner Bryan Burton noted that the minutes do not reflect that the 

northwest portion of parcel 111-02-006B could be developed for residential 

housing. The parcel may be split to accommodate that need. Commissioner 

Pfeiffer motioned to approve the October 15, 2015 minutes with Commissioner 



Bryan Burton’s amendment. Commissioner Jim Burton seconded the motion. All 

commissioners voted in favor to approve minutes.  

3. Discussion Items 

A. Friends of the Rio Watershed Planning Effort 

Hannah Griscom, Friends of the Rio de Flag Board member, gave an overview of 

the Rio de Flag watershed planning effort at the request of the Commission. The 

plan will define the community vision for the Rio de Flag and outline steps to 

restore the Rio de Flag. Ultimately, the group visions to move the Rio de Flag into 

consciousness for the community, be a community rallying point, and a space for 

the community to enjoy by creating a greenbelt that connects neighborhoods and 

public spaces with trails. The Friends of the Rio de Flag plan to start seek funding 

to support writing the document in 2016. Mrs. Griscom mentioned that there is a 

lot of overlap between the Rio de Flag watershed planning effort and the goals of 

the Open Spaces Commission as identified in their Strategic Plan.  

B. Rezoning of Open Space Parcels (Public Hearing) 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, presented to the Commission regarding the 

annexation and rezone process for open space parcels. This also served as the first 

public hearing for the process for Staff to accept feedback from the community. 

The City acquired Picture Canyon and Observatory Mesa in 2012 and 2013 and 

both properties were designated as open space by City Council. These parcels 

were not zoned as Public Open Space through the acquisition process and remain 

zoned as rural residential, which allows for development. City Staff is currently 

working to rezone these parcels as Public Open Space to provide an additional 

layer of protection to the property because Public Open Space zoning limits the 

type of development that can be done on the parcels.  

Additionally, there are parcels comprising Picture Canyon (113-06-004) and 

Observatory Mesa (102-15-002) which are outside of Flagstaff City limits. City 

Staff proposes annexing these parcels into City limits to streamline management 

requirements for the entire property.  

Lastly, Staff is also proposing to rezone and annex the City-owned Schultz Y 

parcel (300-47-004) as a direct outcome of City Council’s discussion of City-

owned properties on October 29, 2013. 

Community members provided feedback: 

 Tracy Plecas, 6525 North Rain Valley Road, asked if the rezoning process 

would affect planned actions and improvements at the Preserve. Betsy 

Emery answered that the management plan for Picture Canyon was 

recently adopted by City Council and that document outlines all projects 

planned at the Preserve. This process does not affect planned management 

activities. Mrs. Plecas inquired about how many steps are involved in the 

annex and rezone process. Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager, answered that there will be additional public hearings and that 

the application will be vetted through the Planning and Zoning 

Commission before being brought to City Council for approval.  



 Mandy Metzger, Coconino County District 4 Supervisor, expressed 

appreciation for the many hours and dedication the Open Spaces 

Commission has given to Picture Canyon. She did not have a 

recommendation or comment at the moment because the County had not 

yet discussed the proposal. 

 Sat Best, 3935 North Paradise Road, expressed appreciation for the work 

done on these parcels. He inquired about management plans for the 

Schultz Y property. Commissioner Gist answered the Commission has 

discussed the parcel's open space value - primarily the parcel’s location 

and adjacency to other trails and amenities makes it important for open 

space. Mr. Best inquired if the actual “Y” is located on this parcel. Betsy 

Emery answered that the actual “Y” is located west of the parcel in 

question. Mr. Best inquired about the actual “Y” and if there are any plans 

to include it in the process. Betsy Emery answered that the actual “Y” is 

on private property but the landowner recently contacted the City to 

propose swapping the actual “Y” for a portion of the City-owned parcel. 

This trade would be equitable in terms of value and land area. Mr. Best 

then mentioned the valuable wildlife corridor in the area. Commissioner 

Gist clarified that the Schultz Y parcel is one of 17 city-owned parcels the 

Commission reviewed against a set of criteria that were valuable for open 

space. Ultimately, the Commission determined that the Schultz Y parcel is 

important as open space and recommended that the City designate it as 

open space.  

 Nat White, 1120 N. Rockridge, mentioned that the actual “Y” area is not 

necessary for the trail head, and instead those improvements could be 

located anywhere below the historic reservoir on the City-owned parcel. 

He also mentioned the opportunity for collaboration between the U.S. 

Forest Service, Coconino County, and the City to provide these amenities 

and that this parcel has potential to be another showcase open space area 

for the Flagstaff community.  

 Commissioner Gist inquired about the process involving the County for 

annexing some of these properties. Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager, answered the annexation process is set out in state statute. As 

soon as the Planning Department receives the application, they will notify 

the Board of Supervisors. The County will be notified at each stage of the 

process, just like the surrounding property owners.  

 

Commissioner Gist clarified that City Staff is looking for the Commission to 

recommend that the City proceed with the process to rezone and annex the three 

properties. Commissioner Bryan Burton motioned to support rezoning and 

annexing these three properties. Commissioner Pfeiffer seconded the motion. The 

motion was approved by all.  

C. Picture Canyon Interpretive Signs 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, provided a follow up presentation with the 

latest draft of interpretive signs for the Picture Canyon Preserve. The draft is in 



black and white because the graphic designer is waiting for art approval from the 

Open Spaces Commission to finalize the artwork. There are five panels being 

placed at the Outdoor Classroom addressing archaeology, botany, wildlife, 

watershed, and geology. Two signs are being designed for the watchable wildlife 

site near the deep-water pond. Those signs will be related to wetlands and 

wildlife. The Commission provided feedback and minor suggestions for the signs, 

including correcting misspellings, providing descriptions for the QR codes, and 

indicating differences between Kaibab Limestone and Coconino Sandstone. 

Commissioner Jim Burton motioned to approve the signs. Commissioner Bryan 

Burton seconded the motion. All voted in favor. 

D. Review of City Owned Parcels 

The Commission discussed the recent fieldtrip to review the City-owned parcels 

along the Karen Cooper Trail near the Museum of Northern Arizona using the 

matrix used for the 17 city-owned parcels last year. Some of the parcels are 

appropriate for open space because they are too steep to develop or are within the 

Rio de Flag floodplain. Preserving these parcels as open space would provide a 

buffer to the Rio de Flag. The only parcel that doesn’t meet all of the criteria and 

may not be appropriate to designate as open space is parcel 111-02-006B because 

there is a large area that could be developed. Commissioner Gist inquired what 

areas should be visited on additional field trips and the Commission discussed 

visiting the parcels along the Rio de Flag in the Southside Community during the 

spring. The Commission agreed to stand by their previous discussion of the open 

space value associated with City-owned parcels on McMillan Mesa. Additionally, 

the Commission agreed to individually visit a small number of City-owned 

parcels before the next meeting to provide information to the Commission 

regarding their open space potential. 

E. Open Space Management Update 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, has been working on designing trail signs 

for Picture Canyon for all the major trail intersections. Signs will be 3-3 ½ feet 

tall and posted on 4” steel tubing. Additionally, Staff is still working to edit the 

interpretive signs. There is an easemented water pipeline at Picture Canyon that 

provides water to a few families in the area along the eastern side of the Preserve. 

Staff is working on surveying the pipeline and is working through the required 

cultural compliance regulation process associated with the ground disturbance. 

Additionally, Staff is in the process of launching the Sites Stewards Program, a 

volunteer program out of Arizona State Parks. Program training will be on 

November 4, 2015. Staff is working to address access issues at Matson Tank on 

Observatory Mesa by installing gates to limit illegal motorized access.  

 

4. Information Items To and From Commissioners and Staff 

A. Soliere Property Update 

Per John Grahame’s request at previous Commission meetings, Staff looked 

into the proposal to grant open space land in exchange for the City covering 

the substantial cost to realign Soliere Road. The developer planned to use the 

portion as an active park for ball fields. Ultimately, the Parks and Recreation 



Commission decided to not accept the trade because of floodplain 

requirements associated with the property.  

B. Other Updates 

 Staff provided an update regarding the City Council’s discussion of 

specialty seats on City commissions. The City Council recently decided to 

remove specialty seats from commissions. The Open Spaces Commission 

has multiple specialty seats, including Natural and Cultural Sciences and 

Real Estate. Current commissioners wishing to renew their term will apply 

for an At-Large position and will compete against applicants without 

specialty experience.  

 McKenzie Jones, Sustainability Specialist, informs the Commission of the 

recycling application the City is launching – MyWaste. The app provides 

information on recycling schedules in Flagstaff.  

 Nicole Woodman, Sustainability Manager, informs the Commission that 

the Sustainability Program is hosting their first DIY Workshop of the 

season, which will take place on October 29, 2015 at east public 

community library.  

 

5. Agenda items for Next Meeting 

A. Flagstaff Urban Trail System Acquisitions and Easements 

B. Review of City-owned Parcels 

C. Open Space Management Update 

 

6. Adjournment 

Commissioner Jim Burton motioned to adjourn the meeting at 5:06pm. 

Commissioner Bryan Burton seconded the motion. All voted in favor of 

adjourning the meeting.  

 



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
1610.69 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED ON OBSERVATORY 
MESA, FROM RURAL RESIDENTIAL (“RR”) TO PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
(“POS”), AND APPROXIMATELY 2.0 ACRES FROM RURAL RESIDENTIAL 
(“RR”) TO PUBLIC FACILITY (“PF”), AND TO APPLY THE RESOURCE 
PROTECTION OVERLAY (“RPO”) TO APPROXIMATELY 640.51 ACRES; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff (the “Applicant”), applied for a Zoning Map Amendment for 
approximately 2253.20 acres of land located on Observatory Mesa, Coconino County, Arizona, 
a legal description of which is provided in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), in order to 
preserve an open space area.  
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s reasons for the rezone, the Applicant has applied 
to the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from Rural Residential (RR) zone to 
Public Open Space (POS) zone for 1610.69 acres, Rural Residential (RR) zone to Public 
Facility (PF) zone for 2.0 acres, and to apply the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone to 
640.51 acres; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted a neighborhood meeting on October 22, 2015, to discuss 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as required by Section 
10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and a public hearing on February 24, 2016, 
and has recommended approval of the requested zoning application, subject to the Applicant’s 
compliance with certain conditions set forth below; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application, 
subject to the condition proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as augmented by 
staff, as set forth below, and the Council has considered the condition and has found the 
condition to be appropriate for the Property and necessary for the proposed development; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, subject to the condition set 
forth below, meets the findings required by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff 
Zoning Code. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21  PAGE 2 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2. The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 3.  The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4.  The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5. The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from Rural 
Residential (RR) zone to the Public Open Space (POS) zone for approximately 1610.69 acres, 
from Rural Residential (RR) zone to the Public Facility (PF) zone for approximately 2.0 acres 
and the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone is applied to approximately 640.51 acres, as 
depicted in Exhibit “A”, through the approval of the application and all other documents attached 
to the staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6. The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7. That the Zoning Map Amendment be further conditioned upon the Applicant’s 
satisfaction of the following conditions proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as 
augmented by staff: 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. The City of Flagstaff shall recognize existing easements and rights-of-ways granted by the 
Arizona State Land Department.  All easements and rights-of-ways shall remain in full force 
and effect.  
 

SECTION 8. That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 9.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 10.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21  PAGE 3 
 
 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 19th day of April, 
2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21  PAGE 4 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 





ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21  PAGE 5 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 







  14. A. 2. a.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting
Date:

04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-18: An ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff Arizona, extending and increasing the corporate limits of the City
of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona
Revised Statutes, by annexing certain land totaling approximately 77.8 acres located in Section 4,
Township 21 North, Range 8 East, which land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of
Flagstaff, and establishing no city zoning for said land. (Picture Canyon Annexation)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-18 by title only for the final time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-18 by title for the final time (if approved above)
3) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-18

Executive Summary:
An annexation request of approximately 77.8 acres currently part of the Picture Canyon Natural Preserve
And Archeological Park owned by the City of Flagstaff.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:

LU.7.2 - Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City services, or that a
pre-annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The Public Hearing and first read of this Ordinance was held on April 5, 2016.

Options and Alternatives:
1. Approve the ordinance as proposed



1. Approve the ordinance as proposed
2. Approve the ordinance with no conditions, additional conditions or modified conditions
3. Deny the ordinance

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting an annexation of 77.8 acres, which is a part of the Picture Canyon Preserve and
Archeological Park. With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond and a 2012 Growing
Smarter Grant, the City of Flagstaff acquired Picture Canyon in October 2012 for the express purpose of
preserving its unique historical, cultural, archeological, recreational, and educational resources. The
canyon is an ecologically diverse riparian corridor and has a variety of native trees and plants. The area
has many archeological resources with existing logging railroad features on the property eligible for
listing on the National Register of Historic Places.

Key Considerations:
State statutes only allow the City to adopt a zoning classification that permits densities and intensities no
greater than those permitted by the County immediately before the annexation. Currently the property is
not zoned in the County so the property will come into the City with no zoning designation. A Zoning Map
Amendment application to zone the parcel to Public Open Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks
Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone and Rural Floodplain designation is
proposed to further the preservation of the property and its resources. The Zoning Map Amendment
application will be considered subsequent to review of the annexation application.

On February 24, 2016, the Planning & Zoning Commission concluded their review of the proposed
annexation with a recommendation for approval, by a unanimous vote.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Annexation request are addressed in the attached
Planning & Zoning Commission staff report dated February 12, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with requests for annexation. In accordance with State statute, notice of the public hearing
was provided by placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to
all property owners within 600 feet of the site. The notices were also provided to the County Recorder,
County Assessor, County Community Development Department and the Chair of the Board of
Supervisors.

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
annexation and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015. One
individual inquired about these applications affecting the management plans for Picture Canyon.

  

Attachments:  Planning & Zoning Commission Staff Report
Picture Canyon Application and Narrative
Picture Canyon Legal Description
County Zoning Letter
Ord. 2016-18



Ord. 2016-18



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIVISION
ANNEXATION REPORT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 12, 2016
PZ-15-00134-01 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

An annexation request of approximately 77.8 acres located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East.  The 
property is identified as Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel Number 113-06-004. This annexation request is the first 
part of a two-part request.  The second part of the request is a Zoning Map Amendment.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the annexation request to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.  

PRESENT LAND USE:

The subject site consists of undeveloped land with no zoning designation under Coconino County jurisdiction.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

If this annexation is approved, the property will come into the City boundaries with no zoning designation because it 
currently has no zoning in Coconino County.  The accompanying Zoning Map Amendment will place the subject 
property into the Public Opens Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection 
Overlay (RPO) zone and add the Rural Floodplain designation.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Single-family residences; Agricultural Residential, 5 acre minimum (AR-5) zone (County)
East: Single-family residences; Rural Residential (RR) zone (City)
South: El Paso Gas Pump Station; General (G) zone (County)
West: Coconino County Public Works Yard and Cinder Mine; Public Facility (PF) and Heavy 

Industrial (HI) zones (City)

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

The Commission shall find that the requested annexation complies with Section 9-471 of the Arizona Revised Statutes; 
the applicable goals and policies set forth in the City’s General Plan, “Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030”; and Division 10-
20.90 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code.

STAFF REVIEW:

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND:

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting an annexation of 77.8 acres, which is a part of the Picture Canyon Preserve and Archeological Park.  With 
funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond and a 2012 Growing Smarter Grant, the City of Flagstaff acquired 
Picture Canyon in October 2012 for the express purpose of preserving its unique historical, cultural, archeological, 
recreational, and educational resources.  The canyon is an ecologically diverse riparian corridor and has a variety of native 
trees and plants.  The area has many archeological resources with existing logging railroad features on the property eligible 



PZ 15-00134-01
February 24, 2016
Page 2

for listing on the National Register of Historic Places

This annexation is the first of a two-step process.  The second being a Zoning Map Amendment request to establish 
zoning on the parcel, Public Open Space (POS) zone, Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, and the Resource Protection 
Overlay (RPO) zone, and designate the parcel as Rural Floodplain.  The Zoning Map Amendment application is being 
processed concurrently with this application but will not become effective until after the annexation has been 
completed.

ARIZONA STATE STATUTE COMPLIANCE:

State statutes only allow the City to adopt a zoning classification that permits densities and intensities no greater than 
those permitted by the County immediately before the annexation. Currently the property is not zoned in the County
so the property will come into the City with no zoning designation..  A Zoning Map Amendment application to zone 
the parcel to Public Open Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) zone and Rural Floodplain designation is proposed to further the preservation of the property and its resources.  
The Zoning Map Amendment application will be considered subsequent to review of the annexation application. 

FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN CONFORMANCE:

Policy/Analysis

All proposed annexations shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with the policies of the General 
Plan.  The proposed annexation should not be detrimental to the majority of the persons or property in the surrounding 
area or the community in general.  The City’s basic position regarding annexation is that the annexation must 
demonstrate a favorable benefit to the taxpayers of the City.

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030), Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22) designates the subject site as 
Park/Open Space.  The proposal to rezone the subject properties to the Public Open Space (POS) zone is in conformance 
with the Regional Plan designation.  Staff has identified the following Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be 
applied to support the proposed annexation:

LU.7.2 - Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City services, or that a pre-
annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate.

Summary of Regional Plan & Annexation Compliance

This parcel is located within the Urban Growth Boundary. The proposed annexation is consistent with the goals and 
policies of the Regional Land Use and Transportation Plan and furthermore the application complies with all the 
requirements set forth in the Arizona Revised Statutes related to annexations.

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICE IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater

No analysis was required.

Stormwater



PZ 15-00134-01
February 24, 2016
Page 3

No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation

This zoning map amendment is not anticipated to have any impact to the City’s parks or recreation systems.

ZONING REQUIREMENTS FOR PROPOSED ZONING:

As was noted above, the property, if annexed will need to be brought into the City with a zoning similar to the existing 
County zoning.  In this case, the County has not applied zoning to this parcel, see attached letter from Coconino 
County in regards to the current zoning.  The parcel will come into the City with no zoning.  Arizona statues require
that once annexed, the zoning is to remain in place for a period of 30 days.  As a result, an ordinance modifying the 
zoning code must include an effective date 30 plus days after the annexation ordinance becomes effective. The Zoning 
Map Amendment application and the staff report have been provided in conjunction with this application.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Citizen Participation

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in conjunction with 
requests for annexation.  In accordance with State statute, notice of the public hearing was provided by placing an ad in 
the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the site.
The notices were also provided to the County Recorder, County Assessor, County Community Development 
Department and the Chair of the Board of Supervisors.

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and annexation and 
asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015.  One individual inquired about these 
applications affecting the management plans for Picture Canyon.  Minutes for this meeting are attached.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends that the Commission forward the annexation request to the City Council with a recommendation of 
approval. 

ATTACHMENTS:

Application and narrative from applicant
Annexation Legal Description and Map
Zoning letter from Coconino County 
Public Hearing Legal Advertisements















ORDINANCE NO.  2016-18 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
ARIZONA, EXTENDING AND INCREASING THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF 
THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, COCONINO COUNTY, STATE OF ARIZONA, 
PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 9, CHAPTER 4, ARIZONA 
REVISED STATUTES, BY ANNEXING CERTAIN LAND TOTALING 
APPROXIMATELY 77.8 ACRES LOCATED IN SECTION 4, TOWNSHIP 21 
NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST, WHICH LAND IS CONTIGUOUS TO THE EXISTING 
CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AND ESTABLISHING 
NO CITY ZONING FOR SAID LAND; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, 
AUTHORITY FOR CLERICAL CORRECTIONS, AND ESTABLISHING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, petitioner owns parcel APN 113-06-004 located in Section 4, Township 21 North, 
Range 8 East, consisting of a total of 77.8 acres of land which are located within Coconino 
County, Arizona, as property adjacent to the boundaries of the City of Flagstaff, and described 
in Exhibit A, attached to and made a part hereof; and 
 
WHEREAS, a petition in writing (“Petition”) accompanied by a map or plot of said Property, 
having been filed and presented to the Mayor and Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, 
signed by the owners of one-half or more in value of the real property and more than one-half of 
the persons owning real and personal property as would be subject to taxation by the City of 
Flagstaff in the event of annexation of the territory and land hereinafter described as shown by 
the last assessment of said Property, which said territory is contiguous to the City of Flagstaff 
and not now embraced within its corporate limits, asking that the Property be annexed to the 
City of Flagstaff, and that the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff be extended and increased 
so as to embrace the same; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, are desirous of complying 
with said Petition and extending and increasing the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff to 
include said territory as described in Exhibit A; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Petition sets forth a true and correct description of all the exterior boundaries of 
the entire area proposed to be annexed to the City of Flagstaff, and had attached thereto at all 
times an accurate map of the territory desired to be annexed; and 
 
WHEREAS, no alterations increasing or reducing the territory sought to be annexed have been 
made after the Petition had been signed by an owner of real and personal property in such 
territory; and 
 
WHEREAS, the provisions of Section 9-471, Arizona Revised Statutes, and amendments 
thereto, have been fully observed; and 
 
WHEREAS, proper and sufficient certification and proof of the foregoing facts are now on file in 
the office of the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, together with a true and correct copy 
of the original Petition referred to herein, which is on file in the office of the Coconino County 
Recorder; and 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-18  PAGE 2  

 
WHEREAS, the development of the Property will be controlled by the relevant provisions of the 
Zoning Code, and various other City codes regulating the development of the Property; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the proposed annexation for the Property has been 
considered by the Planning and Zoning Commission and that the City staff and the Commission 
have each recommended that the Council proceed with the annexation at this time; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has reviewed the Staff Summary Report, which discusses the proposed 
annexation, and now finds that the annexation of the Property would be consistent with the 
objectives and policies of the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 ratified May 20, 2014 (“Regional 
Plan”); that the annexation of the Property would not be detrimental to the majority of the 
persons or property in the surrounding area or to the community in general; and the Council 
specifically further finds that:  The annexation of the Property and the existing and proposed 
uses thereon will further the objectives of the Regional Plan. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. That the following described territory be, and the same hereby is, annexed to the 
City of Flagstaff, and that the present corporate limits be, and the same hereby are, extended 
and increased to include the following described territory contiguous to the present City of 
Flagstaff corporate limits: 
 
 See attached Exhibit A which are incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
SECTION 2. That the territory described in Exhibit A is annexed to the City of Flagstaff subject 
to the following condition: 
 

That a copy of this Ordinance, together with an accurate map of the territory hereby 
annexed to the City of Flagstaff, certified by the Mayor of said City of Flagstaff, be 
forthwith filed and recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Coconino County, 
Arizona. 

 
SECTION 3. That, pursuant to the provisions of Section 9-471(L), Arizona Revised Statutes, 
upon this Ordinance becoming final under the provisions of Section 9-471(D), Arizona Revised 
Statutes, the municipal zoning designation for the Property under the Zoning Code shall be: 
 

1. APN 113-06-004 shall have no zoning designation  
2. All annexed parcels shall be placed in the City of Flagstaff Lighting Zone 3 and 

shall comply with City of Flagstaff Zoning Code Lighting Standards. 
 
SECTION 4. The Community Development Department of the City of Flagstaff is hereby 
directed to enter such changes and amendments as may be necessary upon the Zoning Map of 
said Zoning Code in compliance with this ordinance. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-18  PAGE 3  

SECTION 5. That the Flagstaff City Clerk shall provide a copy of the adopted annexation 
ordinance to the Clerk of the Coconino County Board of Supervisors within sixty days of the 
annexation becoming final. 
 
SECTION 6. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 7. The City Clerk is hereby authorized to correct typographical and grammatical 
errors, as well as errors of wording and punctuation, as necessary related to this ordinance as 
amended herein, and to make formatting changes needed for purposes of clarity and form, or 
consistency, within thirty (30) days following adoption by the City Council. 
 
SECTION 8. This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after adoption by the 
Flagstaff City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, this 19th day of 
April 2016. 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 
 
 
 
 









  14. A. 2. b.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting
Date:

04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-19:  An ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately
477.8 acres of real property known as Picture Canyon, from No Zoning (County) and Rural Residential
(RR) to Public Open Space (POS), and to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO), the Resource Protection
Overlay (RPO) and the Rural Floodplain Designation to approximately 77.8 acres. (Picture Canyon
Zoning Map Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title only for the final time
2)  City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-19 by title for the final time (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-19

Executive Summary:
A Zoning Map Amendment request to rezone approximately 477.8 acres located in Section 4, Township
21 North, Range 8 East from No Zoning (County) and Rural Residential (RR) to Public Open Space
(POS) and to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone, the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) Zone,
and the Rural Floodplain designation to 77.8. 

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal OS.1.The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.
Goal CC.2. Preserve, restore, and rehabilitate heritage resources to better appreciate our culture. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The Public Hearing and first read of this Ordinance was held on April 5, 2016.



Options and Alternatives:
1.  Approve the ordinance as proposed
2.  Approve the ordinance with conditions
3.  Deny the ordinance

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 477.8 acres known as the
Picture Canyon Preserve and Archeological Park to the Public Open Space (POS) zone and apply the
Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone and the Rural Floodplain
designation to 77.8 acres currently located in Coconino County. An overlay zone is a special zoning
district placed over an existing zoning district, part of a district, or a combination of districts. Overlay
zones build on the underlying zoning, by establishing additional requirements. In this case, the overlay
zones would be in addition to the proposed Public Open Space (POS) zone. The 400 acres currently
located within the city limits already has the Landmark Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay
(RPO) zones and Rural Floodplain designation applied. 

With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond and a 2012 Growing Smarter Grant, the
City of Flagstaff acquired Picture Canyon in October 2012 for the express purpose of preserving its
unique historical, cultural, archeological, recreational, and educational resources. The canyon is an
ecologically diverse riparian corridor and has a variety of native trees and plants. The area has many
archeological resources which have been documented in a 2012 Archeological Survey by Northland
Research, Inc. Existing logging railroad features on the property appear to be eligible for listing on the
National Register of Historic Places which is sufficient for designation to the Landmarks Overlay (LO)
zone. At its meeting of February 17, 2016 the City’s Heritage Preservation Commission reviewed this
proposal and unanimously recommended that the City Council approve this rezoning request. 

Key Considerations:
The primary purpose of this Zoning Map Amendment is to add layers of protection to the Picture Canyon
Preserve and Archeological Park. Both properties will be zoned and regulated under the Public Open
Space zoning which is intended to be applied to areas of the City that are appropriate for designation as
public open space to allow for resource protection and passive recreation uses. The Landmark Overlay
zone will make the property subject to the Landmark Design Review Overlay District Design Standards
and Guidelines and design review by the Heritage Preservation Commission. The Resource Protection
Overlay provides additional standards for the protection of natural resources, including floodplains, steep
slopes, and forest. The Rural Floodplain designation on the Rio de Flag floodplain boundaries further
adds a level of protection to this property and supports the City of Flagstaff’s Community Rating System
(CRS) ranking, which helps to lower flood insurance rates for everyone in the city.

On February 24, 2016, the Planning & Zoning Commission concluded their review of the proposed
zoning map amendment with a recommendation for approval, by a unanimous vote.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Annexation request are addressed in the attached
Planning & Zoning Commission staff report dated February 12, 2016.

Community Involvement:
Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower



Inform, Consult, Involve, Collaborate, Empower

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with requests for Zoning Map Amendment. In accordance with State statute, notice of the
public hearing was provided by placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and
mailing a notice to all property owners within 600 feet of the site. 

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
annexation and asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015. One
individual inquired about these applications affecting the management plans for Picture Canyon. 

Attachments:  Planning & Zoning Commission Staff Report
Application
Picture Canyon Zoning Map 5
Picture Canyon Zoning Map 6
County Zoning Letter
Picture Canyon HPC Report
Open Space Commission Minutes
FRP 2030 Goals & Policies
Zoning Notice
Ordinance No. 2016-19 Exhibit A
Ord. 2016-19



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 12, 2016
PZ-15-00134 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

A Zoning Map Amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, City 
of Flagstaff, to rezone approximately 477.8 acres located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East from No Zoning 
and Rural Residential (RR) Zone to Public Open Space (POS) and to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone, the Resource 
Protection Overlay (RPO) Zone, and the Rural Floodplain designation to 77.8 acres.  This Zoning Map Amendment request 
is the second part of a two-part request; the first is an annexation of the 77.8 acres.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Zoning Map amendment to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE:

The site consists of the Picture Canyon Preserve and Archeological Park on 477.8 acres.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

Future development is expected to consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities
such as a parking area and restrooms.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Single-family residences; Agricultural Residential, 5 acre minimum (AR-5) zone (County)
East: Single-family residences; Rural Residential (RR) zone (City)
South: El Paso Gas Pump Station; General (G) zone (County)
West: Coconino County Public Works Yard and Cinder Mine; Public Facility (PF) and Heavy Industrial 

(HI) zones (City)

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

STAFF REVIEW. An application for a Zoning Map amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared. The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning 
Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing. The recommendation shall set forth whether the 
Zoning Map amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the proposed 
development, or denied; and shall include an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment 
with the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and a recommendation on the amendment based on the 
standards of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 “Establishment of Zones” of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-1).

FINDINGS FOR REVIEWING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to 
whether the application is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 



PZ-15-00134
February 24, 2016
Page 2

and the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City 
of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the affected site is physically 
suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle 
access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or 
development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity 
in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific 
plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code 
(Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

STAFF REVIEW:

Introduction/Background

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Sustainability Program, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 477.8 acres known as the Picture Canyon Preserve and 
Archeological Park to the Public Open Space (POS) zone and apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection
Overlay (RPO) zone and the Rural Floodplain designation to 77.8 acres currently located in Coconino County. An overlay 
zone is a special zoning district placed over an existing zoning district, part of a district, or a combination of districts.
Overlay zones build on the underlying zoning, by establishing additional requirements. In this case, the overlay zones would 
be in addition to the proposed Public Open Space (POS) zone. The 400 acres currently located within the city limits already 
has the Landmark Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zones and Rural Floodplain designation applied.  

With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond and a 2012 Growing Smarter Grant, the City of Flagstaff 
acquired Picture Canyon in October 2012 for the express purpose of preserving its unique historical, cultural, archeological, 
recreational, and educational resources.  The canyon is an ecologically diverse riparian corridor and has a variety of native 
trees and plants.  The area has many archeological resources which have been documented in a 2012 Archeological Survey 
by Northland Research, Inc. Existing logging railroad features on the property appear to be eligible for listing on the 
National Register of Historic Places which is sufficient for designation to the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone. At its meeting 
of February 17, 2016 the City’s Heritage Preservation Commission reviewed this proposal and unanimously recommended 
that the City Council approve this rezoning request.  Attached to this report are copies of the HPC report.

Proposed Development Concept Plans

Future development is expected to consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities 
such as a parking area and restrooms.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan (FRP 2030)

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030), Future Growth Illustration (Maps 21 and 22) designates the subject site as 
Park/Open Space.  The proposal to rezone the subject property to the Public Open Space (POS) zone is in conformance with 
the Regional Plan designation.  Staff has identified a total of 19 Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be applied to 
support the proposed Zoning Map Amendment.  A list of these policies is attached to this report.  The most relevant policies 
were analyzed below:

Goal OS.1.The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors and habitat 
areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that sustains our quality of life, 
cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.



PZ-15-00134
February 24, 2016
Page 3

Policy OS.1.2.While observing private property rights, preserve natural resources and priority open lands, under 
the general guidance of the Flagstaff Area Open Space and Greenways Plan and the Natural Environment 
Maps.
Policy OS.1.3.Use open spaces as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and cultural 
resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public lands, scenic byways, and 
wildlife habitats.

Goal CC.2. Preserve, restore, and rehabilitate heritage resources to better appreciate our culture.
Policy CC.2.1. Actively locate, identify, interpret, and preserve historical, archaeological, and cultural 
resources, in cooperation with other agencies and non-governmental organizations, as aspects of our society 
for future generations to retain, understand, and enjoy their cultural identity.
Policy CC.2.2.Formally recognize heritage resources through designation as local landmarks and historic 
districts.

The primary purpose of this Zoning Map Amendment is to add layers of protection to the Picture Canyon Preserve and 
Archeological Park.  Both properties will be zoned and regulated under the Public Open Space zoning which is intended to 
be applied to areas of the City that are appropriate for designation as public open space to allow for resource protection and 
passive recreation uses.  The Landmark Overlay zone will make the property subject to the Landmark Design Review 
Overlay District Design Standards and Guidelines and design review by the Heritage Preservation Commission.  The 
Resource Protection Overlay provides additional standards for the protection of natural resources, including floodplains, 
steep slopes, and forest.  The Rural Floodplain designation on the Rio de Flag floodplain boundaries further adds a level of 
protection to this property and supports the City of Flagstaff’s Community Rating System (CRS) ranking, which helps to 
lower flood insurance rates for everyone in the city.

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

The requirements of the Public Open Space (POS) zone, Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) 
zone and the Rural Floodplain designation are intended to promote the preservation and unique character of properties within
the zone. Properties within the Landmarks Overlay zone are subject to the Landmark Design Review Overlay District 
Design Standards and Guidelines and design review by the Heritage Preservation Commission.  The Resource Protection 
Overlay provides standards for the protection of natural resources, including floodplains, steep slopes, and forest.  The Rural 
Floodplain designation is applied to natural undisturbed open spaces defined as areas of delineated 100-year floodplain that 
cannot be disturbed or developed except for roadway and utility crossings.

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater

A water and sewer analysis was not required as part of this request; however, the Utilities Division did request a condition of 
approval allowing for existing and future utility infrastructure.



PZ-15-00134
February 24, 2016
Page 4

Stormwater

No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation

This zoning map amendment is not anticipated to have any impact to the City’s parks or recreation systems.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Resources

The subject property will be entirely located within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone as defined by Section 10-
50.90.020.A of the Zoning Code (Page 50.90-2).  Further, this application does not anticipate any physical modifications to 
the existing site. No impact to resources is anticipated.

Citizen Participation

All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and annexation and 
asked to attend the Open Space Commission meeting on October 22, 2015.  One individual inquired about these applications 
affecting the management plans for Picture Canyon.  Four individuals total spoke in regards to the open space zoning map 
amendments.  Minutes for this meeting are attached.

DISCUSSION:

The application of the Public Open Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) zone and Rural Floodplain designation meet the intent of the Regional Plan designation of Open Space Parks.  These 
zones and designations work in concert to protect the natural, cultural, and historic resources on the property as well as 
support the City’s Open Space and Stormwater programs.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 
Zoning Map for 477.8 acres to the Public Open Space (POS) zone with the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, Resource 
Protection Overlay (RPO) zone and the Rural Floodplain designation to 77.8 acres with the following condition:

1. The City of Flagstaff maintains the right to access the subject property to install, locate, operate, repair, 
replace, alter, and maintain any and all existing and future underground pipelines and utility services 
infrastructure of all types within the subject property. This shall include but not be limited to water 
transmission and distribution lines. The City of Flagstaff also maintains the right to remove, alter, or 
maintain any vegetation, improvements, or obstructions during the installation of these pipelines or 
utility services infrastructure on the subject property”.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map Amendment Application



PZ-15-00134
February 24, 2016
Page 5

o Current City of Flagstaff Zoning Map
o Zoning letter from Coconino County
o HPC Staff Report
o FRP 2030 Goals and Policies – Full list
o Open Space Commission Meeting Minutes 
o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements





31 64 52

7 98 11

2321

17 20

13

1514

24

28

2522

12

18

29

1916

27

10

26

This map is known as the "City of Flagstaff Official Zoning Map" or the
"City of Flagstaff Official Regulating Plan," and is intended to implement
the City of Flagstaff Zoning Code per Ordinance 2011-20 adopted on
11/01/2011 and all subsequent amendments. These maps are based on
the most accurate graphic information available at the time they were
produced. The City of Flagstaff furnishes these maps "as is" and assumes
no responsibility for their accuracy. All zoning information should be
verified by legal description whenever possible.

917 1W

E LOWELL
DRN 

DA
KO

TA
ST

N EL PASO
FLAGSTAFF RD

N 
TH

OR
NT

ON
PL

E MARKETPLACE
DR

E KINSEY
DR

E MERRIAM
DR

E GIBSON AVE

E VERKAMP DR

E BULLWINKLE
DR

N CONRAD LN

CU
MMINGS

ST

CORTLAND
BLVD

MOCCASIN

WAY

BROKEN
BOW DR

HALFMOON
DR

DA
KO

TA
 ST

SA
INT

NIC
HO

LA
S CIR

JO
 D

ON
RD

HA
RV

ES
T RD

RI
LL

A RD

TRAILSEND DR

WARRIOR DR

GLACIER
DR

PHILIP
AVE

INDIANDR

CH
RIS

TM
AS

TR
EE

 LN

EL PASO DR

INDUSTRIAL DR

MARIE
AVE

BRO
KE

N
AR

ROW
RD

TO MAHAWKDR

RAN
DA

LL
ST

NA
TIV

E
WA

Y

N YLA DR

HURLEY
WAY

MALL
WAY

BLIZZARD WAY

ELK
RIDGE

BOBCAT LN

JOEY
AVE

MO
U N

TA
IN

EE
R

RD

OA
KW

OO
D

PIN
ES

 D
R

P ENS
TO

CK

AV
E

LYNCH

AVE

PR
ES

TO
N 

RD

WINTER DR

SM
OKE

RISE DR

DODGE
AVE

HOLLY

GREEN RD

EMPIRE
AVE

CRYSTAL DR

SNOWFLAKE DR

LIN
DS

EY
 R

D

COMMERCE
AVE

BO
NN

ER
 S

T

NES TLE

PURINAAVE

W
INT

ERGREEN RD

DEAN
AV E

ALLEN
AVE

DO
DG

E
AV

E

SNOW
SHOE WAY

TE
ST

 D
R

RAILHEAD
AVE

HUNTINGTON DR

EL
PA

SO

FL
AG

ST
AF

F RD

MARKETPLACE DR

ELDEN
PUEBLO ACCESS RD

COUNTRY

CLUB DR

EMPIRE
AVE

£¤89

£¤66

£¤89

£¤89

£¤66

£¤66§̈¦40

RD

CS

CS

HC

HC
HC

HC

HC

HC

HC

HI

HI-O

HR

HR

LI

LI

LI

LI

LI-O

LI-O

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH MR

PF

PF

PLF

PLF

PLF

R1

R1

RR

RR

RR

City of Flagstaff Zoning Map 5
Residential Zones:

Rural Residential (RR)
Estate Residential (ER)
Single-family Residential (R1)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Single-family Residential Neighborhood (R1N)
Medium Density Residential (MR)
High Density Residential (HR)
Manufactured Housing (MH)

Commercial Zones:
Central Business (CB)
Highway Commercial (HC)
Commercial Service (CS)
Community Commercial (CC)
Suburban Commercial (SC)

Industrial Zones:
Research and Development (RD)
Light Industrial (LI)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Light Industrial Open (LI-O)
Heavy Industrial (HI)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Heavy Industrial Open (HI-O)
Resource and Open Space:

Public Facility (PF)
Public Lands Forest (PLF)
Open Space (OS)

Airport Overlay Zone

Downtown Overlay Zone

Townsite Overlay Zone

Landmark Overlay Zone

Regulating Plan Boundary

City Limits

Parcels

3

6/26/2015

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 Feet



31 64 52

7 98 11

2321

17 20

13

1514

24

28

2522

12

18

29

1916

27

10

26

This map is known as the "City of Flagstaff Official Zoning Map" or the
"City of Flagstaff Official Regulating Plan," and is intended to implement
the City of Flagstaff Zoning Code per Ordinance 2011-20 adopted on
11/01/2011 and all subsequent amendments. These maps are based on
the most accurate graphic information available at the time they were
produced. The City of Flagstaff furnishes these maps "as is" and assumes
no responsibility for their accuracy. All zoning information should be
verified by legal description whenever possible.

RA
IN

VA
LL

EY

N EL PASO
FLAGSTAFF RD

ELK
RIDGE

PINTAIL
DR

BOBCAT
LN

MICKELSONS RD

RAIN VALLEY RD

WH
IS

PE
RI

NG
PIN

ES
 R

D

RANMAR WAY

PIC
TU

RE
CA

NY
ON

TR
L

HI
DD

EN
 H

ILL
S 

RD

RA
IN

 VA
LL

EY
 R

D

EL
PA

SO
FL

AG
ST

AF
F RD

RIVER DR

KOCH
FIELD

RD

TURKEY HILLS DR

RAIN VALLEY RD

ROLLING
HILLS LN

LINDSEY RD

£¤66

£¤66 £¤66

PF

PLF

PLF

PLF

RR

RR

City of Flagstaff Zoning Map 6
Residential Zones:

Rural Residential (RR)
Estate Residential (ER)
Single-family Residential (R1)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Single-family Residential Neighborhood (R1N)
Medium Density Residential (MR)
High Density Residential (HR)
Manufactured Housing (MH)

Commercial Zones:
Central Business (CB)
Highway Commercial (HC)
Commercial Service (CS)
Community Commercial (CC)
Suburban Commercial (SC)

Industrial Zones:
Research and Development (RD)
Light Industrial (LI)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Light Industrial Open (LI-O)
Heavy Industrial (HI)

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! Heavy Industrial Open (HI-O)
Resource and Open Space:

Public Facility (PF)
Public Lands Forest (PLF)
Open Space (OS)

Airport Overlay Zone

Downtown Overlay Zone

Townsite Overlay Zone

Landmark Overlay Zone

Regulating Plan Boundary

City Limits

Parcels

3

6/26/2015

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 Feet





- 1 - 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
HERITAGE PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Heritage Preservation Commission 

From:  Karl Eberhard, Historic Preservation Officer 

Date:  January 28, 2016 

Meeting Date:  February 17, 2016 
  
 
TITLE:  Consideration of Landmarks Designation for: 

Picture Canyon Area 
A portion of Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East  
Parcel 113-06-004 

 

REQUEST:   

This is a request to rezone a 77.8 acre undeveloped parcel, Assessor’s Parcel 
Number 113-06-004, located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East, to the 
Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone (Map Attached).  In July of 2013 the Heritage Preservation 
Commission recommended the LO designation for the adjacent 400 acre parcel.  The LO 
zone is an overlay, meaning that the current RR (Rural Residential) zoning applicable to 
the site will remain in place and requirements of the LO zone are added to the underlying 
requirements. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   

Staff recommends that the Heritage Preservation Commission review the 
application, conduct and receive testimony at a Public Hearing, and forward to the City 
Council a recommendation to approve rezoning the parcel following annexation of the 
parcel into the City of Flagstaff. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: 

Please see the attached Staff Report, dated July 22, 2013. 

 

 



Attachment – District Map 

 

 

(E) Landmarks Overlay District 

- 400 acre Parcel with  

Proposed Landmarks Overlay  

District - 77 acre Parcel 



- 1 - 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
HERITAGE PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
STAFF REPORT 
 
 
To:  Heritage Preservation Commission 

From:  Karl Eberhard, Historic Preservation Officer 

Date:  July 22, 2013 

Meeting Date:  October 16, 2013 
  
 
TITLE:  Consideration of Landmarks Designation for: 

Picture Canyon Area 
A portion of Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East  
Parcel 113-06-003 

 

REQUEST:   

This is a request to rezone a 400.16 acre undeveloped parcel, Assessor’s Parcel 
Number 113-06-003, located in Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East, to the 
Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone.  The LO zone is an overlay, meaning that the current RR 
(Rural Residential) zoning applicable to the site will remain in place and requirements of the 
LO zone are added to the underlying requirements. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   

Staff recommends that the Heritage Preservation Commission review the 
application, conduct and receive testimony at a Public Hearing, and forward to the City 
Council a recommendation to approve rezoning the parcel. 

INTENT: 

The application of the Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone is intended to promote the 
preservation of individual properties of cultural significance.  The LO Zone district 
designation applies the Landmark Design Review Overlay District Design Standards and 
Guidelines, and design review by the Heritage Preservation Commission, to development 
on properties located within the boundaries of the Zone. 

 

 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 2 - 

REQUIRED FINDINGS: 

DESIGNATION (Zoning Code 10-30.30.040.B.2.a):  An individual property, object, 
structure, site, sign or landscape feature may be designated as a Landmark if it is 
significant in accordance with the provisions of this Division and the Development 
Standards and Guidelines of the Landmarks Zone are applicable.   

SIGNIFICANCE (Zoning Code 10-30.30.050.B.1):  A cultural resource is significant if: 

a. It is eligible as a National Historic Landmark, or for the National Register of 
Historic Places, or the Arizona Register of Historic Places; or, 

b. It is associated with events or persons in the architectural, engineering, 
archeological, scientific, technological, economic, agricultural, educational, 
social, political, military, or cultural annals of the City, the State of Arizona, or the 
United States of America;  or, 

c. It represents the work of, or for, an important individual; or, 

d. It embodies distinctive characteristics of type, period, region, artistic values or 
methods of construction, including being the oldest of its type or the best 
example of its type; or,  

e. It has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information needed for scientific research, 
such as important archaeological resources. 

INTEGRITY (Zoning Code 10-30.30.050.B.2.b):  A resource is generally not significant if 
the features, materials, patterns and relationships that contributed to its significance are no 
longer present or no longer have integrity. 

To be significant, the resource must also have integrity, meaning that the general 
character of the significant period must be evident, the characteristics that define its 
significance are present, and any incompatible alterations are reversible.  In addition, the 
integrity of the setting is a contributing factor in assessing integrity of a resource. 

APPLICABILITY OF THE LANDMARKS ZONE DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS AND 
GUIDELINES:  The applicable Development Standards and Guidelines of the Landmarks 
Zone are “Archeology and Historic Preservation: The Secretary of the Interior's Standards 
and Guidelines” as currently amended and annotated by the National Park Service. 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 3 - 

STAFF REVIEW: 

Background: 

With funding from the 2004 voter approved Open Space bond and a 2012 Growing 
Smarter Grant, the City of Flagstaff acquired Picture Canyon in October of 2012 for the 
express purpose of preserving its unique historical, cultural, archeological, recreational and 
educational resources. 

Picture Canyon is a cleft formed by the boundary of two lava flows that erupted from 
nearby Sheep Hill and the Wildcat Hill cinder cones.  The canyon itself is an ecologically 
diverse riparian corridor and the area has a variety of native trees and plants, and hosts a 
variety of fauna.  Dedicated citizens have worked for many years to remove old cars, 
chunks of concrete, used tires, and other trash and debris dumped in the canyon over the 
years.  While a meander restoration was completed in October, 2010, extensive weed 
removal, revegetation, and cleaning of the Rio de Flag (an ephemeral wetland and rare 
habitat in northern Arizona) remain to be accomplished.  Picture Canyon hosts a section of 
the Arizona Trail and provides future Flagstaff Urban Trail segments to promote 
connectivity.  In addition it contains important view sheds (Interstate 40 and Historic Route 
66), serves as an outdoor classroom, and contributes to Flagstaff tourism.   

The area is also abound with archeological resources including pit houses, a pit 
house village, field houses, cave dwellings, artifact scatters, and over 125 petroglyph 
panels.  Most archeological resources are associated with the Northern Sinaqua culture 
and range from 750 to a thousand years old.  In addition to prehistoric resources, logging 
railroad features and historic trash (cans, ceramics, and glass) are found on the site.  The 
remains of a train trestle made from huge virgin timbers can be found slumped on the rock 
above the Picture Canyon falls.  The site was initially studied by Harold S. Colton (founder 
of the Museum of Northern Arizona) in 1919. A thorough Class III Archeological Survey1 
was prepared in April of 2012 by Eric S. Cox and John T Marshall of Northland Research, 
Inc., with contributions by Gina S. Gage. 

The 2012 Archeological Survey by Northland Research, Inc. provides substantially 
greater detail on the resources, and their significance and integrity, and is on file with the 
City of Flagstaff Historic Preservation Officer.  As an archeological report (including specific 
locations of sites), it is not a public document.  For brevity, only brief summaries are 
included herein and additional summary information, if desired, can be obtained from the 
City of Flagstaff Historic Preservation Officer. 

Future development is expected to consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, 
and the most basic visitor amenities such as a parking area and restrooms. 

                                                 
1  Note that the survey area of this report includes an additional 79 acres (roughly) that are under Coconino 
County jurisdiction and not included in this proposed designation.  As a result, the number of archeological 
sites on the subject property varies from what is stated in this report. 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 4 - 

Significance: 

Eighty-four archeological sites have been recorded within a half-mile radius of the 
subject property, including multi-room pueblos, pit house villages, field houses, single room 
structures, artifact scatters, and petroglyph panels.  For the 2012 Archeological Survey of 
the subject property, nineteen previously recorded archeological sites were found, 
researched, and consolidated to eleven.  These are all larger habitation sites with multiple 
features and large diverse artifact scatters.  One site (Picture Canyon) was listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places in 2008 and another was previously determined to be 
eligible to be listed.  The nine remaining sites have previously been recommended as 
eligible, with Northland Research, Inc. concurring on seven and recommending eligibility 
testing on the remaining two.  Ten new sites, generally smaller artifact scatters, were 
identified and recorded.  Northland Research, Inc. recommends one of these as being 
eligible for listing and recommends eligibility testing on the remaining nine new sites.  
However, the report states that “artifacts were nearly continuous throughout the project 
area.”  Because of the contemporaneousness and interconnectedness of the sites, and the 
proximity to both Elden Pueblo and Turkey Hill Pueblo, Northland Research, Inc. further 
recommends that the entire area be consolidated into the Picture Canyon Archeological 
District. 

The logging railroad features within the Kaibab and the Coconino National Forests 
were listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1995.  On this basis, the logging 
railroad features on the subject property appear to be eligible for listing.  The collapsed 
trestle is probably not eligible except as a part of the overall system.   

While several other significance criteria are clearly met, the actual National Register 
of Historic Places listings and the eligibility of additional sites are sufficient for designation 
to the Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone. 

Integrity:   

Although some of the sites have been impacted by looting, logging, and vehicle 
traffic, and in spite of the recent survey work, Northland Research, Inc. concludes that the 
sites are still intact and that the information potential has not been exhausted. 

Applicability of the Landmarks Zone Development Standards and Guidelines:   

The Secretary of the Interior's Standards that are the basis of the district standards 
and guidelines were developed specifically to address the preservation needs of unique 
resources such as this.  The standards establish a comprehensive approach to the 
identification, evaluation, registration and treatment of historic properties.  Note that the 
Standards do not require that every feature of a historic property be preserved, but do seek 
to preserve the most significant, character-defining features of a historic site.  However, a 
conservation easement held by Arizona State Parks, specifies that no more than 10% of 
the acquired land, up to a limit of 20 acres total, may be eligible for alteration or 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 5 - 

development and no changes may be made to the parcel that would seriously or negatively 
affect its conservation and open space values. 

Basis of Report: 

The information in this summary report was derived primarily from the 2012 
Archeological Survey by Northland Research, Inc. with some additional information derived 
from various City of Flagstaff documents associated with the property acquisition and 
prepared by City staff, citizens, and consultants. 

STAFF CONCLUSION: 

Staff believes that criteria for Landmarks designation have been met. 

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION:   

The Heritage Preservation Commission (HPC) meeting serves as the Citizen 
Participation event associated with the pending Re-zone Application.  The meeting was 
advertised in the Daily Sun and notices were mailed to all properties within 300 feet of the 
property. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Site Layout 
2. Trails Map 
3. Various Pictures 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 6 - 

Attachment 1 

Site Layout 

 

 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 7 - 

Attachment 2 
Trails Map 

 



 

 

Heritage Preservation Commission 
Consideration of Landmarks Designation 
Picture Canyon 
July 22, 2013 
 
 

 

- 8 - 

Attachment 3 

Various Pictures 

 

 

Examples – Not from Picture Canyon 



M I N U T E S 

City of Flagstaff 

Open Spaces Commission 

Thursday, October 22, 2015 

4:00 – 6:00 pm 

 

City Hall, Council Chambers 

211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, Arizona 

 
A quorum of the Flagstaff City Council may be in attendance of the Sustainability 

Commission meeting.  

 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need 

assistance to participate in this meeting, please contact 928-213-2100.  

Notification at least 48 hours in advance will enable the City to make 

reasonable arrangements.   

 

CALL TO ORDER 

   
COMMISSION MEMBERS: CITY STAFF: COMMUNITY MEMBERS: 

Bryan Burton Nicole Woodman, Sustainability Manager Jack Welch 

Jim Burton Elizabeth Emery, Open Space Specialist Tadd Madeksza 

Jessica Gist McKenzie Jones, Sustainability Specialist Allen Haden 

Tina Pfeiffer John Begay, Sustainability Aide Hannah Griscom 

 Martin Ince, Multi-Modal Planner Elizabeth Stegall 

 Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager 

Mandy Metzger 

  Tracy Plecas 

 

1. Call to order 

Commissioner Gist called the meeting to order at 4:03pm.  

Public Participation 
At this time, any member of the public may address the Commission on any subject 
that is not scheduled before the Commission on that day. The Arizona Open 
Meeting Law prohibits the Commission from discussing or taking action on an item 
which is not listed on the prepared agenda. Commission members may, however, 
respond to criticism made by those addressing the Commission, ask staff to review a 
matter, or ask that a matter be placed on a future agenda. To address the 
Commission on an item that is on the agenda, please wait for the Chair to call for 
Public Comment at the time the item is heard. 

2. Approval of Minutes 

Commissioner Bryan Burton noted that the minutes do not reflect that the 

northwest portion of parcel 111-02-006B could be developed for residential 

housing. The parcel may be split to accommodate that need. Commissioner 

Pfeiffer motioned to approve the October 15, 2015 minutes with Commissioner 



Bryan Burton’s amendment. Commissioner Jim Burton seconded the motion. All 

commissioners voted in favor to approve minutes.  

3. Discussion Items 

A. Friends of the Rio Watershed Planning Effort 

Hannah Griscom, Friends of the Rio de Flag Board member, gave an overview of 

the Rio de Flag watershed planning effort at the request of the Commission. The 

plan will define the community vision for the Rio de Flag and outline steps to 

restore the Rio de Flag. Ultimately, the group visions to move the Rio de Flag into 

consciousness for the community, be a community rallying point, and a space for 

the community to enjoy by creating a greenbelt that connects neighborhoods and 

public spaces with trails. The Friends of the Rio de Flag plan to start seek funding 

to support writing the document in 2016. Mrs. Griscom mentioned that there is a 

lot of overlap between the Rio de Flag watershed planning effort and the goals of 

the Open Spaces Commission as identified in their Strategic Plan.  

B. Rezoning of Open Space Parcels (Public Hearing) 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, presented to the Commission regarding the 

annexation and rezone process for open space parcels. This also served as the first 

public hearing for the process for Staff to accept feedback from the community. 

The City acquired Picture Canyon and Observatory Mesa in 2012 and 2013 and 

both properties were designated as open space by City Council. These parcels 

were not zoned as Public Open Space through the acquisition process and remain 

zoned as rural residential, which allows for development. City Staff is currently 

working to rezone these parcels as Public Open Space to provide an additional 

layer of protection to the property because Public Open Space zoning limits the 

type of development that can be done on the parcels.  

Additionally, there are parcels comprising Picture Canyon (113-06-004) and 

Observatory Mesa (102-15-002) which are outside of Flagstaff City limits. City 

Staff proposes annexing these parcels into City limits to streamline management 

requirements for the entire property.  

Lastly, Staff is also proposing to rezone and annex the City-owned Schultz Y 

parcel (300-47-004) as a direct outcome of City Council’s discussion of City-

owned properties on October 29, 2013. 

Community members provided feedback: 

 Tracy Plecas, 6525 North Rain Valley Road, asked if the rezoning process 

would affect planned actions and improvements at the Preserve. Betsy 

Emery answered that the management plan for Picture Canyon was 

recently adopted by City Council and that document outlines all projects 

planned at the Preserve. This process does not affect planned management 

activities. Mrs. Plecas inquired about how many steps are involved in the 

annex and rezone process. Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager, answered that there will be additional public hearings and that 

the application will be vetted through the Planning and Zoning 

Commission before being brought to City Council for approval.  



 Mandy Metzger, Coconino County District 4 Supervisor, expressed 

appreciation for the many hours and dedication the Open Spaces 

Commission has given to Picture Canyon. She did not have a 

recommendation or comment at the moment because the County had not 

yet discussed the proposal. 

 Sat Best, 3935 North Paradise Road, expressed appreciation for the work 

done on these parcels. He inquired about management plans for the 

Schultz Y property. Commissioner Gist answered the Commission has 

discussed the parcel's open space value - primarily the parcel’s location 

and adjacency to other trails and amenities makes it important for open 

space. Mr. Best inquired if the actual “Y” is located on this parcel. Betsy 

Emery answered that the actual “Y” is located west of the parcel in 

question. Mr. Best inquired about the actual “Y” and if there are any plans 

to include it in the process. Betsy Emery answered that the actual “Y” is 

on private property but the landowner recently contacted the City to 

propose swapping the actual “Y” for a portion of the City-owned parcel. 

This trade would be equitable in terms of value and land area. Mr. Best 

then mentioned the valuable wildlife corridor in the area. Commissioner 

Gist clarified that the Schultz Y parcel is one of 17 city-owned parcels the 

Commission reviewed against a set of criteria that were valuable for open 

space. Ultimately, the Commission determined that the Schultz Y parcel is 

important as open space and recommended that the City designate it as 

open space.  

 Nat White, 1120 N. Rockridge, mentioned that the actual “Y” area is not 

necessary for the trail head, and instead those improvements could be 

located anywhere below the historic reservoir on the City-owned parcel. 

He also mentioned the opportunity for collaboration between the U.S. 

Forest Service, Coconino County, and the City to provide these amenities 

and that this parcel has potential to be another showcase open space area 

for the Flagstaff community.  

 Commissioner Gist inquired about the process involving the County for 

annexing some of these properties. Tiffany Antol, Planning Development 

Manager, answered the annexation process is set out in state statute. As 

soon as the Planning Department receives the application, they will notify 

the Board of Supervisors. The County will be notified at each stage of the 

process, just like the surrounding property owners.  

 

Commissioner Gist clarified that City Staff is looking for the Commission to 

recommend that the City proceed with the process to rezone and annex the three 

properties. Commissioner Bryan Burton motioned to support rezoning and 

annexing these three properties. Commissioner Pfeiffer seconded the motion. The 

motion was approved by all.  

C. Picture Canyon Interpretive Signs 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, provided a follow up presentation with the 

latest draft of interpretive signs for the Picture Canyon Preserve. The draft is in 



black and white because the graphic designer is waiting for art approval from the 

Open Spaces Commission to finalize the artwork. There are five panels being 

placed at the Outdoor Classroom addressing archaeology, botany, wildlife, 

watershed, and geology. Two signs are being designed for the watchable wildlife 

site near the deep-water pond. Those signs will be related to wetlands and 

wildlife. The Commission provided feedback and minor suggestions for the signs, 

including correcting misspellings, providing descriptions for the QR codes, and 

indicating differences between Kaibab Limestone and Coconino Sandstone. 

Commissioner Jim Burton motioned to approve the signs. Commissioner Bryan 

Burton seconded the motion. All voted in favor. 

D. Review of City Owned Parcels 

The Commission discussed the recent fieldtrip to review the City-owned parcels 

along the Karen Cooper Trail near the Museum of Northern Arizona using the 

matrix used for the 17 city-owned parcels last year. Some of the parcels are 

appropriate for open space because they are too steep to develop or are within the 

Rio de Flag floodplain. Preserving these parcels as open space would provide a 

buffer to the Rio de Flag. The only parcel that doesn’t meet all of the criteria and 

may not be appropriate to designate as open space is parcel 111-02-006B because 

there is a large area that could be developed. Commissioner Gist inquired what 

areas should be visited on additional field trips and the Commission discussed 

visiting the parcels along the Rio de Flag in the Southside Community during the 

spring. The Commission agreed to stand by their previous discussion of the open 

space value associated with City-owned parcels on McMillan Mesa. Additionally, 

the Commission agreed to individually visit a small number of City-owned 

parcels before the next meeting to provide information to the Commission 

regarding their open space potential. 

E. Open Space Management Update 

Betsy Emery, Open Space Specialist, has been working on designing trail signs 

for Picture Canyon for all the major trail intersections. Signs will be 3-3 ½ feet 

tall and posted on 4” steel tubing. Additionally, Staff is still working to edit the 

interpretive signs. There is an easemented water pipeline at Picture Canyon that 

provides water to a few families in the area along the eastern side of the Preserve. 

Staff is working on surveying the pipeline and is working through the required 

cultural compliance regulation process associated with the ground disturbance. 

Additionally, Staff is in the process of launching the Sites Stewards Program, a 

volunteer program out of Arizona State Parks. Program training will be on 

November 4, 2015. Staff is working to address access issues at Matson Tank on 

Observatory Mesa by installing gates to limit illegal motorized access.  

 

4. Information Items To and From Commissioners and Staff 

A. Soliere Property Update 

Per John Grahame’s request at previous Commission meetings, Staff looked 

into the proposal to grant open space land in exchange for the City covering 

the substantial cost to realign Soliere Road. The developer planned to use the 

portion as an active park for ball fields. Ultimately, the Parks and Recreation 



Commission decided to not accept the trade because of floodplain 

requirements associated with the property.  

B. Other Updates 

 Staff provided an update regarding the City Council’s discussion of 

specialty seats on City commissions. The City Council recently decided to 

remove specialty seats from commissions. The Open Spaces Commission 

has multiple specialty seats, including Natural and Cultural Sciences and 

Real Estate. Current commissioners wishing to renew their term will apply 

for an At-Large position and will compete against applicants without 

specialty experience.  

 McKenzie Jones, Sustainability Specialist, informs the Commission of the 

recycling application the City is launching – MyWaste. The app provides 

information on recycling schedules in Flagstaff.  

 Nicole Woodman, Sustainability Manager, informs the Commission that 

the Sustainability Program is hosting their first DIY Workshop of the 

season, which will take place on October 29, 2015 at east public 

community library.  

 

5. Agenda items for Next Meeting 

A. Flagstaff Urban Trail System Acquisitions and Easements 

B. Review of City-owned Parcels 

C. Open Space Management Update 

 

6. Adjournment 

Commissioner Jim Burton motioned to adjourn the meeting at 5:06pm. 

Commissioner Bryan Burton seconded the motion. All voted in favor of 

adjourning the meeting.  

 



Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Goals and Policies for Picture Canyon

Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal 
community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.

Policy E&C.6.3. Promote protection, conservation, an ecological restoration of the region’s 
diverse ecosystem types and associated animals.

Policy E&C.6.5. Preserve Flagstaff’s wetland areas and discourage inappropriate development 
that may adversely affect them and the ecosystem services they provide.

Goal E&C.7. Give special consideration to environmentally sensitive lands in the development design 
and review process.

Policy E&C.7.1. Design development proposals and other land management activities to 
minimize the alteration of natural landforms and maximize conservation of distinctive natural 
features.

Policy E&C.7.2. Favor the use of available mechanisms at the City and County level for the 
preservation of environmentally sensitive lands, including but not limited to public acquisition, 
conservation easements, transfer of development rights, or clustered development with open 
space designations.

Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors 
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that 
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.

Policy OS.1.2. While observing private property rights, preserve natural resources and priorty 
open lands, under the general guidance of the Flagstaff Area Open Space and Greenways Plan 
and the Natural Environment maps.

Policy OS.1.3. Use open spaces as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and 
cultural resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public 
lands, scenic byways, and wildlife habitats.

Goal WR.5. Manage watersheds and stormwater to address flooding concerns, water quality, 
environmental protections, and rainwater harvesting.

Policy WR.5.1. Preserve and restore existing natural watercourse corridors, including the 100-
year floodplain, escarpments, wildlife corridors, natural vegetation and other natural features 
using methods that result in a clear legal obligation to preserve corridors in perpetuity, where 
feasible.

Policy WR.5.2. Incorporate pedestrian access, trails, and watchable wildlife opportunities into 
natural watercourse when practical.



Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built environment.

Policy CC.1.1. Preserve the natural character of the region through planning and design to  
maintain views of significant landmarks, sloping landforms, rock outcroppings, water courses, 
floodplains, and meadows, and conserve stand of ponderosa pine.

Goal CC.2. Preserve, restore, and rehabilitate heritage resources to better appreciate our culture.

Policy CC.2.1. Actively locate, identify, interpret, and preserve historical, archaeological, and 
cultural resources, in cooperation with other agencies and non-governmental organizations, as 
aspects of our society for future generations to retain, understand, and enjoy their cultural 
identity.

Policy CC.2.2.Formally recognize heritage resources through designation as local landmarks and 
historic districts.

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, 
recreation facilities, and trails.

Policy Rec.1.1. Integrate active and passive recreational site within walking distance throughout 
the region to promote a healthy community for all City and County residents and visitors.



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARINGS

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN the Flagstaff Planning and 
Zoning Commission will hold a Public Hearing on February  
24, 2016, at 4:00 p.m. and the Flagstaff City Council will 
hold a Public Hearing on March 22, 2016, at 6:00 p.m. to 
consider a Zoning Map Amendment request.

A. Explanation of Matters to be considered:

A proposed amendment to the official City of Flagstaff 
zoning map to rezone 477.8 acres from No Zoning and
Rural Residential (RR) to Public Open Space (POS) and 
to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, the Resource 
Protection Overlay (RPO) zone, and the Rural Floodplain 
designation to 77.8 acres.  

The site currently consists of the Picture Canyon Preserve 
and Archeological Park on 477.8 acres.

B. General Description of the Affected Area:
Approximately 477.8 acres, Coconino County Assessor’s 
Parcel Numbers 113-06-003 and 113-06-004 within
Section 4, Township 21 North, Range 8 East, of the Gila 
and Salt River Base and Meridian, City of Flagstaff, 
Coconino County, Arizona.

The Council hearing for these items may be continued if 
the Planning and Zoning Commission has not given a 
recommendation.

Interested parties may file comments in writing regarding 
the proposed amendments or may appear and be heard at 
the hearing dates set forth above. Maps and information 
regarding the proposed amendments are available at the 
City of Flagstaff, Planning and Development Services 
Section, 211 West Aspen Avenue.

Unless otherwise posted, all Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council meetings are held in the 
Council Chambers of City Hall, 211 West Aspen Avenue, 
Flagstaff, Arizona.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT 

Tiffany Antol, AICP
Planning Development Manager 
Planning & Development Services  
211 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, Arizona 86001

(928) 213-2608
tantol@flagstaffaz.gov

Publish:  February 5, 2016

PROPOSED ZONING MAP AMENDMENT
From No Zoning and Rural Residential (RR) Zone to 

Public Open Space (POS) Zone for 477.8 acres and to 
apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) Zone, the Resource 

Protection Overlay (RPO) Zone and the Rural Floodplain 
designation to 77.8 acres.

Rio de Flag

E. Route 66

Townsend Winona Rd









 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
477.8 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY KNOWN AS PICTURE CANYON FROM 
NO ZONING AND RURAL RESIDENTIAL (“RR”) TO PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
(“POS”), AND TO APPLY THE LANDMARKS OVERLAY (LO), THE 
RESOURCE PROTECTION OVERLAY (RPO) AND THE RURAL 
FLOODPLAIN DESIGNATION TO APPROXIMATELY 77.8 ACRES; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff (the “Applicant”), applied for a Zoning Map Amendment for 
approximately 477.8 acres of land located at Picture Canyon, Coconino County, Arizona, a legal 
description of which is provided in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), in order to 
preserve an open space area.  
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s reasons for the rezone, the Applicant has applied 
to the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from No Zoning and Rural 
Residential (RR) zone to Public Open Space (POS), and to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) 
zone, the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone and the Rural Floodplain Designation to 
approximately 77.8 acres of the Property; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted a neighborhood meeting on October 22, 2015, to discuss 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as required by Section 
10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and a public hearing on February 24, 2016, 
and has recommended approval of the requested zoning application, subject to the Applicant’s 
compliance with certain conditions set forth below; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application, 
subject to the condition proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as augmented by 
staff, as set forth below, and the Council has considered the condition and has found the 
condition to be appropriate for the Property and necessary for the proposed development; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, subject to the condition set 
forth below, meets the findings required by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff 
Zoning Code. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19  PAGE 2 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2.  The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 3.  The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4.  The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5.  The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from No Zoning 
and Rural Residential (RR) zones to the Public Open Space (POS) zone for approximately 
477.8 acres, and to apply the Landmarks Overlay (LO) zone, the Resource Protection Overlay 
(RPO) zone and the Rural Floodplain Designation to approximately 77.8 acres of the Property, 
as depicted in Exhibit “A”, through the approval of the application and all other documents 
attached to the staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6.  The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7.  That the Zoning Map Amendment be further conditioned upon the Applicant’s 
satisfaction of the following condition proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as 
augmented by staff: 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. The City of Flagstaff maintains the right to access the subject property to install, locate, 
operate, repair, replace, alter, and maintain any and all existing and future underground 
pipelines and utility services infrastructure of all types within the subject property.  This shall 
include but not be limited to water transmission and distribution lines.  The City of Flagstaff 
also maintains the right to remove, alter, or maintain any vegetation, improvements, or 
obstructions during the installation of these pipelines or utility services infrastructure on the 
subject property. 
 
 

SECTION 8.  That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 9.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19  PAGE 3 
 
 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 10.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 19th day of April, 
2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19  PAGE 4 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 









ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19  PAGE 5 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 









  14. A. 3. a.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Jennifer Mikelson, Associate Planner

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-16:  An ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately
26.03 acres of real property located at the northeast corner of Fir Avenue and North San Francisco
Street, from Single Family Residential (R1) and Public Facility (PF) to Public Open Space (POS), and to
apply the Rural Floodplain Designation.  (Buffalo Park West Zoning Map Amendment) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only for the final time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-16 by title only (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-16

Executive Summary:
A zoning Map amendment request to rezone approximately 26.03 acres located north of Fir Avenue
along San Francisco Street from the Single Family Residential (R1) and Public Facility (PF) zones to
Public Open Space (POS).

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore, and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and animal
community diversity across all land ownership in the Flagstaff region.
Goal E&C.10. Protect indigenous wildlife populations, localized and larger scale wildlife habitats,
ecosystem processes, and wildlife movement areas throughout the planning area.
Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors
and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that
sustains our quality of life, cultural heritage, and ecosystem health.
Goal WR.6. Protect, preserve, and improve the quality of surface water, groundwater, and reclaimed
water in the region.



Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
This proposed rezoning would enact a prior dedication set forth in City of Flagstaff Ordinance No.
2014-23. The dedication states: “The portion of real property owned by the City of Flagstaff…is hereby
set aside, preserved, and dedicated to the public for passive park purposes to be included in the
immediately adjacent Buffalo Park.” Rezoning the property “to the zoning best reflective of the dedication
of the property as a public park” was identified as a secondary enactment of the Ordinance.

The Public Hearing and first read of this Ordinance was held on April 5, 2016.

Options and Alternatives:
Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the ordinance with the proposed conditions
2) Approve the ordinance with the proposed conditions, additional conditions, or modified conditions.
3) Deny the ordinance based on the required findings in Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff
Zoning Code

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 26.03 acres to the Public
Open Space (POS) zone with the Rural Floodplain designation. A Public Open Space (POS) designation
would allow the expansion of an existing city park with passive recreational uses. The Rural Floodplain
designation would exist along with the proposed Public Open Space (POS) zone, and prohibits certain
development within the identified floodway and floodplain. Attached to this report is a map of the
FEMA-recognized floodway and floodplain across the parcel, with the existing water transmission lines
shown in the floodway. In addition, the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone currently applies to this
parcel, and will be carried over with this rezoning application.
 
As previously stated, the primary purpose of this rezoning is to enact a prior dedication as stated in City
of Flagstaff Ordinance No. 2014-23.

Key Considerations:
All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with and
conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and the proposed
amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the
City of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the
affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and
the provision of public and emergency vehicle access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the
requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or development will not endanger,
jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity in which the
property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable
specific plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in
Chapter 11-10 of the City Code (Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the
proposed amendment.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None

Community Benefits and Considerations:



Community benefits and considerations related to this Zoning Map amendment are addressed in the
attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated February 19, 2016.

Community Involvement:
All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice
was run in the Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and
Recreation Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for
their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the rezoning was still held with the applicant and other
city staff present. One member of the public attended the meeting to receive clarification on the Zoning
Map amendment for this property. 

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  PZ Staff Report
Application
Zoning Map
Floodway Utilities Map
Public Notice
Exhibit A
Ord. 2016-16



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 19, 2016
PZ-15-00139 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Jennifer Mikelson

REQUEST:

A Zoning Map amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Department, on behalf of the property
owner, City of Flagstaff, to rezone approximately 26.03 acres within Section 10, Township 21 North, Range 7 East from the 
Single Family Residential (R1) and Public Facility (PF) zones to the Public Open Space (POS) zone with the Rural 
Floodplain designation.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Zoning Map amendment to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval with a condition.

PRESENT LAND USE:

The site is currently undeveloped and is adjacent to the existing City-operated Buffalo Park. A private drive divides the 
parcel in two. A water transmission line exists on the property, under the floodway.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

Future development may consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities like parking 
and restrooms. The ability to maintain and expand future utility infrastructure across the parcel will be continued.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Vacant parcels and single family residences; Agricultural Residential (AR) zone, 1 acre minimum (County)
East: City-operated Buffalo Park; Public Open Space (POS) zone
South: Single family residences; Single Family Residential (R1) zone
West: Vacant parcels and single-family residence; Agricultural Residential (AR) zone, 1 acre minimum 

(County)

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

STAFF REVIEW. An application for a Zoning Map amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director, shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared. The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning 
Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing. The recommendation shall set forth whether the 
Zoning Map amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the proposed 
development, or denied; and shall include an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment 
with the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and a recommendation on the amendment based on the 
standards of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 “Establishment of Zones” of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-1).

FINDINGS FOR REVIEWING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to 
whether the application is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 



PZ-15-00139
February 19, 2016
Page 2

and the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City 
of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the affected site is physically 
suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle 
access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or 
development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity 
in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific 
plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code 
(Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

STAFF REVIEW:

Introduction/Background

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff’s Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 26.03 acres to the Public Open Space (POS) zone with the 
Rural Floodplain designation. A Public Open Space (POS) designation would allow the expansion of an existing city park 
with passive recreational uses. The Rural Floodplain designation would exist along with the proposed Public Open Space 
(POS) zone, and prohibits certain development within the identified floodway and floodplain. Attached to this report is a 
map of the FEMA-recognized floodway and floodplain across the parcel, with the existing water transmission lines shown in
the floodway. In addition, the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone currently applies to this parcel, and will be carried 
over with this rezoning application. 

The primary purpose of this rezoning is to enact a prior dedication as stated in City of Flagstaff Ordinance No. 2014-23. The 
dedication states: “The portion of real property owned by the City of Flagstaff…is hereby set aside, preserved, and dedicated
to the public for passive park purposes to be included in the immediately adjacent Buffalo Park.” The rezoning of the 
property “to the zoning best reflective of the dedication of the property as a public park” was identified as a secondary 
enactment of the Ordinance. 

Proposed Development Concept Plans

Future development may consist of low-impact trails, interpretive facilities, and the most basic visitor amenities such as a 
parking area and restrooms.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030

The proposed zoning map amendment meets several policies of the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP30). Specifically, the 
plan calls for the preservation of natural areas and increased public recreational amenities. The following FRP30 goals are 
relevant to this application:

Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural areas, wildlife corridors and habitat areas, 
trails, access to public lands, and greenways to support the natural environment that sustains our quality of life, cultural 
heritage, and ecosystem health.

Goal WR.5. Manage watersheds and stormwater to address flooding concerns, water quality, environmental protections, and 
rainwater harvesting.



PZ-15-00139
February 19, 2016
Page 3

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, recreation facilities, and 
trails.

The application of the Public Open Space (POS) zone and Rural Floodplain designation implements all of the above noted 
goals of the FRP30. A Public Open Space (POS) zoning designations prevents physical development of a natural area and 
protects passive recreation opportunities within city limits by augmenting the adjacent Buffalo Park property. The Rural 
Floodplain designation adds a further level of protection to the property and supports the City of Flagstaff’s Community 
Rating System (CRS) ranking, which helps lower the flood insurance rates for everyone in the city. 

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

The intent of the Public Open Space (POS) zone is to allow for the protection of resources in a designated undeveloped area
and passive recreation. The “passive recreation” use is very limited and permits low impact trails and bathroom and parking 
facilities at trailheads. The Rural Floodplain designation is applied to natural undisturbed open spaces defined as areas of 
delineated 100-year floodplain that cannot be disturbed or developed except for roadways and utility crossings. 

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater

A water and sewer analysis was not required as part of this request, however, the Utilities Division requested a condition of 
approval allowing for existing and future utility infrastructure. 

Stormwater

No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation

This zoning map amendment would enlarge the City’s adjacent Buffalo Park property.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Resources: The subject property is also located within the Resource Protection Overlay zone as defined by Section 10-
50.90.020.A of the Zoning Code (Page 50.90-2). This application does not anticipate any physical modifications to the 
existing site. No impact to resources is anticipated.

Citizen Participation: All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment
and asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice was run in the 
Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and Recreation Commission meeting as a 
venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the 
rezoning was still held with the applicant and other city staff present. One member of the public attended the meeting to 
receive clarification on the Zoning Map amendment for this property.



PZ-15-00139
February 19, 2016
Page 4

DISCUSSION

The application of the Public Open Space (POS) zone to the subject property removes the possibility of any future residential 
development or other significant impacts to the site. Zoned Public Open Space (POS), the property will serve as easily 
accessible public amenity for the surrounding neighborhood and County properties. 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 
Zoning Map for 26.03 acres to the Public Open Space (POS) zone from the Single Family Residential (R1) zone, with the 
following condition:

1. The City of Flagstaff maintains the right to access the subject property to locate, operate, repair, replace, alter, and 
maintain any and all underground pipelines and utility services infrastructure of all types within the subject 
property. This shall include but not be limited to water transmission and distribution lines. The City of Flagstaff 
also maintains the right to remove, alter, or maintain any vegetation, improvements, or obstructions within 15 feet 
of either side of any pipelines or utility services infrastructure on the subject property.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map Amendment Application
o Current City of Flagstaff Zoning Map
o Floodway/Floodplain Map
o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements





City of Flagstaff - Zoning Map

COF GIS

Parcels
February 16, 2016

0 0.1 0.20.05 mi

0 0.2 0.40.1 km

1:8,000

 
Web AppBuilder for ArcGIS



W FIR AVE

N 
SA

N 
FR

AN
CI

SC
O 

ST

N 
MA

RI
ON

 D
R

E H
OR

NY
 TO

AD
 RD

N 
TU

RQ
UO

ISE
 D

R

N MEADOW LARK DR

295

336

337

470

201 151303351

1908
1926

1920
1922

1911

1915

1919

1923

1927

1935

1914

1918

1922

1926

1909

1913

1921

1925

1929

2101

2200

1927

1830

1900

1912

1909

1911

1915

1919

1923

1923

1919

1913
1908

1912

1916

1920

1924

1910

1912
1914

1916
1918

1924

1937

110-03-001B

110-03-001B
Buffalo Park

McPherson Park

161913

151902

161916

151901

161912

161914

16 CI 1955

12 CI 1962

12 DI 1983

6 AC 1972

6 C
I 1

95
9

12 CI 1978 16 CI 1955
12 DI 1983

430180

457400

455175

455040

455265

454050

430110

454950

453741

457392

453915454095

454725

454185

453738

453960454880

454815

455085

454230

453759454995

455220

457425

454005

457390

454140

430095

430140

454200

454215

430120

453762

453870

453825

453965453752

454060 453756453750

453747

453744

453765

453935

454860

454065

454000

454770

6 CI 1962

6 C
I 1

96
2

6 DI 1960

2 G
A 1

95
5

6 CI 1972

6 CI 1960

4 B
I 1

95
5 2 COP 1983

µ 0 0.050.025
Miles

City of Flagstaff Utilties Department

Possible future waterline 
placement in ROW

Possible future waterline 
placement where existing 

waterline lays

FloodHazardAreas
FLD_ZONE, FLOODWAY

0.2 PCT ANNUAL CHANCE FLOOD HAZARD,  
A,  
AE,  
AE, FLOODWAY
AH,  
AO,  
D,  











 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
26.03 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF FIR AVENUE AND NORTH SAN FRANCISCO STREET, FROM 
SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (R1) AND PUBLIC FACILITY (PF) TO PUBLIC 
OPEN SPACE (POS), AND TO APPLY THE RURAL FLOODPLAIN 
DESIGNATION; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff (the “Applicant”) applied for a Zoning Map Amendment to 
rezone approximately 26.03 acres of land located at the northeast corner of Fir Avenue and 
North San Francisco Street, Coconino County, Arizona, a legal description of which is provided 
in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), in order to preserve open space; and 
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s intention to preserve open space, the Applicant 
has applied to the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from Single-family 
Residential (R1) and Public Facility (PF) to Public Open Space (POS) for approximately 26.03 
acres of real property; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted a neighborhood meeting on October 19, 2015, to discuss 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as required by Section 
10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and a public hearing on February 24, 2016, 
and has recommended approval of the requested zoning application, subject to the Applicant’s 
compliance with certain conditions set forth below; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application, 
subject to the condition proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as augmented by 
staff, as set forth below, and the Council has considered the condition and has found the 
condition to be appropriate for the Property and necessary for the proposed development; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, subject to the condition set 
forth below, meets the findings required by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff 
Zoning Code. 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16  PAGE 2 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
SECTION 1.  The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2.  The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 3.  The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4.  The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5.  The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from the Single-
family Residential (R1) zone and Public Facility (PF) zone to Public Open Space (POS) zone 
with application of the Rural Floodplain designation for approximately 26.03 acres, as depicted 
in Exhibit “B”, through the approval of the application and all other documents attached to the 
staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6.  The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7.  That the Zoning Map Amendment be further conditioned upon the Applicant’s 
satisfaction of the following conditions proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as 
augmented by staff: 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

1. The City of Flagstaff maintains the right to access the subject property to locate, operate, 
repair, replace, alter, and maintain any and all underground pipelines and utility services 
infrastructure of all types within the subject property.  This shall include but not be limited to 
water transmission and distribution lines.  The City of Flagstaff also maintains the right to 
remove, alter, or maintain any vegetation, improvements, or obstructions within 15 feet of 
either side of any pipelines or utility services infrastructure on the subject property. 
 

SECTION 8.  That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 9.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16  PAGE 3 
 
 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 10. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 19th day of April, 
2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16  PAGE 4 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 









ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16  PAGE 5 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 









  14. A. 4. a.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Jennifer Mikelson, Associate Planner

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-15:  An ordinance of
the City of Flagstaff, amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately 1.07 acres of
real property located at 805 West Clay Avenue, from Highway Commercial (HC) to Public Facility
(PF). (Guadalupe Park Zoning Map Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only for the final time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-15 by title only (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-15

Executive Summary:
A Zoning Map amendment request to rezone approximately 1.07 acres located at 805 West Clay Avenue
from Highway Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF).

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails.
Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural neighborhoods in the
Flagstaff region. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
This is an action item from the Plaza Vieja Neighborhood Plan, adopted by Council in October 2015
(Resolution 2015-35). The Public Hearing and first read of this Ordinance was held on April 5, 2016.

Options and Alternatives:
Options and Alternatives:



Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the ordinance as proposed
2) Approve the ordinance with conditions
3) Deny the ordinance based on the required findings in Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff
Zoning Code

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner,
the City of Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 1.07 acres to the
Public Facility (PF) zone. A Public Facility (PF) designation would better align with the site’s existing and
anticipated future use as a city park. The primary intention of this rezoning case is to carry forward an
implementation strategy set forth in the Specific Plan to rezone both parks located in the neighborhood’s
Transition Area. This rezoning case supports a vision of neighborhood preservation and enhancement of
parks as stated in the La Plaza Neighborhood Specific Plan.

Key Considerations:
All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with and
conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and the proposed
amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the
City of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the
affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and
the provision of public and emergency vehicle access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the
requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or development will not endanger,
jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity in which the
property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable
specific plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in
Chapter 11-10 of the City Code (Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the
proposed amendment.
 

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Zoning Map amendment request are addressed in
the attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated February 19, 2016.

Community Involvement:
All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice
was run in the Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and
Recreation Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for
their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the rezoning was still held with the applicant and other
city staff present. No members of the public inquired about the rezoning of the property. 

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  PZ Staff Report
Application



Current Zoning Map
Public Notice
LPVNA Letter
Exhibit A
Ord. 2016-15



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 19, 2016
PZ-15-00138 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Jennifer Mikelson

REQUEST

A Zoning Map amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Department, on behalf of the property
owner, City of Flagstaff, to rezone approximately 1.07 acres within Section 21, Township 21 North, Range 7 East, from the 
Highway Commercial (HC) zone to the Public Facility (PF) zone.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Zoning Map amendment to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE

The site is known as Guadalupe Park and is utilized as a baseball field with minimal parking and portable restroom facilities. 

PROPOSED LAND USE

No change of use is anticipated on the site.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT

North: Single family residences; Single Family Residential Neighborhood (R1N) zone
East: Commercial business; Highway Commercial (HC) zone
South: Multi-family residential development; High Density Residential (HR) zone
West: Single family residences; Highway Commercial (HC) zone

REQUIRED FINDINGS

STAFF REVIEW. An application for a Zoning Map amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared. The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning 
Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing. The recommendation shall set forth whether the 
Zoning Map amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the proposed 
development, or denied; and shall include an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment to
the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and a recommendation on the amendment based on the 
standards of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 “Establishment of Zones” of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-1).

FINDINGS FOR REVIEWING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to 
whether the application is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 
and the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City 
of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the affected site is physically 
suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle 
access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or 



PZ-15-00138
February 19, 2016
Page 2

development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity 
in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific 
plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code 
(Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

STAFF REVIEW

Introduction/Background: The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner, 
the City of Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 1.07 acres to the Public Facility (PF) 
zone. A Public Facility (PF) designation would better align with the site’s existing and anticipated future use as a city park.
The primary intention of this rezoning case is to carry forward an implementation strategy set forth in the Specific Plan to 
rezone both parks located in the neighborhood’s Transition Area. This rezoning case supports a vision of neighborhood 
preservation and enhancement of parks as stated in the La Plaza Neighborhood Specific Plan.

Proposed Development Concept Plans

No change of use is anticipated on the subject property.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030:

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, recreation facilities, and 
trails.

La Plaza Neighborhood Specific Plan:

Goal 3: Enhance parks maintenance, design, and connection
Ensure City parks in La Plaza Vieja provide safe, user-friendly, and interactive neighborhood spaces for gatherings and 
family activities.
Implementation Strategy 6T.3: Rezone all city owned parks in La Plaza Vieja to the Public Facilities zone. 

The application of the Public Facility (PF) zone implements the above goals of the FRP30 and the La Plaza Vieja 
Neighborhood Specific Plan. This rezoning also specifically enacts an implementation strategy from the neighborhood’s 
Specific Plan. Applying the Public Facility (PF) zone to the property reflects its current use as a neighborhood park and 
protects the continued use of the property for that purpose.   

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code:

The Public Facility (PF) zone applies to public and quasi-public lands within the city. The intent of the Public Facility (PF) 
zone is intended to preserve and encourage the establishment of public lands and to provide an area within the City for 
active and passive recreation uses, parks, public open space, governmental buildings and facilities, schools and school 
grounds, quasi-public buildings and facilities, and related uses.

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic and Access: No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater: No analysis was required.



PZ-15-00138
February 19, 2016
Page 3

Stormwater: No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation: This zoning map amendment is not expected to impact operations and maintenance of the existing 
park.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS

Resources: The subject property is not located within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone.

Citizen Participation: All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment
and asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice was run in the 
Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and Recreation Commission meeting as a 
venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the 
rezoning was still held with the applicant and other city staff present. No members of the public inquired about the rezoning
of the property.

DISCUSSION

The application of the Public Facility (PF) zone to the subject property enacts the Neighborhood Plan’s implementation 
strategy to rezone all parks in the Transition Area. It also removes the possibility of future commercial development or 
significant impacts to the site. With the Public Facility (PF) zoning designation, the property will continue to serve as a 
public recreation facility for the surrounding neighborhood and all city residents. 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 
Zoning Map for 1.07 acres to the Public Facility (PF) zone.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map amendment application
o Current City of Flagstaff Zoning Map
o Public hearing legal advertisements





City of Flagstaff - Zoning Map

COF GIS

Parcels
February 16, 2016

0 0.015 0.030.0075 mi

0 0.025 0.050.0125 km

1:1,000

 
Web AppBuilder for ArcGIS









 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
1.07 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 805 WEST CLAY AVENUE 
FROM HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL (HC) ZONE TO PUBLIC FACILITY (PF) 
ZONE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff (the “Applicant”), applied for a Zoning Map Amendment to 
rezone approximately 1.07 acres of land located at 805 West Clay Avenue, Coconino County, 
Arizona, a legal description of which is provided in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), 
in order to have the zoning for the property match the property’s existing use as a City park; and  
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s reasons for the rezone, the Applicant has applied 
to the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from Highway Commercial (HC) 
zone to Public Facility (PF) zone for approximately 1.07 acres; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted a neighborhood meeting on October 19, 2015, to discuss 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as required by Section 
10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and a public hearing on February 24, 2016, 
and has recommended approval of the requested zoning application; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, meets the findings required 
by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff Zoning Code. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2. The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15  PAGE 2 
 
 
 
SECTION 3. The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4. The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5. The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from the 
Highway Commercial (HC) zone to Public Facility (PF) zone for approximately 1.07 acres, as 
depicted in Exhibit “B”, through the approval of the application and all other documents attached 
to the staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6. The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7.  That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 8. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 9. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 19th day of April, 
2016. 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15  PAGE 3 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 





ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15  PAGE 4 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 





  14. A. 5. a.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Jennifer Mikelson, Associate Planner

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-17:  An ordinance of
the City of Flagstaff amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately 5.31 acres of real
property located off Highland Avenue from Highway Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF). (Highland
Avenue Zoning Map Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only for the final time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-17 by title only (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-17

Executive Summary:
A Zoning Map Amendment request to rezone approximately 5.31 acres located off Highland Avenue from
Highway Commercial (HC) to Public Facility (PF).

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
2) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans
REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks,
recreation facilities, and trails.
Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural neighborhoods in the
Flagstaff region. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The Public Hearing and first read of this Ordinance was held on April 5, 2016.

Options and Alternatives:
Options and Alternatives:



Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the ordinance as proposed
2) Approve the ordinance with conditions
3) Deny the ordinance based on the required findings in Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff
Zoning Code

Background/History:
The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner, the City of
Flagstaff, is requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 5.31 acres to the Public
Facility (PF) zone. The Public Facility (PF) zone is a more appropriate land use designation for the
anticipated use as a public neighborhood park. Furthermore, it is the intent of this rezoning case to carry
forward a deed restriction placed on the subject properties which states that they shall only be used for
“open space and public park purposes.”

Key Considerations:
All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with and
conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and the proposed
amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the
City of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the
affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and
the provision of public and emergency vehicle access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the
requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or development will not endanger,
jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity in which the
property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable
specific plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in
Chapter 11-10 of the City Code (Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the
proposed amendment.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this Zoning Map amendment are addressed in the
attached Planning and Zoning Commission staff report dated February 19, 2016.

Community Involvement:
All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment and
asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice
was run in the Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and
Recreation Commission meeting as a venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for
their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the rezoning was still held with the applicant and other
City staff present. No members of the public inquired about the rezoning of this property.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  PZ Staff Report
Application
Zoning Map
Public Notice



Public Notice
Exhibit A
Ord. 2016-17



PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: February 19, 2016
PZ-15-00140 MEETING DATE: February 24, 2016

REPORT BY: Jennifer Mikelson

REQUEST

A Zoning Map amendment request from the City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Department, on behalf of the property
owner, City of Flagstaff, to rezone approximately 5.31 acres within Section 10, Township 21 North, Range 7 East, from the 
Highway Commercial (HC) zone to the Public Facility (PF) zone.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Zoning Map amendment to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE

The site is currently undeveloped, located off Highland Avenue on two parcels totaling 5.31 acres.

PROPOSED LAND USE

It is anticipated that the site may become a neighborhood park servicing Boulder Point and other west Flagstaff
neighborhoods depending upon available funding. 

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT

North: Vacant / Mountain Trail Apartments; Medium Density Residential (MR) / Highway Commercial (HC) zones
East: Commercial shopping center; Highway Commercial (HC) zone
South: Interstate 40
West: Vacant; Medium Density Residential (MR) zone

REQUIRED FINDINGS

STAFF REVIEW. An application for a Zoning Map amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared. The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the Planning 
Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing. The recommendation shall set forth whether the 
Zoning Map amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the proposed 
development, or denied; and shall include an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment 
with the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; and a recommendation on the amendment based on the 
standards of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 “Establishment of Zones” of the Zoning Code (Page 40.20-1).

FINDINGS FOR REVIEWING PROPOSED AMENDMENTS. All proposed amendments shall be evaluated as to 
whether the application is consistent with and conforms to the goals of the General Plan and any applicable specific plans; 
and the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of the City 
of Flagstaff (the “City”) and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and the affected site is physically 
suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle 



PZ-15-00140
February 19, 2016
Page 2

access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the proposed or anticipated uses and/or 
development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the vicinity 
in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the General Plan and any other applicable specific 
plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code 
(Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the proposed amendment.

STAFF REVIEW

Introduction/Background

The Applicant, the City of Flagstaff Recreation Department, on behalf of the property owner, the City of Flagstaff, is 
requesting a Zoning Map amendment to rezone approximately 5.31 acres to the Public Facility (PF) zone. The Public 
Facility (PF) zone is a more appropriate land use designation for the anticipated use as a public neighborhood park.
Furthermore, it is the intent of this rezoning case to carry forward a deed restriction placed on the subject properties which 
states that they shall only be used for “open space and public park purposes.”

Proposed Development Concept Plans

No immediate change of use is anticipated on the subject property.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, recreation facilities, and 
trails.

The application of the Public Facility (PF) zone implements the above noted goal of the FRP30 by enhancing recreation 
opportunities for residents within city limits. Applying the Public Facility (PF) zone to the site properly designates it for 
future use as a city park.

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

The Public Facility (PF) zone applies to public and quasi-public lands within the city. The intent of the Public Facility (PF) 
zone is intended to preserve and encourage the establishment of public lands and to provide an area within the City for 
active and passive recreation uses, parks, public open space, governmental buildings and facilities, schools and school 
grounds, quasi-public buildings and facilities, and related uses.

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic and Access: No analysis was required.

Water and Wastewater: No analysis was required.

Stormwater: No stormwater improvements have been required.

Parks and Recreation: No analysis was required.



PZ-15-00140
February 19, 2016
Page 3

OTHER REQUIREMENTS

Resources: The subject property is located within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone.

Citizen Participation: All property owners within 600-feet of this site were notified via mail of the zoning map amendment
and asked to attend the October 19, 2015 Parks and Recreation Commission meeting. Additionally, a notice was run in the 
Daily Sun, which discussed the zoning map amendment and identified the Parks and Recreation Commission meeting as a 
venue for discussion. The Commission did not meet quorum for their advertised meeting, but a public meeting for the 
rezoning was still held with the applicant and other City staff present. No members of the public inquired about the rezoning
of this property.

DISCUSSION

The application of the Public Facility (PF) zone to the subject property removes the possibility of any future commercial
development of the site. With the Public Facility (PF) designation, the property will be appropriately zoned to serve as a 
public recreational facility for the surrounding neighborhood, as stated in the property deed. 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff believes that the proposed Zoning Map amendment has been justified and would recommend in favor of amending the 
Zoning Map for 5.31 acres to the Public Facility (PF) zone.

ATTACHMENTS

o Zoning Map Amendment Application
o Current City of Flagstaff Zoning Map
o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements





City of Flagstaff - Zoning Map

COF GIS

Parcels
February 16, 2016

0 0.03 0.060.015 mi

0 0.055 0.110.0275 km

1:2,000

 
Web AppBuilder for ArcGIS









 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
5.31 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT THE END OF HIGHLAND 
AVENUE WEST OF WOODLANDS VILLAGE BOULEVARD, FROM HIGHWAY 
COMMERCIAL (HC) TO PUBLIC FACILITY (PF); PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Flagstaff (the “Applicant”), applied for a Zoning Map Amendment to 
rezone approximately 5.31 acres of land located at the end of Highland Avenue west of 
Woodlands Village Boulevard, Coconino County, Arizona, a legal description of which is 
provided in Exhibit “A” attached hereto (“the Property”), in order to construct a park or open 
space area.    
 
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s reasons for the rezone, the Applicant has applied 
to the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from Highway Commercial (HC) to 
Public Facility (PF) for approximately 5.31 acres; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted a neighborhood meeting on October 19, 2015, to discuss 
the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding community, as required by Section 
10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and a public hearing on February 24, 2016, 
and has recommended approval of the requested zoning application,; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the staff has recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning 
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council, 
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, meets the findings required 
by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff Zoning Code. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1.  The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2.  The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17  PAGE 2 
 
 
SECTION 3.  The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan. 
 
SECTION 4.  The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located. 
 
SECTION 5. The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from the 
Highway Commercial (HC) zone to the Public Facility (PF) zone for approximately 5.31 acres, 
as depicted in Exhibit “B”, through the approval of the application and all other documents 
attached to the staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6.  The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 7.  That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 9.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 10. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the 
City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 19th day of April, 
2016. 
 
 
 
   
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17  PAGE 3 
 
 

Exhibit “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 







ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17  PAGE 4 
 
 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Legal Description of New Zoning 







  14. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Brian Kulina, Planning Development Manager

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration, and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-24:  An ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, extending and increasing the corporate limits of the City
of Flagstaff, Coconino County, State of Arizona, pursuant to the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona
Revised Statues, by annexing certain land totaling approximately 0.81 acres located in Section 7,
Township 21 North, Range 8 East, which land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the
City of Flagstaff, and establishing City zoning for said land as Rural Residential (RR) for 0.81 acres,
providing for severability, authority for clerical corrections, and establishing an effective date.
(Marquardt Annexation - Mountain Meadow Drive)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1)  Read Ordinance No. 2016-24 by title only for the final time
2)  City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-24 by title only (if approved above)
3)  Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-24

Executive Summary:
An annexation request to obtain sewer service from Andrew and Stefanie Marquardt for the annexation of
approximately 0.81 acres, located at 4419 N Mountain Meadow Drive and further described as Coconino
County Assessor's Parcel Number 113-20-002, into the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff and
establishing the Rural Residential (RR) zoning district.

Financial Impact:
None 



Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Policy E&C.5.3 Continue to enforce dark sky ordinances
Policy WR.4.3. Development requiring public utility services will be located within the Urban Growth
Boundary
Policy LU.7.2. Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City services, or
that a pre-annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The Public Hearing and first read of this Ordinance was held on April 5, 2016.

Options and Alternatives:
1)  Approve the annexation with the conditions as presented by Staff and as recommended by the
Planning and Zoning Commission.
2)  Approve the annexation with additional conditions, deleted conditions, or modified conditions.
3)  Deny the annexation for non-compliance with the Regional Plan, the Zoning Code, and/or Arizona
Revised Statutes.

Background/History:
Andrew and Stefanie Marquardt, the property owners of record, are requesting  the annexation of
approximately 0.81 acres located at 4419 N Mountain Meadow Drive and more accurately described as
Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel Number 113-20.002.  The parcel is located within the Regional Plan
Urban Growth Boundary and, upon annexation, will be located within the Rural Residential (RR) zoning
district.  The subject property is currently developed as a single-family residential dwelling with an
accessory dwelling unit.  There are no natural resources (rural floodplain, slope, or forest) on-site.  For
additional information regarding the characteristics of the site and reason for the request, please
reference the attached Planning and Zoning Commission Staff Report, Annexation Narrative, and
Conceptual Plan.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
This annexation will increase the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff and eliminate a parcel from a
County island.

Community Involvement:
Inform

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council are conducted in
conjunction with any annexation request.  In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and City Code,
notice of the public hearing must be provided by placing an ad in a newspaper of general circulation
within the City, posting at least three (3) notices on the property subject to the proposed annexation, and
mailing a notice to all property owners within 300-feet of the property subject to the proposed annexation. 
All notifications must be completed at least 15-days prior to the first schedule public hearing.  A copy of
the publication notice, pictures of the postings, a mailing list, and a copy of the mailing notice are
attached to this report.
 
As of this writing, staff has received no comments from interested parties regarding the proposed
annexation.



Attachments:  Ord. 2016-24
Annexation Petition, Legal Description, Affidavit
Planning Commission Staff Report
Annexation Narrative
Zoning Map
Concept Plan



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-24 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
ARIZONA, EXTENDING AND INCREASING THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF 
THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, COCONINO COUNTY, STATE OF ARIZONA, 
PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 9, CHAPTER 4, ARIZONA 
REVISED STATUTES, BY ANNEXING CERTAIN LAND TOTALING 
APPROXIMATELY 0.81 ACRES LOCATED IN SECTION 7, TOWNSHIP 21 
NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST, WHICH LAND IS CONTIGUOUS TO THE EXISTING 
CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, AND ESTABLISHING 
CITY ZONING FOR SAID LAND AS RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR) FOR 0.81 
ACRES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AUTHORITY FOR CLERICAL 
CORRECTIONS, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, petitioner owns parcel APN 113-20-002 located in Section 7, Township 21 North, 
Range 8 East, consisting of a total of 0.81 acres of land located within Coconino County, 
Arizona, as property adjacent to the boundaries of the City of Flagstaff, and described in Exhibit 
A, attached to and made a part hereof; and 
 
WHEREAS, a petition in writing, attached at Exhibit B, (“Petition”) accompanied by a map or plot 
of said Property, having been filed and presented to the Mayor and Council of the City of 
Flagstaff, Arizona, signed by the owners of one-half or more in value of the real property and 
more than one-half of the persons owning real and personal property as would be subject to 
taxation by the City of Flagstaff in the event of annexation of the territory and land hereinafter 
described as shown by the last assessment of said Property, which said territory is contiguous 
to the City of Flagstaff and not now embraced within its corporate limits, asking that the Property 
be annexed to the City of Flagstaff, and that the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff be 
extended and increased so as to embrace the same; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, are desirous of complying 
with said Petition and extending and increasing the corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff to 
include said territory as described in Exhibit A; and  
 
WHEREAS, Petition sets forth a true and correct description of all the exterior boundaries of the 
entire area proposed to be annexed to the City of Flagstaff, and had attached thereto at all 
times an accurate map of the territory desired to be annexed; and 
 
WHEREAS, no alterations increasing or reducing the territory sought to be annexed have been 
made after the Petition had been signed by an owner of real and personal property in such 
territory; and 
 
WHEREAS, the provisions of Section 9-471, Arizona Revised Statutes, and amendments 
thereto, have been fully observed; and 
 
WHEREAS, proper and sufficient certification and proof of the foregoing facts are now on file in 
the office of the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, together with a true and correct copy 
of the original Petition referred to herein, which is on file in the office of the Coconino County 
Recorder; and 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-24 PAGE 2 

 
WHEREAS, the development of the Property will be controlled by the relevant provisions of the 
Zoning Code and various other City codes regulating the development of the Property; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council finds that the proposed annexation for the Property has been 
considered by the Planning and Zoning Commission and that the City staff and the Commission 
have each recommended that the Council proceed with the annexation at this time; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council has reviewed the Staff Summary Report, which discusses the proposed 
annexation, and now finds that the annexation of the Property would be consistent with the 
objectives and policies of the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 ratified May 20, 2014 (“Regional 
Plan”); that the annexation of the Property would not be detrimental to the majority of the 
persons or property in the surrounding area or to the community in general; and the Council 
specifically further finds that the annexation of the Property and the existing and proposed uses 
thereon will further the objectives of the Regional Plan. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1. That the following described territory be, and the same hereby is, annexed to the 
City of Flagstaff, and that the present corporate limits be, and the same hereby are, extended 
and increased to include the following described territory contiguous to the present City of 
Flagstaff corporate limits: 
 
See attached Exhibit A, which are incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
SECTION 2. That the territory described in Exhibit A is annexed to the City of Flagstaff subject 
to the following condition: 
 
That a copy of this Ordinance, together with an accurate map of the territory hereby annexed to 
the City of Flagstaff, certified by the Mayor of said City of Flagstaff, be forthwith filed and 
recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Coconino County, Arizona. 
 
SECTION 3. That, pursuant to the provisions of Section 9-471(L), Arizona Revised Statutes, 
upon this Ordinance becoming final under the provisions of Section 9-471(D), Arizona Revised 
Statutes, the municipal zoning designation for the Property under the Zoning Code shall be: 
 

1. The entirety of APN 113-20-002 will be located within the Rural Residential (RR) 
zoning district.  

2. All annexed parcels shall be placed in the City of Flagstaff Lighting Zone 3 and 
shall comply with City of Flagstaff Zoning Code Lighting Standards. 

 
SECTION 4. The Community Development Department of the City of Flagstaff is hereby 
directed to enter such changes and amendments as may be necessary upon the Zoning Map of 
said Zoning Code in compliance with this ordinance. 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-24 PAGE 3 

SECTION 5. That the Flagstaff City Clerk shall provide a copy of the adopted annexation 
ordinance to the Clerk of the Coconino County Board of Supervisors within sixty days of the 
annexation becoming final. 
 
SECTION 6  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 7. The City Clerk is hereby authorized to correct typographical and grammatical 
errors, as well as errors of wording and punctuation, as necessary related to this ordinance as 
amended herein, and to make formatting changes needed for purposes of clarity and form, or 
consistency, within thirty (30) days following adoption by the City Council. 
 
SECTION 8. This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after adoption by the 
Flagstaff City Council. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, this ___ day of 
_______________, 2016. 
 

 
 

  
 MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-24 PAGE 4 

Exhibit A 
Legal Description and Legal Map 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-24 PAGE 5 

Exhibit B 
Annexation Petition 











PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT
ANNEXATION

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: March 4, 2016
PZ-15-00116 MEETING DATE: March 9, 2016

REPORT BY: Brian J Kulina, AICP

REQUEST:

A request from Andrew and Stefanie Marquardt for the annexation of approximately 0.81 acres located at 4419 N Mountain 
Meadow Drive and further described as Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel Number 113-20-002.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward this annexation request to the City Council with a 
recommendation for approval.

PRESENT LAND USE:

Single-family residential with accessory dwelling unit.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

A concept plan, a copy of which is attached to this report, was been prepared in conjunction with the requested annexation 
and identifies the continued use of the subject property as single-family residential with an accessory dwelling unit.  Upon 
annexation, the subject property will be within the Rural Residential (RR) zoning district.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

Current Use City of Flagstaff Zoning Coconino County Zoning
On-site Single-Family Residential -- Agricultural Residential (AR)
North Single-Family Residential Rural Residential (RR) --
East Single-Family Residential Manufactured Housing (MH) --
South Single-Family Residential -- Agricultural Residential (AR)
West Coconino National Forest Rural Residential (RR)

Public Lands Forest (PLF)
Open Space and Conservation 
(OS)

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

Requests for annexations shall be found to be in compliance with Section 9-471 of the Arizona Revised Statues, the 
applicable goals and policies of the General Plan (Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030), and Section 10-20.90 of the Zoning Code.

STAFF REVIEW:

Introduction/Background

Andrew and Stefanie Marquardt, the property owners of record, are requesting the annexation of approximately 0.81 acres 
located at 4419 N Mountain Meadow Drive and more accurately described as Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel Number 



PZ-15-00116 Annexation Staff Report
March 4, 2016 Page 2 of 4

113-20.002.  The parcel is located with the Regional Plan Urban Growth Boundary and, upon annexation, will be located 
within the Rural Residential (RR) zoning district. The subject property is currently developed as a single-family residential 
dwelling with an accessory dwelling unit. There are no natural resources (rural floodplain, slope, or forest) on-site.  For 
additional information regarding the characteristics of the site and reason for the request, please reference the attached 
Annexation Narrative and Conceptual Site Plan.

Arizona Revised Statues

Section 9-471 of the Arizona Revised Statues allows for the annexation of properties into the corporate limits of the City 
provided the proposed annexation area is contiguous to an incorporated area and that the City adopt a zoning 
classification for the annexed property that permits densities and intensities no greater than those permitted by the County 
immediately before the annexation.  The subject property is currently zoned Agricultural Residential (AR) in the County. 
The County AR zone is intended to designate areas of the County for low-density residential use on minimum lot sizes of 
one (1) acre where those light agricultural activities can be conducted that are related to rural family living and pursuits.
The most comparable City zone in terms of permitted uses, densities, and intensities is the Rural Residential (RR) zone, 
which applies to areas of the City appropriate for both housing and limited agricultural uses that preserve the area’s rural 
character and is comprised predominately of large lot single-family development. The Rural Residential (RR) zoning 
district if further considered equivalent to the Agricultural Residential (AR) zoning district in that the Rural Residential 
(RR) zone provides for the development of one (1) acre parcels, when public utilities and streets are provided, which will 
occur after annexation, and balances permitted agricultural uses with residential uses. Additionally, the subject property 
is located within County Lighting Zone III.  Upon annexation, the subject property will be placed within City Lighting 
Zone 3.

General Plan – Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “Regional Plan”) identifies the Subject Property as having a land use designation of 
Suburban. Upon annexation, the proposed zoning of Rural Residential (RR) will be in conformance with the existing land 
use designation. Further, the City’s basic position regarding annexation is that the annexation must demonstrate a favorable 
benefit to the taxpayers of the City.

Applicable General Plan Goals and Policies
Staff has the following Regional Plan Goals and Policies could be applied to the review of the proposed annexation:

Policy E&C.5.3 Continue to enforce dark sky ordinances.
Policy WR.4.3 Development requiring public utility services will be located within the Urban Growth Boundary.
Policy LU.7.2 Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City services, or that a pre-
annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate.

Goal/Policy Analysis

Upon annexation, the subject property will be located within City Lighting Zone 3.  All development, including the 
replacement of existing on-site light fixtures and/or the addition of new on-site light fixtures, must comply with the lighting 
standards as outline in Section 10-50.70 of the Zoning Code (Page 50.70-1).  Adherence to the established outdoor lighting 
standards ensures compliance with the Regional Plan.  The subject property is located within the Urban Growth Boundary as 
defined by the Regional Plan.  Water and sewer infrastructure necessary to serve the subject property is located within the 
adjacent Right-of-Way and is adequate to serve the existing uses on-site.  The subject property meets all statutory 
requirements for annexation (i.e. location, dimension, contiguity, etc.) and qualifies for annexation with the primary intent 
being a request for connection to the existing public water and sewer infrastructure.



PZ-15-00116 Annexation Staff Report
March 4, 2016 Page 3 of 4

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

Upon annexation, the subject property will be located within the Rural Residential (RR) zoning district.  The existing use of 
the subject property, single-family residential with an accessory dwelling unit, is a permitted use within the RR zone.  
Further development of the subject property shall comply with the Rural Residential (RR) zoning district development 
standards as established in Section 10-40.30.030.C of the Zoning Code (Page 40.30-8): However, the existing lot size, at 
0.81 acres, and the existing placement of the buildings on-site do not conform to the established development standards of 
the Zoning Code.  The lot and structures currently do not comply with the County Agricultural Residential (AR) 
development standards.  As such, the lot and structures will be deemed legal non-conforming and shall be subject to the 
nonconformity provisions of Section 10-20.60 of the Zoning Code (Page 20.60-1)

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic and Access

The subject property is bound on the east by Mountain Meadow Drive, which provides vehicular, bicycle, and pedestrian 
access to the site.  No improvements within the Right-of-Way are proposed with this annexation.  Any future development 
may require the review and approval of a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) to determine the impacts of development on the 
transportation system and potential mitigation measures to offset said impacts.

Water and Wastewater

A Water and Sewer Impact Analysis was not required for the proposed annexation.  Capacity in the existing 
infrastructure, which includes 8-inch water and sewer lines in Mountain Meadow Drive, was review by the City Utilities 
Department and was deemed sufficient to serve the existing us of the subject property.  No improvement to the water and 
sewer infrastructure is required at this time. Upon annexation, the property owner will connect to all public utilities.

Stormwater

A Drainage Impact Analysis was not required for the proposed annexation.  Any future development of the subject property 
shall be subject to the City’s Low Impact Design standards.

Fire Protection

The closest fire station to the subject property is Fire Station No. 3, which is located approximately 1.2 miles away at 4500 E 
Nestle Purina Avenue.

Parks and Recreation

The closest City-owned park to the subject property is Mobile Haven Park located approximately 0.2 miles away.  While the 
subject property is current located within a unincorporated portion of the City, the park is open and accessible to all 
residents.  The proposed annexation will not adversely impact the City’s recreational infrastructure.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Resources

The subject property is less than one (1) acre in size and is not identified by the Regional Plan as a site of concentrated 
natural resources.  As such, the subject property is not proposed to be included within the Resource Protection Overlay



PZ-15-00116 Annexation Staff Report
March 4, 2016 Page 4 of 4

(RPO) zone as defined by Section 10-50.90.020.A of the Zoning Code (Page 50.90-2).

Citizen Participation

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council are conducted in conjunction with any 
annexation request.  In accordance with Arizona Revised Statute and City Code, notice of the public hearing must be
provided by placing an ad in a newspaper of general circulation within the City, posting at least three (3) notices on the 
property subject to the proposed annexation, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 300-feet of the property 
subject to the proposed annexation. All notifications must be completed at least 15-days prior to the first schedule public 
hearing.  A copy of the publication notice, pictures of the postings, a mailing list, and a copy of the mailing notice are 
attached to this report.

As of this writing, staff has received no comments from interested parties regarding the proposed annexation.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends that the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the annexation request to the City Council with a 
recommendation of approval.

ATTACHMENTS:

o Annexation Application
o Annexation Narrative
o Legal Description and Map
o Vicinity Map
o Public Hearing Legal Advertisements

Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel map
Posting, Publication, and Mailing

o Conceptual Site Plan





PZ-15-00116 Marquardt Annexation

COF GIS

March 9, 2016
0 0.03 0.060.015 mi

0 0.055 0.110.0275 km

1:2,000

COF GIS | 
Web AppBuilder for ArcGIS



3

6

'

-

0

"

2

5

'

-

0

"

3

1

'

-

0

"

1

4

'

-

6

"

2

8

'

-

0

"

40'-0"

20'-0"

1
2
'
-
6
"

1
2
'
-
6
"

66'-0"

15'-0"

8
'
-
0
"

8
'
-
0
"

25'-0"

1. SITE PLAN

SCALE: 1" = 10'-0"

N

A0.0

SITE PLAN

SHEET TITLE:

NO. DESCRIPTION DATE

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 CONCEPT PLAN 12-15-15

M
A

R
Q

U
A

R
D

T
 
P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y

520-780-8746

UPDESIGNSOLUTIONS@GMAIL.COM

304 S. ELDEN STREET

FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 86001

R

E

G

I

S

T

E

R

E

D A

R

C

H

I

T

E

C

T

C

E

R

T

I

F

I
C

A

T

E

 

N

O

.

A

R

I

Z

O

N

A
,

 

U

.

S

.

A

.

D

A

T

E

 

S

I

G

N
E

D

54419

ANNE MEAD

SOPER

EXPIRES 01 / 22 / 2016

JOB NO. 15-031

4
4

1
9

 
N

O
R

T
H

 
M

O
U

N
T

A
I
N

 
M

E
A

D
O

W
 
D

R
I
V

E

A
P

N
:
 
1

1
3

-
2

0
-
0

0
2

PROPERTY OWNER

ANDREW & STEFANIE MARQUARDT

4991 EAST SNOWSHOE WAY

FLAGSTAFF, AZ 86004



  14. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Ryan Roberts, Utilities Engineering Manager

Co-Submitter: Brad Hill

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-23:  An ordinance of
the Flagstaff City Council amending Title 7, Health and Sanitation, and Title 12, Floodplain, of the
Flagstaff City Code, by amending Chapters 7-02-001-0039, Sewer Use Charges, Capacity Charges;
7-03-001-0010, Water Rates; and 7-03-001-0011, Water Main Capacity Charges; 7-03-001-0014 Water
Conservation and Chapter 12-02-002-0003, Schedule of Stormwater Management Utility Service
Charges and Fees, thereof. (Ordinance increasing certain utility rates, charges and fees)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-23 by title only for the final time 
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-23 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-23

Executive Summary:
This action adopts an ordinance increasing water, sewer and stormwater user and service fees, and
water and sewer capacity fees. A summary of the changes follows; 

Water, Sewer and Stormwater user fees are increased over five years in order to adequately fund
operations, maintenance, debt repayment and replacement projects contained in ten year capital
improvement program per Council direction.
Water and Sewer capacity fees are updated as recommended per Council direction. 



Financial Impact:
The City desires rates and fees that fully fund operations, maintenance and future capital costs for water
and wastewater treatment; distribution and collection systems, and stormwater infrastructure. The city is
facing several challenges to continuing its high quality operations. Utility revenues are not keeping pace
with increasing operation, maintenance and capital costs.

Water, Sewer and Stormwater user fees will be phased in over a five year period. The new rates would
take effect on July 1, 2016 and the next increase on January 1, 2017 and then each January 1st through
the year 2020.

A summary of Council recommendations; 

Base Monthly Service charge increase of 4.4 percent (%) annually for 5 years
Water Rate 4.4% annually increase for 5 years, maintaining approximately 24% debt versus
revenues
Council requested $140,000 annually be directed towards water conservation efforts ( increased
rebates, additional services)
Water Rates structure change-lowered residential tier rate levels
Wastewater Rate 7% annual increase for 5 years, maintaining approximately 20% debt versus
revenues
Stormwater Rate 6% annual increase for five years, no debt
Buy-in Capacity Fees-Water approximately a -.2.8% decrease
Buy-in Capacity Fee-Wastewater approximately 19% increase

The water and sewer capacity fees reflect the value of extra capacity available in the water and
wastewater systems and the anticipated cost of the new facilities that will be required by growth over the
next ten years. 

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
Ensure Flagstaff has a long-term water supply for current and future needs

Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient and
effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
 
REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal WR.2.2  Maintain and develop facilities to provide reliable, safe and cost effective water and
wastewater and stormwater services.

Policy LU.1.5 Maintain and upgrade existing infrastructure and invest in infrastructure to make
redevelopment and infill an attractive and more financially viable development option. 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Yes, on August 25, 2015 Council adopted a Notice of Intent to consider increasing water, sewer,
reclaimed water and stormwater rates.  On February 17, 2016, Council gave direction on the rate
changes as proposed herein.  The Public Hearing and first read of this Ordinance was held on April 5,
2016.

Options and Alternatives:
An alternative would be to choose not to implement any rate modifications. The ramification of such



An alternative would be to choose not to implement any rate modifications. The ramification of such
action would be to reduce capital improvement projects contained within the ten year capital
improvement program. This action would delay needed capital pipe replacement projects which
increases maintenance costs for existing piping and limits infill development within the exiting
infrastructure as well as necessary treatment plant maintenance and upgrades.

Background/History:
The City retained Willdan Financial Services (Willdan) to prepare a long term financial plan and rate and
fee study for each utility fund (water, wastewater, reclaimed water and stormwater) to ensure the Utilities
Division has sufficient revenue to meet their operational, capital and debt service obligations and that
rates are set proportionate to the costs of providing utility service to each customer class. As a part of
this rate study, the consultant, facilitated dialog with the City's Water Commission and City staff at
several Commission meetings over a period of seven months. During these meetings, the Commission
made recommendations to be incorporated into the study where appropriate. The final draft report
documents the findings, analyses and recommendations of the comprehensive rate and fee study effort.

The results of the rate and fee study were then posted on the City website and presented by staff to
numerous civic, neighborhood, business and manufacturing groups involving a variety of customers
during numerous meetings and public presentations. The Water Commission final rate recommendations
have been incorporated into the proposed rate and capacity fee modifications included in the final rate
and fee study. The rate recommendations have been available online since July 16, 2015 and are on file
with the City Clerk effective August 1, 2015. They will have been available for review and comment for
more than 180 days prior to the ordinance consideration.

There was extensive public outreach conducted prior to the first public hearing held on October 6, 2015. 
City Council continued the public hearing on October 13, 2015, October 20, 2015, November 17, 2015
and February 17, 2016.   Proposed changes to reclaimed rates were discussed but are not included
herein.  Proposed changes to reclaimed rates, if any, will be brought forward to Council at a future date. 

Key Considerations:
Several objectives were identified during the rate study to guide decisions regarding the proposed
financial plans and rate structures. The major objectives of the study were; 

Utility rates an fees should generate sufficient revenue to meet operating and maintenance costs,
capital program requirements, debt service obligations and maintain reserves consistent with
sound financial management practices.
Utility rates should be set proportionate to the cost of providing utility service to each customer
class to promote fairness and equity.
A financial plan that minimizes future rate and fee impacts on existing and new customers
A financial plan that follows the water policies and goals established by City Council on April 1,
2014

In reviewing the above objectives it should be noted that the City has limited control over external forces
such as growth, consumer behavior and system usage. Recognizing these factors, we believe the
recommendations in this study provide a fair, reasonable and balance set of proposed rates and fees for
the City that meets these key objectives.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Regular rate reviews and modifications are necessary to maintain a stable financial  position for the
water, wastewater and stormwater utility funds. The goal of the proposed rate increase is to provide for a
financially sustainable utility system.

The Community benefits of the proposed rate adjustments include updated water and sewer mains and
services, new storm drain facilities to remediate current flooding conditions,  and improved solids
handling at the wastewater treatment plant facilities.



Community Involvement:
Involve: During the Water Commission review and discussion on the rate study, local members of the
community were very involved in the rate making process.  The public and members of the commission 
asked questions, requested information, requested modification to rate structures, discussed impacts of
Commission decisions. 

Inform: City staff has met with the numerous customer groups,across all customer classes to discuss and
inform the public on proposed rates and fees adjustments to water, sewer and stormwater. Below is a
summary of our public outreach efforts to inform the public.  

The Water Commission held meetings to discus the rates and capacity fees on 1/15/15, 2/19/15,
4/16/15, 5/21/15, 6/18/15, 7/16/15.
The Water Commission considered numerous options prior to making their final recommendations
to Council in July 16,2015.
A public notice was advertised on 6/2/2015 in the Arizona Daily Sun notifying all customers of the
Water Commission meeting
The Water Commission held an informational Public Hearing meeting on 7/16/2015 This meeting is
videotaped and is available on the City website.
Letters were sent to the city's top 20 water users notifying them of the proposed rate modifications
on 7/21/2015
Staff met with Northern Arizona University and the largest 15 customers on 7/30/2015 to discuss
the increased water and sewer fees and the projected impacts to their businesses.
Staff met with the Chamber of Commerce on 9/16/2015 to discuss the increased water, sewer and
stormwater user fees and the impacts to local business community.
Staff met with the Northern Arizona Homebuilders Association and Northern Arizona Realtors on
9/9/2015 to discuss the increase in water, sewer and stormwater fees  as well as the proposed
capacity fee increases and the impacts to the local home builders.
Staff met with Civic groups (Lions Club, Liberty), ASCE, Sierra Club and various neighborhood
associations in the South Side and Sunnyside areas to discuss the need for rehabilitation and
replacement the City's water, sewer and stormwater infrastructure in their neighborhoods. We
discussed the need for financial sustainability of the utility system and the results of the Rate study.
The pubic hearing, along with the Resolution of Intent adopted by the City Council, was advertised
in the Arizona Daily Sun 8/1/2015 and 8/8/2015.
A public announcement was made on local radio stations during the months of July, August and
September 2015.
The public hearing was advertised and held at the 10/6/2015 Council Meeting.

 

Attachments:  Exhibit 2 - Water/Sewer Code Changes
Exhibit 3 - Stormwater Code Changes
Ord. 2016-23
PowerPoint



Flagstaff  

Title 7 HEALTH AND SANITATION 

Page 1/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

 2016 AMENDMENTS TO FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE 

TITLE 7, CHAPTERS 7-02 AND 7-03, HEALTH AND SANITATION, 

TO UPDATE SYSTEM CAPACITY FEES AND SERVICE FEES” 
 Title 7 

HEALTH AND SANITATION 

CHAPTERS: 

7-01    GRAFFITI ABATEMENT 

7-02    WASTEWATER REGULATIONS 

7-03    CITY WATER SYSTEM REGULATIONS 

7-04    MUNICIPAL REFUSE COLLECTION SERVICE 

7-05    SMOKEFREE AIR 

7-06    REPEALED 

7-07    SOLID FUEL BURNING DEVICES 

7-08    EXTENSION AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF 

WATER AND SEWER LINES 

7-09    TOBACCO PRODUCTS 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-02 WASTEWATER REGULATIONS 

Page 2/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

CHAPTER 7-02 

WASTEWATER REGULATIONS 

SECTIONS: 

7-02-001-0001    DIVISION CREATED: 

7-02-001-0002    APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTOR OF UTILITIES: 

7-02-001-0003    PURPOSE AND POLICY 

7-02-001-0004    DEFINITIONS: 

7-02-001-0005    INTERFERENCE WITH THE UTILITIES DIVISION; DIGGING UP STREETS WITHOUT A 

PERMIT; TAMPERING WITH EQUIPMENT PROHIBITED: 

7-02-001-0006    ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR CLEANING, REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT OF 

BUILDING SEWERS AND CONNECTIONS: 

7-02-001-0007    UNSANITARY DISPOSAL OF EXCREMENT PROHIBITED: 

7-02-001-0008    TREATMENT OF POLLUTED WASTES REQUIRED: 

7-02-001-0009    PROHIBITED SUBSTANCES: 

7-02-001-0010    STANDARDS FOR DISCHARGE: 

7-02-001-0011    INDUSTRIAL CLASSIFICATION: 

7-02-001-0012    INDUSTRIAL SELF-MONITORING: 

7-02-001-0013    REPORTING REQUIREMENTS: 

7-02-001-0014    SIGNATORY REQUIREMENTS: 

7-02-001-0015    CONFIDENTIALITY OF BUSINESS INFORMATION: 

7-02-001-0016    INTERCEPTORS; TYPE, CAPACITY, LOCATION, MAINTENANCE: 

7-02-001-0017    CONTROL MANHOLES: 

7-02-001-0018    RIGHT OF ENTRY FOR INSPECTIONS AND MONITORING: 

7-02-001-0019    PROVISION OF FALSE INFORMATION: 

7-02-001-0020    PUBLIC NOTIFICATION, DEFINITION OF SIGNIFICANT VIOLATION: 

7-02-001-0021    PROCEDURES FOR ENFORCEMENT: 

7-02-001-0022    PUBLIC RECLAIMED WASTEWATER PIPELINE AND SEWER EXTENSIONS; APPROVAL 

BY CITY ENGINEER: 

7-02-001-0023    CONSTRUCTION AND OWNERSHIP OF PUBLIC RECLAIMED WASTEWATER 

PIPELINES, PUBLIC SEWER LINES AND OTHER EQUIPMENT MAINTAINED BY UTILITIES 

DIVISION: 

7-02-001-0024    PUBLIC RECLAIMED WATER PIPELINE EXTENSION AND CONVERSION POLICY FOR 

REUSERS: 

7-02-001-0025    MAIN SEWER EXTENSION POLICY FOR AREAS BEYOND PRESENT CITY TRUNK 

LINES: 

7-02-001-0026    PRIVATE SEWERAGE SYSTEMS; CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE WITHIN THE 

CITY PROHIBITED GENERALLY: 

7-02-001-0027    PRIVATE SEWERAGE SYSTEMS; WHEN PERMITTED, TO BE CONSTRUCTED AND 

MAINTAINED IN SANITARY MANNER: 

7-02-001-0028    PRIVATE SEWERAGE SYSTEMS; DISCONTINUANCE: 

7-02-001-0029    PRIVATE SEWERAGE SYSTEMS; AUTHORITY OF DIRECTOR OF HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT: 

7-02-001-0030    PERMIT REQUIRED: 

7-02-001-0031    APPLICATION FOR BUILDING CONNECTION: 

7-02-001-0032    DIRECTOR OF UTILITIES TO APPROVE DESIGN NUMBER, LOCATION, SIZE AND 

CONSTRUCTION OF BUILDING CONNECTIONS: 

7-02-001-0033    SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR INSTALLING BUILDING CONNECTIONS IN NEW 

SUBDIVISIONS AND DEVELOPMENTS: 

7-02-001-0034    RECORDS TO BE KEPT BY ENGINEERING SECTION: 

7-02-001-0035    SEWER TAP FEE: 

7-02-001-0036    SEWER USER CHARGES: 

7-02-001-0037    THE COLLECTION OF USERS CHARGES SHALL BE UNDER THE DIRECTION OF THE 

CITY’S FINANCE DIRECTOR: 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-02 WASTEWATER REGULATIONS 

Page 3/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

7-02-001-0038    RATE ESTABLISHMENT AND REVIEW PROCEDURE: 

7-02-001-0039    SEWER USE CHARGES, CAPACITY CHARGES: 

7-02-001-0040    SEPTIC TANK AND SCAVENGER WASTE HAULERS: 

7-02-001-0041    SEWER RATES TO BE ADDED TO WATER BILLS: 

7-02-001-0042    WHEN BILLS PAYABLE; DISCONNECTION OF SERVICE FOR FAILURE TO PAY; 

RECONNECTION FEE: 

7-02-001-0043    DETERMINATION OF WASTEWATER QUANTITY AND BILLINGS: NONRESIDENTIAL: 

7-02-001-0044    RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE: 

7-02-001-0045    PAYMENT OF BILLS AND CHARGES: 

7-02-001-0046    NOTICE PRIOR TO DISCONNECT: 

7-02-001-0047    SERVICE CONNECTIONS: 

7-02-001-0048    RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE: 

7-02-001-0049    PERMITS REQUIRED FOR INDUSTRIAL USERS: 

7-02-001-0050    INDUSTRIAL USER PERMITS: 

7-02-001-0051    PERMITTEE REQUIREMENTS: 

7-02-001-0052    RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE: 

7-02-001-0053    RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE: 

7-02-001-0054    RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE: 

7-02-001-0055    RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE: 

7-02-001-0056    RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE: 

7-02-001-0057    RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE: 

7-02-001-0058    RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE: 

7-02-001-0059    SERVICE OUTSIDE CITY LIMITS: 

7-02-001-0060    RESPONSIBILITY FOR ENFORCEMENT: 

7-02-001-0061    DISCONNECTION OF SERVICE: 

7-02-001-0062    RESERVED FOR FUTURE USE: 

7-02-001-0063    INTENT OF CHAPTER: 

7-02-001-0039 SEWER USE CHARGES, CAPACITY CHARGES: 

The sewer user charges to be charged by the Finance Section to all users and to all others that have reasonable 

access to sewer mains is presented in the following schedule: 

The City Council may adjust these rate schedules as they deem necessary. 

A.    Sewer User Charges: 

MONTHLY RATE PER 1,000 GALLONS OF WATER CONSUMPTION 

The following monthly service rate shall be charged for customers receiving City of Flagstaff sewer service inside 

the limits of the City of Flagstaff: Sewer chargers are based water consumption. Flat rate charge (dollars/1,000 

gallons) for residential based on winter quarter average water use. Other customer classes based on actual water use 

(dollars/1,000 gallons). 

Sewer only service customers will be charged a monthly service fee and sewer usage charge based on estimated 

water consumption as approved by the Utilities Director. If the Director determines that adequate water meter 

information is not available for billing a residential customer as described above, then the customer will be charged 

the average monthly billing for that user class. 

  Monthly Rate 

Customer Classes 7/1/116 1/1/127 1/1/138 1/1/149 1/1/1520 

Residential:   

Single-family $4.073.08 $4.363.59 $4.673.69 $5.003.80 $5.353.80 

Multiple and mobile home (per unit) $4.073.08 $4.363.59 $4.673.69 $5.003.80 $5.353.80 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-02 WASTEWATER REGULATIONS 

Page 4/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

  Monthly Rate 

Customer Classes 7/1/116 1/1/127 1/1/138 1/1/149 1/1/1520 

Non-Residential:   

Car Washes $4.093.06 $4.383.56 $4.693.70 $5.023.82 $5.383.82 

Laundromats $4.203.14 $4.503.65 $4.823.80 $5.163.91 $5.533.92 

Commercial $4.313.22 $4.623.75 $4.953.90 $5.304.01 $5.684.02 

Hotels, motels $5.764.32 $6.175.03 $6.615.21 $7.085.37 $7.585.38 

Restaurants $6.925.20 $7.416.05 $7.936.27 $8.496.45 $9.096.46 

Industrial Laundries $6.364.77 $6.815.55 $7.295.76 $7.815.93 $8.365.94 

Manufacturing Plants $4.633.46 $4.964.02 $5.314.18 $5.694.31 $6.094.32 

Pet Food Manufacturers $10.157.64 $10.878.89 $11.649.19 $12.469.47 $13.349.48 

Soft Drink Bottlers $8.046.05 $8.617.04 $9.227.29 $9.877.50 $10.577.51 

Ice Cream Cone Manufacturers $12.569.46 $13.4411.02 $14.3911.38 $15.4011.72 $16.4811.73 

Northern Arizona University $3.732.79 $4.003.24 $4.283.37 $4.583.48 $4.913.48 

Waste haulers (charge per 1,000 gallons) 80.00         

Restaurant grease (charge per 100 gallons) 11.00         

Other treatment plant sludge (charge per 100 
gallons) 

8.00         

Mud sump waste (charge per 100 gallons) 25.00         

Waste material delivered to the treatment plant at 
times other than 8:00 AM to 4:00 PM weekends or 

holidays shall be assessed an after hours fee of: 

35.00         

Sewer surcharges:   

Biochemical Oxygen Demand - per pound 

concentrations over 300 milligrams per liter 

$.2703         

Suspended solids - per pound for concentrations 

over 350 milligrams per liter 

$.1343         

 
If a customer’s discharge exceeds the BOD and TSS limit already included in the monthly rate calculation for that 

customer class listed above, then sewer surcharges may be added as a condition to the customer user permit, 

compliance agreement or administrative order. 

BOD and TSS included in monthly rates for specific customer classes are as follows: 

Customer Class BOD mg/l TSS mg/l 

Car Washes 20 150 

Laundromats 150 110 

Commercial 200 175 

Manufacturing 200 175 

Pet Food Manufacturers 1800 1100 

Soft Drink Bottlers 1800 400 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-02 WASTEWATER REGULATIONS 

Page 5/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

Customer Class BOD mg/l TSS mg/l 

Ice Cream Cone Manufacturers 9700 100 

 
All customers served directly by the City and located outside the City limits shall pay at a rate of one hundred ten 

percent (110%) times the rate for the same classification of service inside the City. 

In the case of one meter serving a user that has different classifications of business, the Utilities Director shall be 

authorized to adjust the rate per one thousand (1,000) gallons based upon the contribution of each classification. 

The user shall be determined according to customer class (see rate schedule above). (Ord. 1849, 12/06/94) 

B.    Capacity Charges 

1.    A capacity charge, as prescribed below, shall be assessed upon: 

a.    initial connection to the municipal sewer system, or 

b.    any subsequent expansion or modification of the user’s building or facility which results in an 

increased contribution to the sewer system from: 

(i)    for single or multi-family residential users, an increase in the number of residential units, or 

(ii)    for commercial or industrial users, an increase in the number of fixture units, or 

(iii)    for industrial users, any change in operations resulting in a 20% or greater increase in billable 

volume as measured on an annual basis, or 

(iv)    a change of use of the property whereby an increased volume of discharge to the sewer system 

occurs. (Ord. 1809, 06/15/93) 

c.    Size of water meter installed on the property. 

d.    Each additional water meter added will require additional sewer capacity fees unless specifically 

designated as a landscape meter. 

2.    The capacity charges for the various types of users are as follows: 

a.    Customer (capacity) Charge, dollars 

b.    Residential 

c.    Single family residential and townhomes (per unit): 

EFFECTIVE 7-1-16(effective 1-1-07) $2,410$3,723 

(EFFECTIVE 7-1-12 $3,126 

 
c.    Multiple residential, condos & mobile home (per unit): 

EFFECTIVE 7-1-16(effective 1-1-06 $3,723$2,300 

(EFFECTIVE 1-1-12 $3,126 

 
When a change of use occurs that increases the volume of discharge to the sewer system, regardless of 

whether a change in ownership has taken place, the capacity charge shall be based on the capacity charge 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-02 WASTEWATER REGULATIONS 

Page 6/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

for the new use less the existing capacity charge rate for the previous use. No refund shall be made in the 

case of reduced volume of discharge from a change of use. (Ord. 1809, 06/15/93) 

Non-residential: 

Meter size (effective 1-1-07) EFFECTIVE 7/1/12 EFFECTIVE 7/1/16 

5/8"” or 3/4¾"” $2,410.00 $3,126.00 $3,723 

1"” $4,300.00 $5,210.00 $6,218 

1-1/2"” $8,600.00 $10,419.00 $12,399 

2"” $8.80 $16,671.00 $19,845 

3"”   $31,257.00 $37,233 

4"”   $52,095.00 $62,068 

6"”   $104,191.00 $124,099 

8"”   $166,705.00 $198,566 

10"”   $239,639.00 $285,468 

 
*gallon per day of estimated flow 

Where the capacity charge is based on volume, said charge will initially be calculated based on an estimate of 

flowage to be submitted in writing by the customer and agreed upon by the City. The capacity charge will be 

adjusted based upon the volume of the highest consecutive 12 month period for the 36 months immediately 

following commencement of service for assessment of an additional capacity charge. 

The Division shall review all industrial user accounts on an annual basis and assess an additional capacity charge 

when the annual average billable volume increased by 20% or more. The charge is calculated at the current volume 

less previously assessed capacity charge recalculated at then current rates. 

Wastewater capacity associated with similar user classes may be transferred from one location to another with the 

approval of the Division. The location from which the wastewater capacity was transferred shall be without 

wastewater capacity until a subsequent purchaser of said location establishes a new capacity and fees for the new 

use. The transferor of the wastewater capacity is required to notify any subsequent purchaser of the property, which 

no longer has wastewater capacity, that such capacity does not exist. The City shall record an agreement between the 

transferor and the City with the County Recorder against the property without wastewater capacity rights. The 

agreement shall reference the legal description of the property without wastewater capacity and clearly indicate that 

wastewater capacity rights do not exist. 

Exemption and Payment of Capacity Charges. Structures with a minimum of stem wall, and first floor existing on 

December 1, 1979, shall be exempt from the capacity charges. As of that date, the capacity charge is immediately 

due and payable upon, receipt of an application for connection to the sewerage system. 

If connection is made to the sewerage system without appropriate permit, the capacity charge is immediately due 

and payable upon the earliest date that such permit was required. No connection to the sewerage system shall be 

made without the proper permit and payment of the capacity charge except as provided below for installment 

payments. (Ord. 1796, 03/16/93) 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-03 CITY WATER SYSTEM 

REGULATIONS 

Page 7/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

CHAPTER 7-03 

CITY WATER SYSTEM REGULATIONS 

SECTIONS: 

7-03-001-0001    APPLICATION FOR CONNECTION 

7-03-001-0002    APPLICATION FOR SERVICE 

7-03-001-0003    DEPOSIT REQUIRED 

7-03-001-0004    CONNECTION FEES 

7-03-001-0005    SERVICE CHARGES 

7-03-001-0006    AUTHORITY REQUIRED 

7-03-001-0007    MALICIOUS DAMAGE 

7-03-001-0008    ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

7-03-001-0009    METERS 

7-03-001-0010    WATER RATES 

7-03-001-0011    WATER MAIN CAPACITY CHARGES 

7-03-001-0012    WATER REVENUE FUND 

7-03-001-0013    CITY WATER MAIN EXTENSION POLICY 

7-03-001-0014    WATER CONSERVATION 

7-03-001-0015    CROSS CONNECTION CONTROL 

7-03-001-0016    WATER RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT FEE 

7-03-001-0017    PURCHASED ENERGY COMPONENT FOR WATER 

7-03-001-0018    RECLAIMED WATER RATE SCHEDULE 

7-03-001-0010 WATER RATES 

There shall be charged the following rates for all water furnished consumers and measured by meter on any service 

connection with City water mains for and during each monthly billing period. 

The base monthly service charge applies whether the water meter is active or inactive. The monthly service charge is 

based on the fixed cost of operation and maintaining the water system so that the system is available to provide 

water to the parcel when water service is activated. Parcels with shutoff water meters will continue to pay base 

monthly service fee since water service is available and may be activated and used by the property owner at any 

time.: 

B. A.    Inside City Limits: The following monthly charges shall be effective with bills rendered on and after 

January 1, 1991.  

Applicable sales taxes will be in addition to these charges. (Ord. 1681, 12/04/90) 

Charge per one thousand (1,000) gallons of measured or estimated water use per month. 

WATER RATE SCHEDULE  

 

Monthly Base Service Charge: 

Meter Size 7/1/116 1/1/127 1/1/138 1/1/149 1/1/1520 

3/ 4"” $14.0110.02 $14.6311.38 $15.27 12.18 $15.9413.03 $16.6413.42 

1"” $16.50 11.80 $17.22 13.40 $17.98 14.34 $18.7715.34 $19.6015.80 

1 1/2½"” $22.71 16.25 $23.71 18.45 $24.75 19.74 $25.8421.12 $26.9821.75 

2"” $30.17 21.58 $31.50 24.50 $32.89 26.22 $34.3328.06 $35.8428.90 

3"” $47.58 34.03 $49.67 38.64 $51.85 41.34 $54.1444.24 $56.5245.57 

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25"



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-03 CITY WATER SYSTEM 

REGULATIONS 

Page 8/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

4"” $72.43 51.82 $75.62 58.83 $78.95 62.95 $82.4267.36 $86.0569.38 

6"” $134.58 96.28 $140.50 109.31 $146.69 116.96 $153.14125.15 $159.88128.91 

8"” $209.15 149.64 $218.36 169.89 $227.97 181.78 $238.00194.51 $248.47200.34 

10"” $296.16 211.89 $309.19 240.56 $322.80 257.40 $337.00275.42 $351.83283.68 

 
VOLUME CHARGE  

 

Monthly Water Use Volume Charge 

Gallons $/1,000 gal         

Single Family -– Block Rate           

Single Family 7-1-116 1-1-127 1-1-138 1-1-149 1-1-1520 

Tier 1 (0-3,7500) $2.89 2.07 $3.02 2.34 $3.15 2.51 $3.29 2.68 $3.44 2.77 

Tier 2 (3,7501-6,4200) $3.75 2.69 $3.91 3.05 $4.09 3.26 $4.26 3.49 $4.45 3.59 

Tier 3 (6,4201-11,7500) $5.77 4.13 $6.03 4.69 $6.29 5.02 $6.57 5.37 $6.86 5.53 

Tier 4 (Over 11,7500) $11.55 8.26 $12.05 9.38 $12.59 10.04 $13.14 10.74 $13.72 11.06 

Multi-family, Apts, Mobile home $3.722.66 $3.883.02 $4.053.23 $4.233.45 $4.423.56 

Commercial, Schools $3.952.83 $4.123.21 $4.303.43 $4.493.67 $4.693.78 

Northern Arizona University $3.952.73 $4.122.95 $4.303.15 $4.493.37 $4.693.47 

Manufacturing $3.892.78 $4.073.16 $4.243.38 $4.433.62 $4.633.73 

Lawn Meters $3.952.83 $4.123.21 $4.303.43 $4.493.67 $4.693.78 

Hydrant meter $6.034.88 $6.305.07 $6.585.34 $6.875.63 $7.175.78 

Standpipe – Water haulers $6.034.88 $6.305.07 $6.585.34 $6.875.63 $7.175.78 

Energy Component:           

Charge per one thousand (1,000) gallons, applied to all 

customer classes  (Refer to Section D) 

.75     

 
Energy component cost to will be calculated annually based on a one-year rolling average of water related energy 

costs as per Section D below. 

PRIVATE FIRE PROTECTION 

 

Connection Size           

Inches Monthly Charge 

Connection Size 1/1/11 1/1/12 1/1/13 1/1/14 1/1/15 

4"” 9.41 10.68 11.43 12.23 12.59 

6"” 27.33 31.02 33.19 35.52 36.58 

8"” 58.23 66.11 70.74 75.69 77.96 

 
Rates for water sold or furnished to customers for use outside the City limits shall be one hundred ten percent 

(110%) the rates for water sold or furnished for use inside the City. (Ord. 1825, 12/07/93) 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-03 CITY WATER SYSTEM 

REGULATIONS 

Page 9/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

B.    Special Rates: 

Special rates for customers who are not included in existing customer classifications and have usage characteristics 

different from other customers may be negotiated between the City and customer, without requiring an amendment 

to the City Code. 

C.    Special Rates: If the initial bill of any new consumer or the final bill of any consumer shall show usage of less 

than one thousand (1,000) gallons for the initial or final billing period, the consumer shall be billed for the initial or 

final billing period at the prorated amount based on existing rates for each one hundred (100) gallons or fraction 

thereof. 

Because fire hydrants are not designed to sustain continuous use and because such hydrants are part of the 

emergency fire protection system of the City, regular use of fire hydrants for water supply is discouraged. When an 

applicant for water to be delivered from a hydrant can show hardship if forced to obtain water from another source, 

and the request has been approved in writing by the City’s Utilities Director, the Division may install a meter on a 

fire hydrant for the use of such applicant, following payment of the required fee for such installation and use. The 

applicant shall be and remain responsible for payment to the City for all water used through such hydrant meter, and 

for the purpose of protecting himself may place a lock upon said meter. 

The fee for installation and use of such hydrant meter shall be $110.00. The rate of water delivered through a 

hydrant meter shall be at existing standpipe rate. In addition, a seven hundred dollar ($700.00) deposit will be 

required to assure repair work on the meters and hydrants if needed. An additional three hundred dollar ($300.00) 

will be required when a backflow prevention device is necessary. The deposits will be refunded if there is no 

damage sustained when the meter and/or backflow device is returned to the City. (Ord. 1235, 11/29/82) 

D.    Automatic Rate Adjustments. The City agrees to adopt a rate schedule which provides for automatic 

adjustments to pass along increases in energy related operating costs for delivering water service based on the 

current electrical and gas tariff rates on file with the Arizona Corporation Commission. Automatic adjustments to 

the energy surcharge shall be calculated on an annual basis using the past 12 months rolling average of water related 

energy charges. 

1.    Energy Cost Adjustment. City reserves the right to automatically pass along future increases in electrical 

and natural gas energy related charges imposed on City by another agency. These automatic adjustments may 

be made whenever the other agency: (1) increases the standard cost of energy beyond the current energy cost 

assumed by City in the proposed rate structure described in this section. 

2.    Adjustments shall begin on January 1 of each calendar year and continue through the end of year. 

(Ord. No. 1681, Amended, 12/04/90; Ord. No. 1727, Amended, 12/03/91; Ord. No. 1796, Amended, 03/16/93; Ord. 

No. 1809, Amended, 06/15/93; Ord. No. 1825, Amended, 12/07/93; Ord. No. 1809, Amended, 06/15/93; Ord. No. 

1825, Amended, 12/07/93; Ord. No. 1874, Amended, 06/20/95; Ord. No. 1944, Amended, 05/20/97; Ord. No. 1972, 

Amended, 04/21/98); (Ord. 2002-07, Amended, 07/16/2002; Ord. 2002-05, Amended, 05/21/2002; Ord. 2000-03, 

Amended, 03/07/2000; Ord. 1999, Amended, 07/06/1999); (Ord. No. 2006-27, Amended 11/05/2006); Amended 

Ord. No. 2010-23 (09/07/2010) 

7-03-001-0011 WATER MAIN CAPACITY CHARGES 

The water main capacity charges for all new service connections to be charged by the Finance Section is presented 

in the following schedule: 

A.    A capacity charge, as prescribed below, shall be assessed upon: 

1.    initial connection to the municipal water system, or; 

2.    any increase in meter size 

B.    The capacity charges for the various types of users are as follows: 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-03 CITY WATER SYSTEM 

REGULATIONS 

Page 10/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

SCHEDULE FOR CAPACITY CHARGES  

 

Capacity Charge         

  Effective 7/1/0916 Effective 7/1/12 Effective 1/1/14 Effective 1/1/15 

Meter Size 

5/8 x 3/4¾ $5,728 2,160 5,013 5,497 5,891 

1" $9,566 3,600 8,371 9,180 9,819 

1-1/2" $19,074 7,200 16,692 18,304 19,638 

2" $30,530 11,520 26,717 29,298 31,420 

3" $57,279 21,600 50,126 54,968 58,913 

4" $95,484 36,000 83,560 91,632 98,188 

6" $190,910 

CALCULATE 

167,070 183,208 196,376 

8" $305,468 

CALCULATE 

267,322 293,144 314,201 

10" $439,157 

CALCULATE 

384,316 421,440 451,664 

 
Meters will be sized using the American Water Works Association Manual, AWWA No. M22. Sizing will be 

submitted to the City Utilities Department by the developer or owner for City review. 

All capacity charges for connections larger than four inches (4") shall be based on proration of mid range flow 

gallons per minute (gpm) of a 5/8 x 3/4" inch meter divided into the mid range flow of the meter to be evaluated. 

The resulting number shall be used as a multiplier times the capacity fee for a 5/8 x 3/4 inch meter to determine the 

large meter capacity fee. Meters will be sized using American Water Works Association Manual, AWWA No. M22. 

Sizing will be submitted to the City by the developer or owner for City review. 

Where the capacity charge is based on volume, said charge will initially be calculated based on an estimate of 

flowage agreed upon by the City and the customer and will be adjusted based upon the volume of the highest 

consecutive 12 month period for the 36 months immediately following commencement of service or assessment of 

an additional capacity charge. 

When the capacity charge results from an increase in meter size the charge shall be adjusted to the difference 

between the charge for the new size meter and the charge for the previous size meter. 

C.    The Division shall review all customer accounts with meters larger than 4" on an annual basis and assess as 

additional capacity charge when the annual average demand increases by 20% or more. The additional capacity 

charge will be calculated using the recommended meter size by AWWA Manual No. 22 or equating to equivalent 

5/8 x 3/4 inch meters but substituting for demand the difference between actual current demand, as determined by 

the previous 12 month average, and the demand used to calculate the previous capacity charge assessed upon the 

customer. (Ord. 1681, 12/04/90) 

(Ord. No. 1681, Amended, 12/04/90; Ord. No. 1944, Amended, 05/20/97); (Ord. 2002-05, Amended, 05/21/2002); 

(Ord. No. 2006-27, Amended, 11/05/2006); (Amended, Ord. No. 2010-23; 09/07/2010) 

 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-03 CITY WATER SYSTEM 

REGULATIONS 

Page 11/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

 

 

 

 

7-03-001-0014 WATER CONSERVATION 

A.    Definitions: 

1.    Commercial Provision: An agreement between the Utilities Division and a commercial customer where 

compliance with the Strategy Level may cause unreasonable economic hardship. A Commercial Provision may 

be applied for by a business that requires a water use for its day-to-day business operation to succeed. There is 

no fee associated with obtaining a Commercial Provision. Commercial Provisions shall not be considered for 

aesthetic landscaping purposes. Examples of businesses that may request a Commercial Provision include, but 

are not limited to, landscapers and nurseries. A request for a Commercial Provision shall be made in writing to 

the Utilities Director and shall include the nature of the business, the anticipated water usage per day, and what 

steps are being taken to conserve water at the business location. Approval and denial commercial provision 

letters shall be copied to the City Manager and City Council for informational purposes. 

2.    Emergency Authority: Authority to make operational adjustments and/or changes to the potable water and 

reclaimed water system for the purpose of protecting the system from damage, maintaining water supply, or 

restoring the system to operation after a system failure. This includes authority to mix potable water with 

reclaimed water for the purpose of protecting the system from imminent system damage. 

3.    Even-numbered address: Any street address ending in; zero (0), two (2), four (4), six (6), or eight (8). 

4.    Irrigate: To supply land or crops with water by means of pipes or hoses. 

5.    Odd-numbered address: Any street address ending in; one (1), three (3), five (5), seven (7), or nine (9).  

6.    Potable Water: Water that is safe and satisfactory for drinking and cooking.1 

7.    Reclaimed Water: Water that has been treated or processed by a wastewater treatment plant or an on-site 

treatment facility. (ARS 49-201.31) 

8.    Resource Status I: When water demand is equal to or less than safe production capability. 

9.    Resource Status II: When water demand exceeds safe production capability for five (5) consecutive days. 

10.    Resource Status III: When water demand exceeds total production capability and the amount of water in 

storage may impair fire protection for the City. 

11.    Safe Production Capability: 90% of total water resources available measured in million gallons per day 

(MGD), based on potable water production and distribution components. 

12.    Special Provision: An agreement between the Utilities Division and a large-volume irrigator allowing 

special hours of irrigation due to public access concerns or hydraulic constraints. 

13.    Surcharge: To charge an additional fee, cost, or levy. 

14.    Total Production Capability: The total water resources available measured in million gallons per day 

(MGD), based on potable water production and distribution components. 

15.    Unreasonable Economic Hardship: A hardship where a business’ ability to operate using normally 

accepted practices is adversely affected by the water restriction. 

16.    Water Availability Strategy: An effort initiated to ensure the availability of adequate water resources for 

the future, and in times of emergency. 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-03 CITY WATER SYSTEM 

REGULATIONS 

Page 12/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

17.    Wasting Water: To use or expend water thoughtlessly or carelessly. Examples include, but are not limited 

to, allowing water to run into the street/gutter, allowing water to pool, irrigating during precipitation events, 

and failing to repair water leaks. The determination of Wasting Water shall be made by a representative of the 

City of Flagstaff. 

1
    Symons, James M. et al., The Drinking Water Dictionary (American Water Works Association, 2001), P. 

333. 

B.    The City Manager, upon the recommendation of the Utilities Director, after notification to the City Council is 

hereby authorized to declare and suspend Water Availability Strategies and elements of Strategies. The Strategies 

may be initiated and suspended based upon Resource Status Levels, or other pertinent information, which evaluate 

the relationship between water demand and municipal safe production capability. 

C.    The Utilities Division has emergency authority to take operational measures deemed necessary to protect the 

potable and reclaimed water systems. 

D.    Augmentation of the reclaimed water system with potable water except as referenced in Paragraph C shall 

require prior approval of the City Manager, upon the recommendation of the Utilities Director and after notification 

to the City Council. 

E.    The following Water Availability Strategies shall govern the use of City water by any user of the City potable 

water system, as prescribed below: 

1.    Strategy I: Water Awareness (may implement with Resource Status I). Conserve water, in and outside of 

the home, using the best practices available to minimize waste. Water users are specifically encouraged to 

landscape with plant materials requiring little or no supplemental irrigation water. The following uses are 

restricted or prohibited. 

No person shall: 

a.    Irrigate between the hours of 9 AM and 5 PM. Even-numbered street addresses shall irrigate 

Wednesday, Friday, and Sunday. Odd-numbered street addresses shall irrigate Tuesday, Thursday, and 

Saturday. No irrigation shall be allowed on Monday. Daily hand watering with a hose or watering can is 

allowed. Strategy I irrigation hours shall apply to hand watering. Water use for maintenance of irrigation 

systems is permitted during all times of the day. 

b.    Use water from a fire hydrant unless for public health or safety, or with the authorization of the 

Utilities Division. 

c.    Waste water, as defined in section A. 

d.    Irrigate golf courses with potable water. 

New landscape permits. Daily irrigation of new landscape may be allowed for elective landscaping and will be 

allowed for required landscaping by obtaining a permit from the Water Conservation Office. The permit shall 

be good for a maximum of thirty (30) days. The fee for the permit shall be ten dollars ($10) to cover 

administration and printing, and shall be adjusted to cover changing costs. The permit shall be obtained prior to 

landscape installation and prominently posted at the irrigation site. The determination of provision of an 

elective landscaping permit shall be made by a representative of the Utilities Division and may be appealed by 

the applicant to the Flagstaff Water Commission if thought to be unreasonably denied. The decision of the 

Water Commission shall be final. Strategy I irrigation hours shall apply to irrigation permits. 

2.    Strategy II: Water Emergency (may implement with Resource Status II). In addition to the requirements of 

Strategy I, the following uses are restricted or prohibited. 

No person shall: 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-03 CITY WATER SYSTEM 

REGULATIONS 

Page 13/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

a.    Irrigate or wash vehicles, except as provided. Even-numbered street addresses are restricted to said 

uses on Wednesday, Friday, and Sunday. Odd-numbered street addresses are restricted to said uses on 

Tuesday, Thursday, and Saturday. No outdoor watering activity shall be allowed between the hours of 9 

AM and 5 PM. Vehicle washing for public health and safety shall be exempt. This restriction shall not 

apply to commercial car washes. 

b.    Wash paved areas such as drives, sidewalks and tennis courts, or buildings, except for health or safety. 

Restriction shall not apply to commercial high pressure water blasting for maintenance or construction 

purposes during strategy II. The use of Reclaimed Water for said uses shall not be restricted. 

c.    Use potable water for filling ornamental fountains, artificial ponds or streams. 

d.    Fill recreational swimming pools, spas, or wading pools holding more than 100 gallons. 

e.    Use potable water for major construction activity, such as dust control, soil compaction, or street 

cleaning. Major construction activity shall be considered that activity requiring the use of a hydrant meter 

for the dispensing of potable water or obtaining the water from City of Flagstaff standpipes. 

Single Family Residential, and all lawn meter rates shall increase to 150% of the established rate for any water 

consumption between 6,4201 and 11,7500 gallons. Rates shall increase to 200% of the established rate for any water 

consumption greater than 11,7501 gallons per billing cycle. Rate increases shall take effect with the billing cycle(s) 

following the implementation of Strategy II. 

Multi-family, Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional water rates shall increase to 120% of the established rate. 

The rate increase shall take effect with the billing cycle(s) following the implementation of Strategy II. 

Potable water standpipe rates shall increase to 130% of the established rate. The rate increase shall take effect upon 

implementation of Strategy II. Standpipe water shall be limited to uses within a twenty-five mile radius of City Hall. 

Standpipe water shall not be used for major construction activity, dust control, irrigation of decorative landscaping 

and/or turf. 

No new elective or required landscaping permits shall be issued. Landscaping not installed and required by the City 

of Flagstaff to meet the Land Development Code will not delay a Certificate of Occupancy to be issued providing its 

installation is delayed as a result of a suspension of new landscaping permits and a surety is provided acceptable to 

the Community Development Division. 

Upon suspension of Strategy II, rates shall return to their respective level with the billing cycle(s) following the date 

of the suspension, or in the case of standpipe rates, upon suspension. 

3.    Strategy III. Water Crises (may implement with Resource Status III). In addition to the requirements of 

Strategy I and Strategy II, the following uses are restricted or prohibited. 

No person shall: 

a.    Use any potable water for outside use. 

b.    Use fire hydrants, unless for public health, safety, and welfare by authorized government agencies 

only. 

c.    Waste water intentionally or unintentionally. Specifically applies to all residential, commercial, 

industrial, and institutional use. 

d.    Use potable water in violation of any other restriction deemed necessary by the City Council for the 

purpose of protecting the welfare of the citizens of Flagstaff. 

No new Special or Commercial provisions shall be allowed unless approved by the Flagstaff City Council or the 

Water Commission. 



Flagstaff  

CHAPTER 7-03 CITY WATER SYSTEM 

REGULATIONS 

Page 14/14 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-05, passed February 2, 2016.  

D.    Surcharges/Appeals: 

1.    A Surcharge of $25.00 shall be assessed to the account of record for a violation of Strategy I. 

2.    A Surcharge of $50.00 shall be assessed to the account of record for a violation of Strategy II.  

3.    A Surcharge of $100.00 shall be assessed to the account of record for a violation of Strategy III. 

4.    Surcharges shall double for every repeat violation. Each succeeding Surcharge under the prevailing 

strategy level may be twice the previous Surcharge assessed for the previous violation. 

5.    A commercial water hauler determined to be violating the standpipe restrictions shall pay a surcharge equal 

to that for the appropriate Strategy Level prior to the receipt of additional water. 

6.    The assessment of the Surcharge may be informally appealed, in writing, within fourteen (14) calendar 

days of the notice of the Surcharge assessment. The written appeal shall be received by the City of Flagstaff 

Utilities Division within said fourteen (14) day time limit or the right to such appeal shall be permanently 

waived. Address all Surcharge-related correspondence to: 

City of Flagstaff Utilities Division 

Water Conservation Program Manager 

211 West Aspen Avenue 

Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

(Ord. No. 1568, Enacted, 07/05/88; Ord. No. 2003-06, Enacted, 04/01/03; Ordinance No. 2004-23, Enacted 

December 7, 2004; Amended, Ord. No. 2010-15, 09/07/10) 

 



 Page 1/7 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-02, passed January 19, 2016.  

2016 AMENDMENTS TO FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE 

TITLE 12 CHAPTER 12-02-002-0003 
  

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGES 

SECTIONS: 

12-02-002-0001    FINDINGS OF FACT 

12-02-002-0002    DEFINITIONS 

12-02-002-0003    SCHEDULE OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGES AND 

FEES 

12-02-002-0004    DISPOSITION OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGES AND 

FEES 

12-02-002-0005    STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGE EXEMPTIONS AND 

CREDITS 

12-02-002-0006    COLLECTION OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGES, 

BILLING, DELINQUENCIES AND PENALTIES 

12-02-002-0007    APPEALS 

12-02-002-0008    FLOOD INSURANCE 

12-02-002-0009    SEVERABILITY 

12-02-002-0010    CONFLICT WITH OTHER ORDINANCES 

12-02-002-0011    COMMENCEMENT OF SERVICE CHARGES 

12-02-002-0001 FINDINGS OF FACT 

The City Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona makes the following findings of fact: 

(a)    The professional engineering and financial analyses conducted on behalf of and submitted to the City properly 

assess and define the stormwater management problems, needs, goals, program priorities, costs of service, funding 

opportunities, and prospective service charge rate methodologies of the City. 

(b)    Given the problems, needs, goals, program priorities, costs of service and funding opportunities identified in 

the professional engineering and financial analyses submitted to the City, it is appropriate to establish a schedule of 

stormwater management service charges, the revenues of which shall be dedicated specifically to the management, 

construction, maintenance, protection, control, regulation, use, and enhancement of stormwater systems and 

programs in the City of Flagstaff in concert with other water resource management programs. 

(c)    Urban development in the City has radically altered the natural hydrology of the area and the hydraulics of 

stormwater systems, with many natural elements having been replaced or augmented by man-made facilities. Urban 

development continues, and the City recognizes that additional growth will result in further alteration of stormwater 

systems throughout the City. Therefore, a stormwater utility service area subject to stormwater service charges 

should encompass the entirety of the City of Flagstaff. 

(d)    The stormwater needs in the City of Flagstaff include, but are not limited to, protecting the public health, 

safety, and welfare of its property owners, citizens, and residents, including the protection and enhancement of the 

City’s water resources. Provision of stormwater management programs, services, systems, and facilities therefore 

renders and/or results in both service and benefit to individual properties, property owners, citizens, and residents of 

the City concurrently in a variety of ways as identified in the professional engineering and financial analyses, and 

thus justifies the billing of Stormwater Management Utility service charges to such properties, property owners, 

citizens, and residents and any other persons that presently are or may be in the future served or benefited by the 

programs, services, systems, and facilities provided by the Utility. 

(e)    The City Council finds, concludes, and determines that a Stormwater Management Utility service charge is the 

most practical and appropriate means of properly delivering stormwater management services and benefits 

throughout the City, and the most equitable means to fund stormwater programs, services, systems, and facilities in 

the City, and that other funding mechanisms as described in the professional engineering and financial analyses 

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt, Line spacing: 
single

Formatted: Highlight



 Page 2/7 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-02, passed January 19, 2016.  

prepared for the City offer supplementary funding opportunities that will enable the City to improve the long-term 

adequacy and equity of funding but do not have sufficient revenue capacity to support the entirety of the projected 

stormwater management program. 

(f)    The City Council finds that credits against stormwater management utility service charges are an appropriate 

means of adjusting fees, rates, rentals, charges, fines, and penalties in certain cases and directs that such crediting 

mechanisms be addressed as part of the detailed cost of service and rate analyses necessary to implement the 

funding of the Stormwater Management Utility. 

(Ord. 2003-02, Add, 03/18/2003) 

12-02-002-0002 DEFINITIONS 

Unless the context specifically indicates otherwise, the meaning of words and terms used in this article shall be as 

set forth below. 

CREDITS.    Credits shall mean a conditional reduction in the amount of a periodic stormwater management utility 

service charge or other fees, rates, rentals, charges, fines, and penalties to an individual property based on the 

provision and continuing presence of an effectively maintained and operational on-site stormwater system or 

facility, conservation or other protective easement, or continuing provision of a program or service or activity that 

reduces the Stormwater Management Utility’s cost of providing stormwater management programs, services, 

systems and facilities. 

DETACHED SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY. For the purpose of calculating the periodic 

stormwater management utility service charge, property containing one (1) structure not attached to another 

dwelling unit and which contains one or more bedrooms, with bathroom and kitchen facilities, designed for 

occupancy by one family. Detached single-family residential property may include detached single-family houses, 

manufactured homes, and mobile homes located on one (1) or more individual lots or parcels of land. A property 

may be classified as a detached single-family residential property for billing purposes despite the presence of 

incidental structures associated with residential uses such as garages, carports, or small storage buildings, or the 

presence of a commercial use within the dwelling unit so long as such use does not result in additional impervious 

areas such as parking spaces, structures, or additions to the building which are used as offices, storage facilities, 

meeting rooms, classrooms, houses of worship, or similar non-residential uses. Detached single-family residential 

property shall not include structures used primarily for non-residential purposes, manufactured homes or mobile 

home parks where the land is owned by others than the owners of the manufactured homes or mobile homes, or 

multiple dwelling unit residential properties. 

EQUIVALENT RATE UNIT. For the purpose of calculating the periodic stormwater management utility service 

charge applicable to any and every property in the City, except as may be altered by an exemption, credit, offset or 

other adjustment to the service charge, an Equivalent Rate Unit (or ERU) of 1,500 square feet of impervious area is 

hereby adopted and shall be applied to the calculation of periodic stormwater service charges. Each whole ERU, or 

increment thereof, shall be periodically charged the same amount unless the City Council shall specifically adopt 

varying charges per ERU to reflect differences in the cost of services and facilities by watershed, level or type of 

services and/or facilities provided, or other considerations deemed valid and appropriate by the City Council. 

IMPERVIOUS AREA. Impervious area shall include, but is not necessarily limited to, any man-made structure or 

surface that is built or laid upon the natural surface of the land which has the effect of increasing, collecting, 

concentrating, re-directing, or otherwise altering stormwater runoff from land in a manner that increases peak 

stormwater runoff rates, the total volume of stormwater discharged from a property, or the pollutant loading 

contained in stormwater runoff, including but not limited to, those which reduce the infiltration of stormwater into 

the soil or reduce the natural evaporation and transpiration of stormwater from the land. Impervious area shall 

include, but is not limited to, rooftops, sidewalks, walkways, patio areas, driveways, parking lots, storage areas, 

compacted graveled roads or parking areas, and other surfaces which are subject to vehicle traffic to such extent that 

the stormwater runoff from the gravel surface increases or is collected, concentrated, re-directed, or otherwise 

altered from that which would prevail in a natural condition absent the presence of the graveled surface. 

SPECIAL STORMWATER SERVICE FEES. Special stormwater service fees shall mean a service fee, other than a 

periodic stormwater management utility service charge, imposed upon a property or person to recover the cost of 



 Page 3/7 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-02, passed January 19, 2016.  

providing special stormwater management services, systems, or facilities unique to individual properties or persons. 

Special stormwater service fees may include, but are not limited to, plan review and inspection fees related to 

alterations to the public stormwater systems or to stormwater systems and facilities located on private property; 

floodplain study review fees; flood hazard information letter preparation; floodplain use permit fees; drainage report 

review fees; grading, drainage, review and field inspections of construction site SWPPP’s and paving plan review 

fees; surcharges applied to the periodic stormwater service charge to reflect special services and/or higher levels of 

service provided to any property or person; system development fees imposed at the time development occurs to 

recover a proportionate share of system capitalization costs; charges to recover the cost of abating, mitigating, or 

correcting a nuisance or non-complying condition, including but not limited to administrative costs associated 

therewith; charges to apportion a proportionate share of the cost of a system or facility serving one or more 

properties when such system or facility is constructed by the City in lieu of requiring the construction of on-site 

detention or other runoff control systems on the individual property(ies); and charges to apportion a proportionate 

share of the cost of a system or facility serving two or more properties when such system or facility is constructed by 

a private developer in lieu of complying with a requirement to construct an on-site detention or other runoff control 

system on each of the individual property(ies), in which case such charges shall be transferred by the City to the 

developer who built the system, or his or her assignees, less a reasonable deduction to recover the Stormwater 

Management Utility’s cost of administering the special stormwater service fees. 

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGE. Stormwater management utility service charge 

shall mean a periodic service charge imposed upon any and every property, lot, or parcel of land in the City of 

Flagstaff having more than 200 square feet of impervious area, for the purpose of funding costs related to 

stormwater management programs, services, systems, and facilities. 

CONSTRUCTION SITE STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP). A SWPPP is a plan that 

shall be prepared and implemented utilizing Best Management Practices, in accordance with the City’s NPDES 

Phase II Stormwater General Permit requirements, during active construction, on sites that disturb one acre of land 

or more, which are intended to minimize pollutant runoff from a construction site. 

(Ord. 2003-02, Add, 03/18/2003); (Ord. 2006-02, Amended 06/06/2006) 

12-02-002-0003 SCHEDULE OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGES AND 

FEES 

There is hereby adopted the following schedule of stormwater management utility service charges and fees for the 

purpose of funding all or any portion of the City’s Stormwater Management Utility programs.  

(a)    STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGE. Unless amended, adjusted, or repealed by 

a City Council, a periodic stormwater management utility service charge is hereby imposed on any and every 

property, lot, or parcel of land in the City of Flagstaff, except as may be altered by an exemption, credit, offset or 

other adjustment to the service charge, in the following manner: 

1)    Detached single-family residential property, lots, or parcels of land shall be charged based on the following 

tiered system:  

Tier 
Impervious Area Range in 

Square Feet 
Charge per Month 

Tier 1 200 – 1,500 $0.92 

Tier 2 1,501-3,000 $1.84 

Tier 3 3,001-4,500 $2.76 

Tier 4 4,501-6,000 $3.68 

Tier 5 > 6,000 $4.60 

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.28", Space
After:  10 pt, Tab stops:  0.5", Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.28", Space
After:  10 pt, Tab stops:  0.5", Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.28", Space
After:  10 pt, Tab stops:  0.5", Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.28", Space
After:  10 pt, Tab stops:  0.5", Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.28", Space
After:  10 pt, Tab stops:  0.5", Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.28", Space
After:  10 pt, Tab stops:  0.5", Left



 Page 4/7 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-02, passed January 19, 2016.  

 

Effective June July 1, 20072016, the Stormwater Management Utility Service Charge shall be increased 

incrementally according to the following table: each year through June January 1, 20102017, for detached single-

family. 

Effective Date 
Increase 

Amount 
Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 Tier 4 Tier 5 

June July 1, 20161, 

2007 

$0.1008 $1.02$1.38 $2.04$2.76 $3.06$4.14 $4.08$5.52 $5.10$6.90 

June January 1, 20171, 
2008 

$0.10$0.09 $1.12$1.47 $2.24$2.94 $3.36$4.41 $4.48$5.88 $5.60$7.35 

June January 1, 20181, 

2009 

$0.10$0.09 $1.22$1.56 $2.44$3.12 $3.6$4.686 $4.88$6.24 $6.10$7.80 

June January 1, 20191, 

2010 

$0.08$0.10 $1.30$1.66 $2.60$3.32 $3.90$4.98 $5.20$6.64 $6.50$8.30 

January 1, 2020 $0.10 $1.76 $3.52 $5.28 $7.04 $8.80 

 
(Amended 04/17/2007; Ord. No. 2007-26). 

2)    All other properties, lots, or parcels of land not classified as detached single-family residential property, 

unless exempted pursuant to Section 12-02-002-0005, shall be charged $0.92$1.38 per month for each 

Equivalent Rate Unit, or increment thereof, located on the property, lot, or parcel of land. 

Effective June July 1, 20072016, all other properties, lots, or parcels of land not classified as detached single-family 

residential property shall be charged according to the following table for each Equivalent Rate Unit, or increment 

thereof, located on the property, lot, or parcel of land: 

Effective Date Incremental Increase Total Rate per ERU 

June 1, 2007July 1, 2016 $0.10$0.08 $1.02$1.38 

June 1, 2008January 1, 2017 $0.10$0.09 $1.12$1.47 

June 1, 2009January 1, 2018 $0.10$0.09 $1.22$1.56 

June 1, 2010January 1, 2019 $0.08$0.10 $1.30$1.66 

January 1, 2020 $0.10 $1.76 

 
(b)    SPECIAL STORMWATER SERVICE FEES. Unless amended, adjusted, or repealed by a City Council, the 

following special stormwater service fees shall be applied for the following services in the amount(s) defined: 

1) Grading, Drainage, Paving Plan and SWPPP review $225 per sheet for a first and second review 

$225 per sheet for all reviews thereafter 

2) Grading and Drainage Field Inspection-sites less than 5 
acres 

$60 per inspection 

3) Grading and Drainage Field Inspection- sites larger than 5 

acres 

$120 per inspection 

4) SWPPP Inspection-sites less than 5 acres $60 per inspection 

5) SWPPP Inspection-sites larger than 5 acres $120 per inspection 

6) Annual Inspection of Structural Control $60 per inspection 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.28", Space After: 
10 pt, Tab stops:  0.5", Left



 Page 5/7 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-02, passed January 19, 2016.  

7) Drainage Report Review $200 for first review 

$100 for each review thereafter 

8) Flood Hazard Information Letter $30 per letter 

9) Floodplain Use Permit $45 per permit 

10) Floodplain Study for FEMA Map Revision $2500 per Technical Data Notebook 

 
12-02-002-0004 DISPOSITION OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGES 

AND FEES 

Stormwater management utility service charge and fee revenues shall be assigned and dedicated solely to the 

Stormwater Management Utility enterprise fund in the City budget and accounting system, which shall be and 

remain separate from other funds, and shall be used only to fund stormwater management services and facilities. 

The services charges and fees paid to and collected by virtue of this Ordinance shall not be used for general or other 

governmental or proprietary purposes of the City, except to pay for costs incurred by the City in rendering services 

to the Stormwater Management Utility. Other than as described above, the charges and fees shall be used solely to 

pay for costs of operation, repair, maintenance, improvements, renewal, replacement, reconstruction, design, right-

of-way and easement acquisition, and construction of public stormwater facilities and costs incidental thereto. (Ord. 

2003-02, Add, 03/18/2003) 

12-02-002-0005 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGE EXEMPTIONS AND 

CREDITS 

A.    No exception, credit, offset, or other reduction in stormwater service charges shall be granted based on age, 

race, tax status, economic status, or religion of the customer, or other condition unrelated to the stormwater utility’s 

cost of providing stormwater services and facilities. 

B.    The stormwater management utility service charge shall not be collected in connection with any public street, 

public road, public highway or public alley, or any railroad right-of-way used exclusively for trackage and related 

safety appurtenances. 

C.    Credits against stormwater management utility service charges are an appropriate means of adjusting fees, rates, 

rentals, charges, fines, and penalties in certain cases and City Council directs that such crediting mechanisms be 

addressed as part of the detailed cost of service and rate analyses necessary to implement the funding of the 

Stormwater Management Utility. A credit manual shall be issued that will set forth the appropriate process and 

documentation to obtain such credits. Credit shall be made available to property owners for the following on-site 

stormwater controls or processes: 

1.    Engineered retention or other facilities for stormwater quality controls. 

2.    Engineered detention facilities for peak flow reduction and/or velocity reduction. 

3.    Dedication of conservation easements that prevent development of property. 

4.    Establishment and implementation of structured education programs for primary, secondary and college-

level students on stormwater management and water quality issues. 

D.    Any credit allowed against the stormwater management utility service charge is conditioned on continuing 

compliance with the City’s design and performance standards as stated in the credit manual and/or upon continuing 

provision of the systems, facilities, services, and activities provided, operated, and maintained by the property owner 

or owners upon which the credit is based. A credit may be revoked by the City at any time for noncompliance. 

E.    The City of Flagstaff has adopted a Credit Manual by Ordinance No. 2004-22, as amended by adoption of 

Ordinance No. 2006-17 and Ordinance No. 2015-07. (Ord. 2003-02, Added, 03/18/2003; Ord. 2006-02, Amended, 

06/06/2006; Ord. 2006-17, 07/18/2006; Ord. 2015-07, Amended, 06/02/2015) 



 Page 6/7 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-02, passed January 19, 2016.  

12-02-002-0006 COLLECTION OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGES, 

BILLING, DELINQUENCIES AND PENALTIES 

(a)    The Financial Services Director is hereby authorized to collect all stormwater management utility service 

charges and fees prescribed by this Ordinance. 

(b)    Stormwater management utility services charges shall be added to and collected with the bills as rendered for 

water by the Financial Services Director and all of the rules and regulations promulgated by Financial Services shall 

apply to, and be effective in, the collection of such stormwater service charges. For those properties not utilizing the 

City’s water utility, a separate bill shall be collected from the property owner of record. 

(c)    All stormwater management utility service charges shall be due and payable on the due date specified on the 

bill, and if not paid within thirty (30) days thereafter will be considered delinquent. If such charges are not paid 

within ten (10) days after such delinquent date, water service shall be discontinued. Before discontinuing water 

service, the City shall give written notice to the property owner, of the discontinuance and an opportunity to appear 

before the Financial Services Director or his/her designee on any disputed matter relative to the delinquent account. 

(d)    The stoppage of water service hereinbefore authorized for nonpayment of stormwater management utility 

service charges shall be in addition to the right of the City to proceed for the collection of such unpaid charges in a 

manner provided by law for the collection of a municipal claim. 

(Ord. 2003-02, Add, 03/18/2003) 

12-02-002-0007 APPEALS 

Any property owner or customer who believes the provisions of this Ordinance have been applied in error may 

appeal in the following manner: 

(a)    An appeal must be filed in writing with the City Stormwater Services Manager. In the case of utility service 

charge appeals, the appeal shall include a survey prepared by a registered land surveyor or professional civil 

engineer containing information on the total property area, the impervious surface area, and any other features or 

conditions which influence the hydrologic response of the property to rainfall events. 

(b)    Using the information provided by the appellant, the Stormwater Services Manager shall conduct a technical 

review of the conditions on the subject property and respond to the appeal in writing within thirty (30) days.  

(c)    In response to the appeal, the Stormwater Services Manager may adjust the stormwater service charge 

applicable to a property in conformance with the purpose and intent of this ordinance. 

(d)    A decision of the Stormwater Services Manager, which is adverse to the appellant, may be further appealed to 

the City Manager within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice of the adverse decision. Notice of the appeal shall be 

served to the City Manager by the appellant, stating the grounds for the appeal. The City Manager shall issue a 

written decision on the appeal within thirty (30) days. All decisions by the City Manager shall be final. 

(e)    The appeal process contained in the section shall be a condition precedent to an aggrieved customer seeking 

judicial relief. Any decision of the City Manager may be reviewed upon application to the Superior Court of 

Coconino County, filed within thirty (30) days of the date of service of the decision. 

(Ord. 2003-02, Add, 03/18/2003) 

12-02-002-0008 FLOOD INSURANCE 

Floods caused by stormwater runoff may occasionally occur which exceed the capacity of stormwater facilities 

constructed and maintained by the Stormwater Management Utility. This Ordinance does not imply that property 

liable for service charges established in this Ordinance will always be free from stormwater flooding or flood 

damage. This Ordinance does not purport to reduce the need or the necessity for a property or building owner to 

obtain flood insurance. 

(Ord. 2003-02, Add, 03/18/2003) 



 Page 7/7 

The Flagstaff City Charter and City Code are current through Ordinance 2016-02, passed January 19, 2016.  

12-02-002-0009 SEVERABILITY 

If any provision of this Ordinance shall be deemed or found to conflict with the Arizona Constitution, or to be pre-

empted by state statute, then such provision of this Ordinance shall be deemed ineffective, but the remaining parts of 

this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

(Ord. 2003-02, Add, 03/18/2003) 

12-02-002-0010 CONFLICT WITH OTHER ORDINANCES 

If any provision of this Ordinance shall conflict with the provisions of a prior ordinance of the City of Flagstaff, then 

the conflicting provision of the prior ordinance shall be deemed repealed and no longer in effect, and the provisions 

of this Ordinance shall govern. 

(Ord. 2003-02, Add, 03/18/2003) 

12-02-002-0011 COMMENCEMENT OF SERVICE CHARGES 

That upon the effective date of this Ordinance, the Stormwater Management Utility shall, in addition to its purposes 

and responsibilities provided herein, be authorized to: 

(a)    commence the collection of service charges authorized in Section 12-02-002-0003(a) in coordination with the 

billing process of the City’s utility billing system beginning on July 1, 2003, and commence the collection of service 

charges as revised pursuant to Section 12-02-002-0003 (a) on the effective date of this Ordinance, and commence 

the collection of service charges pursuant to Section 12-02-002-0003 (a) effective June 1, 2007; 

(b)    commence the collection of the special service fees authorized in Section 12-02-002-0003(b) upon the 

effective date of this Ordinance; 

(c)    process appeals to the service charge and determine and apply credits, offsets, and other adjustment to the 

service charge to ensure conformance with the intent of this Ordinance; and 

(d)    initiate collection processes as may be available to it to collect the service charges and any applicable 

delinquency and/or penalty for failure to pay such charges in a timely manner. 

(Ord. 2003-02, Add, 03/18/2003); (Ord. No. 2006-02, Amended 06/06/2006) 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA AMENDING TITLE 7, HEALTH AND SANITATION, 
AND TITLE 12, FLOODPLAIN, OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY CODE BY 
AMENDING SECTIONS 7-02-001-0039, SEWER USE CHARGES, CAPACITY 
CHARGES; 7-03-001-0010, WATER RATES; AND 7-03-001-0011, WATER 
MAIN CAPACITY CHARGES; 7-03-001-0014, WATER CONSERVATION; AND 
SECTION 12-02-002-0003, SCHEDULE OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 
UTILITY SERVICE CHARGES AND FEES, THEREOF 

 
 
RECITALS: 
 
WHEREAS, ARS §§9-511, 9-511.01 et. seq. provides authority for municipalities to adjust water 
and wastewater utility rates, and water and wastewater capacity charges and fees, and 
 
WHEREAS, water and wastewater capacity charges and fees are established for the purpose of 
charging the cost of additional system capacity to new customers; and 
 
WHEREAS, utility service charges and fees are established to charge the user of a specific 
service the cost of delivering the specific service; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff (“City”) has found that it is necessary to update, adjust and 
increase water and wastewater service fees and charges in order to provide for the present cost 
of maintaining service levels and system capacity; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has found it necessary to update, adjust and increase stormwater 
management utility service charges and fees as authorized under the Flagstaff City Code, 
Division 12-02-01 et. seq., and  
 
WHEREAS, the City wishes to change language in the City Code, Title 7, Chapters 7-01, 7-02, 
and 7-03, Health and Sanitation, to Update System Capacity Fees, User Fees, Service Fees  in 
order to revise and update the City Code, and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has finds that the updates, adjustments and increases to: the water and 
wastewater utility rates; water and wastewater capacity charges and fees; stormwater 
management utility service charges and fees, are all just and reasonable. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Flagstaff City Council that: 
 
SECTION 1. Title 7, Health and Sanitation, of the Flagstaff City Code is hereby amended as 
follows: 
 
7-02-001-0039 SEWER USE CHARGES, CAPACITY CHARGES: 
 
The sewer user charges to be charged by the Finance Section to all users and to all others that 
have reasonable access to sewer mains is presented in the following schedule: 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 2 

The City Council may adjust these rate schedules as they deem necessary. 

A.    Sewer User Charges: 

MONTHLY RATE PER 1,000 GALLONS OF WATER CONSUMPTION 

The following monthly service rate shall be charged for customers receiving City of Flagstaff 
sewer service inside the limits of the City of Flagstaff: Sewer chargers are based water 
consumption. Flat rate charge (dollars/1,000 gallons) for residential based on winter quarter 
average water use. Other customer classes based on actual water use (dollars/1,000 gallons). 
 
Sewer only service customers will be charged a monthly service fee and sewer usage charge 
based on estimated water consumption as approved by the Utilities Director. If the Director 
determines that adequate water meter information is not available for billing a residential 
customer as described above, then the customer will be charged the average monthly billing for 
that user class. 

  Monthly Rate 
Customer Classes 7/1/116 1/1/127 1/1/138 1/1/149 1/1/1520 
Residential:   
Single-family $4.07 

$3.08 
$4.36 
3.59 

$4.67 
$3.69 

$5.00 
$3.80 

$5.35 
$3.80 

Multiple and mobile home (per 
unit) 

$4.07 
$3.08 

$4.36 
3.59 

$4.67 
$3.69 

$5.00 
$3.80 

$5.35 
$3.80 

Non-Residential:   
Car Washes $4.09 

$3.06 
$4.38 
$3.56 

$4.69 
$3.70 

$5.02 
$3.82 

$5.38 
$3.82 

Laundromats $4.20 
$3.14 

$4.50 
$3.65 

$4.82 
$3.80 

$5.16 
$3.91 

$5.53 
$3.92 

Commercial $4.31 
$3.22 

$4.62 
$3.75 

$4.95 
$3.90 

$5.30 
$4.01 

$5.68 
$4.02 

Hotels, motels $5.76 
$4.32 

$6.17 
$5.03 

$6.61 
$5.21 

$7.08 
$5.37 

$7.58 
$5.38 

Restaurants $6.92 
$5.20 

$7.41 
$6.05 

$7.93 
$6.27 

$8.49 
$6.45 

$9.09 
$6.46 

Industrial Laundries $6.36 
$4.77 

$6.81 
$5.55 

$7.29 
$5.76 

$7.81 
$5.93 

$8.36 
$5.94 

Manufacturing Plants $4.63 
$3.46 

$4.96 
$4.02 

$5.31 
$4.18 

$5.69 
$4.31 

$6.09 
$4.32 

Pet Food Manufacturers $10.15 
$7.64 

$10.87 
$8.89 

$11.64 
$9.19 

$12.46 
$9.47 

$13.34 
$9.48 

Soft Drink Bottlers $8.04 
$6.05 

$8.61 
$7.04 

$9.22 
$7.29 

$9.87 
$7.50 

$10.57 
$7.51 

Ice Cream Cone Manufacturers $12.56 
$9.46 

$13.44 
$11.02 

$14.39 
$11.38 

$15.40 
$11.72 

$16.48 
$11.73 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 3 

  Monthly Rate 
Customer Classes 7/1/116 1/1/127 1/1/138 1/1/149 1/1/1520 
Northern Arizona University $3.73 

$2.79 
$4.00 
$3.24 

$4.28 
$3.37 

$4.58 
$3.48 

$4.91 
$3.48 

Waste haulers (charge per 1,000 
gallons) 

80.00         

Restaurant grease (charge per 
100 gallons) 

11.00         

Other treatment plant sludge 
(charge per 100 gallons) 

8.00         

Mud sump waste (charge per 100 
gallons) 

25.00         

Waste material delivered to the 
treatment plant at times other 
than 8:00 AM to 4:00 PM 
weekends or holidays shall be 
assessed an after hours fee of: 

35.00         

Sewer surcharges:   
Biochemical Oxygen Demand - 
per pound concentrations over 
300 milligrams per liter 

$.2703         

Suspended solids - per pound for 
concentrations over 350 
milligrams per liter 

$.1343         

 

If a customer’s discharge exceeds the BOD and TSS limit already included in the monthly rate 
calculation for that customer class listed above, then sewer surcharges may be added as a 
condition to the customer user permit, compliance agreement or administrative order. 
 
BOD and TSS included in monthly rates for specific customer classes are as follows: 
 

Customer Class BOD mg/l TSS mg/l 
Car Washes 20 150 
Laundromats 150 110 
Commercial 200 175 
Manufacturing 200 175 
Pet Food Manufacturers 1800 1100 
Soft Drink Bottlers 1800 400 
Ice Cream Cone Manufacturers 9700 100 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 4 

All customers served directly by the City and located outside the City limits shall pay at a rate of 
one hundred ten percent (110%) times the rate for the same classification of service inside the 
City. 
 
In the case of one meter serving a user that has different classifications of business, the Utilities 
Director shall be authorized to adjust the rate per one thousand (1,000) gallons based upon the 
contribution of each classification. 
 
The user shall be determined according to customer class (see rate schedule above). (Ord. 
1849, 12/06/94) 
 
B.     Capacity Charges 
 

1.     A capacity charge, as prescribed below, shall be assessed upon: 
 

a.     initial connection to the municipal sewer system, or 
b.     any subsequent expansion or modification of the user’s building or facility 

which results in an increased contribution to the sewer system from: 
 

(i)     for single or multi-family residential users, an increase in the 
number of residential units, or 

(ii)     for commercial or industrial users, an increase in the number of 
fixture units, or 

(iii)     for industrial users, any change in operations resulting in a 20% or 
greater increase in billable volume as measured on an annual 
basis, or 

(iv)    a change of use of the property whereby an increased volume of 
discharge to the sewer system occurs. (Ord. 1809, 06/15/93) 

c.     Size of water meter installed on the property. 
d.     Each additional water meter added will require additional sewer capacity 

fees unless specifically designated as a landscape meter. 
 

2.     The capacity charges for the various types of users are as follows: 
 

a.     Customer (capacity) Charge, dollars 
b.     Residential 
c.     Single family residential and townhomes (per unit): 
 

EFFECTIVE 7-1-16 
(effective 1-1-07) 

$3,723 
$2,410 

(EFFECTIVE 7-1-12 $3,126 
 

cd.     Multiple residential, condos & mobile home (per unit): 

EFFECTIVE 7-1-16 
(effective 1-1-06 

$3,723 
$2,300 

(EFFECTIVE 1-1-12 $3,126 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 5 

When a change of use occurs that increases the volume of discharge to the 
sewer system, regardless of whether a change in ownership has taken place, the 
capacity charge shall be based on the capacity charge for the new use less the 
existing capacity charge rate for the previous use. No refund shall be made in the 
case of reduced volume of discharge from a change of use. (Ord. 1809, 
06/15/93) 

 
Non-residential: 

 

Meter size (effective  
1-1-07) 

EFFECTIVE 
7/1/12 

EFFECTIVE 
7/1/16 

5/8"” or 3/4¾"” $2,410.00 $3,126.00 $3,723 
1"” $4,300.00 $5,210.00 $6,218 
1-1/2"” $8,600.00 $10,419.00 $12,399 
2"” $8.80 $16,671.00 $19,845 
3"”   $31,257.00 $37,233 
4"”   $52,095.00 $62,068 
6"”   $104,191.00 $124,099 
8"”   $166,705.00 $198,566 
10"”   $239,639.00 $285,468 

 
  *gallon per day of estimated flow 
 

Where the capacity charge is based on volume, said charge will initially be 
calculated based on an estimate of flowage to be submitted in writing by the 
customer and agreed upon by the City. The capacity charge will be adjusted 
based upon the volume of the highest consecutive 12 month period for the 36 
months immediately following commencement of service for assessment of an 
additional capacity charge. 
 
The Division shall review all industrial user accounts on an annual basis and 
assess an additional capacity charge when the annual average billable volume 
increased by 20% or more. The charge is calculated at the current volume less 
previously assessed capacity charge recalculated at then current rates. 
 
Wastewater capacity associated with similar user classes may be transferred 
from one location to another with the approval of the Division. The location from 
which the wastewater capacity was transferred shall be without wastewater 
capacity until a subsequent purchaser of said location establishes a new capacity 
and fees for the new use. The transferor of the wastewater capacity is required to 
notify any subsequent purchaser of the property, which no longer has wastewater 
capacity, that such capacity does not exist. The City shall record an agreement 
between the transferor and the City with the County Recorder against the 
property without wastewater capacity rights. The agreement shall reference the 
legal description of the property without wastewater capacity and clearly indicate 
that wastewater capacity rights do not exist. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 6 

 
Exemption and Payment of Capacity Charges. Structures with a minimum of 
stem wall, and first floor existing on December 1, 1979, shall be exempt from the 
capacity charges. As of that date, the capacity charge is immediately due and 
payable upon, receipt of an application for connection to the sewerage system. 
 
If connection is made to the sewerage system without appropriate permit, the 
capacity charge is immediately due and payable upon the earliest date that such 
permit was required. No connection to the sewerage system shall be made 
without the proper permit and payment of the capacity charge except as provided 
below for installment payments. (Ord. 1796, 03/16/93) 
 

 
7-03-001-0010 WATER RATES 
 
There shall be charged the following rates for all water furnished consumers and measured by 
meter on any service connection with City water mains for and during each monthly billing 
period. 
 
The base monthly service charge applies whether the water meter is active or inactive. The 
monthly service charge is based on the fixed cost of operation and maintaining the water 
system so that the system is available to provide water to the parcel when water service is 
activated. Parcels with shutoff water meters will continue to pay base monthly service fee since 
water service is available and may be activated and used by the property owner at any time.: 
 
A.   Inside City Limits: The following monthly charges shall be effective with bills rendered on 

and after January 1, 1991.  
Applicable sales taxes will be in addition to these charges. (Ord. 1681, 12/04/90) 
 
Charge per one thousand (1,000) gallons of measured or estimated water use per 
month. 
 

 WATER RATE SCHEDULE  

Monthly Base Service Charge: 
Meter Size 7/1/116 1/1/127 1/1/138 1/1/149 1/1/1520 

3/ 4"” $14.01 
$10.02 

$14.63 
$11.38 

$15.27  
$12.18 

$15.94 
$13.03 

$16.64 
$13.42 

1"” $16.50  
$11.80 

$17.22  
$13.40 

$17.98  
$14.34 

$18.77 
$15.34 

$19.60 
$15.80 

1 1/2½"” $22.71  
$16.25 

$23.71  
$18.45 

$24.75  
$19.74 

$25.84 
$21.12 

$26.98 
$21.75 

2"” $30.17  
$21.58 

$31.50  
$24.50 

$32.89  
$26.22 

$34.33 
$28.06 

$35.84 
$28.90 

3"” $47.58  
$34.03 

$49.67  
$38.64 

$51.85  
$41.34 

$54.14 
$44.24 

$56.52 
$45.57 

4"” $72.43  
$51.82 

$75.62  
$58.83 

$78.95  
$62.95 

$82.42 
$67.36 

$86.05 
$69.38 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 7 

6"” $134.58  
$96.28 

$140.50  
$109.31 

$146.69  
$116.96 

$153.14 
$125.15 

$159.88 
$128.91 

8"” $209.15 
$149.64 

$218.36  
$169.89 

$227.97 
$181.78 

$238.00 
$194.51 

$248.47 
$200.34 

10"” $296.16 
$211.89 

$309.19  
$240.56 

$322.80 
$257.40 

$337.00 
$275.42 

$351.83 
$283.68 

 
 
 VOLUME CHARGE  

Monthly Water Use Volume Charge 
Gallons $/1,000  gal         
Single Family -– Block Rate           
Single Family 7-1-116 1-1-127 1-1-138 1-1-149 1-1-1520 
Tier 1 (0-3,7500) $2.89  

2.07 
$3.02  

2.34 
$3.15  

2.51 
$3.29  

2.68 
$3.44  

2.77 
Tier 2 (3,7501-6,4200) $3.75  

2.69 
$3.91  

3.05 
$4.09  

3.26 
$4.26  

3.49 
$4.45  

3.59 
Tier 3 (6,4201-11,7500) $5.77  

4.13 
$6.03  

4.69 
$6.29  

5.02 
$6.57  

5.37 
$6.86  

5.53 
Tier 4 (Over 11,7500) $11.55 

 8.26 
$12.05  

9.38 
$12.59 
 10.04 

$13.14 
10.74 

$13.72  
11.06 

Multi-family, Apts, Mobile home $3.72 
2.66 

$3.88 
3.02 

$4.05 
3.23 

$4.23 
3.45 

$4.42 
3.56 

Commercial, Schools $3.95 
2.83 

$4.12 
3.21 

$4.30 
3.43 

$4.49 
3.67 

$4.69 
3.78 

Northern Arizona University $3.95 
2.73 

$4.12 
2.95 

$4.30 
3.15 

$4.49 
3.37 

$4.69 
3.47 

Manufacturing $3.89 
2.78 

$4.07 
3.16 

$4.24 
3.38 

$4.43 
3.62 

$4.63 
3.73 

Lawn Meters $3.95 
2.83 

$4.12 
3.21 

$4.30 
3.43 

$4.49 
3.67 

$4.69 
3.78 

Hydrant meter $6.03 
4.88 

$6.30 
5.07 

$6.58 
5.34 

$6.87 
5.63 

$7.17 
5.78 

Standpipe – Water haulers $6.03 
.88 

$6.30 
5.07 

$6.58 
5.34 

$6.87 
5.63 

$7.17 
5.78 

Energy Component:           
Charge per one thousand (1,000) 
gallons, applied to all customer 
classes (REFER TO SECTION D) 

.75          

 
Energy component cost to WILL be calculated annually based on a one-year rolling 
average of water related energy costs AS PER SECTION D BELOW. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 8 

PRIVATE FIRE PROTECTION 
Inches Monthly Charge 

Connection Size 1/1/11 1/1/12 1/1/13 1/1/14 1/1/15 
 
4"”  

 
9.41 

 
10.68 

 
11.43 

 
12.23 

 
12.59 

 
6"”  

 
27.33 

 
31.02 

 
33.19 

 
35.52 

 
36.58 

 
8"”  

 
58.23 

 
66.11 

 
70.74 

 
75.69 

 
77.96 

Rates for water sold or furnished to customers for use outside the City limits shall be one 
hundred ten percent (110%) the rates for water sold or furnished for use inside the City. (Ord. 
1825, 12/07/93) 

 
(Ord. No. 1681, Amended, 12/04/90; Ord. No. 1727, Amended, 12/03/91; Ord. No. 1796, Amended, 
03/16/93; Ord. No. 1809, Amended, 06/15/93; Ord. No. 1825, Amended, 12/07/93; Ord. No. 1809, 
Amended, 06/15/93; Ord. No. 1825, Amended, 12/07/93; Ord. No. 1874, Amended, 06/20/95; Ord. No. 
1944, Amended, 05/20/97; Ord. No. 1972, Amended, 04/21/98); (Ord. 2002-07, Amended, 07/16/2002; 
Ord. 2002-05, Amended, 05/21/2002; Ord. 2000-03, Amended, 03/07/2000; Ord. 1999, Amended, 
07/06/1999); (Ord. No. 2006-27, Amended 11/05/2006); Amended Ord. No. 2010-23 (09/07/2010) 
 
 
7-03-001-0011 WATER MAIN CAPACITY CHARGES 
 
The water main capacity charges for all new service connections to be charged by the Finance 
Section is presented in the following schedule: 
 
A.     A capacity charge, as prescribed below, shall be assessed upon: 

 
 1.     initial connection to the municipal water system, or; 
 2.     any increase in meter size 

 
B.     The capacity charges for the various types of users are as follows: 
 
 SCHEDULE FOR CAPACITY CHARGES  
 

Capacity Charge         
  Effective  

7/1/0916 
Effective 
7/1/12 

Effective 
1/1/14 

Effective 
1/1/15 Meter Size 

5/8 x 3/4¾ $5,728  
2,160 

5,013 5,497 5,891 

1" $9,566  
3,600 

8,371 9,180 9,819 

1-1/2" $19,074  
7,200 

16,692 18,304 19,638 

2" $30,530  
11,520 

26,717 29,298 31,420 

3" $57,279  
21,600 

50,126 54,968 58,913 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 9 

4" $95,484  
36,000 

83,560 91,632 98,188 

6" $190,910 
CALCULATE 

167,070 183,208 196,376 

8" $305,468 
CALCULATE 

267,322 293,144 314,201 

10" $439,157 
CALCULATE 

384,316 421,440 451,664 

 
Meters will be sized using the American Water Works Association Manual, AWWA No. 
M22. Sizing will be submitted to the City Utilities Department by the developer or owner 
for City review. 
 
All capacity charges for connections larger than four inches (4") shall be based on 
proration of mid range flow gallons per minute (gpm) of a 5/8 x 3/4" inch meter divided 
into the mid range flow of the meter to be evaluated. The resulting number shall be used 
as a multiplier times the capacity fee for a 5/8 x 3/4 inch meter to determine the large 
meter capacity fee. Meters will be sized using American Water Works Association 
Manual, AWWA No. M22. Sizing will be submitted to the City by the developer or owner 
for City review. 
 
Where the capacity charge is based on volume, said charge will initially be calculated 
based on an estimate of flowage agreed upon by the City and the customer and will be 
adjusted based upon the volume of the highest consecutive 12 month period for the 36 
months immediately following commencement of service or assessment of an additional 
capacity charge. 
 
When the capacity charge results from an increase in meter size the charge shall be 
adjusted to the difference between the charge for the new size meter and the charge for 
the previous size meter. 
 

C.     The Division shall review all customer accounts with meters larger than 4" on an annual 
basis and assess as additional capacity charge when the annual average demand 
increases by 20% or more. The additional capacity charge will be calculated using the 
recommended meter size by AWWA Manual No. 22 or equating to equivalent 5/8 x 3/4 
inch meters but substituting for demand the difference between actual current demand, 
as determined by the previous 12 month average, and the demand used to calculate the 
previous capacity charge assessed upon the customer. (Ord. 1681, 12/04/90) 
 
(Ord. No. 1681, Amended, 12/04/90; Ord. No. 1944, Amended, 05/20/97); (Ord. 2002-05, 
Amended, 05/21/2002); (Ord. No. 2006-27, Amended, 11/05/2006); (Amended, Ord. No. 2010-
23; 09/07/2010) 

 
  



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 10 

7-03-001-0014 WATER CONSERVATION 
 
A.     Definitions: 
 
 --- 
 --- 

Single Family Residential, and all lawn meter rates shall increase to 150% of the 
established rate for any water consumption between 6,4201 and 11,7500 gallons. Rates 
shall increase to 200% of the established rate for any water consumption greater than 
11,7501 gallons per billing cycle. Rate increases shall take effect with the billing cycle(s) 
following the implementation of Strategy II. 
--- 

 
 (Ord. No. 1568, Enacted, 07/05/88; Ord. No. 2003-06, Enacted, 04/01/03; Ordinance No. 2004-23, 
Enacted December 7, 2004; Amended, Ord. No. 2010-15, 09/07/10) 
 
 
SECTION 2. Title 12, Floodplains, of the Flagstaff City Code is hereby amended as follows: 
 
12-02-002-003 SCHEDULE OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE 

CHARGES AND FEES 
 
There is hereby adopted the following schedule of stormwater management utility service charges and fees for 
the purpose of funding all or any portion of the City’s Stormwater Management Utility Service programs. 
 
(a)     STORMWATER MANAGEMENT UTILITY SERVICE CHARGE. Unless amended, adjusted, or 

repealed by a City Council, a periodic stormwater management utility service charge is hereby 
imposed on any and every property, lot, or parcel of land in the City of Flagstaff, except as may be 
altered by an exemption, credit, offset or other adjustment to the service charge, in the following 
manner: 

1)     Detached single-family residential property, lots, or parcels of land shall be charged based on 
the following tiered system: 

Tier Impervious Area Range 
in Square Feet Charge per Month 

Tier 1 200 – 1,500 $0.92 

Tier 2 1,501-3,000 $1.84 

Tier 3 3,001-4,500 $2.76 

Tier 4 4,501-6,000 $3.68 

   
Tier 5 > 6,000 $4.60 

 
  
 Effective June 1, 2007JULY 1, 2016, the Stormwater Management Utility Service 

Charge shall be increased incrementally ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING 
TABLE: each year through June 1, 2010, for detached single-family. 

 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 11 

Effective Date Increase 
Amount Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 Tier 4 Tier 5 

June 1, 2007 
July 1, 2016 

$0.10 
$0.08 

$1.02 
$1.38 

$2.04 
$2.76 

$3.06 
$4.14 

$4.08 
$5.52 

$5.10 
$6.90 

June 1, 2008 
January 1, 2017 

$0.10 
$0.09 

$1.12 
$1.47 

$2.24 
$2.94 

$3.36 
$4.41 

$4.48 
$5.88 

$5.60 
$7.35 

June 1, 2009 
January 1, 2018 

$0.10 
$0.09 

$1.22 
$1.56 

$2.44 
$3.12 

$3.66 
$4.68 

$4.88 
$6.24 

$6.10 
$7.80 

June 1, 2010 
January 1, 2019 

$0.08 
$0.10 

$1.30 
$1.66 

$2.60 
$3.32 

$3.90 
$4.98 

$5.20 
$6.64 

$6.50 
$8.30 

January 1, 2020 $0.10 $1.76 $3.52 $5.28 $7.04 $8.80 
 

  (Amended 04/17/2007; Ord. No. 2007-26) 

2)     All other properties, lots, or parcels of land not classified as detached single-
family residential property, unless exempted pursuant to Section 12-02-002-
0005, shall be charged $0.92 $1.38 per month for each Equivalent Rate Unit, or 
increment thereof, located on the property, lot, or parcel of land. 

 
 Effective June 1, 2007 JULY 1, 2016, all other properties, lots, or parcels of land 

not classified as detached single-family residential property shall be charged 
according to the following table for each Equivalent Rate Unit, or increment 
thereof, located on the property, lot, or parcel of land: 

 
Effective Date Incremental Increase Total Rate per ERU 

 
June 1, 2007 
JULY1, 2016  

 
$0.10 
$0.08  

 
$1.02 
$1.38  

June 1, 2008 
JANUARY 1, 2017  

$0.10 
$0.09  

$1.12 
$1.47  

June 1, 2009 
JANUARY 1, 2018  

$0.10 
$0.09  

$1.22 
$1.56  

June 1, 2010 
JANUARY 1, 2019  

$0.08 
$0.10  

$1.30 
$1.66  

JANUARY 1, 2020  $0.10  $1.76  
 
 
SECTION 3. Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances. 
 
All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of the code adopted herein 
are hereby repealed. 
 
 
 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff12/Flagstaff1202002.html#12.02.002.0005
http://www.codepublishing.com/AZ/Flagstaff/html/Flagstaff12/Flagstaff1202002.html#12.02.002.0005


ORDINANCE NO. 2016-23  PAGE 12 

SECTION 4.  Severability 
 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance or any part of 
the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by 
the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions thereof. 
 
SECTION 5.  Clerical Corrections. 
 
The City Clerk is hereby authorized to correct clerical and grammatical errors, if any, related to 
this ordinance, and to make formatting changes appropriate for purposes of clarity, form, or 
consistency with the Flagstaff City Code. 
 
SECTION 6.  Effective Date. 
 
This ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days following adoption by the City Council. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council and approved by the Mayor of the City of 
Flagstaff this 19th day of April, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
               
        MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
  
CITY ATTORNEY 
 
 



WATER, WASTEWATER & STORMWATER

RATES AND USER FEES-ORDINANCE

We are a Utility for the People, 

Not for Profit

APRIL 19, 2016



2

Council Direction February 17, 2016

Summary of Council recommendations

Base Monthly Service Charge increase 4.4% for 5 years

Water Fund 4.3% @ ~24% debt

0.1% directed ~$140k towards Water Conservation

4.4% annual increase for 5 years

• Rate Structure Change-lowered residential tier rate levels

Wastewater 7% annual increase for 5 years- 20% debt 

Stormwater 6% annual increase for 5 years with no debt 

with future discussion of Rio de Flag option

Buy-in Capacity Fees -Water approximate -2.8% decrease

Wastewater approximate 19% increase

Rates and Capacity Fees Effective 7-1-2016



AVERAGE RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER   

4000 GALLON WATER USAGE – Ordinance

•Monthly Base Charge Increase: $0.59

•Monthly Water Increase: $1.26/mo 

•Monthly Sewer Increase: $1.00/mo 

•Monthly Stormwater Increase: $0.24mo 

Total Increase = $3.09 per Month 
or  ~$37 per year 



BIG BOX STORE COMMERCIAL CUSTOMER   

75,000 GALLON WATER USAGE – Ordinance

•Monthly Base Meter Charge Increase: $ 0.96

•Monthly Water Increase: $11.88/mo 

•Monthly Sewer Increase: $21.69/mo 

•Monthly Stormwater Increase: $8.56mo 

Total Increase = $43.09 per Month 
or  ~$517 per year 



RATES-ORDINANCE 2016-23 



Fixed Monthly Charge
Ordinance 2016-23

Description Current 7-1-16 1-1-17 1-1-18 1-1-19 1-1-20

Meter Size Monthly Base Charge by Meter 

3/4" $      13.42 $      14.01 $      14.63 $      15.27 $      15.94 $      16.64 

1" 15.80 16.50 17.22 17.98 18.77 19.60

1 1/2" 21.75 22.71 23.71 24.75 25.84 26.98

2" 28.90 30.17 31.50 32.89 34.33 35.84

3" 45.57 47.58 49.67 51.85 54.14 56.52

4" 69.38 72.43 75.62 78.95 82.42 86.05 

6" 128.91 134.58 140.50 146.69 153.14 159.88

8" 200.34 209.15 218.36 227,97 238.00 248.47

10" 283.68 296.16 309.19 322.80 337.00 351.83



Water Rates-Ordinance 2016-23 
Flow Charge per 1,000 Gallons-Inside City

Monthly Water Use

Customer Class Tier Range Current 7-1-16 1-1-17 1-1-18 1-1-19 1-1-20

Residential-SFH Tier 1     0-3,500 Gal/mo

0-3,700

$2.77 $2.89 $3.02 $3.15 $3.29 $3.44 

Residential-SFH Tier 2 3,501-6,200 Gal/mo

3,701-6,400

$3.59 $3.75 $3.91 $4.09 $4.26 $4.45 

Residential-SFH Tier 3 6,201-11,500 Gal/mo

6,401-11,700

$5.53 $5.77 $6.03 $6.29 $6.57 $6.86 

Residential-SFH Tier 4 Over 11,500 Gal/mo

11,701

$11.06 $11.55 $12.05 $12.59 $13.14 $13.72 

Multi-family,Apts,Mobile All usage $3.56 $3.72 $3.88 $4.05 $4.23 $4.42

Commercial, Schools All usage $3.78 $3.95 $4.12 $4.30 $4.49 $4.69

Northern Arizona

University

All usage $3.47 $3.95 $4.12 $4.30 $4.49 $4.69

Manufacturing All usage $3.78 $3.89 $4.07 $4.24 $4.43 $4.63

Lawn Meters All usage $3.73 $3.95 $4.12 $4.30 $4.49 $4.69

Standpipe – Water haulers All usage $5.78 $6.03 $6.30 $6.58 $6.87 $7.17

Energy Component: All usage $.96



8

Sewer Rates-Ordinance 2016-23 



9

Stormwater Rates-Ordinance 2016-23 



CAPACITY FEES



11

WATER CAPACITY FEES-NEW GROWTH

• Effective 7-1-2016 
• No Red Gap Ranch 

Pipeline/Pump Station 
Design included

• 5 New local wells

Meter 

Size 

(inches)

Current 

Fee

New

Fee

¾ $5,891 $5,728

1 9,819 9,566

1 ½ 19,638 19,074

2 31,420 30,530

3 58,913 57,279

4 98,188 95,484

6 196,376 190,910

8 314,201 305,468

10 451,664 439,157



12

SEWER CAPACITY FEES-NEW GROWTH

Effective 7-1-2016
Includes Increased 
Solids Handling WWTP

� Water Commission recommendation

Meter Size 

(inches)

Current 

Fee

New

Fee

¾ $3,126 $3,723

1 5,210 6,218

1 ½ 10,419 12,399

2 16,671 19,845

3 31,257 37,233

4 52,095 62,068

6 104,191 124,099

8 166,705 198,566

10 239,639 285,468



PROPOSED BUY-IN CAPACITY FEE –
IMPACT TO HOME BUILDERS   

Single Family Home-1,200 to 3,000 sqft
New ¾ “ Water Meter and Sewer Tap – Ordinance 2016-23

Buy In Capacity Fee for 
New Development

FY2011-2016
Current Fee

New
Fee Change

Water Capacity Fee $5,891 $5,728 -$163

Sewer Capacity Fee $3,126 $3,723 +$597

Total Buy In Fee $9,017 $9,451 $434

Total Increase = $434 
One-Time adjustment

Valid 7-1-2016 



Goals 

Accomplished: 

• Financial Stability of Utility Business to maintain high levels 

of customer service

• Achieving Debt Service Goals

• Achieving Water Conservation funding including rebates

• Lowered residential Tiered rate structure to encourage 

additional water conservation

• Achieving the replacement of undersized and aging 

infrastructure



Working together, we can build a 

better future for Flagstaff

QUESTIONS



  14. D.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Roger Eastman, Zoning Code Administrator

Date: 04/15/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-13 and Ordinance
No. 2016-22:  Public hearing to consider proposed amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code, Chapter 10-50
(Supplemental to Zones), Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards), and other related amendments in
Chapter 10-20 (Administration, Procedures and Enforcement), Chapter 10-80 (Definitions) and Chapter
10-90 (Maps); consideration of Resolution No. 2016-13 declaring the proposed amendments as a public
record; and adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-22, adopting amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code Chapter
10-50 (Supplemental to Zones), Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards), and other related amendments in
Chapter 10-20 (Administration, Procedures and Enforcement), Chapter 10-80 (Definitions) and Chapter
10-90 (Maps), by reference. (Zoning Code Amendments - Sign Standards)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Continue the Public Hearing to May 3, 2016.

Executive Summary:
Amendments to Flagstaff Zoning Code Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) are needed in response to
the US Supreme Court's decision last year in the Reed v. Town of Gilbert sign case. At a work session
with the Council on December 8, 2015 the reason for these amendments was discussed and an
overview of them was presented by staff. Council provided direction to staff on these amendments which
has been included in the amendments, which were reviewed and recommended for approval by the
Planning and Zoning Commission on February 24, 2016, attached to Resolution 2016-13.

This public hearing was originally scheduled for March 22, 2016, at which time it was postponed to April
19, 2016. In order to allow a little more time without having to republish the notice of public hearing, this
item has been included on this agenda strictly for the purpose of postponing the public hearing to May 3,
2016.

Financial Impact:
Council's possible adoption of the proposed amendments to the City's sign standards will not have a
financial or budgetary impact on the Comprehensive Planning and Code Administration Program's
budget.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:



COUNCIL GOALS:
7) Address key issues and processes related to the implementation of the Regional Plan.

REGIONAL PLAN:
The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 supports the amendments to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) with
the following goals and policies:

Goal CC.1.       Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built
environment. The proposed amendments support this goal by ensuring the aesthetic beauty of the City’s
natural and built environment is protected (Purpose statement B.5).
 
Policy ED.7.1.    Support planning, design, and development that positively, creatively, and flexibly
contribute to the community image.” 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The Council held an executive session and work session on December 8, 2015 to discuss the proposed
amendments to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards).

Options and Alternatives:
Please refer to the Expanded Options and Alternatives below.

Background/History:
 In June this year the US Supreme Court rendered its decision in the Reed v. Town of Gilbert sign code
case which clarified when government regulation of speech is content based. Content-based laws are
presumptively unconstitutional. The Supreme Court's decision in the Reed case has wide-ranging
implications for sign ordinances in cities across the nation. 

The key takeaway from the Reed case is that cities cannot categorize signs based on the topic or
message being conveyed and then impose restrictions within each content-based category. For
example, the current sign code provides different standards for different types of temporary signs
such as real estate signs, new development construction signs, political signs, and commercial
advertising signs. Subjecting each category of signs to different restrictions is no longer permissible
under Reed.

1.

As a result of the Reed decision, every sign code needs to be carefully scrutinized to ensure that it
does not contain content-based regulations. Planning staff has worked closely with the City's
Attorney's office to understand the implications of the Reed decision on the City's sign code and
over the past few months has developed many ideas for amendments to the sign regulations. Staff
also participated in a professional development workshop hosted by the Arizona Planning
Association in August 2015 on the implications of the Reed case, and was a panelist at
professional conferences in October and November (Quad States Conference in Kansas City in
October and the Arizona Planning Association annual conference in November), and most recently
the New Jersey Planning Association conference in January 2016, in which the principles behind
the City's draft amendments were presented to the attendees. Staff took advantage of being at
these conferences to talk with planners and attorneys familiar with the Reed case to solicit their
input and ideas on the City's ideas. The response was very supportive and favorable.
 
A summary of this important case is provided in the first attachment, "An Overview of Reed v. Town
of Gilbert, US Supreme Court No. 135 S.CT. 2218, 2015," Attachment A.

2.

Key Considerations:
The proposed amendments to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) are intended to ensure consistency



The proposed amendments to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) are intended to ensure consistency
with the US Supreme Court’s decision, and to streamline, simplify, and improve the standards to provide
flexibility and maintain a positive community image, while supporting the needs of business owners.
 
The amendment document attached to Resolution 2016-13 (2016 Amendments to City Code Title 10,
Zoning Code, Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) and Other Related Divisions) is a “Clean” version of
the amendments to the sign standards and other related sections with all changes accepted to assist in
the Council's review (Attachment C.). This version has been reorganized into a more logical structure,
cross references and formatting are completed, and it is a “final” draft. Note though that not all of the final
illustrations have been inserted into the document as they are still being prepared. A “Track Changes”
version of the draft amendments that shows new text in underline and text to be deleted in strikeout is
attached as Attachment D. Also attached is the existing Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) from the
adopted Zoning Code (Attachment E.). Finally Ordinance 2016-22 is attached (Attachment F.).
 
The majority of the amendments included within this Division, especially in the Portable Signs Section
(formerly Temporary Signs), are proposed in response to the US Supreme Court’s decision in the Reed
v. Town of Gilbert sign code case to ensure that the City’s sign provisions are content neutral. The
Planning and Zoning Commission as part of their review of the entire Zoning Code in June
2015 recommended approval of a few minor amendments within the Permanent Sign Section of the
Code (Section 10-50.100.060), and these, together with additional amendments, especially in the
Portable Signs Section (10-50.100.090) are included in the attached amendments documents. The
narrative below provides an overview of the more substantive amendments organized by Section and
Subsection.
 
10-50.100.010  Purpose 

B.   Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve readability.
C.  Table 10-50.100.010.A (Sign Types) has been deleted as it provided information of little value
to readers and users of the Code.

10-50.100.020  Applicability
  

A.4 The provision allowing for speech in a traditional public forum has been moved from Section
10-50.100.040.A (Location Restrictions) to this Section where it is more appropriately placed.
B.   Interpretations. Includes additional language to provide that non-commercial speech may be
substituted for commercial speech on a sign without the need for a permit.
C.  Exemptions. 

The following Subsections have been deleted or removed from this Subsection: 
Display Board for Daily Specials
Political Signs
Neighborhood or District Signs (now included within Section 10-50.100.100.A (Flagstaff
Central District)
Non-Structural Modifications and Maintenance (moved to the Section 10-50.100.030
(Sign Permit Requirements)
Real Estate Signs
Signs Required by Law (now included within governmental signs)
Vehicle Signs (Moved to Table 10-50.100.060.P (Standards for Other Sign Types))
Yard and Garage Sale Signs

The following Subsections have been updated to clarify standards and improve readability: 
Flags
Governmental Signs (includes property address signs)
Internal Signs and Signs with City Recreation Facilities.

 10-50.100.030  Sign Permit Requirements 

A.  The requirement for Temporary Sign Permits for all temporary signs has been modified to only



require a permit for Temporary Wall Banner Signs. The draft amendments contemplate that all
other temporary signs (i.e. Portable Signs) will not be subject to a permitting requirement.
C.  The standards for Non-Structural Modifications and Maintenance have been moved from
Subsection C. (Exemptions) to this Section where they more appropriately should be placed.

10-50.100.040  General Restrictions for All Signs
  

A.  Prohibited Signs. Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve
readability.

The provision allowing for speech in a traditional public forum has been moved to Section
10-50.100.020.A (Applicability).
The standards for signs on vehicles have been moved to Table 10-50.100.060.P (Standards for Other
Sign Types), except that the standard prohibiting a vehicle from being used as an advertising sign
remains in this Subsection. 

B.   Display Restrictions. Includes minor amendments to remove redundant language and improve
readability.

10-50.100.050  General Requirements for All Signs 

No significant amendments are proposed in this Section except to include an additional photograph
to better illustrate how to calculate sign area.

10-50.100.060  Permanent Signs 

C.4.b.(2) Building Mounted Signs. Includes minor amendments and an illustration to clarify and
better explain the standards for sign placement.
C.4.b.(5) Driveway Signs (formerly Directional Signs). Includes minor amendments to remove the
requirement that these signs may only be approved as part of a Comprehensive Sign Program.
C.4.b.(7) Freestanding Signs. Includes a new standard to allow for a freestanding sign to be
mounted on two or more posts. A new standard specific to the post signs typically used to advertise
a property or building for sale, rent or lease is also included.
C.4.b.(14) Window Signs. Includes an amendment to accommodate open signs. Also, the
combined area of permanent and temporary window signs has been increased from 25 to 40
percent of the window area.
C.4.b.(15) Vehicle Signs (formerly Other Sign Types). This Subsection now only applies to vehicle
signs. The standards for fuel pump topper signs have been deleted as these are portable signs not
permanent signs; the standards for open signs have been removed (inserted into Window Signs –
see above); the standards for vehicle signs have been moved from the Exemptions Subsection into
this table; and, the standards for vending machines have been deleted as they were hard to apply
and enforce.

10-50.100.070  Comprehensive Sign Programs 

C.  Review. Includes a minor amendment to also allow this Section to also apply to building
mounted signs.

 

10-50.100.080  Sign Design Performance Standards 

B.   Cumulative Adjustments. Includes a minor amendment to correct an error to ensure
consistency with other applicable standards.

10-50.100.090  Portable Signs 

In order to ensure that the City’s temporary sign regulations are consistent with the US Supreme
Court’s decision in the Reed v Town of Gilbert sign case, numerous and significant amendments
are proposed in this Section to ensure that the City’s sign provisions are content neutral.



are proposed in this Section to ensure that the City’s sign provisions are content neutral.
The Council directed staff to draft revisions to the Temporary Sign Section to allow temporary signs
to be displayed for an indefinite period of time without the need for a permit, subject to various
standards that, for example, limited the total area of the signs, their placement on private property,
etc. This means that the signs are hardly “temporary”, and staff has suggested instead that they be
called “portable signs”.

             Key decision points – Portable Signs: 

No portable signs will be permitted in public right-of-way (both City and ADOT).
No permit will be required for portable signs, except temporary wall banner signs.
It was agreed that all portable signs may be displayed for an unlimited period of time and will not be
required to be removed at the close of business as originally proposed by staff. An exception is that
temporary wall banner signs may only be displayed for 30 days. For this reason as these signs
could be in place for extended periods of time and, therefore, are not really “temporary”, they have
been called “portable signs”.
An area limitation will be established to determine the maximum area of portable signs permitted in
residential zones (16 sq. ft.) and non-residential zones (originally proposed as 32 sq. ft. and
reduced to 24 sq. ft.). Staff has proposed that the area of temporary wall banners (max. 24 sq. ft.)
should not be included in this area limitation

Temporary window signs will also not be included in the area allowance for portable signs.
The Flagstaff Sign Free Zone as authorized under ARS § 16.1019 is included in the proposed
amendments.
A.  Purpose. A minor amendment is proposed to eliminate redundant language.
B.   General to All. 

Clarifies that a temporary sign permit is only required for a temporary wall banner sign. It has
been renamed as a Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permit.
The redundant provisions stating that portable signs may not be illuminated (this standard
may be found in Table 10-50.100.090.A) and the sign standard for events on City property
approved under a Special Event Permit have been eliminated (See Section
10-50.100.090.B.3).
The provision allowing for speech in a traditional public forum has been moved to Section
10-50.100.020.A.4 (Applicability) where it is more appropriately placed.
The provision that allows the removal of portable signs in public right-of-way and in clear view
zones by City code enforcement staff when a hazard to pedestrian or vehicle traffic is present
has been moved to Section 10-50.100.120 (Enforcement).
A new standard is proposed that establishes no limitations on the length of time that portable
signs may be displayed except for temporary wall banners.

C.  Standards for Portable Signs. This Subsection has been significantly shortened and most of the
former standards have been eliminated because they were content-based. This includes for
example, the standards for various signs (e.g. temporary construction signs, signs for temporary
uses, new occupancy or use signs, grand opening signs, directional signs, promotional signs,
going-out-of-business signs, etc.). Furthermore, the standards for different sign types (e.g. A-frame
or upright signs, feather or vertical banners, and wall banners) have been consolidated into one
table (Table 10-50.100.090.B) to eliminate redundancy and to simplify the Code. This Section has
also been reorganized as summarized below: 

1.   Time, Place and Manner Restrictions for Portable Signs.
A new Table 10-50.100.090.A provides all the standards applicable to the placement of
portable signs. It is divided into three sections: Applicable to All Zones (e.g. includes
standards on what elements are prohibited on a portable sign and design and construction
standards); Commercial, Industrial and Other Non-Residential Zones; and All Residential
Zones (each of these subsections includes standards on period of use, hours of use,
allowable sign area and number of signs). A content neutral standard is assured because the
sign message is not regulated. However, the total area of portable signs in commercial etc.
zones is limited to 24 sq. ft. per business while the total area of portable signs in residential



zones is limited to 16 sq. ft. per lot or parcel. This maximum sign area limitation allows for
multiple portable signs to be displayed with a variety of messages (may be political, business
advertising, or ideological) provided they do not exceed the area limitation. Consistent with
Council’s direction provided in the October 8 th work session, the area of temporary window
signs and temporary wall banners is not included in the total sign area for portable signs.
2.   Standards for Specific Portable Sign types. 
Table 10-50.100.090.B consolidates the area, height, width, and number of signs, etc.
standards for various portable sign types, including A-frame or upright signs, feather or
vertical banner signs, wall banner signs, and two new sign types, flags displaying a
commercial message and yard signs. End Note #1 allows for various other types of portable
signs such as fuel pump topper signs or balloon bobbers. Balloon bobbers are preformed
into the shape of a balloon but are not inflated with pressurized air and are typically attached
to a short pole or stick.
3.   Civic and Non-Profit Events Signs on City Approved Sign Support Structures.
The standards in this Subsection are unchanged except that a purpose statement has been
added that clarifies that signs advertising a community event may be placed on these sign
structures rather than the current standard which requires them to be located on the sign
structures.

4.   Sign Walkers.
The existing standards have been updated and clarified to make them easier to apply.

In the alternative, the following options may be considered by the Council (Note that after discussing
these options the Planning and Zoning Commission agreed to recommend approval of the approach to
sign regulation presented in the attached amendments):
  

OPTION 1: Require a permit for all temporary signs and limit the display time that temporary signs
may be displayed (may be anywhere from 60 days to 5 months). Under this option there would be
no need for the proposed “portable sign” amendments as the length of time that they would be
displayed will be limited. Enforcement and permitting of this option will be challenging and may be
burdensome on staff. All temporary signs (except wall banners) could be required to be removed at
the close of business (current code standard) or permitted to remain in place overnight (staff’s
preferred approach). Note that as all temporary signs would require a permit, this would include
political, ideological, real estate, commercial advertising signs, etc.

OPTION 2: Do not require a permit for all temporary signs and limit the display time that temporary
signs may be displayed (may be anywhere from 60 days to 5 months), Under this option there
would also be no need for the proposed “portable sign” amendments. However, it would rely on an
honor system with business owners and others placing signs on their property, similar to the
approach used for civic/non-profit event banner signs on the City’s sign structures to inform the City
when a temporary sign would be displayed and removed within the time frame determined by the
Council. Enforcement and management of this option will be challenging and may be burdensome
on staff. All temporary signs (except wall banners) could be required to be removed at the close of
business (current code standard) or permitted to remain in place overnight (staff’s preferred
approach).

 10-50.100.100  Sign Districts of Special Designation 

A.  Flagstaff Central District. The standards for Neighborhood or District Signs have been moved
into the freestanding sign section.
B.   Downtown Historic District. The standards for stanchion signs in former Table 10-50.100.090.E
(Standards for Temporary Stanchion Signs) have been deleted consistent with the principle of
prohibiting all temporary (portable) signs in the public right-of-way. Also, the former prohibition on
A-frame and Upright Signs in this Downtown District has been removed, and only feather vertical
banners are now proposed to be prohibited in this District.
E.   Flagstaff Sign Free Zone. This is a new Subsection included into the Zoning Code pursuant to



A.R.S. §16-1019 which enables a municipality to establish a zone based on City rights-of-way in
which no portable signs are permitted.

 10-50.100.110  Nonconforming Signs 

No amendments proposed.

 

 10-50.100.120  Enforcement 

The provisions allowing for the removal of portable signs in public right-of-way and in clear view
zones by City code enforcement staff when a hazard to pedestrian or vehicle traffic is present has
been moved from the Portable Signs Section.

 10-50.100.130  Appeals 

No amendments proposed.

 10-50.100.140  Severability 

No amendments proposed.

Needed Amendments to Other Related Chapters of the Zoning Code
 
Chapter 10-20 Administration, Procedures, and Enforcement:
Division 10-20.40 Permits and Approvals
Section 10-20.40.130 Sign Permits – Temporary Wall Banner Sign Permits 

B.   Sign Permit Requirement. Includes minor amendments to state that a sign permit is only
required for a temporary wall banner.

Chapter 10-80 Definitions:
Division 10-80.20 Definition of Specialized Terms, Phrases, and Building Functions 

Includes minor amendments to the following definitions: 
Sign – includes signs for ideological and political purposes
Sign, Balloon Bobber – includes a new definition for this sign type
Sign, Portable – includes a new definition for this sign type
Sign, Post – includes a new definition for this sign type
Sign, Temporary– clarifies and simplifies the definition
Sign, Temporary A-frame – clarifies and simplifies the definition
Sign, Temporary Upright – clarifies and simplifies the definition
Sign, Temporary Feather or Vertical Banner – clarifies and simplifies the definition
Sign, Temporary Wall Banner – clarifies and simplifies the definition
Sign, Temporary Yard – includes a new definition for this sign type.

The following definitions are proposed to be deleted: 
Sign, Menu Display Board
Sign, Real Estate
Sign, Real Estate Directional
Sign, Stanchion
Sign Temporary
Sign, Temporary Directional
Sign, Temporary Event
Sign, Temporary New Development/Construction

Section 10-20.50.100.F of the Zoning Code establishes findings for the approval of text amendments. It



Section 10-20.50.100.F of the Zoning Code establishes findings for the approval of text amendments. It
is staff's recommendation that the Council may find that the proposed amendments to Division 10-50.100
(Sign Standards) and other related Divisions meets the following findings: 

Findings for Text Amendments:

The proposed amendment is consistent with and conforms to the objectives and policies of the
General Plan and any applicable specific plan;

1.

The proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience
or welfare of the City; and

2.

The proposed amendment is internally consistent with other applicable provisions of this Zoning
Code.

3.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
None.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Flagstaff residents and business owners, users of the City's sign standards, and City staff will benefit
from the adoption of these proposed amendments as they will fix known deficiencies and redundancies
in the standards, simplify the permitting processes for temporary (portable) signs, clarify and simplify
standards and procedures, and importantly, provide consistency with the US Supreme Court's decision in
the Reed v. Town of Gilbert sign case by ensuring that the sign standards do no contain content-based
regulations.

Community Involvement:
INFORM, CONSULT, and INVOLVE 
Once a preliminary draft of the proposed amendments to the Sign Standards was completed, staff has
engaged with members of such local organizations as Friends of Flagstaff’s Future, Northern Arizona
Builders Association, Northern Arizona Association of Realtors, and the Flagstaff Chamber of Commerce
Economic Development Committee to solicit their comments and reaction to the amendments. Also, a
number of articles were published in the Flagstaff Business News and Cityscape, and staff has
participated in frequent interviews on KAFF Radio.
 
Consistent with state law and the requirements of the Zoning Code the Planning and Zoning Commission
held a work session on the proposed sign code amendments on February 10, 2016. No residents were in
attendance and no comments were provided to the Commission. The Council also held a work session
on December 8, 2015 on the proposed amendments at which time general policy direction was provided
to staff. No residents spoke to the Council at that work session.
 
In advance of all Council and Planning and Zoning Commission work sessions as well as the
Commission’s February 24th public hearing, staff has sent out an email to local stakeholder
organizations such as Friends of Flagstaff’s Future, Northern Arizona Builders Association, Northern
Arizona Association of Realtors, and the Flagstaff Chamber of Commerce Economic Development
Committee. These groups were requested to forward the email to their members. Interviews with KAFF
radio have also been scheduled regularly, and posts to the City’s Facebook accounts have been posted.
Further, in compliance with state law and the Zoning Code’s noticing requirements, a ¼ page display
advertisement (larger than the minimum required 1/8 page ad) was printed in the Arizona Daily Sun in
advance of all public meetings and public hearings of the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City
Council.

About six members of the public attended the Planning Commission's February 24th public hearing, but
none chose to speak to the Commission. At this meeting the Commission unanimously recommended
that the Council approve the amendments to Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) attached to Resolution



2016-13.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
Adopt Resolution 2016-13 declaring that document entitled “2016 Amendments to City Code Title
10, Zoning Code, Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) and Other Related Amendments”  to be a
public record.

1.

Do not adopt Resolution 2016-13 and, therefore, do not declare that document entitled “2016
Amendments to City Code Title 10, Zoning Code, Division 10-50.100 (Sign Standards) and Other
Related Amendments”  to be a public record.

2.

Adopt Ordinance 2016-22 to amend the Zoning Code's sign standards (Division 10-50.100 (Signs
Standards)) and other related chapters of the Zoning Code.

3.

Modify and adopt Ordinance 2016-22 to amend the Zoning Code's sign standards (Division
10-50.100 (Signs Standards)) and other related chapters of the Zoning Code.

4.

Do not adopt Ordinance 2016-22 and, therefore, do not amend the Zoning Code's sign standards
(Division 10-50.100 (Signs Standards)) and other related chapters of the Zoning Code.

5.

Attachments: 
No file(s) attached.



  15. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE
Consideration and Possible Action:  Change to Summer Break Dates.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Should the Council wish to make changes to the Summer Break dates, there are two options
available:
OPTION 1:  Temporary - MOVE to suspend the Rules of Procedure, Rules 3.01 and 3.03, to
change the Summer Break for 2016 to begin July 6, 2016, and end on August 15, 2016; or
OPTION 2: Permanent - MOVE to amend the Rules of Procedure, Rules 3.01 and 3.03, as
reflected in the changes proposed.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
On April 5, 2016, Mayor Nabours brought forward a F.A.I.R. item to discuss the possible change of dates
for the Council's Summer Break, to coincide with time when school is out for those Councilmembers and
staff members with children in school, and a majority of Council voted to bring this item back for
consideration. Not having fully discussed the item yet, staff prepared this item to allow for either a
temporary change for just 2016, or a permanent change for 2016 and into the future. Attached is a
calendar showing that either time period would have the same number of days (41), as well as proposed
changes to the Rules of Procedure should Council wish to make this a permanent change.

INFORMATION:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Invest in our employees and implement retention and attraction strategies
8) Improve effectiveness of notification, communication, and engagement with residents, neighborhoods
and businesses and about City services, programs, policies, projects and developments

Attachments:  Calendar
Rules.Change



 2016 COUNCIL SUMMER BREAK OPTIONS 
 

3.01 Regular Meetings  
The City Council shall hold regular meetings on the first and third Tuesday of January, February, 
March, April, May, June, July, September, October, November, and December, and on the fourth 
Tuesday of August unless a majority of the Council decides to postpone or cancel such meeting. 
No change shall be made in regular meeting times or place without a published seven day 
notice… 
 
Rule 3.03 Work Sessions and Agenda Review 
…No work sessions will be held during the summer break period beginning on the day 
following the third Tuesday in July until the fourth Tuesday of August, unless called as a 
special meeting as provided in Section 3.02 of these Rules. 

 
JULY 2016 

 
 
 

    1 2 

3 
 
 

4 5 
 
RM 

6 7 8 9 

10 
 
 

11 12 
 
WS 

13 14 15 16 

17 
 
 

18 19 
 
RM 

20 21 22 23 

24 
 
 

25 26 
 
WS 

27 28 29 30 

31 
 
 

      

 
AUGUST 2016 

  
 
 

1 2 
 
RM 

3 4 5 6 

7 
 
 

8 9 
 
WS 

10 
 
 

11 12 13 

14 
 
 

15 16 
 
RM 

17 18 19 20 

21 
 
 

22 23 
 
 

24 25 26 27 

28 
 
 

29 30 
 
WS 

31    

 
 

      

  NEW OPTION   EXISTING OPTION 



Rule 3 
COUNCIL MEETINGS 

[Flagstaff City Charter Art. II, §12 and 13] 
 
 
3.01 Regular Meetings  
 
The City Council shall hold regular meetings on the first and third Tuesday of January, February, March, April, May, June, 
July, September, October, November, and December, and on the FIRST TUESDAY OF JULY AND THE THIRD fourth 
Tuesday of August unless a majority of the Council decides to postpone or cancel such meeting. No change shall be made 
in regular meeting times or place without a published seven day notice.  
 
Regular meetings shall consist of a 4:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m. meeting. The 4:00 p.m. portion of the meeting will include 
Approval of Minutes, Appointments, Liquor License Hearings, Consent Items, and Routine Items. At the agenda review 
work session one week prior to the regular Council Meeting, the City Council may direct that any of the agenda items be 
moved to the 4:00 p.m. or 6:00 p.m. portion of the meeting. At the 4:00 p.m. meeting, the Council may vote to defer any 
item on that portion of the agenda to the 6:00 p.m. meeting.  
 
The 6:00 p.m. meeting is intended for items of specific interest to the community or items that may require extended 
discussions, as well as advertised public hearings. The agenda shall include carryover items from the 4:00 p.m. meeting, 
public hearings, regular agenda items, and discussion items.  
 
If the day fixed for any regular meeting of the Council falls upon a day which the City observes as a legal holiday, the 
meeting may be cancelled or held at a time and date designated by the Council. All regular meetings of the Council shall 
be held in the City Hall Council Chambers. No change shall be made in regular meeting times without a published seven-
day notice. However, the Mayor or City Manager may change the Council meeting location to adjust to a specific need for 
additional space required to accommodate a large citizen turnout, upon giving the public notice of such change pursuant to 
notice requirements. All regular meetings of the Council shall be open to the public.  
 
… 
 
3.03 Work Sessions and Agenda Review  
 
Work sessions are public meetings held for the following purposes: (1) briefing Councilmembers on items included on the 
Council's regular meeting agenda, (2) discussion of long range plans and programs for which no immediate action is 
required, (3) detailed discussion of matters which may soon be placed on a regular meeting agenda, and (4) exchange of 
information between the staff and Council. No formal vote shall be taken on any matter under discussion, nor shall any 
Councilmember enter into a commitment with another respecting a vote to be taken subsequently in a public meeting of the 
Council, providing that nothing herein shall prevent the Council from giving staff direction on any matter under discussion. 
Any formal action, however, must be scheduled for Council action at a regular or special Council meeting.  
 
The City Council may hold work sessions every second and fourth Tuesday of each month at 6:00 p.m. When there are five 
Tuesdays in a month, work sessions will be held on the second and fifth Tuesdays. No meetings will be held on the fourth 
Tuesday of a five-Tuesday month or, on the last Tuesday of December, unless otherwise agreed to by a majority of the 
Council.  
 
The work session held the Tuesday prior to a regular Council meeting shall include two reviews of the action items on the 
next week’s regular Council agenda, including a determination as to which items shall be placed on the 4:00 p.m. meeting 
agenda or the 6:00 p.m. portion of the meeting agenda. The preliminary review of the draft Council meeting agenda shall 
be placed first on the work session agenda and will have as its purpose the identification of items that the Council designates 
for more detailed discussion after all other work session items have been discussed. In the final agenda review that shall 
occur as the last regularly scheduled item on the agenda, the Council may discuss items on the next week’s agenda and 
give direction to the City Manager as to additional information needed. Public comment need not be taken, but may be 
accepted at the second agenda review, at the discretion of the Chair.  
 

No work sessions will be held during the summer break period beginning on the day following the third Tuesday in July 

until the fourth Tuesday of August, unless called as a special meeting as provided in Section 3.02 of these Rules. 

 



  17. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE
Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Councilmember Putzova to place on a future
agenda a discussion on strategies and implementation of the Regional Plan's climate change goals and
policies.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Council direction.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
Rule 4.01, Procedures for Preparation of Council Agendas, of the City of Flagstaff City Council Rules of
Procedure outlines the process for bringing items forward to a future agenda. Councilmember Putzova
has requested this item be placed on an agenda under Future Agenda Item Requests (F.A.I.R.) to
determine if there is a majority of Council interested in placing it on a future agenda.

INFORMATION:
None

Attachments: 
No file(s) attached.



  17. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE
Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Mayor Nabours to place on a future agenda a
discussion on deleting the requirement that developers pay to the I-40/Lonetree traffic interchange.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Council direction.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
Rule 4.01, Procedures for Preparation of Council Agendas, of the City of Flagstaff City Council Rules of
Procedure outlines the process for bringing items forward to a future agenda. Mayor Nabours has
requested this item be placed on an agenda under Future Agenda Item Requests (F.A.I.R.) to determine
if there is a majority of Council interested in placing it on a future agenda.

INFORMATION:
None

Attachments: 
No file(s) attached.



  17. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 04/13/2016

Meeting Date: 04/19/2016

TITLE
Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Mayor Nabours to place on a future agenda a
discussion on using Pine Canyon fees for Lonetree improvements

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Council direction.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
Rule 4.01, Procedures for Preparation of Council Agendas, of the City of Flagstaff City Council Rules of
Procedure outlines the process for bringing items forward to a future agenda. Mayor Nabours has
requested this item be placed on an agenda under Future Agenda Item Requests (F.A.I.R.) to determine
if there is a majority of Council interested in placing it on a future agenda.

INFORMATION:
None

Attachments: 
No file(s) attached.


	Agenda
	Minutes
	Att1_11.10.2015.CCWS.Minutes
	Att2_12.09.2015.CCBR.Minutes
	Att3_04.05.2016.CCRM.Minutes
	Att4_04.05.2016.CCSMES.Minutes
	Att5_04.12.2016.CCSMES.Minutes
	Liquor License Application_ Danny Thomas, _Express Liquors_, Series 09 Person Transfer
	Att1_Express Liquors - Letter to Applicant
	Att2_Hearing Procedures
	Att3_Series 9 Description
	Att4_Express - PD Memo
	Att5_Express - Code Memo
	Att6_Express - Tax Memo
	Liquor License Application_ Cecily Clift Maniaci, _Hoot Mart_, Series 10 New License
	Att1_Hoot Mart - Letter to Applicant
	Att2_Hearing Procedures
	Att3_Series 10 Description
	Att4_Hoot Mart - PD Memo
	Att5_Hoot Mart - Code Memo
	Att6_Hoot Mart - Tax Memo
	Liquor License Application_ Vipul Patel, _Fort Valley Chevron_, Series 10 New License
	Att1_FV Chevron - Letter to Applicant
	Att2_Hearing Procedures
	Att3_Series 10 Description
	Att4_FV Chevron - PD Memo
	Att5_FV Chevron - Code Memo
	Att6_FV Chevron - Tax Memo
	Liquor License Application for Robert Delgado, _Hensley Beverage Company_, Series 04, New License
	Att1_Hensley - Letter to Applicant
	Att2_Hearing Procedures
	Att3_Series 04 description
	Att4_Hensley - PD Memo
	Att5_Hensley - Code Memo
	Att6_Hensley - Tax Memo
	Airport Master Plan and Geographical Information System Survey
	Att1_Copy of Contract
	Att2_Grant Provisions
	Att3_Exhibit A
	Att4_Exhibit C
	Att5_Exhibit B
	Audit Services Contract
	Att1_Scoring Tabulation
	Att2_Copy of Contract
	Professional A_E On-Call Consulting Services
	Att1_Evaluation Scores
	Att2_On-Call Services Contract
	FY2015 Audited Financial Statements
	Att1_Council Communication
	Att2_Memo
	Workers' Compensation Insurance renewal
	Att1_PowerPoint
	 Insurance Renewals
	Broad types of Insurance
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Results
	Results
	The Crystal Ball 
	Insurance Renewal Questions??

	Renewal of Property and Casualty coverage 
	Att1_AIG Policy
	__PWCHASGTPDC03_FileTransferService_69facffa-5e8a-4e76-b931-6bf2bffbe170
	2016 Mobile PC & Books Coverage Endt (Final)(4.11.14)
	City of Flagstaff Designated Claims Adjustor Form

	Att2_Liability policy
	Att3_Airport policy
	Sunnyside Phase V-C Improvement Project
	Att1_Vicinity Map
	Att2_Construction Contract
	Joint Land Use Study
	Att1_Draft JLUS Scope
	Att2_JLUS Notes and Timeline
	Att3_PowerPoint
	Att4_DOD Presentation
	Community Development Block Grant - Consideration & Adoption of Resolution Nos. 2016-15, 2016-16, 2016-17
	Att1_Consolidated Plan Executive Summary
	Att2_Executive Summary Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice
	Introduction
	AI Purpose and Goals
	Statistical Analysis
	Regulation, Policy and Ordinance Review
	Review of Documents and Studies
	Fair Housing Complaints and Enforcement Review

	Identified Impediments
	City of Flagstaff Fair Housing Action Plan FY 2016-2020


	Att3_April 12 Power Point Presentation to Council
	Att4_Resolution 2016-15
	Att5_Resolution 2016-16
	Att6_Resolution 2016-17
	Observatory Mesa Annexation
	Att1_Application and Narrative
	Att2_Planning and Zoning Commission Staff Report
	Att3_Annexation Legal Description
	Att4_Ord. 2016-20
	Observatory Mesa Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_Planning and Zoning Commission Report
	Att2_Observatory Mesa ZMA Application
	Att3_FRP 2030 Goals and Policies
	Att4_Open Space Commission Minutes
	Att5_Ord. 2016-21
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21

	Att6_Exhibit A
	Picture Canyon Annexation
	Att1_Planning and Zoning Commission Staff Report
	Att2_Picture Canyon Application and Narrative
	Att3_Picture Canyon Legal Description
	Att4_County Zoning Letter
	Att5_Ord. 2016-18
	Picture Canyon Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_Planning and Zoning Commission Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Picture Canyon Zoning Map 5
	Att4_Picture Canyon Zoning Map 6
	Att5_County Zoning Letter
	Att6_Picture Canyon HPC Report
	Att7_Open Space Commission Minutes
	Att8_FRP 2030 Goals and Policies
	Att9_Zoning Notice
	Att10_Ordinance No. 2016-19 Exhibit A
	Att11_Ord. 2016-19
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-19

	Buffalo Park West Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_PZ Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Zoning Map
	Att4_Floodway Utilities Map
	Att5_Public Notice
	Att6_Exhibit A
	Att7_Ord. 2016-16
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-16

	Guadalupe Park Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_PZ Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Current Zoning Map
	Att4_Public Notice
	Att5_LPVNA Letter
	Att6_Exhibit A
	Att7_Ord. 2016-15
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15

	Highland Avenue Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_PZ Staff Report
	Att2_Application
	Att3_Zoning Map
	Att4_Public Notice
	Att5_Exhibit A
	Att6_Ord. 2016-17
	ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17

	Marquardt Annexation
	Att1_Ord. 2016-24
	Att2_Annexation Petition, Legal Description, Affidavit
	Att3_Planning Commission Staff Report
	Att4_Annexation Narrative
	Att5_Zoning Map
	Att6_Concept Plan
	Utility Rates-Ordinance
	Att1_Exhibit 2 - Water_Sewer Code Changes
	Att2_Exhibit 3 - Stormwater Code Changes
	Att3_Ord. 2016-23
	Att4_PowerPoint
	Public Hearing, Consideration and Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-13 and Ordinance No. 2016-22
	Consideration of Changing the Summer Break Dates
	Att1_Calendar
	Att2_Rules.Change
	F.A.I.R. - Strategies and Implementation of the Regional Plan's Climate Change Goals and Policies
	F.A.I.R. - Deleting requirement that developers pay to I-40_Lonetree Traffic Interchange
	F.A.I.R. - Consider using Pine Canyon fees for Lonetree Improvements

